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PART |

The information in this annual report contains eéntforward-looking statements, including statersaetated to our business prospects
and strategies, the markets for our products ansises, and trends in our business and marketsithetive risks and uncertainties. Our
actual results may differ materially from the rasudiscussed in these forward-looking statemergstdfs that might cause such a difference
include those discussed in “Business,” “Risk FastdrManagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Fine€ondition and Results of
Operations” and elsewhere in this annual report.

Iltem 1. Busines:

Overview

We are a network specialist focused on communicati®tworking solutions that enable converged,-gereration architectures,
optimized to create and deliver the broad arrayigii-bandwidth services relied upon by businesscamdumer end users. We provide
equipment, software and services that supportr#msport, switching, aggregation, service delivaarg management of voice, video and data
traffic on communications networks. These solutienable network operators to adopt software-prograhte network infrastructures that
offer the on-demand experience required by endsusfeservices and applications. At the same tilmesé solutions yield business and
operational value for network operators.

Our Converged Packet Optical, Packet NetworkingjdapTransport and Software products are usedyishaally or as part of an
integrated solution, in networks operated by comigations service providers, cable operators, Welbesgroviders, governments, enterprises,
research and education institutions and other mé&teperators across the globe. Our products alletwaork operators to scale capacity,
increase transmission speeds, allocate netwofficteafd adapt to changing end-user demands throaygtl service creation and delivery. Our
solutions also include network management and ocbstiftware and network-level software applicatitimst facilitate automation and efficient
service delivery. To complement our hardware aritiveme solutions, we offer a broad range of netwtoskisformation solutions and related
support services that help our customers desigimze, deploy, manage and maintain their networks.

The rapid proliferation of communications servieasl devices, together with increased mobility armvth in cloud-based services, have
fundamentally affected the demands placed upon agriwations networks and how they are designed. brétwperators also face a rapidly
changing business environment that includes aishiftompetitive landscape and challenges to exjdiimsiness models. Our ORrchitecture
and the increased network scalability, flexibiliigd programmability that it enables, is designeahéet these challenges. Our Qfetwork
approach allows for network-level software appimas to control and configure the network dynamycathile flexible interfaces integrate
computing, storage and network resources. Thisoagprenables highly configurable infrastructured t¢an meet the "on-demand"
requirements of end-users and the changing serthegsely upon. By enhancing software programnitgtaind control, enabling network
functions virtually, and reducing required netwetkments, our OPapproach optimizes network infrastructures to cehnentent data
centers, and users to such content. At the sange tior approach creates business and operatiolial feat our customers by increasing sca
reduced cost and facilitating rapid introductiomefv, revenue-generating service offerings. Our ®fehitecture, which underpins our
solutions offering and guides our research andldpweent strategy, is described more fully in “Sgt’ below.

Certain Financial Information and Segment Data

We generated revenue of $2.3 billion in fiscal 2044 compared to $2.1 billion in fiscal 2013 . Fare information regarding our results
of operations, see “Management's Discussion andy8iseof Financial Condition and Results of Opemas” in Item 7 of Part Il of this annual
report. We organize our operations into four sejganperating segments: “Converged Packet Optitagtket Networking,” “Optical
Transport,” and “Software and Services.” See N@t¢oxhe Consolidated Financial Statements fouriteim 8 of Part Il of this annual report.

The matters discussed in this “Business” secti@ulshbe read in conjunction with the Consolidat@thRcial Statements found in Item 8
of Part Il of this annual report, which include aatshal financial information about our operatinggsnents, total assets, revenue, measures of
profit and loss, and financial information aboubgephic areas and customers representing grbatel0% of revenue.

Corporate Information and Access to SEC Reports
We were incorporated in Delaware in November 1982 @mpleted our initial public offering on Febryar, 1997. Our principal
executive offices are located at 7035 Ridge Roaahdder, Maryland 21076. Our telephone number i8)494-5700, and our website address

is www.ciena.com. We make our annual reports omF0-K, quarterly reports on Form
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10-Q, current reports on Formkg-and amendments to those reports, availabledirebarge in the "Investors" section of our webaiesoon ¢
reasonably practicable after we file these repeitts the Securities and Exchange Commission (tHeC'$. We routinely post the reports
above, recent news and announcements, financidtsesd other important information about our hass on our website at www.ciena.com.
Information contained on our website is not a pathis annual report.

Industry Background

The markets in which we sell our communicationsveeking solutions have been subject to signifiagrnges in recent years, including
rapid growth in network traffic, technology convenge, increased mobility, and evolving cloud-basadice offerings and end-user demands
These conditions have created market opporturdtiéschallenges that have impacted how networkdesigned, as well as the competitive
landscapes of network operators and the vendorstipgort them. Existing and emerging network ofpesaare competing to distinguish their
service offerings and rapidly introduce differete revenue-generating services. At the same tietejork operators continue to seek to
manage the costs of their network and to ensurefégble business model. These dynamics are dyitéchnology convergence of network
features, functions and layers, virtualization eftain network functions, and the adoption of safevbased network control and
programmability. We believe that these dynamics, the need to adapt to changing business condjttwasreating an environment that will
cause network operators to adopt infrastructurasaie more open, programmable and automated. $alieve that these conditions will
require vendors and network operators to leveragepan ecosystem of virtualized resources proviged variety of third parties and will
drive increased openness and interoperability bi/okk infrastructures.

Network Traffic Growth Driving Increased Capacitgdirements and Transmission Spe

Optical networks, which carry voice, video and daadfic using multiple wavelengths of light acrd#ser optic cables, have experienced &
multi-year period of strong traffic growth. Incréag network traffic is being driven by growing usk and reliance upon, a broad range of
bandwidth-intensive communications services by aorex and business end users. Mobile applicationgjding applications related to
Internet, video and data services that have exghalieg with the proliferation of smartphones, étbland other wireless devices are further
increasing network traffic. Business customersimeseasingly dependent upon enterprise serviceslatadcenter connectivity that facilitate
global operations, employee mobility and accessitiwal business applications and data, includiggvay of cloud-hosted services. At the
same time, network traffic growth is being drivgndmnsumer-oriented applications and adoption dbife@and broadband technologies. Thest
include peer-to-peer Internet applications, videwises, multimedia downloads and cloud-based aoesiservices. We believe that this traffic
growth will require network operators to adopt héglapacity networks with increased transmissi@edp, particularly in metro service
aggregation and switching applications.

Transition to Software-Defined Programmable Netwarkhitectures

We expect that end-user reliance upon a broadenix@f data and video communications services, ttugrewith their expectation of an
on-demand network experience, will require upgradesxisting wireline and wireless network infrastiures. These factors, together with
network operators' increased focus on controllivgdost of the networks, are driving a transitiamf static, purpose-built networks to
programmable network infrastructures controlledsbitware. By leveraging software programmabilitgtwork operators can adapt more
quickly to changing end-user demands, provide nétftmctions on demand through virtual platformsg @nable more efficient service
delivery. This transition in how networks are degid and implemented can also enable network opsretémprove the economics of their
networks by accelerating service creation and defiweducing reliance upon function-specific haadevelements and addressing power and
space considerations.

Changes Impacting our Network Operator Customers

We believe the following are illustrative of thafskoward on-demand networking requirements arddianges impacting the design and
adoption of next-generation network infrastructures

* “Cloud” Services.Cloud services are characterized by the sharimgrabtely hosted computing, storage and networkuress across
a network to improve economics through higherzatiion of networked elements. Prevalent clbaded services include Platform :
Service (PaaS), Software as a Service (SaaS) #nadthucture as a Service (IaaS). Through clougdhasrangements, smaller
enterprises and consumers can subscribe to andirgaange of services to replace local computimg) storage requirements. Larger
enterprises and data center operators can usdedioaids to consolidate their own resources amdigalouds to accommodate peak
demand situations, sometimes in combination. Tomfdisgstructures exist to dynamically allocate calited storage and computing
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resources from the cloud to end users. As a rasetilyork architectures must be capable of adajmimgal time to changing capacity
requirements and locations.

»  Mobility. Smart mobile devices and tablets that deliver imttsgl voice, audio, photo, video, email and molniternet capabilities are
rapidly changing the services and data trafficiedrby wireless networks. Because most wirele$Bdnatimately travels over a
wireline network in order to reach its destinatigrgwth in mobile communications continues to pldemands upon wireline
networks. As a result, network architectures mesalie to scale capacity cost effectively and &patb address a changing mix of
end user services.

» Network Virtualizatior. Virtualization is the decoupling of physical IT @mmunications assets from the services or chfebihey
can provide. These virtualization principles, poaly applied to computing and storage resouraas,are being applied to
communications networks. Network operators areingeh virtualize costly, single-function or dedied network appliances, such as
firewalls and wide area network (WAN) accelerattmsdeploying their functionality virtually over salized, generic servers. This
sometimes called "network function virtualizaticr"NFV." We believe that virtualization of netwoekements can reduce cost, add
network flexibility and put a greater emphasis loa value of network connectivity.

e Over-the-Top (OTT) Contenver-the-Top (OTT) content refers to video, ted@n and other services delivered directly from th
content provider to the viewer or end user. Theseiges are delivered and Internet connection plexviby a network operator
different from the content provider. OTT conteningosing significant demands upon the infrastrregiof communications service
providers and multi-service operators as bandwiidibAsive traffic associated with this content aumgs to grow. At the same time,
providers of OTT content are challenging the bussnmodels of such network operators as some emd-pseceive significant value
in the OTT content or service, whereas in the gagth end users were more focused on the valleafannectivity.

e Machineto-Machine (M2M) ApplicationsAs the number of networked connections betweeitds and servers grows, M2M-related
traffic is expected to represent an increasingigomf Internet traffic. Today, we are seeing grot device-to-device connection
requirements. In addition to increasing networkagity requirements, this trend also dramaticalbréases the complexity of
connectivity and the number of connections the petunust accommodate and manage. These conneptiovise value-added
services and allow users to share data that camopé&ored and analyzed by applications residingamous devices. We expect
service traffic relating to the interconnectiomadichines or devices to grow as Internet and clomtent delivery, smartgrid
applications, health care and safety monitoringouece/inventory management, home entertainmensucoer appliances and other
mobile data applications become more widely adopted

Strategy

Our corporate strategy to capitalize on these ntalj@amics, promote operating efficiency and legerand drive the profitable growth
our business includes the following initiatives:

Promotion of OulOP"A rchitecture.Our OP" Architecture enables a programmable infrastrudtuae brings together the reliability and
capacity of optical networking with the flexibilignd economics of packet networking technologies. @P" Architecture leverages this
convergence to enable network operators to scaleribtworks efficiently and cost effectively, waihpplying advanced software-based
network control and network-level software applicas for enhanced programmability. The softwarerehiaspects of this architecture becom
increasingly important as network operators indregig seek to leverage an open ecosystem of videidlresources to enable the real-time
analytics and network agility required for on-demanext-generation network architectures. We s@aipnities in offering a portfolio of OP
Architecture solutions that facilitate the trarmitito these next-generation networks and that atismized to create new services rapidly and
meet end-user demands.

Research and Development Investment to ExpanddieeaRd Application of Our Solution©ur product development initiatives are
focused on opportunities that enable Ciena to exfarrole in customer networks and to address e miverse set of network applications.
are investing in our OPArchitecture with current development efforts foed®n expanding high-capacity service delivery bdjpies in our
Packet Networking and Converged Packet Opticalymrtsdfor metro networks, data center interconnigtand wide area network
applications. Our research and development efédsts seek to extend our existing technologiesuttiog our WavelLogic coherent optical
processor for 200G and 400G optical transport,tandtroduce one Terabit and greater transmissieeds. In the packet area, we are
increasing the scale, density and capability ofgagket offerings, and improving power and spacessicierations, for applications in metro
networks, user aggregation and data center conitgctn the software area, we are focusing on iygiVatrix, our network function
virtualization (NFV)
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solution, in order to provide virtual network fuimets in managed service applications. We are alsosed on increasing programmability and
software control of networks. These efforts inclode joint initiative with Ericsson to develop axpanded softwareefined networking (SDI
multilayer WAN controller that spans network layeas well as Ciena's direct efforts to developvgaie-based networking control platforms
and network-level software applications.

Go-to-Market Model to Expand Our Role and Red&atr go-to-market model is focused on driving saglesvth from the diversification of
our business and further penetrating additionaiocusr verticals and international markets. We aoei$ed on further penetrating Internet
content providers, data center operators and etinerging network operators that form the "Welale" marketplace, and who are changing
ways in which information and services are acceasedprovided. To expand the geographic reach ioflivect sales resources, we have
pursued strategic channel opportunities that ersdlés through third parties, including servicevters, systems integrators and value-added
resellers. Through the packet-optical resale el¢mmieour strategic relationship with Ericsson, we seeking to expand our geographic reach,
as well as the application of our products in compnetworks. We also remain focused on expantiegpplication of our products by
existing customers, including communications seryioovider customers and cable and multiserviceatpes. These sales efforts seek
opportunities for our our solutions in applicationsluding metro aggregation, data center intereatinity, managed services offerings, cloud-
based services, business Ethernet services andenialokhaul.

Business optimization to yield operating leveralfée are actively pursuing initiatives to improve guoss margin, constrain operating
expense and redesign certain business processeamnsy and resources. These initiatives includégbioroptimization and engineering efforts
to drive improved efficiencies in the design angedlepment of our solutions and procurement initiegito consolidate vendors and ensure the
our cost model remains ahead of market-based eraston. We are also focused on transforming opplswchain, including efforts to reduce
our material and overhead costs, reduce custoradttimes and improve inventory management andtiogiOur initiatives also include
significant investments in the re-engineering ahpany-wide enterprise resource planning platfoimproved automation of key business
processes and systems, and the off-shoring ofiedrtsiness functions. We seek to leverage thésatives to promote the profitable growth
of our business and to drive additional operatewgtage.

Customers and Markets

We sell our product and service solutions, throdiglct and indirect sales channels, to network atpes in the following customer
segments.

Communications Service Providers

Our service provider customers include regionaional and international wireline and wireless s, as well as service provider
consortia offering services over submarine netwo@ksnmunications service providers are our histbigastomer base and continue to
represent a significant majority of our revenue. pyavide service providers with products from thesline network core to its edge where 1
users gain access. Our service provider solutiddeeas growing bandwidth demand from multiserviafit growth and support key service
provider offerings, including carrier-managed seegi, WAN consolidation, data center and intersitenectivity, wireless backhaul and
business Ethernet services.

Cable & Multiservice Operators (MSO)

Our customers include leading cable and multisergjoerators in the United States and internatipn@iur cable and multiservice opere
customers rely upon us for carrier-grade, Ethetmaeisport and switching products and high-capamtyerent optical transport. Our platforms
allow cable operators to integrate voice, video daid applications over a converged infrastrucaime to scale their networking infrastructure
to keep ahead of the bandwidth and application delsaf their subscribers. Our products supportdadfe applications including business
Ethernet services, wireless backhaul, broadcastiital video, voice over IP, and video on demand.

Web-scale Providers

Our customers include a diverse range of Interaetent providers focused on applications such achesocial media, video, real-time
communications and cloud-based offerings to conssiiaued enterprises. Customers within this segnisatiaclude data center operators and
other emerging network operators that are oftended on virtualized infrastructure and Ethernehexges. These customers are sometimes
collectively included in a customer segment refééteas "Web-scale" providers. These customers oftquire massive scale, low latency,
reliability and performance to interconnect critidata centers and connect end users to netwookimress and content.
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Enterprise

Our enterprise customers include large, multi-aitemercial organizations, including participantsha financial, health care,
transportation, utilities and retail industries.r@uoducts enable intesite connectivity between data centers, salesasffimanufacturing plan
retail stores and research and development centgEng an owned or leased private fiber networ& oarrier-managed service. Our products
facilitate key enterprise applications includinguiftualization, cloud computing, business Ethesewices, business continuity, online
collaboration, video conferencing, low latency netiing and WAN encryption. Our products also enahleenterprise customers to prevent
unexpected network downtime and ensure the safetyrity and availability of their data.

Government, Research and Education (R&E)

Our government customers include federal and aggacies in the United States as well as intennaltigovernment entities. Our R&E
customers include research and education institsifio the United States and abroad, as well as aoti@s or consortia including leaders in
research, academia, industry and government. Cessoimthis segment seek to take advantage of témiminnovation, improve their
information infrastructure and facilitate increaseilaboration. Our solutions feature ultra-higlpaeity required to meet the requirements of
supercomputing systems, as well as network asseii@mt security features required by customersisrsggment.

Products and Services

Our product portfolio consists of our Convergedkea©ptical, Packet Networking and Optical Transpooducts. Our product offering
also includes a suite of software solutions théfyusur product portfolio and provide automationftsvare-defined management and control
features, and NFV to enable efficient service adslv These products, together with our networkdfamation solutions and support services
offerings, allow us to offer customers compreheasi@lutions to address their communications netyadkities.

Converged Packet Optical

Our Converged Packet Optical portfolio includesnweking solutions optimized for the convergencealfierent optical transport, OTN
switching and packet switching.

Utilizing our coherent optical transport technolpgyr 6500 Packet-Optical Platform provides a i scalable dense wavelength
division multiplexing (DWDM) solution that adds aagity to core, regional and metro networks and kErsadfficient transport at high
transmission speeds. Our 6500 Packet-Optical Phatfeatures our WavelLogic coherent optical procesatye now have the third generation
of our custom silicon chipset in the market. Wawgicdacilitates deployment over existing fiber pgléerrestrial and submarine), scales
capacity to 40G, 100G and greater transmissiondsp@ad minimizes the need for certain network @gent, such as amplifiers, regenerators
and dispersion compensating devices. Our 6500 Rayktécal Platform also includes certain integrasedtching elements, addressing market
demand for converged network features, functiomklayers to drive more robust and cost-effectivievoek infrastructures. This platform,
which includes several chassis sizes and a compseteeset of line cards, can be utilized from thstemer premises to the
metropolitan/regional core, where the need for lugpacity and carrier-class performance is esdentia

Our Converged Packet Optical portfolio also inckigeoducts that provide packet switching capabititgllocate network capacity
efficiently and enable rapid service delivery. G480 Reconfigurable Switching System includes alfaai multi-terabit reconfigurable
switching systems that utilize intelligent meshwaking to provide resiliency and feature an ingggd optical control plane to automate the
provisioning and bandwidth control of high-capaagrvices. These platforms flexibly support a nfiCarrier Ethernet/MPLS, OTN, WDM,
and SONET/SDH switching to facilitate the transitito a service-enabling infrastructure. Our CoreBtior® Multiservice Optical Switch and
5430 Reconfigurable Switching System offer multigss, multi-protocol switching systems that condate the functionality of an add/drop
multiplexer, digital cross-connect and packet slitto a single, high-capacity intelligent switchisystem. These products address both core
and metro segments of communications networks apgost key managed services, including Ethernet/TBxiMate Line and IP services.

Packet Networkin
Our Packet Networking products allow customersdivdr new, revenue-generating services to consameérenterprise end users. These
products have applications from the edge of mettbare networks, where they aggregate traffithéoaccess tiers of networks where they

can be deployed to support wireless backhaul itrfrasires and to deliver business data
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services. As a key element of our ORchitecture, our Packet Networking products faatk network simplicity and cost effectiveness,
including reduced costs associated with power gades as compared to traditional IP routing netvetagigns. Our Packet Networking
products also enable a flexible and open archited¢hat reduces the complexity of growing netwakd enables network infrastructures to
adapt to new service demands of end users.

During fiscal 2014, we introduced our 8700 Packe®wvalatform, a multi-terabit packet switching ptath for highdensity metro networl
and inter-data center wide area networks. The 8d6@tbines higheapacity Ethernet switching and optical transpechhologies from both da
center networks and metro networks, to help netwpecrators rapidly deliver cloud-based servicesasting video, and Internet content
distribution, efficiently aggregate users, and fe\express connections to data centers. By incig#se density of traffic carried, while
reducing power and space requirements, the 870Cealzbles network operators to reduce capital pedating expense associated with their
networks and to simplify service management andlenzent.

To date, revenue relating to our Packet Networkiegment has been primarily related to our 3000lfanfiservice delivery switches and
service aggregation switches, and our 5000 fanfieovice aggregation switches. Our 3000 and 5@6flies support the access and
aggregation tiers of communications networks ana hmincipally been deployed to support businesa darvices and wireless backhaul
infrastructures. Employing sophisticated, carrieaelg Ethernet switching technology, these prodieliser "quality of service" capabilities,
virtual local area networking and switching funagpand carrier-grade operations, administratiod,raaintenance features.

Optical Transport

Our Optical Transport products include stand-aMieM and SONET/SDH-based optical transport solutittreg add capacity to core,
regional and metro networks and enable cost-effeethd efficient transport of voice, video and dedéfic at high transmission speeds. The
products in this segment principally include th®@@2dvanced Services Platform, Corestream® Aglitical Transport System, 5100/5200
Advanced Services Platform, Common Photonic La@&l() and 6100 Multiservice Optical Platform. Ourtioal Transport portfolio includes
our traditional SONET/SDH transport and data nekivgy products, as well as certain enterprise-ogérnitansport solutions that support
storage and LAN extension, interconnection of dataters, and virtual private networks.

Software and Services
Agility Software Portfolio

During fiscal 2014, we launched our Agility softwaportfolio and established a team of dedicateduregs focused on the developmer
network control platforms and network-level softeapplication technologies that enable an on-dermaadexperience. This portfolio
includes the recently introduced Agility Matrix, ronetwork functions virtualization (NFV) solutionrfthe acquisition and distribution of
virtualized network functions (VNF) in managed seevapplications. This portfolio also includes apa@&nded SDN multilayer WAN controll¢
being jointly developed with Ericsson, that spaeswork layers, our Navigate multilayer path comtiotaengine and network-level software
applications that enable WAN services over an apswork ecosystem. Our V-WAN application providesvice providers the tools to offer
enterprise, content provider, and cloud servicemntbusers in a more automated and self-servieated manner. Our other Agility network-
level software applications, including Protect @ytimize, enable network operators to improve bdlitg, to allow for more rapid network
restoration, and to better monetize cloud-basedcgsy. Certain solutions relating to this portfdadiee in early stage development, or have only
recently been announced, and therefore no reveaiing to this portfolio was recognized in fiseail4.

Network Management and Planning Software

Our integrated software offering includes networknagement and control solutions and planning taxs.OneControl Unified
Management System is an integrated network andcsemanagement offering that unifies our productfptio, provides automated
management features and enables efficient serelbeedy. Our network management tools offer a cahpnsive set of functions, from
monitoring network performance and provisioning mieéwork, to full service-level management acrosaréety of network layers and
domains. These software solutions track individigaices across multiple product suites and fatdinetwork maintenance and outage
detection. This robust, service-aware frameworkrowps network utilization and availability, whileldzering enhanced performance
monitoring and network reliability. Our softwareiteualso includes Ciena OnePlanner, a suite ofrhgntools that helps network operators
utilize their networks more efficiently, and our @déenter® Network & Service Management Suite, EteeBervices Manager, Optical Suite
Release and network level applications.
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Ciena Specialist Services

To complement our product portfolio, we offer adqdaange of consulting and support services thptdie customers design, optimize,
deploy, manage and maintain their communicationsor&s. We believe that our broad set of serviderofgs is an important component of
our network specialist approach and a significaffieigntiator from our competitors. We believe tbat services offering and our close
collaborative engagement with customers provideitis valued insight into network and business ahades faced by our customers, enabling
them to modernize and gain value from their netwofiastructures. Our services offerings enabléousork closely with our customers in the
assessment, planning, deployment, and transformafitheir networks. We believe that our custonpdase significant value on the strategic,
consultative engagements afforded by our serviffesimg and on our ability to partner with themdhgh services-oriented solutions that
address their network and business needs on andndlized basis.

Our services and support portfolio includes théofeing offerings:

* Network transformation solutions, includil
= Network analysis, planning and design;
= Network optimization, migration, modernization, netimation and assurance servi
* Maintenance and support services, incluc
= helpdesk and technical assista
= training:
= spares and logistics managem
= engineering dispatch and eite professional servict
= equipment repair and replacement;
= software maintenance and upde
» Deployment services, including turnkey instadiatand turndp and test service
» SDN and NFVrelated services including network audit and soluthtegration and migration supp:
* Network management and operations center senace
* Project management services, including staging,msiparation and installation support activi

We provide these services using a combination eh&resources and qualified third party servicénpas.
Product Development

Our industry is subject to rapid technological depenents, emerging service delivery requirementssdnifts in customer and end-user
network demand. To remain competitive, we mustiooaily enhance our product platforms and add reatures and functionality to ensure
alignment with these changing dynamics. Our reseand development strategy has been to enablebteataftware-configurable network
infrastructures that can dynamically enable sergiéevery and provide an on-demand end-user expezieOur OP Architecture, which
underpins our solutions offering and guides oueaesh and development strategy, leverages the mpvee of optical and packet technoloy
to increase network scale cost effectively, whitgphasizing software-enabled programmability, autonaand open interfaces. Our product
development initiatives include design and develepmvork intended to address growing opportunfieshe application of our solutions,
such as metropolitan networks, data center interectivity, enterprise networking, and packet-basé@structure solutions for high-capacity
cloud-based service delivery. To address thesertapptes and promote our CRArchitecture network vision, our current developmneffiorts
are focused upon:

» Developing products that increase softwaased network control, includir
o SDN multidlayer WAN controller
o network level applications that automate varinavork functions, support new service introduction monetize network
assets; and
o platforms that enable virtualization of networktf@as or functions traditionally supported by haadevelement
» Enhancing and extending our Pac&gttical and Packet Networking solutions, includ
o Extending our leadership in coherent transporfiats, at 40G, 100G, and 40(
o Continued development of our WavelLogic cohergical processor to improve network capacity, traission speed,
spectral efficiency and reach; and
o Expanding packet networking capabilities andiufesd for our high-capacity Ethernet aggregatioricdweis, for metro and
service aggregation applications, mobile backhadltausiness Ethernet services;
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» Designing products that enable network operatmehieve improved cost and efficiency, includivith respect to power, space and
cost per bit.

Our research and development efforts are also déaweard portfolio optimization and engineering bes intended to drive cost reductions
across our platforms.

We regularly review our existing product offerireysd prospective development projects to deternhieig fit within our portfolio and
broader corporate strategy. We assess the manketrik technology evolution, prospective returnrorestment and growth opportunities, as
well as the costs and resources necessary to geaptbsupport these products. To ensure that odupt development investments and
solutions offerings are closely aligned with marnitemand, we continually seek input from customats@omote collaboration among our
product development, marketing and global fieldamigations. In some cases, we work with third pargiursuant to technology licenses,
original equipment manufacturer (OEM) arrangements other strategic technology relationships oegtments, to develop new components
or products, modify existing platforms or offer colementary technology to our customers. In addjtiea participate in industry and stande
organizations, where appropriate, and incorpordt&ination from these affiliations throughout theguct development process.

Within our global products group, we maintain anteaf skilled engineers with extensive experiencthareas of photonics, packet and
circuit switching, network system design, and enadeetoperating system and network management seft@ar research and development
expense was $364.2 million , $383.4 million and %20million , for fiscal 2012 , 2013 and 2014 ,pestively. For more information regarding
our research and development expense, see “Managieéscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditeord Results of Operationsi Item 7
of Part Il of this report.

Sales and Marketing

Within our global field organization, we maintaimisect sales presence that is organized geogralpharound the following markets: (i)
United States and Canada; (ii) Caribbean and l&atierica; (i) Europe, Middle East and Africa; atid) Asia-Pacific. Within each geograpt
area, we may maintain specific teams or persomaglfocus on a particular region, country, custooranarket vertical. These teams include
sales management, account salespersons, and systgimsers, as well as services and commercial geamant personnel, who ensure we
operate closely with and provide a high level qifsart to our customers.

We also maintain a global channel program that warkh resellers, systems integrators, serviceigess, and other third party
distributors who market and sell our products amdises. Our third party channel sales includepifieket-optical resale element of our
strategic relationship with Ericsson. We intengbtwsue and foster targeted strategic channel eektips in an effort to enable us to sell our
products as a complement to the broader offerirtpade vendors or integrators, including, in pafég in support of enterprise-oriented
applications and cloud-based services. We see tppities to leverage our strategic channel relatigos to address additional customer
segments, additional applications for our solutiand growth geographies. We believe this strateglycar use of third party channels affort
expanded market opportunities and reduce the finhand operational risk of entering these addalaonarkets.

To support our sales efforts, we engage in margetativities intended to position and promote awanid as well as our product, software
and service offerings. Our marketing team suppsatss efforts through direct customer interactiodystry events, public relations, industry
analysts, social media, tradeshows, our websiteotivel marketing channels for our customers andredlgpartners.

Operations and Supply Chain Management

Operations personnel within our global productaugrmanage our relationships with our third partynafacturers and manage our supply
chain. In addition, elements of our global produptsup team also address component sourcing, preesting and quality, fulfillment and
logistics relating to our sales, support and pifesl services, and distribution efforts.

We utilize a global sourcing strategy that emplessjzrocurement of materials and product manufagun lower cost regions. We rely
upon third party contract manufacturers, with fitie in Canada, Mexico, Thailand and the Uniteat&t, to perform the manufacturing of our
products. We also rely upon these contract manufact and other third parties to perform design@otbtype development, component
procurement, full production, final assembly, tegtand customer order fulfillment. Our manufactsngrocure components necessary for
assembly and manufacture of our products basediospecifications, approved vendor lists, billsadterials and testing and quality stande
Our manufacturers' activity is based on rollingefmasts that we provide to them to estimate demanaluir products. This build-to-forecast
purchase model exposes us to the risk that ouomess will not order those products for which weénéorecast sales, or will purchase less
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than we have forecast. As a result, we may incuyitey charges or obsolete material charges forpmments purchased by our manufacturers
that are not ultimately used. We work closely vatir manufacturers to manage material, quality, andtdelivery times, and we continually
evaluate their services to ensure performanceretiable and cost-effective basis.

We are currently utilizing a direct order fulfilmemodel for the sale of certain products, andesmgaged in initiatives to expand this
model to a broader set of products. This modelalas to rely on our third party contract manufeetsi to perform final system integration i
testing prior to shipment of products from therifities directly to our customers. For certain giwots, we continue to perform a portion of the
system assembly, software application, final systeegration and testing internally. We believetttvar sourcing and manufacturing strategy
allows us to conserve capital, lower costs of pobdales, adjust quickly to changes in market detnand operate without dedicating
significant resources to manufacturing-related tpéamd equipment.

As part of our effort to optimize our operationg wontinue to focus on driving cost reductions gigfto sourcing, design and engineering
efforts, rationalizing our supply chain and condating distribution sites and service logisticstpars. These efforts also include process
optimization and initiatives, such as vendor-maiaggentory models, to drive improved efficiencieur sourcing, logistics and fulfillment.

Backlog

Generally, we make sales pursuant to purchasesisired under framework agreements that govergetheral commercial terms and
conditions of the sale of our products and servi€bsse agreements do not obligate customers thase any minimum or guaranteed order
guantities. Our backlog includes orders for produicht have not been shipped and for serviceshthat not yet been performed. In addition,
backlog also includes orders relating to produtas have been delivered and services that havepgeréormed, but are awaiting customer
acceptance under the applicable purchase term&r&hmn our customers may cancel or change theiersrwith limited advance notice, or tf
may decide not to accept our products and serva#mugh both cancellation and non-acceptancenfexjuent. Orders in backlog may be
fulfilled several
quarters following receipt or may relate to muktiay support service obligations. As a result, bagkhould not be viewed as an accurate
indicator of future revenue in any particular pdrio

Our backlog decreased from $1.0 billion as of Oetd1, 2013 to $824 million as of October 31, 20R&duced backlog levels as of the
end of fiscal 2014 are not unexpected and refleqart, the continued diversification of our cuagr base to include Web-scale providers anc
other network operators requiring shorter lead s$iteesupport the on-demand requirements of theirusers, and the impact of an increasing
portion of quarterly revenue related to orders @dband converted to revenue during the same quBaeklog includes product and service
orders from commercial and government customershaued. Backlog at October 31, 2014 includes appnately $180 million primarily
related to orders for maintenance and supporteesythat are not expected to be filled withindls2015. Backlog at October 31, 2013
included approximately $167 million primarily redatto orders for maintenance and support senticaswere not expected to be filled within
fiscal 2014. Our presentation of backlog may notdmparable with figures presented by other congsaini our industry.

Seasonality

Like other companies in our industry, we have eigmeed quarterly fluctuations in customer actitye to seasonal considerations. We
typically experience reductions in order volume &otvthe end of the calendar year, as the procureeyeles of some of our customers slow
and network deployment activity by service prov&isrcurtailed. This seasonality in our order flaas result in somewhat weaker revenue
results in the first quarter of our fiscal yeare$h seasonal effects do not apply consistentiydarmbt always correlate to our financial results.
Accordingly, they should not be considered a rédiahdicator of our future revenue or results oéigtions.

Competition

Competition among communications network solutiendors remains intense. The markets in which wepetenare characterized by
rapidly advancing technologies, introduction of nestworking solutions and intense selling effodslisplace incumbent vendors and to
capture market share. Successfully competing isetinearkets is based on any one or a combinatitredbllowing factors:

» product functionality, speed, capacity, scalabitibd performanc
» price and total cost of ownership of our soluti
» incumbency and existing business relations
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« ability to offer comprehensive networking solutipnensisting of equipment, software and networksedting service!
e product development plans and the ability to mestamers' immediate and future network requiren;

» flexibility and openness of platforms, includingseaof integration, interoperability and integratednagemer

« manufacturing and leatitne capability; an

» services and support capabilit

In this intense and fragmented competitive envirentnsecuring new opportunities often requires wWetgree to unfavorable commercial
terms or pricing and other onerous contractual caments that place a disproportionate allocationisi upon us as the vendor. These terms
can adversely affect our results of operations.

Competition for sales of communications networksodutions is dominated by a small number of vergdamultinational companies. C
competitors include Alcatel-Lucent, Cisco, Fujitslyawei, Juniper Networks, and ZTE. Many of thesmpetitors have substantially greater
financial, operational and marketing resources tBi@ma, significantly broader product offeringshoore extensive customer bases. We expec
our competitive landscape to broaden and competitioncrease as network technologies, featuredaamas continue to converge and
networks come under unified software managementanttol. As these changes occur, and requirenfentoftware programmability and
network function virtualization increase, we expectompete with a broader group of vendors offethreir own network architectural
approaches. We expect that we may increasingly etengith IP router vendors, system integratorsiafatmation technology and software
vendors, as well as suppliers of networking tecbgplraditionally geared toward different netwosets, layers or functions.

We also continue to compete with several smallgr glstablished, companies that offer one or mavdymts that compete directly or
indirectly with our offerings or whose products eslb specific niches within the markets and cust@®gments we address. These compe
include ADVA, BTI, Cyan, Coriant, ECI, Infinera, RAand Transmode. In addition, there are a variegadier-stage companies with
products targeted at specific segments of the camuations networking market. These competitorsroémploy aggressive competitive and
business tactics as they seek to gain entry taiocettistomers or markets. Due to these practicgshemnarrower focus of their development
efforts, these competitors may be able to devehapiatroduce products more quickly, or offer comemgrterms that are more attractive to
customers.

Patents, Trademarks and Other Intellectual PropertyRights

The success of our business and technology leadésssignificantly dependent upon our proprietand internally developed technology.
We rely upon the intellectual property protectiaff@rded by patents, copyrights, trademarks, aadetisecret laws to establish, maintain and
enforce rights in our proprietary technologies pratluct branding. We maintain an inventionentive program that seeks to reward innove
and an invention review board that selects appat@protection mechanisms for our technology. Vgelegly file applications for patents and
have a significant number of patents in the UnBéates and other countries where we do businesst Becember 1, 2014, we had 1,466
issued U.S. patents, 209 pending U.S. patent ajolits and over 459 non-U.S. patents.

We also rely on non-disclosure agreements and oth@racts and policies regarding confidentialiffhrvemployees, contractors and
customers, to establish proprietary rights andgmtarade secrets and confidential information. @ractice is to require employees and rele
consultants to execute non-disclosure and propyieights agreements upon commencement of theil@ment or consulting arrangements
with us. These agreements acknowledge our owneddliipellectual property developed by the indivadlduring the course of his or her work
with us. The agreements also require that thesmpsmaintain the confidentiality of all proprigtamformation disclosed to them.

Enforcing proprietary rights, especially patentm be costly and we cannot be certain that thes ket we are taking will detect or prev
all unauthorized use. The industry in which we cetaps characterized by rapidly changing technalaggrge number of patents, and freqt
claims and related litigation regarding patent atiger intellectual property rights. We have bednjestt to several claims related to patent
infringement, including by competitors and by naagqiicing entities or "patent trolls," and we hdneen requested to indemnify customers
pursuant to contractual indemnity obligations iatato infringement claims made by third partiegellectual property infringement assertions
could cause us to incur substantial costs, inclydettiement costs and legal fees in the defensdated actions. If we are not successful in
defending these claims, our business could be adleaffected. For example, we may be requireditereénto a license agreement requiring
to make ongoing royalty payments, we may be redumeedesign our products or we may be prohilfiteh selling any infringing technolog
in certain jurisdictions.
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Our operating system, element and network manageaneincontrol software and other solutions incoap@software and components
under licenses from third parties, including softvaubject to various open source software licemsesetwork requirements for increased
software programmability increase, and we contiiougdvance our OPn Architecture through the dewety and sale of network level
applications, we may be required to incorporatencgurce software or license additional technolfiogm third parties in order to develop new
products or product enhancements. Failure to olstamaintain such licenses or other third partglisttual property rights could affect our
development efforts, or could require us tergineer our products or to obtain alternate telclyies. Moreover, there is a risk that open sa
licenses could be construed in a manner that dmpdse unanticipated conditions or restrictionoanability to commercialize our products.

Environmental Matters

Our business and operations are subject to envigatahlaws in various jurisdictions around the wpihcluding the Waste Electrical and
Electronic Equipment (WEEE) and Restriction of Uee of Certain Hazardous Substances in ElectrighEdectronic Equipment (RoHS)
regulations adopted by the European Union. We lapesaibject to disclosure and related requiremthiatisapply to the presence of "conflict
minerals" in our products or supply chain. We setiperate our business in compliance with sucls lalating to the materials and content of
our products and product takeback and recyclingirBnmental regulation is increasing, particulaslytside of the United States, and we ex
that our domestic and international operations b&gubject to additional environmental compliareguirements, which could expose us to
additional costs. To date, our compliance costtirgj to environmental regulations have not resliliea material cost or effect on our
business, results of operations or financial coolit

Employees
As of October 31, 2014 , we had a global workfareesisting of 5,161 employees. We have not expeeigiany work stoppages, and we
consider the relationships with our employees tgdied. Competition to attract and retain highlyllskiitechnical, engineering and other

personnel with experience in our industry is inten&e believe that our future success dependstioatipart on our continued ability to
recruit, motivate and retain such qualified persgdnn
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Directors and Executive Officers

The table below sets forth certain information @ng our directors and executive officers:

Name Age Position

Patrick H. Nettles, Ph.D. 71 Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors

Gary B. Smith 54 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Stephen B. Alexander 55 Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer
James A. Frodsham 48 Senior Vice President and Chief Strategy Officer
Francois Locoh-Donou 43  Senior Vice President, Global Products Group
Philippe Morin 49  Senior Vice President, Global Field Organization
James E. Moylan, Jr. 63 Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Finar@féiter
Andrew C. Petrik 51 Vice President and Controller

David M. Rothenstein 46 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segretar
Harvey B. Cash (1)(3) 7€ Director

Bruce L. Claflin (1)(2) 63 Director

Lawton W. Fitt (2) 61 Director

T. Michael Nevens (2) 64 Director

Judith M. O'Brien (1)(3) 64 Director

Michael J. Rowny (2) 64 Director

Patrick T. Gallagher (1)(3) 5¢ Director

(1) Member of the Compensation Commi

(2) Member of the Audit Committ:

) Member of the Governance and Nominations Comn

Our Directors hold staggered terms of office, @rgiras follows: Messrs. Claflin, Nevens and Galklagh 2015; Ms. Fitt, Dr. Nettles and
Mr. Rowny in 2016; and Ms. O'Brien and Messrs. Cast Smith in 2017; .

Patrick H. Nettles, Ph.Dhas served as a Director of Ciena since April 18&%d as Executive Chairman of the Board of Directorse
May 2001. From October 2000 to May 2001, Dr. Nsttieas Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chiafcutive Officer of Ciena, and he
was President and Chief Executive Officer from Ap#8i94 to October 2000. Dr. Nettles serves as at€éeufor the California Institute of
Technology and serves on the board of directofsxotlis Technologies, Inc. and The Progressive Ga@tion. Dr. Nettles has previously
served on the board of directors of Apptrigger, lfmrmerly known as Carrius Technologies, Incd an the board of directors of Optiwind
Corp, a privately held company

Gary B. Smithjoined Ciena in 1997 and has served as Presidenthief Executive Officer since May 2001. Mr. Sniiths served on
Ciena’s Board of Directors since October 2000. iRachis current role, his positions with Cienaluted Chief Operating Officer, and Senior
Vice President, Worldwide Sales. Mr. Smith previguserved as Vice President of Sales and Markdon¢NTELSAT and Cray
Communications, Inc. Mr. Smith also serves on thartls of directors for Avaya Inc. and CommVaultt8gss, Inc. Mr. Smith is a member of
the President’s National Security Telecommunicatiddvisory Committee, the Global Information Infrasture Commission and the Center
for Corporate Innovation (CCl).

Stephen B. Alexandeoined Ciena in 1994 and has served as Chief Tdobp®fficer since September 1998 and as a Senimr V
President since January 2000. Mr. Alexander hadqusly served as General Manager of Products &elogy and General Manager of
Transport and Switching & Data Networking.

James A. Frodshanjpined Ciena in May 2004 and has served as Seria& Rresident and Chief Strategy Officer since M&@10 with
responsibility for our strategic planning and cogie development activities. In August 2010, Modsham assumed responsibility for the
integration of the MEN Business, which was substdigtcompleted in fiscal 2011. Mr. Frodsham preusty served as Senior Vice President,
General Manager of Ciena’s former Broadband AcGrssip from October 2004 to October 2005 and Meti EBnterprise Solutions Group
from May 2004 to October 2004. From August 2000&nuary 2003, Mr. Frodsham served as chief operafiicer of Innovance Networks,
optical networking company. Prior to that, Mr. Fsbdm was employed for more than ten years in séniet positions with Nortel Networks
in product
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development and marketing strategy, including ae\Aresident, Product Line Marketing, Optical Nekirtg Group, from December 1998 to
June 2000. Mr. Frodsham serves on the board aftdi®of Innovance Networks.

Francois Locoh-Donouhas served as Ciena's Senior Vice President, GRibalucts Group since August 2011. In this capabity Locoh-
Donou leads Ciena’s engineering, supply chain, gebline management, quality/customer advocacy painduct marketing and solutions
organizations on a global basis. Mr. Locoh-Donangd Ciena in August 2002 and served as Ciena’s Piesident and General Manager,
EMEA from June 2005 to August 2011.

Philippe Morin joined Ciena in March 2010 in connection with Cisrecquisition of NorteB MEN Business and has served as Senior
President, Global Field Organization since Aug@1? where he is responsible for leading Cienadbajl sales and services organizations.
From March 2010 to August 2011, Mr. Morin servedCasna's Senior Vice President, Global Productau@rér. Morin previously served as
President of Nortel's MEN Business from May 200@iludiena’s completion of the MEN Acquisition in Mzh 2010. In January 2009, Nortel
Networks Corporation and certain of its subsidmfiked voluntary petitions in the United StateslenChapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Ci
From January 2003 to May 2006, Mr. Morin held tlsifion of Nortel's General Manager of Optical Netlks. Mr. Morin previously held
other positions at Nortel in manufacturing, mankegtisales and product management both in North fsmend Europe.

James E. Moylan, Jrhas served as Senior Vice President, Finance ared Elhancial Officer since December 2007.

Andrew C. Petrikjoined Ciena in 1996 and has served as Vice Pmasi@entroller since August 1997 and served assStnes from
August 1997 to October 2008.

David M. Rothensteijoined Ciena in January 2001 and has served asiS¢éite President, General Counsel and Secretapgsi
November 2008. Mr. Rothenstein served as Vice &easiand Associate General Counsel from July 26@ctober 2008 and previously
Assistant General Counsel.

Harvey B. Cashhas served as a Director of Ciena since April 1884.Cash is a general partner of InterWest Pastreewenture capital
firm in Menlo Park, California, which he joined 11985. Mr. Cash serves on the boards of directoFsref Acceptance Corp., Silicon
Laboratories, Inc. and Argonaut Group, Inc. andgrasiously served on the boards of directors dfé2hnologies, Inc., Voyence, Inc. and
Staktek Holdings, Inc.

Bruce L. Claflin has served as a Director of Ciena since August.2d06Claflin served as President and Chief Exeeu®fficer of 3Com
Corporation from January 2001 until his retiremienfEebruary 2006. Mr. Claflin joined 3Com as Presidand Chief Operating Officer in
August 1998. Prior to 3Com, Mr. Claflin served &nidr Vice President and General Manager, Saledvamketing, for Digital Equipment
Corporation. Mr. Claflin also worked for 22 yeatdBM, where he held various sales, marketing amth&agement positions, including general
manager of IBM PC Company’s worldwide research @exklopment, product and brand management, asawellesident of IBM PC
Company Americas. Mr. Claflin also serves on tharbif directors of Advanced Micro Devices (AMD)he&re he is currently Chairman of
Board and Chairman of its Nominating and Governaammittee.

Lawton W. Fitthas served as a Director of Ciena since Novemb@d.Z&rom October 2002 to March 2005, Ms. Fitt sérag Director of
the Royal Academy of Arts in London. From 1979 tadber 2002, Ms. Fitt was an investment banker @ithdman Sachs & Co., where she
was a partner from 1994 to October 2002, and a giagalirector from 1996 to October 2002. In additio her service as a director of non-
profit organizations, Ms. Fitt currently servestba boards of directors of The Carlyle Group LP &héd Progressive Corporation, and she ha:s
previously served on the boards of directors ofriitbon Reuters, Overture Acquisition Corporation Brahtier Communications Company.

T. Michael Nevendas served as a Director of Ciena since Februdkh$.2Z8ince 2006, Mr. Nevens has served as senidgseade Permira
Advisers, LLC, an international private equity fulidom 1980 to 2002, Mr. Nevens held various lestierpositions at McKinsey & Co., most
recently as a director (senior partner) and as giaggartner of the firm’s Global Technology PreetiHe also served on the board of the
McKinsey Global Institute, which conducts reseasoheconomic and policy issues. Mr. Nevens is a negrabthe Advisory Council of the
Mendoza College of Business at the University ofrBl@ame, where he has been an adjunct profes&worpbrate Governance and Strategy.
Mr. Nevens also serves on the boards of directolsetApp, Inc., Altera Corporation, and Active Vimé&letworks, Inc., a privately held
company.

Judith M. O'Brien has served as a Director of Ciena since July 28b@e November 2012, Ms. O'Brien has served astagraand head
of the Emerging Company Practice Group at the law 6f King & Spalding. Ms. O'Brien served as Exéga Vice President and General
Counsel of Obopay, Inc., a provider of mobile pagtreervices, from November 2006 through Decemb&02Brom February 2001 until
October 2006, Ms. O'Brien served as a Managingddireat Incubic Venture Fund, a venture capitahfifrom August 1980 until February
2001, Ms. O'Brien was a lawyer with Wilson SongBoodrich & Rosati, where, from February 1984 tordaby 2001, she was a partner
specializing in corporate finance, mergers and as@tpans and general corporate matters. Ms. O'Bsemwes on the board of directors of
Theatro Labs, Inc, a privately-held company, arslfgraviously served on the board of directors ofigtdc, Inc.
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Michael J. Rownyhas served as a Director of Ciena since August.2d04Rowny has been Chairman of Rowny Capitaliiaape equity
firm, since 1999. From 1994 to 1999, and previofislyn 1983 to 1986, Mr. Rowny was with MClI Commuations in positions including
President and Chief Executive Officer of MCI's Imtational Ventures, Alliances and Correspondentigracting Chief Financial Officer,
Senior Vice President of Finance, and Treasurer Rdwny'’s career in business and government hasiradtuded positions as Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Ransohoff Companyjef Executive Officer of Hermitage Holding Compaiikecutive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of ICF Kaiser Internationéic., Vice President of the Bendix Corporationgd ®eputy Staff Director of the White
House. Mr. Rowny also serves on the board of dirsatf Neustar, Inc.

Patrick T. Gallagherhas served as a Director of Ciena since May 2009Q¢dllagher currently serves as Chairman of Haimbrt, a
public company and global provider of high-perfonoa video solutions to the broadcast, cable, tetfaconications and managed service
provider sectors. From March 2008 until April 200, Gallagher was Chairman of Ubiquisys Ltd., adimg developer and supplier of
femtocells for the global 3G mobile wireless markkegbm January 2008 until February 2009, Mr. Géddkxgvas Chairman of Macro 4 plc, a
global software solutions company, and from May&06til March 2008, served as Vice Chairman of @ol@elecom Inc., a leading facilities-
based provider of integrated communications in Rumssd the CIS. From 2003 until 2006, Mr. Gallagives Executive Vice Chairman and
served as Chief Executive Officer of FLAG Telecomo@ and, prior to that role, held various seni@nagement positions at British Telect
Mr. Gallagher is also Chairman of Intercloud SA®ais-headquartered provider of global privatedloonnectivity services. Mr. Gallagher
also serves on the board of directors of Solle. JS
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our securities involves a high degoégsk. In addition to the other information coim&d in this report, you should consider
the following risk factors before investing in @ecurities.

Our revenue and operating results can fluctuate sigficantly and unpredictably from quarter to quarter.

Our revenue and results of operations can fluctsigtgficantly and unpredictably from quarter tcagier. Our budgeted expense levels ar
based on our visibility into customer spending pland our projections of future revenue and graagim. Substantial reductions in our
expense levels to react to deviations from ourgmtipns can take time to implement. Uncertain eotin@r market conditions, and changes in
customer spending levels, can make it difficultagecast future revenue and margins. Some of egelaxisting communications service
provider customers have announced their intenbbsitain capital spending, including in future pdd. Other such customers are pursuing
purchasing strategies or adopting procurement @gpes intended to drive reductions in spending aohsolidate the number of their direct
suppliers of networking technology. By way of exdmphe impact of these initiatives contributedjtarterly fluctuation in our results in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2014. Additional factohat contribute to fluctuations in our revenue apdrating results include:

» broader macroeconomic conditions, including weakmesl volatility in global markets, that affect @ustomer:

« changes in capital spending by large communicatengice provider

» order volume, cancellations and timi

» backlog levels and the percentage of a given qusrevenue generated from orders placed durirggteter

» the level of competition and pricing pressure weoemter

» the impact of commercial concessions or unfavleraommercial terms required to maintain incumlyesrcsecure new opportunities
with key customers;

» the level of startyp costs we incur to support initial deploymentsingiew customers or enter new marl

» the timing of revenue recognition on sales, paldidy relating to large ordel

» the mix of revenue by product segment, geograplycastomer in any particular quar

* manufacturing capacit

» installation service availability and readinessa$tomer site

» seasonal effects in our business;

« our level of success in improving manufacturingoéghcies and achieving cost reductions in our Buplpain

In recent periods, the percentage of a given qusurievenue that we generate from orders placedgltitat quarter has increased, which may
make it more difficult to predict accurately ouragterly results of operations and may increasdikbéhood of fluctuations in our results. The
factors above could cause our level of operatimease or inventory to be high relative to revemudch could harm our profitability and cash
flow. Quarterly fluctuations from these and othactbrs may also cause our results of operatiofaltshort of or significantly exceed the
expectations of securities analysts or investots¢chivmay cause volatility in our stock price.

A small number of large communications service praders account for a significant portion of our reveaue, and the loss of any of these
customers, or a significant reduction in their speding, would have a material adverse effect on ourusiness and results of operations.

While our customer base has diversified in receary to include a number of network operators astboner verticals, a significant
portion of our revenue is concentrated among a f@ge global communications service providersviy of example, AT&T accounted for
approximately 18.5% of fiscal 2014 revenue, andlargest ten customers contributed 56.4% of fi2€dl4 revenue. Consequently, our
financial results are closely correlated with tpergding of a relatively small number of serviceviler customers and can be significantly
affected by market, industry or competitive dynasraffecting their businesses. Our reliance upaiaively small number of service provider
customers also increases our exposure to changiesiimetwork priorities and purchasing strategi@sr service provider customers have
previously undertaken, and may undertake in therétprocurement initiatives to support their netagtrategy, which initiatives may include
reductions in capital expenditure, commercial cesimns from suppliers and reductions in the nurobdirect suppliers of networking
technology. By way of example, in September 201& awnounced that Ciena had been selected by AT &lpasticipating vendor in its
Domain 2.0 supplier program. The Domain 2.0 iniitais the next generation of AT&T's Supplier Dom&rogram, intended to enable AT&T
to quickly transition to next-generation, cloud-bdsrchitectures that embrace NFV and SDN, anderate AT&T's time to market with new
products and services. Our commercial arrangenadating to this opportunity adversely impacted m@wenue and gross margin in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2014, and is expected to haveopgrtionately lesser impact on our results intfiyggarter of fiscal 2015 and future quarterly
periods. Because the terms of our
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framework contracts, including with respect to Bamain 2.0 opportunity, do not obligate customerpurchase any minimum or guaranteed
order quantities, spending by service provideramstrs can be unpredictable. A significant changeetwork priorities, a reduction in
spending by our key customers, the loss of oneareraf our large service provider customers, orkeiaor industry factors adversely affecting
service providers generally, could have a matedakrse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

We face intense competition that could hurt our s&s and results of operations.

We face a competitive market for sales of commuitna networking equipment, software and serviaes, this level of competition cot
result in pricing pressure, reduced demand, lowesgmargins and loss of market share that could bar business and results of operations
Competition is particularly intense, both in the&SUand abroad, as we and our competitors aggrésseek to displace incumbent equipment
vendors at large service providers and secure mswers. In an effort to maintain our incumbeneg secure additional customer
opportunities, we have in the past, and may irfuhee, agree to aggressive pricing, commerciatessions and other unfavorable terms that
reduce our revenue and result in low or negatiesgmargins on a particular order or group of aidéfe expect this level of competition to
continue or potentially increase, as multinaticegliipment vendors seek to promote adoption of ctimgparchitectural approaches for next-
generation networks and retain incumbent positwitis large customers globally. We also expect ammpetitive landscape to broaden. As
network technologies, features and layers convemge demands for software programmability, manageimed control increase, we expect
that our business will overlap more directly witid#@ional networking solution suppliers, includitigyrouter vendors, system integrators,
software vendors and other information technologydors.

Competition in our markets, generally, is based@iy one or a combination of the following factors:

» product functionality, speed, capacity, scalabitibd performanc

» price and total cost of ownership of our soluti

* incumbency and existing business relations

« ability to offer comprehensive networking solutipnensisting of equipment, software and networksedting service!
» product development plans and the ability to mestamers' immediate and future network requiren;

» flexibility and openness of platforms, includingseaof integration, interoperability and integratednagemer

« manufacturing and leatitne capability; an

» services and support capabilit

A small number of very large companies have histdisf dominated our industry, many of which havestantially greater financial and
marketing resources, broader product offeringsraark established relationships with service prawded other customer segments than we
do. Because of their scale and resources, theyb@gerceived to be a better fit for the procuremenbetwork operating and management
strategies of large service providers. We also @iepith a number of smaller companies that prosigaificant competition for a specific
product, application, customer segment or geogcapiairket. Due to the narrower focus of their effpthese competitors may achieve
commercial availability of their products more ddicor may be more attractive to customers in digalar product niche. If competitive
pressures increase or we fail to compete succéssiwdur markets, our business and results of ajmmrs could suffer.

Our business and operating results could be advenseaffected by unfavorable changes in macroeconomand market conditions and
reductions in the level of spending by customers iresponse to these conditions.

Our business and operating results, which depemdfisiantly on general economic conditions and dedni@r our products and services,
could be materially adversely affected by unfavigaly uncertain macroeconomic, and market conditigiobally or with respect to a
particular region where we operate. Broad macroaeiniweakness and market volatility have previousbulted in sustained periods of
decreased demand for our products and servicehalatadversely affected our operating results.riviaronomic and market conditions could
be adversely affected by a variety of politicalpmemic or other factors in the United States asdwehere that could adversely affect spending
levels of our customers and their end users, asateolatility or deteriorating conditions in thmarkets in which we operate. Macroeconomic
uncertainty or weakness could result in:

» reductions in customer spending and delay, deferraincellation of network infrastructure initiads

* increased competition for fewer network projectd aales opportunitie

* increased pricing pressure that may adversely taff@enue, gross margin and profitabil

» difficulty forecasting operating results and makdegisions about budgeting, planning and futurestwents
» higher overhead and production costs as a perceofagvenut
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» tightening of credit markets needed to fund cagitgdenditures by our customers anc

« customer financial difficulty, including longeollection cycles and difficulties collecting aceasi receivable or write-offs of
receivables; and

* increased risk of charges relating to excessofsdlete inventories and the wrid#-of other intangible asse

Reductions in customer spending in response tovardale or uncertain macroeconomic and market ¢immdi, globally or with respect to a
particular region where we operate, would adveraéflyct our business, results of operations arahfiral condition.

Our reliance upon third party component suppliers,including sole and limited source suppliers, exposeour business to additional risk
and could limit our sales, increase our costs andalnm our customer relationships.

We maintain a global sourcing strategy and depenithiod party suppliers for support in our proddesign and development, and in the
sourcing of key product components and subsyst®usproducts include optical and electronic composiéor which reliable, high-volume
supply is often available only from sole or limitedurces. Increases in market demand or scarcigsoirces or manufacturing capability h
previously resulted in shortages in availabilityimportant components for our solutions, allocatiballenges and increased lead times. W«
exposed to risks relating to unfavorable econoraitditions or other similar challenges affecting blusinesses and results of operations of ou
component providers that can affect their liquidéyels, ability to continue investing in their Inmssses, and manufacturing capability. These
and other challenges affecting our suppliers ceufabse our business to increased costs, lossloofatpply, or discontinuation of
components that can result in lost revenue, additiproduct costs, increased lead times and demoydelays that could harm our business
and customer relationships. We do not have anyagees of supply from these third parties, anceitain cases are relying upon temporary o
transitional commercial arrangements. As a rethate is no assurance that we will be able to settie components or subsystems that we
require, in sufficient quantity and quality on reaable terms. The loss of a source of supply,ak ¢d sufficient availability of key
components, could require that we locate an altersaurce or redesign our products, either of whalid result in business interruption,
increase costs and negatively affect our produztsggmargin and results of operations. Our busiaedsesults of operations would be
negatively affected if we were to experience agyidicant disruption or difficulties with key supets affecting the price, quality, availability
or timely delivery of required components.

Investment of research and development resources aommunications networking technologies for whichhere is not a matching
market opportunity, or failure to sufficiently or t imely invest in technologies for which there is mdeet demand, would adversely affect
our revenue and profitability.

The market for communications networking equipnmgmharacterized by rapidly evolving technologiad ahanges in market demand.
We continually invest in research and developmesustain or enhance our existing hardware andvaadtsolutions and to develop or acquire
new technologies. There is often a lengthy perisvben commencing these development initiativesbaimgjing new or improved solutions
market. During this time, technology preferencestamer demand and the markets for our solutianthase introduced by our competitors,
may move in directions we had not anticipated. €igmo guarantee that our new products or enhagrasnwill achieve market acceptance or
that the timing of market adoption will be as poteld. There is a significant possibility, therefdreat some of our development decisions,
including significant expenditures on acquisitioresearch and development costs, or investmeméglimologies, will not turn out as
anticipated, and that our investment in some ptsjatll be unprofitable. There is also a possipitiiat we may miss a market opportunity
because we failed to invest, or invested too lata,technology, product or enhancement soughtupyustomers. Changes in market demand
or investment priorities may also cause us to discae existing or planned development for new pobsl or features, which can have a
disruptive effect on our relationships with custosadf we fail to make the right investments ot faimake them at the right time, our
competitive position may suffer, and our revenue afitability could be harmed.

Network equipment sales to communications servicergviders, Web-scale providers and other large custoers often involve lengthy
sales cycles and protracted contract negotiationsxd may require us to assume commercial terms or calitions that negatively affect
pricing, risk allocation, payment and the timing ofrevenue recognition.

Our sales initiatives, particularly with communiocats service providers, Web-scale providers andrdtrge customers, often involve
lengthy sales cycles. These selling efforts oftelve a significant commitment of time and resasrby us and our customers that may
include extensive product testing, laboratory dwmogk certification, network or region-specific jphact certification and homologation
requirements for deployment in networks. Even adteustomer awards its business or decides to aseobur solutions, the length of
deployment time can vary depending upon the custeroesite's readiness, the size of the netwopkogenent, the degree of configuration
required and other factors. Additionally, thesesallso often involve

19




Table of Contents

protracted and sometimes difficult contract nedtres in which we may deem it necessary to agremfavorable contractual or commercial
terms that adversely affect pricing, expose ustuafties for delays or non-performance, and requére assume a disproportionate amount o
risk. We may also be requested to provide defgpestinent terms, vendor or third-party financing tiveo alternative purchase structures that
extend the timing of payment and revenue recognifi@ maintain incumbency with key customers fastxg and future business
opportunities, we may be required to offer discedrpricing or offer less favorable commercial teamssompared to our historical business
arrangements with these customers. By way of exanoplr commercial arrangement with AT&T relatingttoDomain 2.0 vendor program
adversely impacted our revenue and gross mardhmeifourth quarter of fiscal 2014, and is expedtteddave a proportionately lesser impact on
our results in first quarter of fiscal 2015 andufet quarterly periods. Our purchase agreements@gndo not include minimum purchase
commitments, and customers often have the rightddify, delay, reduce or cancel previous ordergsehterms may negatively affect our
revenue and results of operations and increassusaeptibility to quarterly fluctuations in our dimcial results. Alternatively, customers may
insist upon terms and conditions that we deem t@aus or not in our best interest, and we mayrable to reach a commercial agreement.
As a result, we may incur substantial expense awdtd time and resources to potential sales oppitigs that never materialize or result in
lower than anticipated sales.

We may experience delays in the development of oproducts that may negatively affect our competitiveposition and business.

Our products are based on complex technology, @andam experience unanticipated delays in develogitgmanufacturing these
solutions. Delays in these and other product dgveént efforts may affect our reputation with custosy affect our ability to seize market
opportunities and impact the timing and level aindad for our products. The development of new teldgies may increase the complexity of
supply chain management or require the acquisitioensing or inter-working with the technologytbfrd parties. As a result, each step in the
development cycle of our products presents serisks of failure, rework or delay, any one of whiwbuld adversely affect the cost-effective
and timely development of our products. We may anter delays relating to engineering developmetitities and software, design, sourcing
and manufacture of critical components, and theligment of prototypes. In addition, intellectueberty disputes, failure of critical design
elements, and other execution risks may delay en @vevent the release of these products. If weolsuccessfully develop products in a
timely manner, our competitive position may sutied our business, financial condition and resudltsperations could be harmed.

Product performance problems and undetected erroraffecting the performance, reliability or security of our products could damage
our business reputation and negatively affect ouresults of operations.

The development and production of sophisticatedare and software for communications network emeipt is highly complex. Some
of our products can be fully tested only when dgetbin communications networks or when carryinffitravith other equipment, and softwe
products may contain bugs that can interfere wifheeted operations. As a result, undetected defe@srors, and product quality,
interoperability, reliability and performance prebis are often more acute for initial deploymentseat products and product enhancements.
We have recently launched, and are in the proddasioching, a number of new hardware and softytaorms. Unanticipated product
performance problems can relate to the design, faaeturing, installation, operation and interopeligbdf our products. Undetected errors can
also arise as a result of defects in componentfisya@ or manufacturing, installation or maintenaservices supplied by third parties, and
technology acquired from or licensed by third gtiFrom time to time we have had to replace cedamponents, provide software remedies
or other remediation in response to defects or bligare can be no assurance that such remediatioldwot have a material impact on our
business. In addition, unanticipated security vidbdities relating to our products or the actie#tiof our supply chain, including any actual or
perceived exposure of our solutions to maliciodsastre or cyber-attacks, would adversely affect lmusiness and reputation. Product
performance, reliability, security and quality plerhs can negatively affect our business, and msyltren some or all of the following effects:

» damage to our reputation, declining sales and araecellation:

* increased costs to remediate defects or replackipts

» payment of liquidated damages, contractual or sinfienalties, or other claims for performance fatuor delay:

* increased warranty expense or estimates regutiimn higher failure rates, additional field seeviobligations or other rework costs
related to defects;

* increased inventory obsolescet

e costs and claims that may not be covered by lighilisurance coverage or recoverable from thirdigsran

» delays in recognizing revenue or collecting acceuateivable

These and other consequences relating to undetestad affecting the quality, reliability and seitpiof our products could negatively affect
our business and results of operations.
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Efforts by us or by our strategic third party channel partners to sell our solutions into targeted gegraphic markets and customer
segments may be unsuccessful.

In order to sell our products into new geographarkats, diversify our customer base beyond ouitteaél customers and broaden the
application for our solutions in communicationswatks, we continue to promote sales initiatives frsder strategic channel sales
relationships, including the packet-optical reséament of our strategic relationship with EricssBpecifically, we are targeting sales
opportunities with Web-scale providers, cloud isfracture providers, enterprises, wireless opesatmble operators, submarine network
operators, research and education institutionsfeatetal, state and local governments. We also teeekpand our geographic reach and
increase market share in international marketsydig Brazil, the Middle East and India. To suat@esome of these geographic markets an
customer segments we believe that we need to lgeextaategic sales channels and distribution aeraegts successfully, and we expect these
relationships to be an important part of our bussn&here can be no assurance we will realizexpected benefits of these third party sales
partners. In some cases we compete in certaindasssareas with our third party channel partnermayr have divergent interests. Our efforts tc
manage and drive the intended benefits of sucls salationships may ultimately be unsuccessful, difftulties selling through our third pat
channels could limit our growth and could harm m@sults of operations.

The international scale of our sales and operationsxposes us to additional risk and expense that dduadversely affect our results of
operations.

We market, sell and service our products globatigintain personnel in numerous countries and rpbnia global supply chain for
sourcing important components and manufacturingpoaducts. Our international sales and operatioasabject to inherent risks, including:

» the impact of economic conditions in countries m&she United State

» effects of changes in currency exchange r

» greater difficulty incollecting accounts receivable and longer collecfieriods

« difficulty and cost of staffing and managing foneigperation:

» less protection for intellectual property rightssime countrie

» adverse tax and customs consequences, parlycatarelated to transf@ricing issues

» social, political and economic instabili

» compliance with certain testing, homologation ostomization of products to conform to local staroid:

» higher incidence of corruption or unethical busipsactices that could expose us to liability andge our reputatio

» trade protection measures, export complianceestic preference procurement requirements, qeatiéin to transact business and
additional regulatory requirements; and

* natural disasters, epidemics and acts of war oorism

Our international operations are also subject toglex foreign and U.S. laws and regulations, inicigdanti-corruption laws, antitrust or
competition laws, and data privacy laws, amongrsthéiolations of these laws and regulations coekllt in fines and penalties, criminal
sanctions against us or our employees, prohibitimnthe conduct of our business and on our aldityffer our products and services in certair
geographies, and significant harm to our businegstation. There can be no assurance that anyidodivemployee, contractor, agent or other
business partner will not violate these legal rezraents or our policies to mitigate these risksdifidnally, the costs of complying with these
laws (including the costs of investigations, audjtand monitoring) could also adversely affect@urent or future business.

We expect that we may enter new international niar&ed withdraw from or reduce operations in oth€he success of our international sale:
and operations will depend, in large part, on daility to anticipate and effectively manage theisgs. Our failure to manage any of these risks
could harm our international operations, reduceimigrnational sales, and could give rise to ligib#, costs or other business difficulties that
could adversely affect our operations and finan@aults.

We may be required to write off significant amountsof inventory as a result of our inventory purchaseractices, the obsolescence of
product lines or unfavorable market conditions.

To avoid delays and meet customer demand for shaeterery terms, we place orders with our contraenufacturers and component
suppliers based on forecasts of customer demarnihdfiscal 2014, we increased inventory levelsdar 6500 Packet Optical Platform in
order to reduce customer lead times and meet fsimtaolumes. Our practice of buying inventory blase forecasted demand exposes us to
the risk that our customers ultimately may not otttle products we have forecast, or will purch@&seef products than forecast. As a result, w
may purchase inventory in anticipation of sales titémately do not occur. Market uncertainty cdsodimit our visibility into customer
spending plans and compound the difficulty of fating inventory at appropriate levels. Moreover, @istomer purchase agreements
generally do not include any minimum purchase
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commitment, and customers often have the rightddifp, reduce or cancel purchase quantities. Atifea and functionalities converge acros:
our product lines, and we introduce new producth wverlapping feature sets, it is increasinglygilole that customers may forgo purchase
certain products we have inventoried in favor oftrgeneration products with similar or increasedctionality. We may also be exposed to the
risk of inventory write offs as a result of certaimpply chain initiatives, including consolidatiand transfer of key manufacturing activities. If
we are required to write off or write down a sigeaiht amount of inventory, our results of operagiéor the applicable period would be
materially adversely affected.

Our intellectual property rights may be difficult and costly to enforce.

We generally rely on a combination of patents, cighys, trademarks and trade secret laws to establid maintain proprietary rights in
our products and technology. Although we have bgsuired numerous patents and other patent apphesatie currently pending, there can be
no assurance that any of these patents or othprigtary rights will not be challenged, invalidatedcircumvented, or that our rights will
provide us with any competitive advantage. In daddijtthere can be no assurance that patents widldoed from pending applications or that
claims allowed on any patents will be sufficiertipad to protect our technology. Further, the lafvsome foreign countries may not protect
our proprietary rights to the same extent as ddas of the United States.

We are subject to the risk that third parties m#gmapt to access, divert or use our intellectuapprty without authorization. Protecting
against the unauthorized use of our products, wolgg and other proprietary rights is difficulty@-consuming and expensive, and we canno
be certain that the steps that we are taking wélent or minimize the risks of such unauthorized. Witigation may be necessary to enforce o
defend our intellectual property rights or to detire the validity or scope of the proprietary rigbf others. Such litigation could result in
substantial cost and diversion of management timerasources, and there can be no assurance thetlwbtain a successful result. Any
inability to protect and enforce our intellectuabperty rights, could harm our ability to competieetively.

We may incur significant costs in response to claimby others that we infringe their intellectual prgperty rights.

From time to time third parties may assert claimitiate litigation or other proceedings relatedpatent, copyright, trademark and other
intellectual property rights to technologies anldited standards that are relevant to our busiffdmsrate of infringement assertions by patent
assertion entities is increasing, particularlynia United States. Generally, these patent ownéftsenenanufacture nor use the
patented invention directly, and they simply seekérive value from their ownership through royedtfrom patent licensing programs.

We could be adversely affected by litigation, otheyceedings or claims against us, as well as slaigainst our manufacturers, suppliers
or customers, alleging infringement of third pastgprietary rights by our products and technolagycomponents thereof. Regardless of the
merit of these claims, they can be time-consundinggrt the time and attention of our technical amhagement personnel, and result in costl
litigation. These claims, if successful, could requs to:

* pay substantial damages or royal

» comply with an injunction or other court order tisauld prevent us from offering certain of our prots

» seek alicense for the use of certain intelleghuaperty, which may not be available on commergisghsonable terms or at

« develop nonnfringing technology, which could require signdiat effort and expense and ultimately may not leeessful; an

« indemnify our customers or other third parties parg to contractual obligations to hold them hassler pay expenses or damage
their behalf.

Any of these events could adversely affect ourrmss, results of operations and financial condit@ur exposure to risks associated with the
use of intellectual property may be increased &salt of acquisitions, as we have a lower levelisibility into the development process with
respect to such technology and the steps takeafegusard against the risks of infringing the rigbitshird parties.

Our products incorporate software and other technobgy under license from third parties, and our busiess would be adversely affected
if this technology were no longer available to usrocommercially reasonable terms.

We integrate third party software and other techgglinto our operating system, network managemedtcantrol platforms and other
products. As networks adopt open software contrdhartualized network functions, we believe that will be increasingly required to work
with third party technology providers. As a resule may be required to license certain softwareecnnology from third parties, including
competitors. Licenses for software or other tecbgglmay not be available or may not continue tavelable to us on commercially
reasonable terms. Third party licensors may imgisinreasonable financial or other terms in conoeatith our use of such technology. Our
failure to comply with the terms of any license may
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result in our inability to continue to use suclehise, which may result in significant costs, hatmroarket opportunities and require us to
obtain or develop a substitute technology.

As networks become more open and software progrdoemae also expect that we and other communicsii@tworking solutions
vendors will increasingly contribute to and usenteslogy or open source software developed by stasdsettings bodies or other industry
forums that seek to promote the integration of ekwayers and functions. The terms of such licertsrild be construed in a manner that
could impose unanticipated conditions or restriction our ability to commercialize our productsisTinay increase our risks associated with
our use of such software and may require us to keskses from third parties, to re-engineer owdpcts or to discontinue the sale of such
solutions. Difficulty obtaining and maintaining tewlogy licenses with third parties may disruptelepment of our products, increase our
costs and adversely affect our business.

If our contract manufacturers do not perform as weexpect, our business and results of operations még adversely affected.

We rely on third-party contract manufacturers tdqren the manufacturing of our products, and ouurfe success will depend on our
ability to manage these manufacturing resourcesasdre sufficient volumes and quality of our prdduThere are a number of risks
associated with our dependence on contract manuéast including:

» reduced control over delivery schedules and plan

« reliance on the quality assurance procedures af farties

e potential uncertainty regarding manufacturing ysedehd cost

» availability of manufacturing capability and capggcparticularly during periods of high dema

» risks and uncertainties relating to the locatiomd geographies of our international contract mactufing sites

e limited warranties provided to t

»  potential misappropriation of our intellectual peoty; anc

» potential manufacturing disruptions, including dgtions caused by geopolitical events or envirortaidactors affecting the locatio

and geographies of our international contract mactufing sites.

These and other risks could impair our abilityutiill orders, harm our sales and impact our repatewith customers. If our contract
manufacturers are unable or unwilling to continwenofacturing our products or components of our petal or if our contract manufacturers
discontinue operations, we would be required tatifleand qualify alternative manufacturers, whiathuld cause us to be unable to meet our
supply requirements to our customers and restitdérbreach of our customer agreements. Qualifyingva contract manufacturer and
commencing volume production are expensive and-tiamsuming, and if we are required to change orifyuainew contract manufacturer, '
would likely lose sales revenue and damage outiegisustomer relationships.

Data security breaches and cyber-attacks could compmise our intellectual property or other sensitiveinformation and cause
significant damage to our business and reputation.

In the ordinary course of our business, we maintaiour network systems certain information thatasfidential, proprietary or otherwise
sensitive in nature. This information includes liegtual property, financial information and cordittial business information relating to Ciena
and our customers, suppliers and other businesisgpar We also produce networking equipment saistend software used by network
operators to ensure security and reliability inrtheanagement and transmission of data. Our cus®rparticularly those in regulated
industries, are increasingly focused on the sectedtures of our technology solutions, and mairitaj the security of information sensitive to
Ciena and our business partners is critical tobmsiness and reputation. Companies in the techpahalystry have been increasingly subjet
a wide variety of security incidents, cyber-attaaksl other attempts to gain unauthorized accessttworks or sensitive information. Our
network systems and storage applications, ancedteblogy solutions that we offer to end custommi@y be subject to unauthorized acces
hackers or breached due to operator error, malfieasar other system disruptions. In some casesdifficult to anticipate or to immediately
detect such incidents and the damage caused thédfelnyactual or perceived breach of network ségoccurs in our network or in the
network of a business partner, the market percemtiour products could be harmed. While we corilyuwork to safeguard our products and
internal network systems to mitigate these poterisks, there is no assurance that such actiohd®sufficient to prevent cyber attacks or
security breaches. Security incidents involvingesscor improper use our systems, networks or ptedatild compromise confidential or
otherwise protected information, destroy or cormgtia, or otherwise disrupt our operations. Theserity events could also negatively impact
our reputation and our competitive position andldaasult in litigation with third parties, regutay action, loss of business, potential liability
and increased remediation costs, any of which chale: a material adverse effect on our financiablt@mn and results of operations.
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Our failure to manage effectively our relationshipswith third party service partners could adverselyimpact our financial results and
relationship with customers.

We rely on a number of third party service partneogh domestic and international, to complementgbobal service and support
resources. We rely upon these partners for ceratallation, maintenance and support functionsaddition, as network operators seek to
increasingly rely on vendors to perform additioseivices relating to the design, construction gretation of their networks, the scope of w
performed by our support partners is likely to @ase and may include areas where we have lessengeeproviding or managing such
services. We must successfully identify, asseas) &and certify qualified service partners in ortteensure the proper installation, deployment
and maintenance of our products, as well as tHéutlkierformance of other services associated withanded solutions offerings, including
site assessment and construction-related serWessng and certification of these partners carcdstly and time-consuming, and certain
partners may not have the same operational hidiogncial resource and scale as Ciena. Moreoegtain service partners may provide sin
services for other companies, including our contpeti We may not be able to manage effectivelyrelationships with our service partners,
and we cannot be certain that they will be abldeiiver services in the manner or time requirethat we will be able to maintain the
continuity of their services. We may also be expdasea number of risks or challenges relating topglrformance of our service partners,
including:

* we may suffer delays in recognizing revel

* we may be exposed to liability for injuries terpons, damage to property or other claims reldtirige actions or omissions of our
service partners;

e our services revenue and gross margin may be aslyexffected; an

e our relationships with customers could su

If we do not manage effectively our relationshipthwhird party service partners, or if they failperform these services in the manner or time
required, our financial results and relationshihwustomers could be adversely affected.

We may be exposed to unanticipated risks and addinal obligations in connection with our resale of@mplementary products or
technology of other companies.

We have entered into agreements with strategiclgygaptners that permit us to distribute their prod or technology. We may rely upon
these relationships to add complementary produdisctinologies, diversify our product portfolio,address a particular customer or
geographic market. We may enter into additionalinal equipment manufacturer (OEM), resale or sinskrategic arrangements in the future
We may incur unanticipated costs or difficultieltiag to our resale of third party products. Chird party relationships could expose us to
risks associated with the business, financial dwrdiintellectual property rights and supply chegmtinuity of such partners, as well as delays
in their development, manufacturing or deliverypodducts or technology. We may also be requiredusgomers to assume warranty,
indemnity, service and other commercial obligatjionsluding potential liability to customers, greathan the commitments, if any, made to u:
by our technology partners. Some of our strategppky partners are relatively small companies Wittited financial resources. If they are
unable to satisfy their obligations to us or oustomers, we may have to expend our own resourceaitdy these obligations. Exposure to
these risks could harm our reputation with key @ungrs and could negatively affect our businesscamdesults of operations.

Our exposure to the credit risks of our customersad resellers may make it difficult to collect recerables and could adversely affect oL
revenue and operating results.

In the course of our sales to customers and rekalenel partners, we may have difficulty collectingeivables, and our business and
results of operations could be exposed to riskscated with uncollectible accounts. Lack of ligtydn the capital markets, macroeconomic
weakness and market volatility may increase oupsupe to these credit risks. Our attempts to moiigstomer payment capability and to take
appropriate measures to protect ourselves mayenstifficient, and it is possible that we may havevtite down or write off accounts
receivable. Such write-downs or write-offs couldjaively affect our operating results for the pdrio which they occur, and, if large, could
have a material adverse effect on our revenue parhting results.

Our business is dependent upon the proper functiong of our internal business processes and informah systems, and modification or
interruption of such systems or external factors mg disrupt our business, processes and internal camis.

We rely upon a number of internal business proseasd information systems to support key businasstions, and the efficient operati
of these processes and systems is critical to niagagir business. Our business processes and iafiom
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systems must be sufficiently scalable to supp@igfowth of our business and may require modificegtior upgrades that expose us to a
number of operational risks. We have commencedrifgiant reengineering of our company-wide entisgresource planning platform that
will impact multiple locations, functions and prases. We are also currently pursuing initiativesansform and optimize our business
operations through the reengineering of certaiempnocesses, investment in automation, and engagesh strategic partners or resources to
assist with certain business functions. These amngll require a significant investment of capaald human resources and may be costly an
disruptive to our operations, and could impose sultsl demands on management time. These char@ealso require changes in our
information systems, modification of internal catfprocedures and significant training of employeethird party resources. There can be no
assurance that our business and operations witxprience disruption in connection with this siéion. Even if we do not encounter these
adverse effects or disruption in our businessd#sgn and implementation of these new systemshraagore costly than anticipated.

Our information technology systems, and those iodl gharty information technology providers or bless partners, may also be vulnerabls
to damage or disruption caused by circumstancesnokgur control, including catastrophic events, poanomalies or outages, natural
disasters, viruses or malware, and computer systamatwork failures. We may also be exposed to egkeurity related incidents, including
unauthorized access of information systems andodisce or diversion of intellectual property or fidential data. There can be no assurance
that our business systems or those of our thirty frrsiness partners would not be subject to sinilidents, exposing us to significant cost,
reputational harm and disruption or damage to osiress.

Outstanding indebtedness under our convertible noteand senior secured credit facilities may adversehffect our liquidity and results
of operations and could limit our business.

At October 31, 2014 , indebtedness on our outstancnvertible notes totaled approximately $1.Rdwilin aggregate principal, including
the accretion of principal at maturity on our 4.08tvertible senior notes due in 2020 ("2020 Notds"}he event that some or all of these
notes are converted into common stock, the owngiakgrests of our existing stockholders will blitdid, and any sales of such shares in the
public market following conversion may adverselieaf the market price for our common stock. Weadse a party to credit agreements
relating to a $200 million senior secured asseedasvolving credit facility and a $250 million sensecured term loan. The agreements
governing these credit facilities contain certainenants that limit our ability to, among othemntys, incur additional debt, create liens and
encumbrances, pay cash dividends, redeem or reggectock, enter into certain acquisition traneastor transactions with affiliates, repay
certain indebtedness, make investments or disposgsets. The agreements also include customamdies) including the right of the lenders
to take action with respect to the collateral seguthe loans, that would apply should we defaubbtherwise be unable to satisfy our debt
obligations.

Our indebtedness could have important negativeezprences, including:

» increasing our vulnerability to adverse economid salustry condition:

» limiting our ability to obtain additional financingarticularly in unfavorable capital and creditriet conditions

» debt service and repayment obligations that magi@aly impact our results of operations and redinee@vailability of cash resourc
for other business purposes;

« limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes in our business and the market

» placing us at a possible competitive disadvantagmmpetitors that have better access to capialrees

We may also enter into additional transactionsredit facilities, including equipment loans, wor§inapital lines of credit and other long-term
debt, which may increase our indebtedness andtiesadiditional restrictions upon our businessadidition, major debt rating agencies
regularly evaluate our debt based on a numbercbdife. There can be no assurance that we will letabmaintain our existing debt ratings
failure to do so could adversely affect our costunids, liquidity and access to capital markets.

Significant volatility and uncertainty in the capital markets may limit our access to funding on favaable terms or at all.

The operation of our business requires significapital. We have accessed the capital marketsipalt and has successfully raised
funds, including through the issuance of equityyweotible notes and other indebtedness, to increaseash position, support our operations
and undertake strategic growth initiatives. We tedy evaluate our liquidity position, debt obligats, and anticipated cash needs to fund our
long-term operating plans and may consider it resmysor advisable to raise additional capital cumadditional indebtedness in the future. If
we raise additional funds through further issuasfoequity or securities convertible into equity,urdertake certain transactions intended to
address our existing indebtedness, our existingketidders could suffer dilution in their percentayenership of our company and our lever
and outstanding indebtedness
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could increase. Global capital markets have undergeriods of significant volatility and uncertgiim recent years, and there can be no
assurance that such financing alternatives woulaMadable to us on favorable terms or at all, $thete determine it necessary or advisable to
seek additional cash resources.

Facilities transitions could be disruptive to our gerations and may result in unanticipated expenseral adverse effects to our cash
position and cash flows.

We have recently undertaken and expect to undeitetkes future a number of significant facilitieansitions affecting a number of our
largest employee populations. The lease term foflaab 10” building on the Carling Campus in Ottawa, Canadbexpire in fiscal 2018, an
the lease term for our development facility in Gaog, India will expire in fiscal 2017. Both locat®house sophisticated research and
development lab equipment and significant headcmafitding key engineering personnel. We will kengitioning our operations in Ottawa to
new facilities in contemplation of the expiratiofitbe Lab 10 lease. Relocating our engineering amrs may be costly, and there can be no
assurance that the transition of key engineeringtfans to a successor facility will not be disiugtor adversely affect productivity.
Significant facilities transitions could be disriygtto our operations and may result in unantiegigaxpense and adverse effects on our cash
position and cash flows.

Restructuring activities could disrupt our businessand affect our results of operations.

We have previously taken steps, including redustiorforce, office closures, and internal reorgatians to reduce the size and cost of
operations, improve efficiencies, or realign owganization and staffing to better match our madggtortunities and our technology
development initiatives. We may take similar stiepthe future as we seek to realize operating gjiesy optimize our operations to achieve
target operating model and profitability objectivesbetter reflect changes in the strategic dioacdf our business. These changes could be
disruptive to our business, including our reseanmth development efforts, and could result in sigaift expense, including accounting charge:
for inventory and technology-related write-offs, kfmrce reduction costs and charges relating teolidation of excess facilities. Substantial
expense or charges resulting from restructuriniyiies could adversely affect our results of opieras and use of cash in those periods in
which we undertake such actions.

If we are unable to attract and retain qualified pesonnel, we may be unable to manage our businesdesttively.

Competition to attract and retain highly skilledhaical, engineering and other personnel with depee in our industry is intense, and
employees have been the subject of targeted Higmaur competitors. Competition is particularlyense in certain jurisdictions where we have
research and development centers, including theo8iValley area of Northern California, and we nexyerience difficulty retaining and
motivating existing employees and attracting qiedifpersonnel to fill key positions. Because wg tglon equity awards as a significant
component of compensation, particularly for ourcesize team, a lack of positive performance in stock price, reduced grant levels, or
changes to our compensation program may adverffelt aur ability to attract and retain key emplegeln addition, none of our executive
officers is bound by an employment agreement fgrspecific term. The loss of members of our managdrteam or other key personnel cc
be disruptive to our business, and, were it necgsgaould be difficult to replace members of amanagement team or other key personnel. |
we are unable to attract and retain qualified pere we may be unable to manage our businesdigéhc and our operations and results of
operations could suffer.

We may be adversely affected by fluctuations in cuency exchange rates.

As a global concern, we face exposure to adverse&ments in foreign currency exchange rates. Duwaitoncreased global presence, a
larger percentage of our revenue, operating expgmd@ssets and liabilities are non-U.S. dollanod@nated and therefore subject to foreign
currency fluctuation. We face exposure to curregxghange rates as a result of the growth in ourUh@ dollar denominated operating
expense in Canada, Europe, Asia and Latin Amefican time to time, we may hedge against currenppsure associated with anticipated
foreign currency cash flows or assets and liabgitlenominated in foreign currency. Such attengptéfset the impact of currency fluctuations
are costly and no amount of hedging can be effe@gainst all circumstances. Losses associatedivatie hedging instruments and the
adverse effect of foreign currency exchange raitetdlation may negatively affect our results of agpiens.

Strategic acquisitions and investments could disrupur operations and may expose us to increased ¢®sind unexpected liabilities.

We may acquire or make investments in other tedgyotompanies, or enter into other strategic mtathips, to expand the markets we
address, diversify our customer base or acquiraccelerate the development of, technology or ptsd@o do
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S0, we may use cash, issue equity that could diuteurrent stockholders, or incur debt or assimdebtedness. These transactions involve
numerous risks, including:

« significant acquisition and integration co

< disruption due to the integration and rational@atdf operations, products, technologies and pewed

< diversion of management attenti

- difficulty completing projects of the acquiredmapany and costs related topmecess project

- difficulty managing customer transitions or entgrinto new market

* loss of key employee

« ineffective internal controls over financial repog;

« dependence on unfamiliar suppliers or manufacty

» assumption of or exposure to unanticipated lidegitincluding intellectual property infringemertimns; an

« adverse tax or accounting effects including dmation expense related to intangible assets hadyes associated with impairment
of goodwill.

As a result of these and other risks, our acquoissti investments or strategic transactions mayeaagt the intended benefits and may ultimately
have a negative impact on our business, resultpafation and financial condition.

Changes in government regulation affecting the comuomications industry and the businesses of our custrers could harm our prospect:
and operating results.

The Federal Communications Commission, or FCCjurésdiction over the U.S. communications industigd similar agencies have
jurisdiction over the communication industries ther countries. Many of our largest customers udiclg service providers and multiserv
network operators, are subject to the rules andlagigns of these agencies. The FCC is currenthgiclering its "net neutrality” rulemaking &
the application of its regulatory authority oveoldband Internet services. These and other chamgegulatory requirements covering access
to or carriage of traffic on the Internet in theitdd States or other countries could serve asiaogistive to certain wireline or wireless netw:
operators, including certain of our customersnt@st in their network infrastructures or introduneav services. These changes could adverse
affect the sale of our products and services. 8igil changes in regulatory tariff requirement®trer regulations relating to pricing or terms
of carriage on communications networks could slegvdevelopment or expansion of network infrastnggand adversely affect our business,
operating results, and financial condition.

Government regulations affecting the use, import oexport of products could adversely affect our opeaations, negatively affect our
revenue and increase our COSts.

The United States and various foreign governmeans imposed controls, license requirements and o#isé&rictions on the usage, import
or export of some of the technologies that we §tivernment regulation of usage, import or expbduwy products, or our technology within
our products, or our failure to obtain requiredr@ppls for our products, could harm our internagicend domestic sales and adversely affect
our revenue and costs of sales. Failure to comfily such regulations could result in enforcemetibas, fines, penalties or restrictions on
export privileges. In addition, costly tariffs onreequipment, restrictions on importation, tradet@ction measures and domestic preference
requirements of certain countries could limit oocess to these markets and harm our sales. Fopdxamdia's government has implemented
security regulations applicable to network equiptvamdors, and has previously imposed significariffs on certain communications
equipment. These and other regulations could adiyeadfect the sale or use of our products, sulbistnincrease our cost of sales and
adversely affect our business and revenue.

Government regulations related to the environmentpotential climate change and other social initiaties could adversely affect our
business and operating results.

Our operations are regulated under various fedstate, local and international laws relating ® émvironment and potential climate
change. If we were to violate or become liable uridese laws or regulations, we could incur fireests related to damage to property or
personal injury, and costs related to investigatioremediation activities. Our product design #f@nd the manufacturing of our products are
also subject to evolving requirements relatingh presence of certain materials or substancesgriagquipment, including regulations that
make producers for such products financially resjime for the collection, treatment and recyclirigertain products. For example, our
operations and financial results may be negatiaéflscted by environmental regulations, such adiaste Electrical and Electronic Equipment
(WEEE) and Restriction of the Use of Certain HapasiSubstances in Electrical and Electronic Equipr(iRoHS) that have been adopted by
the European Union. Compliance with these and ameihvironmental regulations may increase our @bdesigning, manufacturing, selling
and removing our products. The SEC has adoptetbdise requirements regarding the use of “confiiazterals” mined from
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the Democratic Republic of Congo and adjoining ¢oas (“DRC”) and procedures regarding a manufacturer's effogpsevent the sourcing
such minerals from the DRC. Certain of these misaaee present in our products. SEC rules implemgrthese requirements may have the
effect of reducing the pool of suppliers who cappy DRC “conflict free” components and parts, avelmay not be able to obtain conflict
free products or supplies in sufficient quantifi@sour operations. Because our supply chain ispiery we may face reputational challenges
with our customers, stockholders and other stakighslif we are unable to sufficiently verify thegams for the "conflict minerals” used in our
products and cannot assert that our products ardlict free". Environmental or similar social iigitives may also make it difficult to obtain
supply of compliant components or may require usrite off noncompliant inventory, which could have an adverdeatfon our business a
operating results.

We may be required to write down long-lived asset&nd these impairment charges would adversely affeour operating results.

As of October 31, 2014 , our balance sheet incl$3€9.4 million in long-lived assets, which inclsd&128.7 million of intangible assets.
Valuation of our long-lived assets requires us akenassumptions about future sales prices andaall@ses for our products. These
assumptions are used to forecast future, undisedurash flows upon which our estimates are basthd3 of significant uncertainty or
instability of macroeconomic conditions can makeéasting future business difficult. If actual matrkonditions differ or our forecasts chat
we may be required to reassess long-lived assdtsand record an impairment charge. Any impairnaarge relating to long-lived assets
would have the effect of decreasing our earninga@easing our losses in such period. If we ageired to take a substantial impairment
charge, our operating results would be materialyeasely affected in such period.

Failure to maintain effective internal controls ove financial reporting could have a material adverseeffect on our business, operatir
results and stock price.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 meguihat we include in our annual report a reponta@ining management's assessment
of the effectiveness of our internal controls dfiieancial reporting as of the end of our fiscal yaad a statement as to whether or not such
internal controls are effective. Compliance witbdh requirements has resulted in, and is likebotdginue to result in, significant costs and the
commitment of time and operational resources. @edagoing initiatives, including a significant ugteé of our company-wide enterprise
resource planning platform that is underway, wéltessitate modifications to our internal contrateyns, processes and related information
systems. Similarly, other efforts to transform Ingsis processes, including our supply chain op@&stir to transition certain functions to third
party resources or providers, will require furtbeanges to our control environment as we as wenig#iour business and operations. Our
expansion into new regions could pose further ehaks to our internal control systems. We cannaebin that our current design for
internal control over financial reporting, or argdétional changes to be made, will be sufficienét@able management to determine that our
internal controls are effective for any periodparan ongoing basis. If we are unable to asserptivainternal controls over financial reporting
are effective, market perception of our financiahdition and the trading price of our stock mayadgersely affected, and customer perceptiot
of our business may suffer.

Our stock price is volatile.

Our common stock price has experienced substamtatility in the past and may remain volatile fretfuture. Volatility in our stock price
can arise as a result of a number of the fact@isudsed in this “Risk Factors” section. Duringdis2014, our closing stock price ranged fror
high of $26.20 per share to a low of $14.16 pereshBhe stock market has experienced significane@nd volume fluctuation that has
affected the market price of many technology congsmwith such volatility often unrelated to thesogting performance of these companies.
Divergence between our actual or anticipated firdmesults and published expectations of analystthe expectations of the market
generally, can cause significant swings in ourlksfrice. Our stock price can also be affected byketaconditions in our industry as well as
announcements that we, our competitors, vendoosiiocustomers may make. These may include annowerdsrof financial results or chang
in estimated financial results, technological inatiens, the gain or loss of customers or key opmities. Our common stock is also included
in certain market indices, and any change in thmepmsition of these indices to exclude our companuld/ adversely affect our stock price.
These and other factors affecting macroeconomiditions or financial markets may materially advéyrsefect the market price of our
common stock in the future.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties

Overview. As of October 31, 2014 , all of our properties rased and we do not own any real property. \A&eléacilities globally related
to the ongoing operations of our four business sggsmand related functions. Our principal execubffiees are located in two buildings in
Hanover, Maryland. In addition, we currently occupyp supply chain and logistics facilities in Liithm, Maryland.

Our largest facility is our research and developneenter located at “Lab 1@h the former Nortel Carling Campus in Ottawa, @ndge
below for information regarding the lease assodiatih this engineering facility and our plannetuie relocation from this facility. We also
have engineering and/or service facilities locateSan Jose, California; Alpharetta, Georgia; SpekdVashington; Kanata, Canada; and
Gurgaon, India. In addition, we lease various senalffices in the United States, Mexico, South AigceerEurope, the Middle East and the Asig
Pacific region to support our sales and servicesaijpns. We believe the facilities we are now gsire adequate and suitable for our busines
requirements.

Hanover, Maryland Headquarters Leas€iena entered into an agreement dated Novem!2813, with W2007 RDG Realty, L.L.C.
relating to a 15-year lease of office space focitporate headquarters in Hanover, Maryland, stingi of an agreed-upon rentable area of
approximately 154,100 square feet.

Ottawa Lease and Planned Relocati@iena Canada, Inc., a subsidiary of Ciena, andi®Wbrks and Government Services Canada
(PWGSC) are parties to a lease agreement relati@iena’s lease of the “Lab 10" building on thenfi@r Nortel Carling Campus in Ottawa,
Canada. This facility consists of a rentable arfe266,000 square feet. This lease will terminatdecember 31, 2017. In contemplation of the
lease termination, on October 23, 2014, Ciena Carlad. entered into a Lease Agreement (the “Lgasih Innovation Blvd. Il Limited
(“Landlord™), to lease the office building locatat 5050 Innovation Drive, Ottawa, Canada (the “Rsest), consisting of an agreed-upon
rentable area of 170,582 square feet. The Prensigepected to be part of a future campus thatreqdlace the “Lab 10" building as Ciena's
Ottawa research and development center. The conemeamt date for the Lease will be the earlier ofiday 1, 2015, or such date on which
Ciena occupies any material portion of the Premasesbegins conducting business therein. Subjesmycearlier termination under the terms
and conditions of the Lease, the term of the Lshsdl continue for a period of 18 years from thenotencement date. Ciena has the option to
renew the Lease for an additional ten-year petiedeafter. Ciena also has the right to terminagd trase at the end of the thirteenth year
without penalty upon 18 months prior written notibeaddition to leasing the Premises, Ciena isenuly in negotiations with the Landlord for
the development and lease of two additional bugdithat will be built adjacent to the Premises,autare expected to consist of an aggregate
agreed-upon rentable area of approximately 250s00@re feet. The Lease also provides Ciena aoiditst offer to lease additional space in
the building adjacent to the Premises located @040novation Drive, for so long as Landlord owhs building and subject to any existing
rights of the current tenant. Our Lab 10 faciliguses sophisticated research and development lapneent and significant headcount
including key engineering personnel. The develogroéour new facilities and the transition of oyresations in Ottawa will require significe
effort, time and cost in advance of the expirattbthe Lab 10 lease.

For additional information regarding ouade obligations, see Note 22 to the Consolidatedr€ial Statements in Iltem 8 of Part Il of this
annual report.
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Item 3. Legal Proceeding

On May 29, 2008, Graywire, LLC filed a complainttire United States District Court for the North&istrict of Georgia against Ciena
and four other defendants, alleging, among otHag#) that certain of the parties' products infeéngS. Patent 6,542,673 (the “'673 Patent”),
relating to an identifier system and component®ofuiical assemblies. The complaint seeks injunatlief and damages. In July 2009, upon
request of Ciena and certain other defendantd)i8ePatent and Trademark Office (“PTQ”) grantesl diefendants' inter partes application for
reexamination with respect to certain claims of'@¥3 Patent, and the district court granted tHertkants' motion to stay the case pending
reexamination of all of the patents-in-suit. In Betber 2010, the PTO confirmed the validity of sata@ms and rejected the validity of other
claims of the '673 Patent, to which Ciena and otleéendants filed an appeal. On March 16, 2012P{® on appeal rejected multiple claims
of the '673 Patent, including the two claims onahhCiena is alleged to infringe. Subsequently platiff requested a reopening of the
prosecution of the '673 Patent, which request veased by the PTO on April 29, 2013. ThereafterMay 28, 2013, the plaintiff filed an
amendment with the PTO in which it canceled thexdeof the '673 Patent on which Ciena is allegeidfiinge. The case currently remains
stayed, and there can be no assurance as to whetlvben the stay will be lifted.

In addition to the matter described above, we abgest to various legal proceedings and claimsrayis the ordinary course of business,
including claims against third parties that mayoire contractual indemnification obligations on ffaet of Ciena. We do not expect that the
ultimate costs to resolve these matters will hawgaterial effect on our results of operations, ffitial position or cash flows.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.
PART Il
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Item 5. Market for Registrar's Common Stock, Related Stockholder Matters ansglusr Purchases of Equity Securities

(a) During fiscal 2013, our common stock was tradedhe NASDAQ Global Select Market. On December2fR 3, we transferred the

listing of our common stock from the NASDAQ Glol&#lect Market to the New York Stock Exchange. Ciemramon stock trades under the

stock symbol “CIEN.”

The following table sets forth the high and lowesaprices of our common stock, as reported on t8MAQ Global Select Market or the

New York Stock Exchange, as applicable, for thedligperiods indicatec

High Low

Fiscal Year 2013

First Quarter ended January 31 $ 16.4¢ $ 13.1¢

Second Quarter ended April 30 $ 1757 ¢ 14.3:

Third Quarter ended July 31 $ 22.9¢ $ 14.91

Fourth Quarter ended October 31 $ 2767 $ 19.9:
Fiscal Year 2014

First Quarter ended January 31 $ 2437 % 20.9:

Second Quarter ended April 30 $ 27.1¢ $ 18.8¢

Third Quarter ended July 31 $ 22.9¢ $ 18.0(

Fourth Quarter ended October 31 $ 20.9¢ $ 13.7i

As of December 12, 2014 , there were approximaté/holders of record of our common stock and 1852871 shares of common stock
outstanding. We have never paid cash dividendsuorcapital stock. We currently intend to retainnéags for use in our business, and we do
not anticipate paying any cash dividends in thedeeable future.

The following graph shows a comparison of cumutatmtal returns for an investment in our commouglstthe S&P Telecom Select Index
and the S&P Global SmallCap Index from October2809 to October 31, 2014 . The S&P Telecom Setatiidtry Index comprises stocks in
the S&P Total Market Index that are classifiednia Global Industry Classification Standard as a#ieve carriers, communications equipment
integrated telecom services, and wireless teleamices subindustries. The S&P Global SmallCap Index compribesstocks representing
lowest 15% of float-adjusted market cap in eactetigped and emerging country. This graph is not éekto be “filed” with the SEC or
subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Gdties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Bmgk Act"), and the graph shall not be
deemed to be incorporated by reference into army prisubsequent filing by us under the Securgietsof 1933, as amended, or the Exchange
Act.
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Assumes $100 invested in Ciena Corporation, the $&Bcom Select Index and the S&P Global Small@aiex, respectively, on
October 31, 2009 with all dividends reinvested anth-end.
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(b) Not applicable.
(c) Not applicable.
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial De

The following selected consolidated financial dgttauld be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Managei's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” #meConsolidated Financial Statements and the nioéesto included in Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.” We have a 53-wareek fiscal year, which ends on the Saturdayes to the last day of October in
each year. For purposes of financial statemeneptation, each fiscal year is described as hawidge on October 31. Fiscal 2010, 2011, z
and 2014 consisted of 52 weeks, and fiscal 2018isted of 53 weeks.

Year Ended October 31,
(in thousands)

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Cash and cash equivalents $ 688,687 $ 541,89t $ 642,44: $ 346,48° $ 586,72(
Short-term investments $ — % — 50,057 $ 124,97¢ $ 140,20!
Long-term investments $ — 3 50,26: $ — 15,03. $ 50,05}
Total assets $ 211809 $ 195141 $ 1,881,14. $ 1,802,770 $ 2,072,63
Short-term debt $ — % —  $ 216,21 $ — % 190,06:
Long-term debt $ 1,442,700 $ 1,442,36. $ 1,225,801 $ 1,212,01* $ 1,274,79

Total liabilities $ 1958800 $ 193754 $ 1,970,211 $ 1,88544 $ 2,142,224
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 159,29: $ 1387 % (88,97) $ (82,67) $ (69,61%)
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Statement of Operations Data:

Year Ended October 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Revenue $ 1,236,631 $ 1,741,971 $ 1,83392. $ 2,082,540 $ 2,288,28
Cost of goods sold 739,13! 1,032,82. 1,109,69' 1,217,37. 1,339,93

Gross profit 497,50: 709,14t 724,22: 865,17! 948,35
Operating expenses:

Research and development 327,62t 379,86: 364,17¢ 383,40¢ 401,18(
Selling and marketing 193,51! 251,99( 266,33t 304,17( 328,32!
General and administrative 102,69: 126,24 114,00: 122,43: 126,82:
Acquisition and integration costs 101,37¢ 42,08¢ — — —
Amortization of intangible assets 99,40: 69,66" 51,69° 49,77 45,97(
Restructuring costs 8,51« 5,781 7,85¢ 7,16¢ 34¢
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (13,807 (3,289 — — —

Total operating expenses 819,32( 872,33¢ 804,07( 866,95( 902,64
Gain (loss) from operations (321,819 (163,199 (79,846 (1,779 45,70«
Interest and other income (loss), net 3,917 6,022 (15,200 (5,749 (25,267)
Interest expense (18,619 (37,92¢) (39,657 (44,047 (47,115
Gain on cost method investments — 7,24¢ — — —
Gain (loss) on extinguishment of debt 4,94¢ — — (28,630) —
Loss before income taxes (331,57 (187,849 (134,699 (80,19) (26,679)
Provision for income taxes 1,941 7,67: 9,322 5,24( 13,96«
Net loss $ (33351) $ (19552) $ (144,02) % (85,43) $ (40,637
Basic net loss per common share $ (3.5¢) ¢ (209 ¢ (1.45) ¢ 0.89 % (0.39)
Diluted net loss per potential common share $ (3.5¢) $ (209 $ (1.45) $ (0.89 $ (0.3¢)
Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 93,10 95,85+ 99,34 102,35( 105,78:
Weighted average dilutive potential common shares
outstanding 93,10: 95,85¢ 99,34 102,35( 105,78:
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ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

This report contains statements that discuss fuewents or expectations, projections of resultopérations or financial conditio
changes in the markets for our products and sesyioe other “forward-looking” information. Our “foward-looking” information is based ¢
various factors and was derived using numerousrapsions. In some cases, you can identify thesevdod-looking statementdiy words liki
“may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “antic ipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “intends,” “potential” or “continue” or the
negative of those words and other comparable words. should be aware that these statements ongctefur current predictions and belie
These statements are subject to known and unknigks, uncertainties and other factors, and actuadrds or results may differ materia
Important factors that could cause our actual résub be materially different from the forwelooking statements are disclosed throug|
this report, particularly under the heading “Risla€tors” in Item 1A of Part | of this annual report. You shibreview these risk factors fo
more complete understanding of the risks associaf#idl an investment in our securities. We undertageobligation to revise or update ¢
forward-looking statements. The following discussion andlysis should be read in conjunction with ouélected Consolidated Financ
Data” and consolidated financial statements and noteséto included elsewhere in this annual report.

” ou " ou ” " ou ” ou

Overview

We are a network specialist focused on communicatietworking solutions that enable converged,-gereration architectures,
optimized to create and deliver the broad arrayigii-bandwidth services relied upon by businesscamdumer end users. We provide
equipment, software and services that supportr#msport, switching, aggregation, service delivaarg management of voice, video and data
traffic on communications networks. These solutienable network operators to adopt software-prograhte network infrastructures that
offer the on-demand experience required by endsusfeservices and applications. At the same tilmesé solutions yield business and
operational value for network operators.

Our Converged Packet Optical, Packet NetworkingjdapTransport and Software products are usedyihaally or as part of an
integrated solution, in networks operated by comigations service providers, cable operators, Welbesgroviders, governments, enterprises,
research and education institutions and other métwperators across the globe. Our products alletwaork operators to scale capacity,
increase transmission speeds, allocate netwofficteafd adapt to changing end-user demands throagtl service creation and delivery. Our
solutions also include network management and ocbstiftware and network-level software applicatitimst facilitate automation and efficient
service delivery. To complement our hardware aritiveme solutions, we offer a broad range of netwtoskisformation solutions and related
support services that help our customers desigimze, deploy, manage and maintain their networks.

The rapid proliferation of communications servieasl devices, together with increased mobility armvth in cloud-based services, have
fundamentally affected the demands placed upon agriwations networks and how they are designed. brétwperators also face a rapidly
changing business environment that includes aishiftompetitive landscape and challenges to exjsiirsiness models. Our ORrchitecture
and the increased network scalability, flexibiligd programmability that it enables, is designeahéet these challenges. Our Qfetwork
approach allows for network-level software appimas to control and configure the network dynamycathile flexible interfaces integrate
computing, storage and network resources. Thisoagprenables highly configurable infrastructured t¢an meet the "on-demand"
requirements of end-users and the changing serthegsely upon. By enhancing software programnitgtaind control, enabling network
functions virtually, and reducing required netwetkments, our OPapproach optimizes network infrastructures to cehnentent data
centers, and users to such content. At the sange tior approach creates business and operatioli@l feat our customers by increasing sca
reduced cost and facilitating rapid introductiomefv, revenue-generating service offerings. Our ®fehitecture, which underpins our
solutions offering and guides our research andldpwgent strategy, is described more fully in thed&gy" section of the description of our
business in Item 1 of Part 1 of this annual report.

Our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, annual repantg-orm 10-K, and current reports on Form 8-K fileith the SEC are available
through the SEC's website at www.sec.gov or freghafge on our website as soon as reasonably gabldiafter we file these documents. We
routinely post the reports above, recent news andancements, financial results and other inforomaéibout Ciena that is important to
investors in the "Investors" section of our websaiteww.ciena.com. Investors are encouraged t@vethe “Investors” section of our website
because, as with the other disclosure channelsvinaise, from time to time we may post materiabinfation on that site that is not otherwise
disseminated by us.

Market Opportunity

The markets in which we sell our communicationsveeking solutions have been subject to signifiagtmnges in recent years, including
rapid growth in network traffic, technology convenge, increased mobility, and evolving cloud-bassdice
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offerings and end-user demands. These conditiors tr@ated market opportunities and challengeshidnad impacted how networks are
designed, as well as the competitive landscapastefork operators and the vendors that support.tEmsting and emerging network
operators are competing to distinguish their sereierings and rapidly introduce differentiateglyenuegenerating services. At the same ti
network operators continue to seek to manage tsis of their network and to ensure a profitabldriess model. These dynamics are driving
technology convergence of network features, fumstiand layers, virtualization of certain networkdtions, and the adoption of software-
based network control and programmability. We elithat these dynamics, and the need to adaptatgaig business conditions, are creatin
an environment that will cause network operatoradopt infrastructures that are more open, prograloierand automated. We also believe
these conditions will require vendors and netwgokrators to leverage an open ecosystem of vireglizsources provided by a variety of tl
parties and will drive increased openness anddprability of network infrastructures.

During fiscal 2014, we saw certain service provicgstomers increase efforts to constrain capitaéediture budgets, which adversely
impacted certain segments of our market, includingpe U.S. Notwithstanding these market dynanoas,strategy of focusing on certain
higher growth segments of the network infrastruetmarket, combined with our efforts to diversifyr austomer base to include additional
customer segments, such as Web-scale providersdafitional service providers in geographies incigdrazil and India, enabled us to
continue to grow revenue in fiscal 2014. Our cogp@strategy to capitalize on these market dynagmiosnote operational efficiency and dr
profitable growth of our business includes theatites set forth in the "Strategy" section of tlescription of our business in Item 1 of Part 1
of this annual report.

Competitive Landscape

We continue to encounter a highly competitive and fragmented marketplace. Our sales of Converge#lé? Optical solutions face an
intense competitive environment as we and our céiope introduce new, high-capacity, high-speedvoek solutions and seek adoption of
these solutions and our network architectural aggioOur sales of Packet Networking solutions udiclg our 8700 Packetwave Platform, ¢
face a highly competitive marketplace with addiibcompetitors, including traditional IP router demns. We expect the current competitive
landscape to remain challenging and dynamic. Awaring technologies become more software-drivend, @etwork features and layers
continue to converge, our competitive landscap¢icoes to broaden beyond traditional competitorsaAesult, we are competing with, and
expect to compete increasingly with, additionaldens focused on IP routing, information technolagyl software.

Within these competitive dynamics, maintaining imfxency with key customers domestically and abraad,securing new opportunities
with network operators often requires that we agpesggressive pricing, significant commercial cessions or other unfavorable commercial
terms. These terms have previously and may inthed adversely affect our quarterly results ofrafjiens and contribute to fluctuations in
results. These terms can also elongate our revexgognition or cash collection cycles, add startagts to initial sales or deployment of our
solutions, require financial commitments or perfarmoe bonds, and include onerous contractual comamisrthat place a disproportionate
allocation of risk upon us.

Term Loan and Asset-Based Credit Facilities

During fiscal 2014, we entered into a credit agreenthat provides for senior secured term loaraiaggregate principal amount of $250
million (the "Term Loan"). We expect to use the rgqimately $246 million in net proceeds to repaywihole or part, the outstanding principal
amount owing under our 4.00% senior convertiblesaiie March 15, 2015 ("2015 Notes") in the evemtiblders thereof do not elect to
convert such notes into common stock prior to nigtuin the event the holders of such notes electonvert their notes into common stock
upon or prior to maturity, we may elect to repag Trerm Loan, in whole or in part, or may utilize thet proceeds for other general corporate
purposes, including the repayment or refinancingtbér existing indebtedness. See Note 14 to ons@ilated Financial Statements included
in Item 8 of Part Il of this report for a summarfytiee material terms and conditions of the TermrLaad the related security documents.

During fiscal 2014, we also amended the terms ofaisting senior secured asset-based revolvingjtdiility to, among other things,
increase the total commitment under our ABL Cré&ditility from $150 million to $200 million and toiend the maturity date from August :
2015 to December 31, 2016. See Note 15 to our Qidased Financial Statements included in Iltem ®aft 1l of this report for a summary of
the material terms and conditions of the amendrwetitis credit facility and the related securitycdments.

Financial Results for Fourth Quarter Fiscal 2014
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Revenue for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014 wa81$0 million , representing a sequential decr@a2e1% from $603.6 million in the
third quarter of fiscal 2014 . Revenue-related itketaflecting sequential changes from the thirdrter of fiscal 2014 include the following:

»  Product revenue for the fourth quarter of fi2@14 decreased by $19.7 million , primarily refileg decreases of $13.0 million in
Packet Networking , $4.5 million in Optical Transpand $3.3 million in software in Software and\8ees . These decreases were
partially offset by an increase of $1.2 million@onverged Packet Optical . Product revenue for €ayed Packet Optical and Packet
Networking were adversely impacted by a commemnigingement with AT&T entered into in the fourtrager of fiscal 2014 relatir
to our participation in AT&T's Domain 2.0 suppligrogram. The Domain 2.0 initiative is the next gatien of AT&T's Supplier
Domain Program, intended to enable AT&T to transitnore quickly to next-generation, cloud-basethitectures that embrace NFV
and SDN, and accelerate their time to market wélv products and services.

» Service revenue for the fourth quarter of fis?@14 increased by $7.1 million

» Revenue from the United States for the fourtartgr of fiscal 2014 was $308.5 million , a deceelrsm $368.1 million in the third
quarter of fiscal 2014 .

» International revenue for the fourth quartefietal 2014 was $282.5 million , an increase fra8%5 million in the third quarter of
fiscal 2014 .

* As a percentage of revenue, international regemas 47.8% during the fourth quarter of fiscal£0an increase from 39.0% during
the third quarter of fiscal 2014 .

*  For the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014 , one oustr accounted for 12.2% of total revenue. Thismanmed to one customer that
accounted for 21.6% of total revenue in the thindreer of fiscal 2014 .

Gross margin for the fourth quarter of fiscal 20ak 37.4% , a decrease from 43.7% in the thirdtquaf fiscal 2014 . Gross margin for
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014 was adverselyantpd by our commercial arrangement with AT&T, asalibed above, and revenue from
multiple large international projects that arehie early stage of network deployment with highéateal start-up costs that include a large
concentration of lower margin "common" equipmerd bower margin installation services.

Operating expense was $222.7 million for the foguhrter of fiscal 2014 , a decrease from $22710amiin the third quarter of fiscal
2014 . Fourth quarter operating expense refledecaease of $7.7 million in general and administeaéxpense. This decrease was partially
offset by increases of $2.5 million in selling andrketing expense and $0.8 million in researchdewtlopment expense.

Our lower revenue and gross margin resulted irssflom operations of $1.8 million for the fourthagter of fiscal 2014 , as compared to
$37.0 million of income from operations during théed quarter of fiscal 2014 . Due primarily to tfhectuation in foreign currency exchange
rates, net of hedging, we incurred losses in isteaad other income, net of $10.7 million and $8ifion during the fourth quarter of fiscal
2014 and the third quarter of fiscal 2014 , resgebt. Our net loss for the fourth quarter of fise814 was $30.7 million , or $0.29 per diluted
common share. This compares to a net income oR$élion or $0.15 per diluted common share, fa third quarter of fiscal 2014 .

We generated $73.8 million of cash from operatigmsng the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014 , consigtof $23.5 million provided by net
losses adjusted for non-cash charges and $50.@mitovided by changes in working capital. Thisngares with $51.1 million in cash
generated from operations during the third quartdiscal 2014 , consisting of $80.9 million proei by net income adjusted for non-cash
charges, offset by a $29.8 million use of cashtedléo changes in working capital.

As of October 31, 2014 , we had $586.7 millionaskt and cash equivalents, $140.2 million of shertinvestments in U.S. treasury
securities and commercial paper and $50.1 milliblerng-term investments in U.S. treasury securitigss compares to $532.9 million in cash
and cash equivalents, $120.3 million of short-teraestments in U.S. treasury securities and comiadgoaper, and $65.0 million of long-term
investments in U.S. treasury securities at July2814 and $346.5 million in cash and cash equivg)&125.0 million of short-term
investments in U.S. treasury securities and comiadgraper, and $15.0 million of long-term investrigeim U.S. treasury securities at
October 31, 2013

As of October 31, 2014 , we had 5,161 employeem@ease from 5,136 as of July 31, 2014 and aréase from 4,754 and 4,481 at
October 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively.
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Consolidated Results of Operations
Operating Segments

Ciena’s internal organizational structure and ttenagement of its business are grouped into thewaly operating segments each of
which is more fully described in the "Products &®tvices" section of the description of our busiriedtem 1 of Part 1 of this annual report:

e Converged Packet Optical #acludes the 6500 Packet-Optical Platform and #@3Reconfigurable Switching System, which featur
Ciena's Wavelogic coherent optical processors. itsdlso include Ciena's family of CoreDirector@INservice Optical Switches
and the OTN configuration for the 5410 Reconfigleadwitching System. This segment also includesssal operating system
software and enhanced software features embeddstimof these products. Revenue from this segimé@mtiuded in product
revenue on the Consolidated Statement of Operations

» Packet Networkin—includes Ciena's 3000 family of service deliverytshes and service aggregation switches and the &00ily
of service aggregation switches. This segmentialdades Ciena’s 8700 Packetwave Platform and Gidethernet packet
configuration for the 5410 Service Aggregation $WwitThis segment also includes sales of operatistgm software and enhanced
software features embedded in each of these prmdret/enue from this segment is included in prodexgnue on the Consolidated
Statement of Operations.

e Optical Transport —includes the 4200 Advanced Services Platform, Gaas® Agility Optical Transport System, 5100/5200
Advanced Services Platform, Common Photonic La@&l() and 6100 Multiservice Optical Platform. Thegment includes sales
from SONET/SDH, transport and data networking potsiuas well as certain enterprise-oriented tramsmiutions that support
storage and LAN extension, interconnection of dataters, and virtual private networks. This segnaést includes operating system
software and enhanced software features embeddstimof these products. Revenue from this segimé@mtiuded in product
revenue on the Consolidated Statement of Operations

» Software and Services ircludes Ciena's Agility software portfolio, whiaghcludes a SDN multilayer WAN controller, NFV platm,
and network level software applications for enaplim-demand, high-bandwidth WAN services deliveredn open network
ecosystem. This segment also includes the OneCdshtiied Management System, ON-Center® Network énfice Management
Suite, Ethernet Services Manager and Optical Refease. This segment includes a broad rangea€ssifor consulting and
network design, installation and deployment, maiatee support and training activities. Except émenue from the software portion
of this segment, which is included in product raxesrrevenue from this segment is included in sesvievenue on the Consolidated
Statement of Operations.

Fiscal 2013 compared to Fiscal 2014
Revenut

The table below (in thousands, except percentatgg dats forth the changes in our operating segnegenue for the periods indicated:

Fiscal Year
Increase
2013 %* 2014 %* (decrease) %o**

Revenue:

Converged Packet Optical $ 1,187,23 57.0 $ 1,455,50 63.6 $ 268,27( 22.€

Packet Networking 222,89¢ 10.7 244,11¢ 10.7 21,21¢ 9.t

Optical Transport 233,82: 11.2 127,21! 5.6 (106,606 (45.€)

Software and Services 438,59t 21.1 461,45 20.1 22,86 5.2
Consolidated revenue $ 2,082,54 100.0 $ 2,288,28 100.0 $ 205,74 9.¢
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* Denotes % of total revenue
**  Denotes % change from 2013 to 2014

« Converged Packet Optical revenuéncreased significantly, reflecting a $258.2 miflimcrease in sales of our 6500 Packet-Optical
Platform, largely driven by service provider andbAgeale provider demand for high-capacity, opticatsport for coherent 40G and
100G network infrastructures. In addition, saleswf 5430 reconfigurable switching system and tii@&l@onfiguration for the 5410
Reconfigurable Switching System increased by $&%lkon and $6.0 million respectively. These incsea were partially offset by a
$21.5 million decrease in sales of our CoreDire®tbtultiservice Optical Switches. The strong perfamme of this segment,
particularly as compared to the expected declin€3gtical Transport segment revenue, reflects thepence of network operators
adopt next-generation architectures that enabledghgergence of high-capacity, coherent opticaldpart with integrated OTN
switching and control plane functionality.

» Packet Networking revenueincreased , reflecting a $30.4 million increassates of our 3000 and 5000 families of serviceveeji
and aggregation switches. This increase was ladyalgn by the expansion of Ethernet business sesvby AT&T, our largest
service provider customer. Segment revenue alsefibeth from $1.7 million in initial sales of our 80 Packetwave Platform. These
increases were partially offset by decreases & ##llion in sales of our 5410 Service Aggregatiwitch and $5.1 million in sales
of our older, stand-alone broadband products.

« Optical Transport revenue decreased , reflecting sales decreases of $46i6miii other stand-alone transport products, $36.2
million of 5100/5200 Advanced Services Platform &28.8 million in our 4200 Advanced Services PlatfoRevenue for our
Optical Transport segment, which currently congisiscipally of stand-alone WDM and SONET/SDtdsed transport platforms, t
experienced meaningful declines in annual revenuedent years, reflecting network operators' iteomstoward next-generation
converged network architectures as described above.

« Software and Services revenumcreased , reflecting increases of $10.4 milliomiaintenance and support services revenue, $8.4
million in installation and deployment serviceseaue, $2.8 million in software sales and $1.2 omillin networking transformation
consulting revenue.

Revenue from sales to customers outside of theedi8tates is reflected as International in the ggadgc distribution of revenue below.
The table below (in thousands, except percentazg dats forth the changes in geographic distioutif revenue for the periods indicated:

Fiscal Year
Increase
2013 %* 2014 %* (decrease) %o**
United States $ 1,217,46; 585 $ 1,317,98: 576 $ 100,51¢ 8.3
International 865,08 41.5 970,30t 42.4 105,22 12.2
Total $ 2,082,54 100.0 $ 2,288,28' 100.0 $ 205,74 99

* Denotes % of total revenue
**  Denotes % change from 2013 to 2014

* United States revenueeflects increases of $123.8 million in Convergagket Optical sales, $20.3 million in Packet Nekiry
sales and $20.7 million in Services and Softwakessén particular, during fiscal 2014, we benefifeom the diversification of our
customer base, including increased sales of ouv€&ged Packet Optical products to Watale providers and data center operatot
these customers added capacity and adopted nestagiem network architectures better able to hanul#i-service traffic growth.
We also increased sales of our Packet NetworkindgGonverged Packet Optical products to AT&T in suppf its Ethernet business
services and increased demand for high-capaciticadpransport. These increases were partiallgaifby a $64.3 million decrease in
Optical Transport sales as network operators' itiandoward next-generation converged network gectures as described above.

* International revenue reflects increases of $144.5 million in Convergedket Optical sales and $2.2 million in Softward an
Services revenue. We benefited from the divergificaof our customer base including increased saflesir Converged Packet
Optical products to service provider customersngaiine consortia and cable and
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multiservice operators. These increases were panidiset by decreases of $42.3 million in OptiGaknsport sales as network
operators' transition toward next-generation cogeémetwork architectures as described above.

While we have benefited from the diversificationoofr business and customer base, our largest stamars contributed 59.4% of fiscal
2013 revenue and 56.48f fiscal 2014 revenue. A sizable portion of ourareue continues to come from sales to service gemdustomers. /
a result, our financial results are significantfieated by and can fluctuate depending upon speridiels of our service provider customers,
their end-user demand and the business opportsimitié challenges they encounter. Sales to AT&T $873.6 million , or 17.9% of total
revenue, in fiscal 2013 and $423.5 million , or5e8.of total revenue, in fiscal 2014 . We did notédany other customers accounting for
greater than 10% of our revenue in fiscal 2013swal 2014 .

Cost of Goods Sold and Gross Profit

Product cost of goods sold consists primarily obants paid to third party contract manufactureosngonent costs, employee-related
costs and overhead, shipping and logistics costcaged with manufacturing-related operationsargy and other contractual obligations,
royalties, license fees, amortization of intangifsets, cost of excess and obsolete inventorywdreh applicable, estimated losses on
committed customer contracts.

Services cost of goods sold consists primarilyicdal and third party costs, including employetated costs, associated with our provi
of services including installation, deployment, manance support, consulting and training actiwitied, when applicable, estimated losses ol
committed customer contracts.

Our gross profit as a percentage of revenue, @sgmargin,” is susceptible to fluctuations dua tmmber of factors. In any given period,
gross margin can vary significantly depending ufenmix and concentration of revenue by segmentuyart line within a particular segment,
geography and customers. Gross margin can alstidmteal by our concentration of lower margin "commhequipment sales and higher
margin channel cards, the mix of lower margin ihstian services within our service revenue, odrdaduction of new products, and changes it
expense for excess and obsolete inventory and mgrobligations. Gross margin can also be advers#écted by the level of pricing pressure
and competition that we encounter in the market.ekfeect that gross margins will be subject to filation based on our level of success in
driving product cost reductions relative to the kesbased price erosion we encounter. In an efforétain or secure customers, enter new
markets or capture market share, we may agreadagor other unfavorable commercial terms thautein lower or negative gross margins
on a particular order or group of orders. Grossginacan also be affected as a result of our degffeaccess in rationalizing our supply chain
and consolidating third party contract manufactsigard distribution sites as part of our effort pdirmize our operations. These market
dynamics and factors may adversely affect our gnegin and results of operations in certain pexiod

Service gross margin can be affected by the mbustomers and services, particularly the mix bebhngsployment and maintenance
services, geographic mix and the timing and ex@¢éany investments in internal resources to supihistbusiness.

The tables below (in thousands, except percentag det forth the changes in revenue, cost ofgeolll and gross profit for the periods
indicated:

Fiscal Year
Increase
2013 %* 2014 %* (decrease) %**
Total revenue $ 2,082,54 100.0 $ 2,288,28! 100.0 $ 205,74: 9.9
Total cost of goods sold 1,217,37. 58.5 1,339,93 58.6 122,56t 10.1
Gross profit $ 865,17! 415 $ 948,35: 414 $ 83,17 9.6

* Denotes % of total revenue
**  Denotes % change from 2013 to 2014
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Fiscal Year
Increase
2013 %* 2014 %* (decrease) %o**
Product revenue $ 1,680,12! 100.0 $ 1,865,82 100.0 $ 185,70: 111
Product cost of goods sold 967,51( 57.6 1,083,02 58.0 115,51 11.9
Product gross profit $ 712,61t 424 $ 782,80: 42.0 $ 70,18¢ 9.8
* Denotes % of product revenue
**  Denotes % change from 2013 to 2014
Fiscal Year
Increase
2013 %* 2014 %* (decrease) %**
Service revenue $ 402,42: 100.0 $ 422,46: 1000 $ 20,04: 5.0
Service cost of goods sold 249,86: 62.1 256,91! 60.8 7,05¢ 2.8
Service gross profit $ 152,56( 379 $ 165,54¢ 39.2 $ 12,98¢ 8.5

* Denotes % of service revenue
**  Denotes % change from 2013 to 2014

» Gross profit as a percentage of revenuemained relatively unchang

» Gross profit on products as a percentage of produagevenuedecreased slightly, due to lower margins on Padksivorking and
Optical Transport products. The decline was largélget by improved mix of higher-margin packettfdans with software content
within our Converged Packet Optical segment, aedtgr leverage from efforts to streamline and ogtrour supply chain activities.

» Gross profit on services as a percentage of serviceevenueincreased primarily due to increased maintenandecansulting
services revenues and increased margin due to wegrefficiencies for managed spares projects.

Operating Expense

We expect operating expense to increase slightiigéal 2015 from the level reported for fiscal 20d support the growth of our busine
to fund our research and development initiativess tarprovide for investments in the re-engineenhgompany-wide enterprise resource
planning platforms. Operating expense consisth@tbmponent elements described below.

Research and development expgiramarily consists of salaries and related emplagpgeense (including share-based compensation
expense), prototype costs relating to design, deveént, and testing of our products, depreciatiggease and third party consulting co

Selling and marketing expengemarily consists of salaries, commissions andtesl employee expense (including share-based
compensation expense), and sales and marketingdugpense, including travel, demonstration unitgje show expense and third party
consulting costs.

General and administrative experm@émarily consists of salaries and related emploggeense (including share-based compensation
expense), and costs for third party consulting athér services.

Amortization of intangible assepsimarily reflects the amortization of purchasechtgology and the value of customer relationships
derived from our past acquisitions.

Restructuring costprimarily reflect actions Ciena has taken to bedten its workforce, facilities and operating costith perceived
market opportunities, business strategies and @saingnarket and business conditions.
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The table below (in thousands, except percentatzg dats forth the changes in operating expensthéoperiods indicated:

Research and development $
Selling and marketing

General and administrative
Amortization of intangible assets
Restructuring costs

Total operating expenses $

Fiscal Year
Increase

2013 %* 2014 %* (decrease) %o**
383,40t 18.4 $ 401,18( 175 $ 17,77 4.6
304,17( 14.6 328,32! 14.3 24,15¢ 7.8
122,43. 5.9 126,82 5.5 4,39 3.€
49,77 2.4 45,97( 2.0 (3,801) (7.€)

7,16¢ 0.3 34¢ — (6,820) (95.1)
866,95( 416 $ 902,64 39.3 $ 35,69¢ 4.1

* Denotes % of total revenue

**  Denotes % change from 2013 to 2014

» Research and development expendenefited by $15.4 million as a result of foreigwclgange rates, primarily due to strengthening c

the U.S. dollar in relation to the Canadian DollEne $17.8 million

increase primarily reflecteieases of $8.1 million in

professional services expense, $6.9 million in @ygd compensation and related costs, $5.3 milliggrétotype expense, partially
offset by a decrease of $2.6 million in technolagy related costs.

» Selling and marketing expensdenefited by $1.9 million as a result of foreigrtleange rates, primarily due to strengthening of the
U.S. dollar in relation to the Canadian Dollar. ®22.2 million increase primarily reflects incressé $20.6 million in employee
compensation and related costs, $3.3 million ofefand related costs and $1.2 million in facifitend information technology costs.
These increases were partially offset by a decreb$&.4 million in customer demonstration equipten

* General and administrative expenséncreased by $4.4 million , primarily reflecting entrease in legal fees and settlements and

consulting services.

» Amortization of intangible assetsdecreased due to certain intangible assets hagaahed the end of their economic i

* Restructuring costsprimarily reflect certain severance and relatedease associated with headcount reductions andictsting
activities to align our workforce and resourceshwitarket opportunities and research and developimitiatives. Restructuring costs
for fiscal 2013 also include the consolidation eftain facilities located within Maryland assocahteith the transition of our

headquarters facility.

Other items

The table below (in thousands, except percentatgg dats forth the changes in other items for #réops indicated:

Interest and other income (loss), net $
Interest expense $
Loss on debt extinguishment $
Provision for income taxes $

* Denotes % of total revenue
**  Denotes % change from 2013 to 2014

Fiscal Year
Increase
2013 %* 2014 %* (decrease) %**
(5,749 (0.3 $ (25,26 (1) $ (19,519 (339.9
44,04 21 % 47,11¢ 21 % 3,07: 7.C
(28,63() (1.4 $ — — 8 28,63( (100.0
5,24( 02 % 13,96¢ 0€ $ 8,72¢ 166.5

* Interest and other income (loss), neteflects a $5.7 million non-cash loss related ®dhange in fair value of the embedded
redemption feature associated with our 2015 Natesaa$13.5 million increase in losses related teifm
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exchange rates on assets and liabilities denondiriate currency other than the relevant functianeitency, net of hedging activity.
* Interest expensancreasegrimarily due to the Term Loan that was entered intfiscal 2014, as described in "Overview" ab

» Loss on extinguishment of debfor fiscal 2013 reflects a non-cash loss of $28ilian relating to the exchange transactions during
the first quarter of fiscal 2013. Upon issuance,4t0% convertible senior notes due December 1A) 2be "2020 Notes") were
recorded at a fair value of $213.6 million. The lexcge transactions resulted in the retirement tstanding 2015 Notes with a
carrying value of $187.9 million and the write-offunamortized debt issuance costs of $2.3 miliind $0.6 million relating to the
redemption feature on the 2015 Notes, which waswatted for as a separate embedded derivative.

» Provision for income taxesncreased primarily due to foreign and state tgpeese:

Fiscal 2012 compared to Fiscal 2013
Revenut

The table below (in thousands, except percentatgg dats forth the changes in our operating segnegenue for the periods indicated:

Fiscal Year
Increase
2012 %* 2013 %* (decrease) %o**

Revenue:

Converged Packet Optical $ 951,24! 519 $ 1,187,23 57.0 $ 235,98t 24.¢

Packet Networking 128,98 7.0 222,89¢ 10.7 93,91¢ 72.8

Optical Transport 353,62( 19.3 233,82: 11.2 (119,799 (33.9

Software and Services 400,07¢ 21.8 438,59¢ 21.1 38,52( 9.€
Consolidated revenue $ 1,833,92 100.0 $ 2,082,54 100.0 $ 248,62. 13.€

* Denotes % of total revenue
**  Denotes % change from 2012 to 2013

» Converged Packet Optical revenuéncreased significantly, reflecting a $176.7 mitlimcrease in sales of our 6500 Packet-Optical
Platform, largely driven by service provider demémdhigh-capacity, optical transport for coherd@G and 100G network
infrastructures. In addition, sales of our 543®mrdigurable switching system and the OTN configiorator the 5410 Reconfigurable
Switching System increased by $71.0 million and.$Xillion respectively. These increases were ghytbffset by a $22.0 million
decrease in sales of our CoreDirector® Multiserdgical Switches. The strong performance of tegnsent, particularly as
compared to the expected annual revenue declin@ptical Transport segment revenue, reflects teéepence of network operators
adopt next-generation architectures that enabledheergence of high-capacity, coherent opticalgpart with integrated OTN
switching and control plane functionality.

» Packet Networking revenueincreased , reflecting a $101.0 million increassates of our 3000 and 5000 families of servicévdef
and aggregation switches. This increase was sligifittet by a $4.9 million decrease in sales of ™0 Service Aggregation Switch
and a $2.7 million decrease in sales of our oltlerdsalone broadband products. Segment revenuditeenieom the expansion of
Ethernet business services by our North Americavicgeprovider customers and sales of service dsliand aggregation products in
support of their related network initiatives.

» Optical Transport revenue decreased , reflecting sales decreases of $59i6mmiit our 4200 Advanced Services Platform, $42.6
million in other stand-alone transport products $84.1 million in our 5100/5200 Advanced Servic&tfBrm. Revenue for our
Optical Transport segment, which currently congisiscipally of stand-alone WDM and SONET/SDH-basehsport platforms, has
experienced meaningful declines in annual revenuedent years, reflecting network operators' itexmstoward next-generation
network architectures as described above.

» Software and Services revenumcreased , reflecting sales increases of $15.omih software, $14.2 million in installation and
deployment, $7.6 million in maintenance and suppervices and $1.7 million in network transformatamnsulting services.
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Revenue from sales to customers outside of theed8tates is reflected as International in the ggadc distribution of revenue below.
The table below (in thousands, except percentazg dats forth the changes in geographic distioutif revenue for the periods indicated:

Fiscal Year
Increase
2012 %* 2013 %* (decrease) %o**
United States $ 972,57¢ 53.0 $ 1,217,46: 585 $ 244 88t 25.2
International 861,34 47.0 865,08: 41.5 3,731 0.4
Total $ 1,833,92 100.0 $ 2,082,54 100.0 $ 248,62 13.6

* Denotes % of total revenue
**  Denotes % change from 2012 to 2013

» United States revenueeflects increases of $152.0 million in Convergedkt Optical sales, $95.5 million in Packet Netirmg
sales, and $28.2 million in Software and Serviesgnue. These increases were partially offset$80e9 million decrease in Optical
Transport sales. Increased revenues reflect eddpteon by network operators in the United Stafesooverged network architectures
that align well with our OPArchitecture and solutions offering.

» International revenue reflects increasesf $84.0 million in Converged Packet Optical saad $10.3 million increase in Software
Services revenue. These increases were partidflgtdfy decreases of $88.9 million in Optical Trzors sales and $1.6 million in
Packet Networking sales.

Cost of Goods Sold and Gross Profit

The tables below (in thousands, except percentag det forth the changes in revenue, cost ofgeolll and gross profit for the periods
indicated:

Fiscal Year
Increase
2012 %* 2013 %* (decrease) %o**
Total revenue $ 1,833,92 100.0 $ 2,082,54 100.0 $ 248,62: 13.6
Total cost of goods sold 1,109,69! 60.5 1,217,37. 58.5 107,67: 9.7
Gross profit $ 724,22 395 $ 865,17" 415 $ 140,95: 19.5
* Denotes % of total revenue
**  Denotes % change from 2012 to 2013
Fiscal Year
Increase
2012 %* 2013 %* (decrease) %o**
Product revenue $ 1,454,99 100.0 $ 1,680,12! 100.0 $ 225,13« 15.5
Product cost of goods sold 868,80! 59.7 967,51( 57.6 98,70t 11.4
Product gross profit $ 586,18t 403 $ 712,61t 424 $ 126,42 21.6

* Denotes % of product revenue
**  Denotes % change from 2012 to 2013
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Fiscal Year
Increase
2012 %* 2013 %* (decrease) %o**
Service revenue $ 378,93: 100.0 $  402,42: 100.0 $ 23,48¢ 6.2
Service cost of goods sold 240,89: 63.6 249,86 62.1 8,961 3.7
Service gross profit $ 138,03t 36.4 $ 152,56( 379 % 14,52: 10.5

* Denotes % of service revenue
**  Denotes % change from 2012 to 2013

» Gross profit as a percentage of revenuimcreaseds a result of the factors described be

» Gross profit on products as a percentage of produaevenueincreased primarily due to improved mix of higheasgin packet
platforms with software content, including withinrd®Packet Networking and Converged Packet Optegireents, higher sales of
integrated network service management softwaregdavarranty costs, and greater leverage from aftorstreamline and optimize
our supply chain activities.

» Gross profit on services as a percentage of serviceevenueincreased primarily due to improved margins onalation and
deployment services due to improved operationétieffcies, and increased consulting service revémue our Network
Transformation Solutions offering.

Operating expense

The table below (in thousands, except percentatgg dats forth the changes in operating expenstaéoperiods indicated:

Fiscal Year
Increase
2012 %* 2013 %* (decrease) %o*r*
Research and development $ 364,17 199 $ 383,40t 184 $ 19,22¢ 5.3
Selling and marketing 266,33¢ 14.5 304,17( 14.6 37,83: 14.2
General and administrative 114,00: 6.2 122,43. 5.9 8,43( 7.4
Amortization of intangible assets 51,69° 2.8 49,77 2.4 (1,926 (3.7
Restructuring costs 7,854 0.4 7,16¢ 0.3 (68E) (8.7)
Total operating expenses $ 804,07( 438 $ 866,95( 416 $ 62,88( 7.8

* Denotes % of total revenue
**  Denotes % change from 2012 to 2013

» Research and development expendenefited from $4.0 million as a result of foregxchange rates, primarily due to the
strengthening of the U.S. dollar in relation to @enadian dollar and the Indian Rupee. The $19lllbmincrease primarily reflects
increases of $15.9 million in employee compensadiath related costs, $7.5 million in prototype exgeer$5.2 million in facilities and
information systems expense and $2.1 million imt@togy-related purchases. The increase in emplogegensation is primarily
related to incentive-based compensation. Theseases were partially offset by a $12.5 million éase in professional services.

» Selling and marketing expenseincreased by $37.8 million, primarily reflectimgcreases of $26.5 million in employee compensatio
and related costs, $6.8 million in facilities anfbrmation systems expense, $4.5 million of trare related costs, $2.0 million in
trade show and related expense and $1.1 milligmafessional services. A significant portion of @ureased employee compensa
and related costs reflect commissions-based corafiensassociated with strong order flows achievadng fiscal 2013. These
increases were partially offset by decreases & @illion of freight and logistic costs and $1.3llnih for customer demonstration
equipment.

* General and administrative expenséncreased by $8.4 million primarily reflecting arciease of $10.8 million in employee
compensation and related costs, partially offsed B2.7 million decrease in facilities and informoatsystems expense. The increas
employee compensation is primarily related to iniverbased compensation.

45




Table of Contents

« Amortization of intangible assetsdecreased due to certain intangible assets hagsaxhed the end of their economic Ii

» Restructuring costsfor fiscal 2012 and 2013 primarily reflect certaigverance and related expense associated withdweddc
reductions and restructuring activities to aligm workforce and resources with market opportunigied research and development
initiatives. In addition, restructuring costs fegdal 2012 and 2013 include the consolidation ofaie facilities located within
Maryland associated with the transition of our lpeadters facility.

Other items

The table below (in thousands, except percentatgg dats forth the changes in other items for #véogds indicated:

Fiscal Year
Increase
2012 %* 2013 %* (decrease) %o**
Interest and other income (loss), net $ (15,200 0.8 % (5,749 03 % 9,45¢ 62.2
Interest expense $ 39,65 22 % 44,04 21  $ 4,38¢ 11.1
Loss on extinguishment of debt $ — 0C $ (28,630) 1.9 $ (28,63() (100.0
Provision for income taxes $ 9,327 0 $ 5,24( 208 (4,087) (43.9)

* Denotes % of total revenue
**  Denotes % change from 2012 to 2013

» Interest and other income (loss), nein fiscal 2013, reflects a $3.0 million non-caslingzlated to the change in fair value of the
embedded redemption feature associated with ous Rites. In fiscal 2012, interest and other incdloss), net reflected a $6.6
million non-cash loss related to the change invalue of the embedded redemption feature.

» Interest expensdncreased , reflecting increases of $3.0 millidatieg to our convertible note exchange transastiuring the first
quarter of fiscal 2013, and $2.1 million in expenslating to our asset-backed loan facility entérgd during fiscal 2012. These
increases were partially offset by a decreasetefést expense in fiscal 2013 of $0.6 million, pifrally due to the repayment of our
0.25% convertible senior notes at maturity in theosd quarter of fiscal 2013.

» Loss on extinguishment of debtreflects a non-cash loss of $28.6 million relatioghe exchange transactions during the firsttguar
of fiscal 2013. Upon issuance, the 2020 Notes wererded at a fair value of $213.6 million. The lexege transactions resulted in the
retirement of outstanding 2015 Notes with a cagyialue of $187.9 million and the write-off of unartized debt issuance costs of
$2.3 million and $0.6 million relating to the redgtion feature on the 2015 Notes accounted forseparate embedded derivative.

« Provision for income taxedor fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2013 are primarily rethto foreign tax expense. The decrease in fistEB 2
largely attributable to the recognition of priorcentain tax benefits.

Segment Profit

The table below (in thousands, except percentatzg dats forth the changes in our segment prdfitife respective periods:
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Fiscal Year
Increase
2013 2014 (decrease) %*
Segment profit:
Converged Packet Optical $ 242,33¢ $ 353,94 $ 111,60 46.1
Packet Networking $ 22,740 $ 19,467 $ (3,279) (14.9)
Optical Transport $ 89,75¢ $ 38,97: $ (50,780) (56.€)
Software and Services $ 126,93¢ $ 134,78¢ $ 7,851 6.2

* Denotes % change from 2013 to 2014

» Converged Packet Optical segment profilncreased primarily due to increased sales volundeimproved gross margin. The
increased sales volume is largely driven by semprogider and Web-scale provider demand for hégpacity, coherent 40G and 10
network infrastructures with integrated OTN switalpiand control plane functionality. The improvedsg margin is primarily due to
sales reflecting a greater mix of higher-marginkgaplatforms with software content within the sexntn These increases were
partially offset by increased research and devetyraxpense.

» Packet Networking segment profitdecreasedue to lower margins on our 3000 and 5000 famdfeservice delivery and aggregati
switches, reflecting increased pricing pressureamdpetitive dynamics, and increased research emelapment expense. Decreased
segment profit was partially offset by increasdésaolume.

e Optical Transport segment profit decreased primarily due to reduced sales voluméaawvet gross margin, partially offset by lower
research and development expense. The decreasgsgrgargin is primarily due to an increase in édiscand excess inventory
expense for the discontinuance of certain partscantgponents used in the manufacture of our Oplicahsport products, including
our Corestream® Agility Optical Transport platforRevenue for our Optical Transport segment, whigiently consists principally
of stand-alone WDM and SONET/SDH-based transpatf@ims, has experienced meaningful declines imahmevenue in recent
years, reflecting network operators' transitiondosvnex-generation network architectures as describedeabov

» Software and Services segment profincreased slightly due to higher sales for softwaare consulting services and improved
efficiencies for managed spares projects. Thegeases were partially offset by higher softwareaesh and development expense.

The table below (in thousands, except percentatgg dats forth the changes in our segment prdfitife respective periods:

Fiscal Year
Increase
2012 2013 (decrease) %*
Segment profit:
Converged Packet Optical $ 148,24: $ 242,33 % 94,09: 63.5
Packet Networking $ 1,71: % 22,740 $ 21,02 1,227."
Optical Transport $ 116,73t  $ 89,75« $ (26,98)) (23.)
Software and Services $ 93,35 $ 126,93¢ $ 33,58¢ 36.C

* Denotes % change from 2012 to 2013

» Converged Packet Optical segment profilncreased primarily due to increased sales volunteimproved gross margin, partially
offset by increased research and development egp&hse increased sales volume is largely drivesdvyice provider demand for
high-capacity, optical transport for coherent 4618 400G network infrastructures and improved groasgin due to a greater mix of
higher-margin packet platforms with software cohteithin the segment.

» Packet Networking segment profitincreased primarily due to increased sales volumdeimproved gross margin, partially offset by
increased research and development expense. Petieatrking revenue benefited from the expansioktbernet business services
our North American service provider customers aldssof service
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delivery and aggregation products in support oir ttedated network initiatives. Gross margin impedvdue to a greater mix of higher-
margin packet platforms with software content witthe segment.

e Optical Transport segment profit decreased primarily due to reduced sales voluméajia offset by improved gross margin and
lower research and development expense. Revenueif@ptical Transport segment, which currentlysists principally of stand-
alone WDM and SONET/SDH-based transport platfotmas, experienced meaningful declines in annual teyémrecent years,
reflecting network operators' transition toward thgeneration network architectures as describegeabo

e Software and Services segment profincreased primarily due to increased sales volundeimproved gross margin. The increased
sales volume is primarily due to higher sales far software products and installation services. iity@oved margins are primarily
installation and deployment services margins duefvoved operational efficiencies.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At October 31, 2014 , our principal sources ofilifity were cash and cash equivalents and invessriemharketable debt securities,
representing U.S. treasuries and commercial papéerpur ABL Credit Facility. The following tablets€forth changes in our cash and cash
equivalents and investments in marketable debtriesu(in thousands):

October 31, Increase
2013 2014 (decrease)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 346,48 % 586,72( $ 240,23
Short-term investments in marketable debt secaritie 124,97¢ 140,20! 15,22¢
Long-term investments in marketable debt securities 15,03: 50,057 35,02¢
Total cash and cash equivalents and investmemsiketable debt securities ~ $ 486,49° $ 776,98, $ 290,48t

The change in total cash and cash equivalentsrasedtiments in marketable debt securities durirgafig014 was primarily related to the
$246.0 million in net proceeds from our Term Loardascribed in "Overview" above and the following:

*  $89.8 million cash provided by operations, cstisg of $195.2 million provided by net losses atial for non-cash charges offset by
$105.4 million used in working capital;

*  $48.2 millionused for purchases of equipment, furniture, fixduaad intellectual proper
*  $10.0 millionused in settlement of foreign currency forward cacts, ne
*  $3.0 millionused to pay capital lease obligations;

*  $17.7 millionfrom proceeds of stock issuances under our emplsiped purchase plan and the exercise of stockiog

As of October 31, 2014 , letters of credit total$l.4 million were collateralized by our ABL Cre#facility. There were no borrowings
outstanding under the ABL Credit Facility as of @mr 31, 2014 . See "ABL Credit Facility" below ftditional information.

We regularly evaluate our liquidity position, deftligations, and anticipated cash needs to fundparating plans and may consider
capital raising and other market opportunities thay be available to us. Based on past performandeurrent expectations, we believe that
our cash, cash equivalents, investments and otlieces of liquidity, including our ABL Credit Faityt, will satisfy our working capital needs,
capital expenditures, the repayment of our outstend.0% convertible senior notes due March 15528d other liquidity requirements
associated with our operations through at leashéx¢ 12 months.

The following sections set forth the componentswf$89.8 million of cash provided by operating\aties for fiscal 2014 :
Net loss adjusted for non-cash charges

The following tables set forth (in thousands) oet loss adjusted for non-cash charges during tHecpe
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Year ended
October 31, 2014

Net loss $ (40,63))
Adjustments for non-cash charges:

Depreciation of equipment, furniture and fixturesd amortization of leasehold improvements 55,61¢
Share-based compensation costs 42,93(
Amortization of intangible assets 57,15
Provision for inventory excess and obsolescence 32,33
Provision for warranty 22,12¢
Other 25,66¢
Net losses adjusted for non-cash charges $ 195,18t

Working Capital
Accounts Receivable, Net
Cash used in increases in accounts receivablegifisical 2014 , net of $2.8 million in provisionrfdoubtful accounts, was $33.2 million .

This reflects an increase in our revenue, partigfilget by a decrease in days sales outstandingd@ys sales outstanding (DSOs) decreased
from 84 days for fiscal 2013 to 82 days for fis2@ll4 . The decrease in DSOs primarily reflectsteia@ustomer payment terms.

The following table sets forth (in thousands) chemtp our accounts receivable, net of allowancedobtful accounts, from the end of
fiscal 2013 through the end of fiscal 2014 :

October 31, Increase
2013 2014 (decrease)
Accounts receivable, net $ 488,57t $ 518,98: $ 30,40¢

Inventory

Cash used in increases in inventory during fis€dd2was $37.9 million . The increase in inventafjects our decision to carry more
finished goods inventory for our Converged Packatical products to reduce our lead times for shipim¢o customers. Our inventory turns
increased from 3.9 turns during fiscal 2013 totdr8s during fiscal 2014 . Our inventory balancereported on our Consolidated Balance
Sheet, increased by $5.6 million during fiscal 20MHis change reflects our $37.9 million cash udag@ventory, partially offset by a $32.3
million non-cash provision for excess and obsoleseeThe following table sets forth changes (iruands) to the components of our
inventory from the end of fiscal 2013 through tinel @f fiscal 2014 :

October 31, Increase
2013 2014 (decrease)
Raw materials $ 53,27 % 64,85: $ 11,57¢
Work-in-process 7,77: 8,371 59¢
Finished goods 153,85! 165,79¢ 11,94«
Deferred cost of goods sold 75,76¢ 75,76 Q)
Gross inventory 290,66t 314,78t 24,12(
Provision for inventory excess and obsolescence (41,567 (60,12¢) (18,567)
Inventory $ 249,10: $ 254,66( $ 5,557

Prepaid expenses and other

Cash used in prepaid expense and other durind #6d4 was $7.9 million and primarily related tghér product demonstration
equipment and deferred deployment expense.
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Accounts payable, accruals and other obligations

Utilization of cash resources for accounts payadteruals and other obligations during fiscal 264 $59.8 million This amount reflec
a $29.5 million decrease in our accounts payaklauals and other obligations plus additional liibs recorded for the following item$22.1
million relating to warranties; $7.3 million fomfancing activities relating to unpaid capital legssnd $2.1 million related to our interest rate
swap derivative. These items were partially offsea decrease of $1.2 million for investing actastrelated to equipment purchases.

The following table sets forth (in thousands) ctemim our accounts payable, accruals and otheggaitiins from the end of fiscal 2013
through the end of fiscal 2014 :

October 31, Increase
2013 2014 (decrease)
Accounts payable $ 254,84¢ % 209,777 $ (45,072)
Accrued liabilities and other short-term obligaton 271,65¢ 276,60¢ 4,95;
Other long-term obligations 34,75 45,39( 10,63°
Accounts payable, accruals and other obligations $ 561,25t § 531,770 $ (29,48))

Interest Paid on Convertible Notes, ABL Credit Fiaciand Term Loan

Interest on our outstanding 4.0% convertible senaies, due March 15, 2015, is payable on MarcartbSeptember 15 of each year. We
paid $7.5 million in interest on these convertibtges during fiscal 2014 .

Interest on our outstanding 0.875% convertiblewembtes, due June 15, 2017, is payable on Juaad December 15 of each year. We
paid $4.4 million in interest on these convertibtges during fiscal 2014 .

Interest on our outstanding 3.75% convertible semites, due October 15, 2018, is payable on Apriind October 15 of each year. We
paid $13.1 million in interest on these convertibdges during fiscal 2014 .

Interest on our outstanding 4.0% convertible senaies, due December 15, 2020, is payable on Juaed December 15 of each year.
paid $7.5 million in interest on these convertibt#es during fiscal 2014 .

Interest on our outstanding Term Loan, due July2089, is payable periodically based on the undeglynarket index rate selected for
borrowing. We paid $2.6 million in interest on tiesm loan during fiscal 2014 .

During fiscal 2014 , we utilized the ABL Credit Hi#g to collateralize certain standby letters oédit. We paid $1.2 million in
commitment fees, interest expense and other adinaitiiee charges relating to our ABL Credit Facilityring fiscal 2014 .

For additional information about our convertiblde®and Term Loan, see Note 14 to our Consolidaiteghcial Statements included in in
Item 8 of Part Il of this report. For additionafanmation about our ABL Credit Facility, see Note tb our Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Item 8 of Part Il of this report andBA Credit Facility" below.

Deferred revenue
Deferred revenue increased by $33.4 million dufiscpl 2014 . Product deferred revenue represétfisrepayments received in advance
of shipment or payments received after shipmenbbidre revenue recognition. Services deferredmexés related to payment for service

contracts for which revenue will be recognized awercontract term. The following table reflects tfiousands) the balance of deferred
revenue and the change in this balance from thegfisical 2013 through the end of fiscal 2014 :
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October 31, Increase
2013 2014 (decrease)
Products $ 36,67 % 50,457 $ 13,78¢
Services 75,49¢ 95,16: 19,66:
Total deferred revenue $ 112,17¢  § 145,61t § 33,44¢

ABL Credit Facility
During fiscal 2014, we amended our ABL Credit Racilo, among other things:

» increase the total committed amount from $150 anillio $200 millior

extend the maturity date from August 13, 201Bézember 31, 2016 (and eliminate a December 1B} Btaturity date acceleration
feature);

» reduce from $200 million to $150 million the minimwaggregate amount of unrestricted cash and cashadents that we are requir
to maintain at all times;

» reduce the interest rate on borrowings from LB@lus an applicable margin ranging from 200 bpsists to 250 basis points, to an
applicable margin ranging from 150 basis point28@0 basis points, with the actual margin determipeskd on our utilization of
the credit facility; and

» amend the borrowing base to include, among otharst up to $50 million in eligible ca:

We principally use the liquidity available undiee ABL Credit Facility to support the issuanddatters of credit that arise in the ordinary
course of our business and thereby to reduce @uofusash required to collateralize these instrumen

Contractual Obligations

During fiscal 2014, we entered into a Term Loand@irAgreement that provides for senior secured tans in an aggregate principal
amount of $250 million as described in "Overviewbae. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014, eveered into a lease relating to office
space for its new research and development cant@ttawa, Canada, consisting of a rentable arepfoximately 170,582 square feet.The
future minimum rental commitments to be paid oWer 18-year lease term are approximately $49.1anilliThe following is a summary of our
future minimum payments under contractual obligatias of October 31, 2014 (in thousands):

Less than one One to three Three to five
Total year years years Thereafter
Principal due at maturity on convertible notes (1) 1,254,62 187,50( 500,00t 350,00t 217,12
Principal due on term loan 249,37" 2,50( 5,00( 241,87" —
Interest due on convertible notes 118,12! 28,75( 50,00( 28,12¢ 11,25(
Interest due on term loan (2) 44,04 9,44¢ 18,64( 15,95¢ —
Operating leases (3) 204,89¢ 33,52} 59,83 28,34: 83,19:
Purchase obligations (4) 197,75: 197,75:
Capital lease 13,02( 8,312 4,70¢ — —
Other obligations 7,00z 3,81« 3,18¢ — —
Total (5) $ 2,08884 $ 471,60¢ $ 641,370 $ 664,29¢ $ 311,56¢
(1) Includes the accretion of the principal amaamthe 2020 Notes payable at maturity at a rate&3§% per year compounded semi-
annually, commencing December 27, 2012.
(2 Interest on the term loan is variable and was ¢atled using the rate in effect on the balance stiete
3) Does not include variable insurance, taxesnt@aance and other costs that may be requiretdégpplicable operating lease. These

costs are not expected to have a material futupadm
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4 Purchase obligations relate to purchase ardemrmitments to our contract manufacturers and cor@posuppliers for inventory. In
certain instances, we are permitted to cancelhesiide or adjust these orders. Consequently, opbyrtgon of the amount reported
above relates to firm, non-cancelable and uncanditiobligations.

(5) As of October 31, 2014 , we also had approsétgebl4.4 million of other longerm obligations on our Consolidated Balance Sfo
unrecognized tax positions that are not includetthimtable because the timing or amount of ani sastlement with the respective
tax authority cannot be reasonably estimated.

Some of our commercial commitments, including safe future minimum payments in operating leassorth above and certain
commitments to customers, are secured by stanttieydef credit collateralized under our ABL Crel#cility or restricted cash. Restricted
cash balances are included in other current assether long-term assets depending upon the durafithe underlying letter of credit
obligation. The following is a summary of our conmgial commitments secured by standby letters aditkey commitment expiration date as
of October 31, 2014 (in thousands):

Less than one One to Three to
Total year three years five years Thereafter
Standby letters of credit $ 71,44¢ $ 34,40¢ $ 21,88: $ 3,711 $ 11,44¢

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not engage in any off-balance sheet finanairghgements. In particular, we do not have amyjteiterests in so-called limited
purpose entities, which include special purposiiesatSPEs) and structured finance entities.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets requires that we make estimates and judgrtiettaffect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expense, ancerketisclosure of contingent assets and liabiliBstheir nature, these estimates and judgment
are subject to an inherent degree of uncertaintya®ongoing basis, we reevaluate our estimatelsidimg those related to share-based
compensation, bad debts, inventories, intangibteadher long-lived assets, income taxes, warrahligations, restructuring, derivatives and
hedging, and contingencies and litigation. We lmgeestimates on historical experience and on varather assumptions that we believe to b
reasonable under the circumstances. Among othegshthese estimates form the basis for judgmémastahe carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from otheurces. Actual results may differ from theséneaties under different assumptions or
conditions. To the extent that there are mateifédr@nces between our estimates and actual resuitsconsolidated financial statements will
be affected.

We believe that the following critical accountinglipies reflect those areas where significant judgta and estimates are used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial staterment

Revenue Recognitio

We recognize revenue when all of the followingesid are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangeexésis; delivery has occurred or
services have been rendered; the price to the bsifiged or determinable; and collectibility isasonably assured. Customer purchase
agreements and customer purchase orders are densed to determine the existence of an arranger8éipping documents and evidence of
customer acceptance, when applicable, are usegtify delivery or services rendered. We assesstvenehe price is fixed or determinable
based on the payment terms associated with theaicéion and whether the sales price is subje@ftmd or adjustment. We assess
collectibility based primarily on the creditwortleiss of the customer as determined by credit chendtanalysis, as well as the customer's
payment history. Revenue for maintenance serv&dsferred and recognized ratably over the peniwohd which the services are to be
performed. Shipping and handling fees billed ta@uers are included in revenue, with the associexpenses included in product cost of
goods sold.

We apply the percentage-of-completion method tg{tamm arrangements where it is required to un#ersignificant production,
customization or modification engineering, and ozadble and reliable estimates of revenue and cesiwailable. Utilizing the percentage-of-
completion method, we recognize revenue basederatio of actual costs incurred to date to tostiheated costs expected to be incurred. In
instances that do not meet the percentage-of-caimplmethod criteria, recognition of revenue isattefd until there are no uncertainties
regarding customer acceptantiebilled percentage- of-completion revenues recgphiare included in accounts receivable, net.rigjdiin
excess of revenues recognized on these contracts ar

52




Table of Contents

recorded within deferred revenue. The percentagev@nue recognized using the percentage-of-coraplatethod for the fiscal years ended
October 31, 2012, October 31, 2013 and Octobe?@14 were 1.0% , 4.5% and 4.0% , respectively.

Software revenue is recognized when persuasivereaof an arrangement exists, delivery has oatutine fee is fixed or determinable,
and collectibility is probable. In instances whéimal acceptance criteria of the software are dfmetby the customer, revenue is deferred until
there are no uncertainties regarding customer &zcep.

We limit the amount of revenue recognition for defied elements to the amount that is not contingerthe future delivery of products or
services, future performance obligations or sulifigctustomer-specified return or refund privileges.

Revenue for multiple element arrangements is aatt each unit of accounting based on the redat@lling price of each delivered
element, with revenue recognized for each delivetethent when the revenue recognition criterianage We determine the selling price for
each deliverable based upon the selling price fibyafor multiple-deliverable arrangements. Unduas hierarchy, we use vendor-specific
objective evidence ("VSOE") of selling price, ifeikists, or third party evidence (“TPE") of sellipdce if VSOE does not exist. If neither
VSOE nor TPE of selling price exists for a delivdea we use our best estimate of selling price SBE for that deliverable. For multiple
element software arrangements where VSOE of ureleld/maintenance does not exist, revenue for ttire @mrangement is recognized over
the maintenance term.

VSOE, when determinable, is established based pprating and discounting practices for the spegpfioduct or service when sold
separately. In determining whether VSOE existsraegiire that a substantial majority of the sellmigres for a product or service fall within a
reasonably narrow pricing range. We have genebalgn unable to establish TPE of selling price begawr go-tanarket strategy differs froi
that of others in our markets, and the extent efamization and differentiated features and fumstigaries among comparable products or
services from our peers. We determine BESP basea management-approved pricing guidelines, whiatsicier multiple factors including
the type of product or service, gross margin objest competitive and market conditions, and theéagmarket strategy, all of which can affect
pricing practices.

Our total deferred revenue for products was $36llfomand $50.5 million as of October 31, 2013 @ctober 31, 2014 , respectively.
Our services revenue is deferred and recognizedilyabver the period during which the servicestaree performed. Our total deferred
revenue for services was $75.5 million and $95.Hanias of October 31, 2013 and October 31, 20Bpectively.

Share-Based Compensation

We estimate the fair value of our restricted stocit awards based on the fair value of our comntockson the date of grant. Our
outstanding restricted stock unit awards are stibjeservice-based vesting conditions and/or paréorce-based vesting conditions. We
recognize the estimated fair value of service-baseards, net of estimated forfeitures, as shased expense ratably over the vesting peric
a straight-line basis. Awards with performance-dasesting conditions require the achievement dfageifinancial or other performance
criteria or targets as a condition to the vestorgacceleration of vesting. We recognize the es@ché&ir value of performance-based awards,
net of estimated forfeitures, as shaesed expense over the performance period, usaagdvesting, which considers each performanced
or tranche separately, based upon our determinafiaether it is probable that the performancgets will be achieved. At each reporting
period, we reassess the probability of achievimgpterformance targets and the performance pertpdresl to meet those targets and the
expense is adjusted accordingly. Determining whdtie performance targets will be achieved involuelgment, and the estimate of expense
may be revised periodically based on changes ipithieability of achieving the performance targ&svisions are reflected in the period in
which the estimate is changed. If any performaro@sgare not met, no compensation cost is ultimasglognized against that goal and, to the
extent previously recognized, compensation coshisrsed.

Because share-based compensation expense is lmaaecals that are ultimately expected to vestatheunt of expense takes into
account estimated forfeitures. We estimate forfegat the time of grant and revise these estimiétescessary, in subsequent periods if actue
forfeitures differ from those estimates. Changeth@se estimates and assumptions can materiadigtdaffe measurement of estimated fair v
of our share-based compensation. See Note 19 t@ansgolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of Paf this report for information
regarding our assumptions related to share-basegasation and the amount of share-based compamsapense we incurred for the
periods covered in this report. As of October 31142, total unrecognized compensation expense a2 $nillion , which relates to unvested
restricted stock units and is expected to be razedgrover a weighted-average period of 1.4 years.

We recognize windfall tax benefits associated whthexercise of stock options or release of rdsttistock units directly to stockholders'
equity only when realized. A windfall tax beneféaurs when the actual tax benefit realized by s employee's disposition of a share-
based award exceeds the deferred tax asset, ihasgciated with the award that we had
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recorded. When assessing whether a tax benefiingl®d share-based compensation has been reahzefhllow the “with-and-without”
method. Under the with-and-without method, the wiailds considered realized and recognized forriizial statement purposes only when an
incremental benefit is provided after consideritigpther tax benefits including our net operatingdes. The with-angithout method results
the windfall from share-based compensation awdmiaya being effectively the last tax benefit todmmsidered. Consequently, the windfall
attributable to share-based compensation will motdnsidered realized in instances where our rexatipg loss carryover (that is unrelated to
windfalls) is sufficient to offset the current ysataxable income before considering the effectsuofent-year windfalls.

Reserve for Inventory Obsolescen

We make estimates about future customer demaraufgeroducts when establishing the appropriaterveder excess and obsolete
inventory. We write down inventory that has becarbsolete or unmarketable by an amount equal tditference between the cost of
inventory and the estimated market value basedssunaptions about future demand and market conditiorentory write downs are a
component of our product cost of goods sold. Ummognition of the write down, a new lower cost bdsr that inventory is established, and
subsequent changes in facts and circumstancestdesuit in the restoration or increase in thatlyestablished cost basis. In an effort to li
our exposure to delivery delays and to satisfyamst needs we purchase inventory based on forecsakes across our product lines. In
addition, part of our research and developmentegyais to promote the convergence of similar fie=duand functionalities across our product
lines. Each of these practices exposes us togkéhat our customers will not order products ftrick we have forecasted sales, or will
purchase less than we have forecasted. Historjcaéiyhave experienced write downs due to changesristrategic direction, discontinuance
of a product and declines in market conditions.rtmrded charges for excess and obsolete inveaf®%9.9 million and $32.3 million in
fiscal 2013 and 2014 , respectively. The chargdisaal 2013 and fiscal 2014 primarily related tgmeering design changes and the
discontinuance of certain parts and components insth@ manufacture of our Optical Transport, idéhg our Corestream® Agility Optical
Transport platform, and Converged Packet Opticadipcts. Our inventory net of allowance for excass absolescence was $249.1 millemc
$254.7 million as of October 31, 2013 and Octolder2®14 , respectively.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivab

Our allowance for doubtful accounts receivabledsdal on management's assessment, on a specitiiédéion basis, of the collectibility
of customer accounts. We perform ongoing credituateons of our customers and generally have rutired collateral or other forms of
security from customers. In determining the apgedprbalance for our allowance for doubtful accsueteivable, management considers eac
individual customer account receivable in ordedétermine collectibility. In doing so, we consideeditworthiness, payment history, account
activity and communication with such customer. tustomer's financial condition changes, or if abtefaults are higher than our historical
experience, we may be required to take a chargarfallowance for doubtful accounts receivable Whiculd have an adverse impact on our
results of operations. Our accounts receivablephallowance for doubtful accounts, was $488.8iamland $519.0 million as of October 31,
2013 and October 31, 2014 , respectively. Our alove for doubtful accounts was $2.0 million andL$8illion as of October 31, 2013 and
October 31, 2014 , respectively.

Long-lived Assets

Our long-lived assets include: equipment, furnitamel fixtures, finite-lived intangible assets angimenance spares. As of October 31,
2013 and October 31, 2014 these assets totaled®86ion and $309.4 million , net, respectivelye test long-lived assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances irdibat the assets' carrying amount is not recoleefedim its undiscounted cash flows. Our
long-lived assets are assigned to asset grouphwiicesent the lowest level for which we identifish flows.We measure impairment loss as
the amount by which the carrying amount of the a@sasset group exceeds its fair value.

Deferred Tax Valuation Allowanct

As of October 31, 2014 , we have recorded a vanatllowance offsetting all our net deferred taseds of $1.5 billion. When measuring
the need for a valuation allowance, we assesspmsiive and negative evidence regarding the rability of these deferred tax assets. We
record a valuation allowance to reduce our defetagdssets to the amount that is more likely thatrto be realized. In determining net
deferred tax assets and valuation allowances, neamagt is required to make judgments and estimatated to projections of profitability, the
timing and extent of the utilization of net opengtioss carryforwards, applicable tax rates, t@ngficing methodologies and tax planning
strategies. The valuation allowance is reviewedtgdg and is maintained until sufficient positiggidence exists to support a reversal. Bec
evidence such as our operating results during th& necent thregear period is afforded more weight than forecasesdlts for future period
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our cumulative loss during this thrgear period represents sufficient negative evideagarding the need for nearly a full valuatiomwathnce
We will release this valuation allowance when mamagnt determines that it is more likely than nat ur deferred tax assets will be reali
Any future release of valuation allowance may hlmrded as a tax benefit increasing net income anaadjustment to paiet-capital, based ¢
tax ordering requirements.

Warranty

Our liability for product warranties, included ither accrued liabilities, was $56.3 million and $bfillion as of October 31, 2013 and
October 31, 2014 , respectively. Our products areetplly covered by a warranty for periods randiogn one to five years. We accrue for
warranty costs as part of our cost of goods sogth@n associated material costs, technical sufgimt costs and associated overhead.
Material cost is estimated based primarily uponohisal trends in the volume of product returnshivitthe warranty period and the cost to
repair or replace the equipment. Technical suppbdr cost is estimated based primarily upon histbtrends and the cost to support the
customer cases within the warranty period. Theipiow for product warranties was $24.6 million &22.1 million for fiscal 2013 and 2014 ,
respectively. See Note 11 to the Consolidated EiaaBtatements included in Item 8 of Part Il détteport. The provision for warranty claims
may fluctuate on a quarterly basis depending upemix of products and customers in that periodctiial product failure rates, material
replacement costs, service or labor costs diffamfour estimates, revisions to the estimated warfamovision would be required. An increase
in warranty claims or the related costs associaf#dsatisfying our warranty obligations could iaaese our cost of sales and negatively affect
our gross margin.

Effects of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Staternirritem 8 of Part Il of this report for informatiaelating to our discussion of the effects
of recent accounting pronouncements.

Unaudited Quarterly Results of Operations
The tables below (in thousands, except per shded get forth the operating results in our consaéd statements of operations for each of
the eight quarters in the period ended OctobeRB14 . This information is unaudited, but in ouimign reflects all adjustments (consisting

only of normal recurring adjustments) that we cdeshecessary for a fair statement of such infaonah accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. The results for any quaaternot necessarily indicative of results for amyiffe period.
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Jan. 31, Apr. 30, Jul. 31, Oct. 31, Jan. 31, Apr. 30, Jul. 31, Oct. 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013 2014 2014 2014 2014
Revenue:
Products $ 353,05 $ 41321° $ 437,44. $ 476,40¢ $ 432,94. $ 460,82: $ 49588¢ $ 476,17!
Services 100,03t 94,49t 100,91 106,97¢ 100,76: 99,24( 107,67 114,78t
Total Revenue 453,09: 507,71. 538,35t 583,38! 533,70 560,06: 603,56: 590,96:
Cost of goods sold:
Products 196,52: 239,44 247,76t 283,78( 245,21t 257,63: 275,00: 305,17:
Services 60,77: 58,75¢ 62,36 67,95¢ 62,63¢ 64,73¢ 64,58¢ 64,95!
Total costs of goods sold 257,29¢ 298,19 310,13! 351,73¢ 307,85: 322,37( 339,58¢ 370,12t
Gross profit 195,79! 209,51: 228,22: 231,64t 225,85! 237,69: 263,97: 220,83
Operating expenses:
Research and
development 89,12! 100,78’ 93,06¢ 100,42’ 101,49 103,49: 97,68¢ 98,50¢
Selling and marketing 66,58¢ 74,47¢ 75,61 87,49 78,34¢ 83,66: 81,91¢ 84,39¢
General and
administrative 28,20¢ 30,88: 32,06¢ 31,27t 30,09° 31,88: 36,28t 28,56(
Amortization of
intangible assets 12,45 12,43¢ 12,44( 12,43¢ 12,43¢ 11,49 11,01¢ 11,01¢
Restructuring costs 5,03( 1,50¢ 20z 42¢ 11F — 63 171
Total operating expenses  201,40: 220,09: 213,39( 232,06: 222,49¢ 230,52¢ 226,97: 222,65:
Income (loss) from
operations (5,609 (10,580 14,83: (417) 3,35¢ 7,162 37,00: (1,815
Interest and other income
(loss), net (137) (2,71¢) (3,167%) 27¢€ (5,999¢) (1,905 (6,32¢) (11,03))
Interest expense (20,737) (11,397 (20,979) (10,946 (11,029 (11,020 (11,509 (13,559
Loss on extinguishment of
debt (28,630) — — — — — — —
Income (loss) before
income taxes (45,109 (24,689 692 (11,087 (13,677 (5,767 19,16¢ (26,405
Provision (benefit from) for
income tax 2,21¢ 2,391 1,92¢ (2,290 2,26k 4,39t 3,00¢ 4,29¢
Net income (loss) $ (47,329 $ (27,079 $ (1,23)) $ (9,79) $ (15,936 $ (10,159 $ 16,16( $ (30,709
Basic net income (loss) per
common share $ 049 $ 0.29) $ (0.0 $ (0.09 % (0.15) $ (0.10) $ 0.1t % (0.29)

Diluted net income (loss)
per potential common sha$  (0.47) $ (0.27) $ (0.0 $ (0.09 % 0.15 $ (010 ¢ 0.1t $  (0.29

Weighted average basic
common shares outstanding 101,20: 101,91 102,71: 103,52: 104,50: 105,45: 106,23t 106,93:

Weighted average dilutive

potential common shares
outstanding 101,20 101,91¢ 102,71 103,52! 104,50: 105,45: 120,80¢ 106,93:
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosureshéut Market Risk

The following discussion about our market risk tisares includes forward-looking statements. Actaallts could differ materially from
those projected in these forward-looking statemaffs are exposed to market risk related to chaimgesgerest rates and foreign currency
exchange rates.

Interest Rate SensitivityWe currently hold investments in U.S. Governmenigaltions and commercial paper with varying matesit Set
Notes4 and 5 to our Consolidated Financial Statememisidied in Item 8 of Part Il of this report for imfoation relating to investments and
fair value. These investments are sensitive toéstaate movements and their fair value will deelas interest rates rise and increase as ir
rates decline. The estimated impact on these imeazgs of a 100 basis point (1.0%) increase in ésterates across the yield curve from rate
effect as of the balance sheet date would be arfillian decline in value.

Our earnings and cash flows from operations magxXpesed to changes in interest rates because tib#img rate of interest in our Term
Loan. See Note 14 to our Consolidated Financigk8tants for information relating to the Term Lo@he Term Loan bears interest at LIBOR
plus a spread of 300 basis points subject to amini LIBOR rate of 0.75%. As of October 31, 201He interest rate in effect on our Term
Loan was 3.75% . During fiscal 2014, Ciena entén&alinterest rate cap arrangements to limit thergst rate under the Term Loan to a
maximum LIBOR rate of 0.75% plus a spread of 30€idpoints through July 2015. Also in fiscal 20C#na entered into interest rate swap
arrangements ("interest rate swap") that fix theltmterest rate under the Term Loan at 5.004%the period commencing on July 20, 2015
through July 19, 2018. As such, a 100 basis paireiase in the LIBOR rate as of our most recenORBate setting would have an immate
impact in annualized interest expense on our Teoanlas recognized in our Consolidated FinancidaeBtants.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rigks a global concern, our business and results efatipns are exposed to movements in foreign coy
exchange rates. Due to our global presence, somergévenue is non-U.S. dollar denominated witha@ian Dollars and Euros being our
most significant foreign currency revenue stredirthe U.S. dollar strengthens against these cuaresnour revenues reported in U.S. dollars
would decline. For our U.S. dollar denominated sadm increase in the value of the U.S. dollar dantrease the real cost to our customers c
our products in markets outside the United Statd#;h could impact our competitive position.

With regard to operating expense, our primary eMpo$o foreign currency exchange risk relates terafing expense incurred in Canac
Dollars, British Pounds, Euros and Indian Rupeesirg fiscal 2014 , approximately 48.1% of our @gigrg expense was non-U.S. dollar
denominated. If these currencies strengthen, ceptated in U.S. dollars will increase. During 62014 , research and development expens
benefited by approximately $15.4 million , net efging losses of $1.4 million, primarily due to 8teengthening of the U.S. dollar in relation
to the Canadian Dollar in comparison to fiscal 20880 in fiscal 2014 , sales and marketing expebsnefited by approximately $1.9
million due to the strengthening of the U.S. doitarelation to the Canadian Dollar in comparisofiscal 2013 .

From time to time, Ciena uses foreign currency fohvcontracts to reduce variability in certain fasted non-U.S. dollar denominated
cash flows. Generally, these derivatives have niasiof 12months or less and are designated as cash flonebedgthe inception of the ca
flow hedge, and on an ongoing basis, Ciena assessxher the forward contract has been effectivaffisetting changes in cash flows
attributable to the hedged risk during the hedgiegod. The effective portion of the derivative&t gain or loss is initially reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive indtoas) and, upon the occurrence of the forecasamdaction, is subsequently
reclassified to the line item in the Consolidat¢at&ment of Operations to which the hedged trasacotlates. Any net gain or loss associatec
with the ineffectiveness of the hedging instrumeneported in interest and other income (lossl), ne

Ciena Corporation, as the U.S. parent entity, tlee4).S. dollar as its functional currency, howes@me of Ciena's foreign branch offices
and subsidiaries use the local currency as thaational currency. During fiscal 2014, Ciena reeat&15.7 million in foreign currency
exchange losses, as a result of monetary assetmhbitities that were transacted in a currencyeotthan the entity's functional currency, and
the re-measurement adjustments were recordeddaresitand other income (loss), net on the Congelidatatement of Operations. From time
to time, Ciena uses foreign currency forwards tgecthese balance sheet exposures. These forwardetalesignated as hedges for
accounting purposes and any net gain or loss aedoiith these derivatives is reported in intea@st other income (loss), net. See Note 1,
Note 3 and Noti12 to our Consolidated Financial Statements inauddtem 8 of Part Il of this report.

Convertible Notes Outstandinghe fair market value of each of our outstandirsgiés of convertible notes is subject to interestaad
market price risk due to the convertible featur¢hef notes and other factors. Generally the faiketaralue of fixed interest rate debt will
increase as interest rates fall and decreaseasshtates rise. The fair market value of thesiote
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may also increase as the market price of our sieek and decrease as the market price of our &tiskinterest rate and market value chai
affect the fair market value of the notes and nféscathe prices at which we would be able to repase such notes were we to do so. These
changes do not impact our financial position, déslis or results of operations. For additional imfi@tion on the fair value of our outstanding
notes, see Note 14 to our Consolidated Financé#éBtents included in Item 8 of Part Il of this repo
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary D

The following is an index to the consolidated finiah statements:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm
Consolidated Balance Sheets
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Ciéagporation:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated folalnstatements listed in the accompanying indesgnt fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Ciena Corporation and its sidiaries (the “Company”) at October 31, 2014 a@di® and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three yeathamperiod ended October 31, 2014 in conformithwwiccounting principles generally accej

in the United States of America. Also in our opimithe Company maintained, in all material respeftective internal control over financial
reporting as of October 31, 2014, based on criesiablished itnternal Control - Integrated Framework (1998sued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis&xDSO). The Company's management is responsibtedee financial statements, for
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting and for its assessment of the effectdss of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying Report @ffdigement on Internal Control Over Financial Repgminder Item 9A. Our responsibili

is to express opinions on these financial statesn@mtl on the Company's internal control over firgmeporting based on our integrated au
We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audits toiobtasonable assurance about whether the finastei@ments are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal cordvelr financial reporting was maintained in all ev&l respects. Our audits of the financial
statements included examining, on a test basideaee supporting the amounts and disclosures ifirthecial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, and evaluating the ovemalhdial statement presentation. Our a

of internal control over financial reporting inckrti obtaining an understanding of internal contu@rdinancial reporting, assessing the risk

a material weakness exists, and testing and evaduihie design and operating effectiveness of ivalecontrol based on the assessed risk. Our
audits also included performing such other proceslas we considered necessary in the circumstaneebelieve that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableamesuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company'’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (fppeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readnaassurance regarding prevention or timely detectf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Baltimore, Maryland

December 19, 2014
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CIENA CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)

October 31,
2013 2014
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 346,48 $ 586,72(
Short-term investments 124,97¢ 140,20!
Accounts receivable, net 488,57¢ 518,98:
Inventories 249,10: 254.,66(
Prepaid expenses and other 186,65! 192,62
Total current assets 1,395,80. 1,693,191
Long-term investments 15,03: 50,057
Equipment, furniture and fixtures, net 119,72¢ 126,63.
Other intangible assets, net 185,82¢ 128,67
Other long-term assets 86,38( 74,07¢
Total assets $ 1,802,770 $ 2,072,63.
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 254,84¢ $ 209,77
Accrued liabilities and other short-term obligagon 271,65¢ 276,60¢
Deferred revenue 88,55( 104,68t
Current portion of long-term debt — 190,06:
Total current liabilities 615,05! 781,13¢
Long-term deferred revenue 23,62( 40,93(
Other long-term obligations 34,75 45,39(
Long-term debt, net 1,212,071 1,274,79
Total liabilities 1,885,44 2,142,24
Commitments and contingencies (Note 22)
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Preferred stock — par value $0.01; 20,000,000 stemthorized; zero shares issued and outstand — —
Common stock — par value $0.01; 290,000,000 steartforized; 103,705,709 and 106,979,960
shares issued and outstanding 1,03 1,07¢
Additional paid-in capital 5,893,88! 5,954,441
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (7,779 (14,66%¢)
Accumulated deficit (5,969,82)) (6,010,45)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) (82,677 (69,615
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit $ 1,802,770 $ 2,072,63.

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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CIENA CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended October 31,

2012 2013 2014

Revenue:

Products $ 1,454,99 % 1,680,120 $ 1,865,82

Services 378,93: 402,42: 422,46:
Total revenue 1,833,92. 2,082,541 2,288,28
Cost of goods sold:

Products 868,80! 967,51( 1,083,02;

Services 240,89 249,86: 256,91!
Total cost of goods sold 1,109,69 1,217,37 1,339,93

Gross profit 724,22: 865,17! 948,35:

Operating expenses:

Research and development 364,17¢ 383,40t 401,18(

Selling and marketing 266,33 304,17( 328,32!

General and administrative 114,00: 122,43. 126,82:

Amortization of intangible assets 51,69° 49,77 45,97(

Restructuring costs 7,854 7,16¢ 34¢

Total operating expenses 804,07( 866,95( 902,64

Income (loss) from operations (79,846 (1,775 45,70
Interest and other income (loss), net (15,200 (5,749 (25,267)
Interest expense (39,657 (44,047 (47,115
Loss on extinguishment of debt — (28,63() —
Loss before income taxes (134,699 (80,199 (26,677)
Provision for income taxes 9,322 5,24( 13,96:
Net loss $ (144,02) $ (85,43) $ (40,63
Basic net loss per common share $ (1.45) $ (087 $ (0.3¢)
Diluted net loss per potential common share $ (1.45) $ (0.89) $ (0.3¢)
Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 99,34. 102,35 105,78:
Weighted average dilutive potential common shatestanding 99,34! 102,35( 105,78

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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CIENA CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)
(in thousands)

Year ended October 31,

2012 2013 2014
Net loss $ (144,02) $ (85,43) $ (40,63)
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on available-tde-securities, net of tax (16€) (14 41
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on foreign curyeéboward contracts, net of tax 49 (310 114
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on interest ratlging contracts, net of tax — — (2,109
Change in accumulated translation adjustments (3,269 (4,096 (4,940
Other comprehensive loss (3,385 (4,420 (6,899
Total comprehensive loss $ (147,400 $ (89,85) § (47,53)

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS'
(in thousands, except share data)

CIENA CORPORATION

EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Accumulated Total
Common Additional Other Stockholders’
Stock Paid-in- Comprehensiv Accumulated Equity
Shares Par Value Capital Income (Loss) Deficit (Deficit)

Balance at October 31, 2011 97,440,43 $ 974 $5,753,231 $ 31 $(5,740,36) $ 13,87
Net loss — — — — (144,02) (144,02)
Other comprehensive loss — — — (3,38%) — (3,38%)
Issuance of shares from employee equity plans 3,161,35 32 12,13t — — 12,167
Share-based compensation expense — — 32,39 — — 32,39
Balance at October 31, 2012 100,601,79 1,00¢ 5,797,76! (3,359 (5,884,38) (88,977)
Net loss — — — — (85,43) (85,43)
Other comprehensive loss — — — (4,420 — (4,420
Equity component of convertible notes payable
issued — — 43,13 — — 43,13
Equity component of deferred debt issuance costs — — (6093 — — (603%)
Issuance of shares from employee equity plans 3,103,91 31 15,867 — — 15,89¢
Share-based compensation expense — — 37,72 — — 37,72(
Balance at October 31, 2013 103,705,70 1,037 5,893,88! (7,775  (5,969,82) (82,67)
Net loss — — — — (40,637 (40,637
Other comprehensive loss — — — (6,899 — (6,899
Issuance of shares from employee equity plans 3,274,25. 33 17,63( — — 17,66
Share-based compensation expense — — 42,93( — — 42,93(
Balance at October 31, 2014 106,979,96 $ 1,07( $5,954,44' $ (14,665) $(6,010,45) $ (69,615)

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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CIENA CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby operating activities:

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Depreciation of equipment, furniture and fixturasd amortization of leasehold

improvements

Share-based compensation costs

Amortization of intangible assets

Provision for inventory excess and obsolescence

Provision for warranty

Other

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other
Accounts payable, accruals and other obligations
Deferred revenue

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows used in investing activities:

Payments for equipment, furniture, fixtures aneliettual property

Restricted cash
Purchase of available for sale securities
Proceeds from maturities of available for sale g&es
Proceeds from sale of cost method investment
Settlement of foreign currency forward contraces, n
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net
Payment of long-term debt
Payment of debt and equity issuance costs
Payment of capital lease obligations
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvaénts
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of fiscal ye
Cash and cash equivalents at end of fiscal year
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the fiscal year for interest
Cash paid during the fiscal year for income taxes,
Non-cash investing and financing activities
Purchase of equipment in accounts payable
Fixed assets acquired under capital leases

Year Ended October 31,

2012 2013 2014
$  (144,02) $ (85,43) $ (40,637
— 28,63( —
59,09¢ 55,60¢ 55,61¢
32,39 37,72( 42,93(
74,49 71,30¢ 57,15
23,43¢ 19,93¢ 32,33:
33,41¢ 24, 55¢ 22,12¢
13,72: 9,02: 25,66¢
70,36¢ (145,42) (33,169
(53,46() (8,949 (37,88
1,74¢ (82,809 (7,931)
12,61( 115,31 (59,83
(16,727 5,09¢ 33,44¢
107,08 44,67¢ 89,81¢
(48,09 (43,819 (48,216)
35,59 2,33¢ 2,06(
— (184,86) (245,19))
— 95,00( 195,00
524 — —
— 47¢ (10,047
(11,97) (130,86 (106,39)
— — 248,75(
— (216,21() (625)
(2,337) (3,697) (4,227)
(1,895) (3,335 (3,039
12,16° 15,89¢ 17,66:
7,94( (207,33) 258,52
(2,502 (2,43F) (1,719
100,54¢ (295,95) 240,23
541,89 642,44« 346,48
$ 642,44 $ 346,48 $ 586,72
$ 33,51 $ 32,397 $ 36,27¢
$ 9,60: $ 10,67¢ $ 11,39¢
$ 520: $ 6,191 $ 4,961
$ 6,73¢ $ 2,53t $ 10,42:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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CIENA CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) CIENA CORPORATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PO LICIES AND ESTIMATES
Description of Busines

Ciena Corporation (“Ciena” or the “Company”) is etwork specialist focused on networking solutidreg £nable converged, next-
generation architectures, optimized to handle tbadarray of high-bandwidth communications sewviedied upon by business and consume
end users. Ciena provides equipment, software emvites that support the transport, switching, egation, service delivery and managemen
of voice, video and data traffic on communicatioe$works.

Ciena’s Converged Packet Optical, Packet Networkiygfical Transport and Software products are uselilvidually or as part of an
integrated, programmable solution, in networks afegt by communications service providers, cableatpes, Web-scale providers,
governments, enterprises, research and educastitutions, and other network operators acrosgthiee. Ciena's products allow network
operators to scale capacity, increase transmisgieads, allocate network traffic and deliver sewim end users. Ciena's solutions also inc
network management and control software and netlemdd software applications that facilitate autdima, software-defined programmability
and efficient service delivery. To complement igsdware and software solutions, Ciena offers adraage of network transformation
solutions and related support services that hedpoouers design, optimize, deploy, manage and miaititair network. Ciena’s principal
executive offices are located at 7035 Ridge Roashdder, Maryland 21076.

Principles of Consolidatio

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiectade the accounts of Ciena and its wholly owsebisidiaries. All intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminateshisotidation.

Fiscal Year

Ciena has a 52 or 53 week fiscal year, which endh® Saturday nearest to the last day of Octobeach year ( November 3, 2012 ,
November 2, 201and November 1, 2014 for the periods reportediafi8013 and fiscal 2014 each consisted of a 5Xk\iseal year and
fiscal 2012 consisted of a 53-week fiscal year. ptoposes of financial statement presentation, &achl year is described as having ended ol
October 31.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements aratedldisclosures in conformity with accounting pifihes generally
accepted in the United States requires managememiite estimates and judgments that affect the ataoeported in the consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes. Estgraae used for selling prices for multiple eletre@rangements, shared-based
compensation, convertible notes payable valuatioad,debts, valuation of inventories and investsyaetoverability of intangible assets, o
long-lived assets, income taxes, warranty obligegioestructuring liabilities, derivatives, contamgies and litigation. Ciena bases its estimate
on historical experience and assumptions thatlié\es are reasonable. Actual results may diffetemilly from management’s estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Ciena considers all highly liquid investments paséd with original maturities of three months @slé be cash equivalents. Any
restricted cash collateralizing letters of cresliinicluded in other current assets and other leng-tissets depending upon the duration of the
restriction.

Investment:

Ciena's investments are classified as availablsdite and are reported at fair value, with unredligains and losses recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).adiecognizes losses in the income statement whtrtetmines that declines in the fair
value of its investments below their cost basisatiner-than-temporary. In determining whether didedn fair value is other-than-temporary,
Ciena considers various factors, including markistep(when available), investment ratings, thefirial condition and near-term prospects of
the investee, the length of time and the extemthtich the fair value has been less than Cienatsbasss, and Ciena's intent and ability to hold
the investment until maturity or for a period ahé sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovarymarket value. Ciena considers all
marketable debt securities that it expects to cdriwecash within one year or less to be short-tenwestments, with all others considered to be
long-term investments.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or rtaskith cost computed using standard cost, whigr@imates actual cost, on a first-in,
first-out basis. Ciena records a provision for escand obsolete inventory when an impairment has leentified.

Segment Reporting

Ciena's chief operating decision maker, its chiefcaitive officer, evaluates the company's perforraeaand allocates resources based on
multiple factors, including measures of segmenfitfloss). Operating segments are defined as compsrof an enterprise that engage in
business activities that may earn revenue and ixqoense, for which discrete financial informatismvailable, and for which such informat
is evaluated regularly by the chief operating deoisnaker for purposes of allocating resourcesams#ssing performance. Ciena considers tt
following to be its operating segments for repatpurposes: (i) Converged Packet Optical, (ii) Radketworking, (iii) Optical Transport, and
(iv) Software and Services. See Note 20 below.

Longlived Assets

Long-lived assets include: equipment, furniture &ixidires; intangible assets; and maintenance sp&iena tests long-lived assets for
impairment whenever triggering events or changesraumstances indicate that the asset's carryimguat is not recoverable from its
undiscounted cash flows. An impairment loss is messas the amount by which the carrying amoutii®fisset or asset group exceeds it
value. Ciena's long-lived assets are assignedstt gsoups that represent the lowest level for whash flows can be identified.

Equipment, Furniture and Fixtures and Internal (S&ftware

Equipment, furniture and fixtures are recordedost.cDepreciation and amortization are computedgufie straight-line method over
useful lives of two to five years for equipment;rfilure and fixtures and the shorter of useful tifdease term for leasehold improvements.

Qualifying internal use software and website depeient costs incurred during the application develept stage, which consist primarily
of outside services and purchased software liceoses, are capitalized and amortized straightdiver the estimated useful lives of two to five
years.

Intangible Asset

Ciena has recorded finite-lived intangible asssta eesult of several acquisitions. Finite-livethimgible assets are carried at cost less
accumulated amortization. Amortization is compuisihg the straighline method over the expected economic lives ofélspective assets,
to seven years, which approximates the use of gittémassets.

Maintenance Spare

Maintenance spares are recorded at cost. Spargs csst is expensed ratably over four years.
Concentrations

Substantially all of Ciena's cash and cash equisilare maintained at a small number of major Bh@ncial institutions. The majority of
Ciena's cash equivalents consist of money marketsfuDeposits held with banks may exceed the anafunsurance provided on such
deposits. Because these deposits generally masdeemed upon demand, management believes that¢heyninimal risk.

Historically, a significant percentage of Cien&ganue has been concentrated among sales to amsmmdder of large communications
service providers. Consolidation among Ciena'sotnsts has increased this concentration. Conseguéidina’s accounts receivable are
concentrated among these customers. See Note @®.bel

Additionally, Ciena's access to certain materialsanponents is dependent upon sole or limitedcsosuppliers. The inability of any of
these suppliers to fulfill Ciena's supply requirerse or significant changes in supply cost, codildch future results. Ciena relies on a small

number of contract manufacturers to perform theonitgj of the manufacturing for its
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products. If Ciena cannot effectively manage thmaaufacturers and forecast future demand, or femsanufacturers fail to deliver products
or components on time, Ciena's business and refudizerations may suffer.

Revenue Recognitic

Ciena recognizes revenue when all of the followdriteria are met: persuasive evidence of an arraegéexists; delivery has occurred or
services have been rendered; the price to the bsifiged or determinable; and collectibility isasonably assured. Customer purchase
agreements and customer purchase orders are densed to determine the existence of an arranger8éipping documents and evidence of
customer acceptance, when applicable, are useetify delivery or services rendered. Ciena assesbether the price is fixed or determina
based on the payment terms associated with theaitéion and whether the sales price is subjedftmd or adjustment. Ciena assesses
collectibility based primarily on the creditwortleiss of the customer as determined by credit chemdtanalysis, as well as the customer's
payment history. Revenue for maintenance servicdsferred and recognized ratably over the periwohd which the services are performed.
Shipping and handling fees billed to customerdraskided in revenue, with the associated expemsssded in product cost of goods sold.

Ciena applies the percentage-of-completion methdadrig-term arrangements where it is required wemake significant production,
customization or modification engineering, and ozadble and reliable estimates of revenue and cesiwailable. Utilizing the percentage-of-
completion method, Ciena recognizes revenue basdédeoratio of actual costs incurred to date taltestimated costs expected to be incurred
In instances that do not meet the percentage-oftitan method criteria, recognition of revenuééderred until there are no uncertainties
regarding customer acceptantiabilled percentage- of-completion revenues recghare included in accounts receivable, net.rigjdiin
excess of revenues recognized on these contracte@rded within deferred revenue. The percertigevenue recognized using the
percentage-of-completion method for the fiscal gearded October 31, 2012 , October 31, 2013 anob@cB81, 2014 were 1.0% , 4.5% and
4.0% , respectively.

Software revenue is recognized when persuasivere@of an arrangement exists, delivery has oatutine fee is fixed or determinable,
and collectibility is probable. In instances whéimal acceptance criteria of the software are dfgetby the customer, revenue is deferred until
there are no uncertainties regarding customer &mcep.

Ciena limits the amount of revenue recognitiondelivered elements to the amount that is not cgetimon the future delivery of produ
or services, future performance obligations or ecidjo customer-specified return or refund privileg

Revenue for multiple element arrangements is att each unit of accounting based on the redat@lling price of each delivered
element, with revenue recognized for each delivetethent when the revenue recognition criterianaeé Ciena determines the selling price
for each deliverable based upon the selling prieealrchy for multiple-deliverable arrangements. Eintthis hierarchy, Ciena uses vendor-
specific objective evidence ("VSOE") of sellingqai if it exists, or third party evidence ("TPET)selling price if VSOE does not exist. If
neither VSOE nor TPE of selling price exists fatediverable, Ciena uses its best estimate of gefiice ("BESP") for that deliverable. For
multiple element software arrangements where VSOhdelivered maintenance does not exist, reveauthé entire arrangement is
recognized over the maintenance term.

VSOE, when determinable, is established based enaS pricing and discounting practices for theiiggoroduct or service when sold
separately. In determining whether VSOE existsn&ieequires that a substantial majority of tharsglprices for a product or service fall
within a reasonably narrow pricing range. Cienalieen unable to establish TPE of selling price beedts go-to-market strategy differs from
that of others in its markets, and the extent st@mmization and differentiated features and fumgiearies among comparable products or
services from its peers. Ciena determines BESRihgsen management-approved pricing guidelines, kvbénsider multiple factors including
the type of product or service, gross margin objest competitive and market conditions, and théogmarket strategy, all of which can affect
pricing practices.

Warranty Accruals
Ciena provides for the estimated costs to fulfibtomer warranty obligations upon recognition &f telated revenue. Estimated warranty
costs include estimates for material costs, teehsigpport labor costs and associated overheadawtgris included in cost of goods sold and

is determined based upon actual warranty cost expmr, estimates of component failure rates andagement's industry experience. Ciena's
sales contracts do not permit the right of returthe product by the customer after the productiess accepted.
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Accounts Receivable, N

Ciena's allowance for doubtful accounts is baseiisoassessment, on a specific identification basithe collectibility of customer
accounts. Ciena performs ongoing credit evaluatigrits customers and generally has not requirdidtenal or other forms of security from its
customers. In determining the appropriate balaoc€fena's allowance for doubtful accounts, managegroonsiders each individual customer
account receivable in order to determine collelitybiln doing so, management considers creditwoghs, payment history, account activity
and communication with the customer. If a custosif@mancial condition changes, Ciena may be redquinerecord an allowance for doubtful
accounts for that customer, which could negatiedigct its results of operations.

Research and Developme

Ciena charges all research and development costgptnse as incurred. Types of expense incurregsgarch and development include
employee compensation, cost of prototype equipneamisulting and third party services, depreciatfanility costs and information
technology.

Government Grants

Ciena accounts for proceeds from government gemngsreduction of operating expense when theeasonable assurance that Ciena ha
complied with the conditions attached to the geantt that the grant proceeds will be received. Grangfits are recorded to the line item in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations to which thatgactivity relates. See Note 22 below.

Advertising Cost

Ciena expenses all advertising costs as incurred.
Legal Cost:

Ciena expenses legal costs associated with litigatefense as incurred.
Share-Based Compensation Expense

Ciena measures and recognizes compensation exfoerstere-based awards based on estimated faevalu the date of grant. Ciena
estimates the fair value of each option-based amarthe date of grant using the Black-Scholes oppigcing model. This model is affected by
Ciena's stock price as well as estimates regaaimgmber of variables, including expected stockepviolatility over the expected term of the
award and projected employee stock option exelmbaviors. Ciena estimates the fair value of eastricted stock unit award based on the
fair value of the underlying common stock on theedz grant. In each case, Ciena only recognizpsrese in its Consolidated Statement of
Operations for those stock options or restrictedlstinits that are expected ultimately to vestn@irecognizes the estimated fair value of
performance-based awards, net of estimated forésitias share-based expense over the performariod, psing graded vesting, which
considers each performance period or tranche separbased upon its determination of whether firizbable that the performance targets wil
be achieved. At each reporting period, Ciena raassethe probability of achieving the performaregdts and the performance period reqt
to meet those targets and the expense is adjusteddingly. Ciena uses the straight-line methorktmrd expense for shared-based awards
with only service-based vesting. See Note 19 below.

Income Taxe

Ciena accounts for income taxes using an assdtability approach that recognizes deferred taetssand liabilities for the expected
future tax consequences attributable to differehetseen the carrying amounts of assets and liakilior financial reporting purposes and
their respective tax bases, and for operatingdosistax credit carryforwards. In estimating futta®e consequences, Ciena considers all
expected future events other than the enactmestiaiges in tax laws or rates. Valuation allowararesprovided if, based upon the weight of
the available evidence, it is more likely than thtt some or all of the deferred tax assets willb®orealized.

In the ordinary course of business, transactiogsior which the ultimate outcome may be uncertairaddition, tax authorities
periodically audit Ciena's income tax returns. Ehasdits examine significant tax filing positioms;luding the timing and amounts of
deductions and the allocation of income tax expeaseong tax jurisdictions. Ciena is currently unaledit in India for 2008 through 2013 and
in Canada for 2010 through 2012. Management doesxpect the outcome of these
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audits to have a material adverse effect on Ciemaisolidated financial position, results of opera or cash flows. Ciena's major tax
jurisdictions and the earliest open tax years ar®lows: United States (2011), United Kingdom X2} Canada (2009) and India (20C

Limited adjustments can be made to Federal U.Setaxns in earlier years in order to reduce netrajing loss carryforwards. Ciena classifies
interest and penalties related to uncertain taitipos as a component of income tax expense.

Ciena has not provided for U.S. deferred incomega the cumulative unremitted earnings of itsdd. affiliates, as it plans to
indefinitely reinvest cumulative unremitted foreigarnings outside the U.S., and it is not practe&bdetermine the unrecognized deferred
income taxes. These cumulative unremitted foreaniags relate to ongoing operations in foreigisflictions and are required to fund fore
operations, capital expenditures and any expansigumrements.

Ciena recognizes windfall tax benefits associatih the exercise of stock options or release dficted stock units directly to
stockholders' equity only when realized. A windtalk benefit occurs when the actual tax benefiized by Ciena upon an employee's
disposition of a share-based award exceeds therdéfax asset, if any, associated with the awzaitlCiena had recorded. When assessing
whether a tax benefit relating to share-based cosgi®n has been realized, Ciena follows the “waitld-without” method. Under the with-and-
without method, the windfall is considered realized recognized for financial statement purposéswhen an incremental benefit is
provided after considering all other tax benefitduding Ciena's net operating losses. The withhaitldout method results in the windfall fra
share-based compensation awards always beingieéfigahe last tax benefit to be considered. Consetly, the windfall attributable to share-
based compensation will not be considered realiz@ustances where Ciena's net operating loss @aeny(that is unrelated to windfalls) is
sufficient to offset the current year's taxableoime before considering the effects of current-yaadfalls.

Loss Contingencie

Ciena is subject to the possibility of various Esarising in the ordinary course of business. &neay relate to disputes, litigation and
other legal actions. Ciena considers the likelihobbbss or the incurrence of a liability, as wee#l Ciena's ability to reasonably estimate the
amount of loss, in determining loss contingendesestimated loss contingency is accrued whengtabable that a liability has been incurred
and the amount of loss can be reasonably estim@ieda regularly evaluates current information k@é to it in order to determine whether
any accruals should be adjusted and whether nesuasare required.

Fair Value of Financial Instrumen

The carrying value of Ciena's cash and cash eantglaccounts receivable, accounts payable amdegttabilities approximates fair
market value due to the relatively short periodirok to maturity. For information related to thér fealue of Ciena's convertible notes and ternr
loan, see Note 14 below.

Fair value for the measurement of financial asaetkliabilities is defined as the price that wobéreceived to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction betm market participants at the measurement datsuéls fair value is a market-based
measurement that should be determined based ompsisns that market participants would use in pgcan asset or liability. Ciena utilizes a
valuation hierarchy for disclosure of the inputsfir value measurement. This hierarchy priorgiiee inputs into three broad levels as
follows:

* Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices irvactiarkets for identical assets or liabilit
» Level 2 inputs are quoted prices for identigasioilar assets or liabilities in less active metskor model-derived valuations in which
significant inputs are observable for the assdibbility, either directly or indirectly through miget corroboration, for substantially the
full term of the financial instrument; and
» Level 3inputs are unobservable inputs based ona&ie@ssumptions used to measure assets andiéalali fair value
By distinguishing between inputs that are observabthe marketplace, and therefore more objectind,those that are unobservable and
therefore more subjective, the hierarchy is deglgnendicate the relative reliability of the faialue measurements. A financial asset's or
liability's classification within the hierarchy éetermined based on the lowest level input thaigsificant to the fair value measurement.

Restructuring
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From time to time, Ciena takes actions to bettignats workforce, facilities and operating costishaperceived market opportunities,
business strategies and changes in market andasssionditions. Ciena recognizes a liability f@& tlost associated with an exit or disposal
activity in the period in which the liability is @urred, except for onéme employee termination benefits related to &iserperiod of more the
60 days , which are accrued over the service pefied Note 2 below.

Foreign Currency

Certain of Ciena's foreign branch offices and dlibsies use the U.S. dollar as their functionatency because Ciena, as the U.S. parent
entity, exclusively funds the operations of thesmnbh offices and subsidiaries. For those subsidiarsing the local currency as their
functional currency, assets and liabilities aredtated at exchange rates in effect at the balsineet date, and the statement of operations is
translated at a monthly average rate. Resultimglaion adjustments are recorded directly to arstp component of stockholders' equity.
Where the monetary assets and liabilities are &ieted in a currency other than the entity's fumeti@urrency, reneasurement adjustments
recorded in interest and other income (loss), neghe Consolidated Statement of Operations. See Bloelow.

Derivatives

Ciena's 4.0% convertible senior notes due Marct2@%5 (the "2015 Notes") include a redemption featbat is accounted for as a
separate embedded derivative. The embedded redemipéiture is recorded at fair value on a recurbiagis, and these changes are included
interest and other income (loss), net on the Cagtesteld Statement of Operations. See Note 3 below.

From time to time, Ciena uses foreign currency ahvcontracts to reduce variability in certain f@sted non-U.S. dollar denominated
cash flows. Generally, these derivatives have ritegsiof 12 months or less. During fiscal 2014, r@i@lso entered into interest rate hedge
arrangements to reduce variability in certain fagted interest expense associated with its Term.L&lhof these derivatives are designated a
cash flow hedges. At the inception of the cash ffmdge, and on an ongoing basis, Ciena assess#sewtie derivative has been effective in
offsetting changes in cash flows attributable ®hledged risk during the hedging period. The dffeqiortion of the derivative's net gain or
loss is initially reported as a component of acclatea other comprehensive income (loss), and ugouareence of the forecasted transactio
subsequently reclassified to the line item in tlimgdlidated Statement of Operations to which ttigld transaction relates. Any net gain or
loss associated with the ineffectiveness of theyimeginstrument is reported in interest and otheoime (loss), net. To date, no ineffectiveness
has occurred.

From time to time, Ciena uses foreign currency fadvcontracts to hedge certain balance sheet esgmsthese forward contracts are not
designated as hedges for accounting purposes,mgnuea gain or loss associated with these derigatis reported in interest and other income
(loss), net on the Consolidated Statement of Ojperst

Ciena records derivative instruments in the Codstdid Statements of Cash Flows within operatinggsting, or financing activities
consistent with the cash flows of the hedged items.

See Notes 5 and 12 below.
Computation of Net Income (Loss) per Share

Ciena calculates basic earnings per share ("ER&iMiding earnings attributable to common stockiiy weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding for the period. Dilute& Ecludes other potential dilutive shares thatild/e outstanding if securities or other
contracts to issue common stock were exercisedmrarted into common stock. Ciena uses a dual pratsen of basic and diluted EPS on the
face of its income statement. A reconciliationte humerator and denominator used for the basidiéueéd EPS computations is set forth in
Note 16 below.

Software Development Costs

Ciena develops software for sale to its custom@#gAP requires the capitalization of certain softevdevelopment costs that are incurred
subsequent to the date technological feasibiligsisblished and prior to the date the productigerplly available for sale. The capitalized cos
is then amortized straight-line over the estimdifedof the product. Ciena defines technologicasibility as being attained at the time a
working model is completed. To date, the periodvieen Ciena
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achieving technological feasibility and the generailability of such software has been short, softlvare development costs qualifying for
capitalization have been insignificant. AccordingBfena has not capitalized any software developrests.

Newly Issued Accounting Standa-Effective

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard ("FASB") issued an accounting standard tgptarequire reclassification
adjustments from other comprehensive income toregemted either in the financial statements ohénnotes to the financial statements. This
accounting standard update was effective for Ciitanning in the first quarter of fiscal 2014. Aseault of the application of this accounting
standard update, Ciena has provided additionalagisces in Note 13 below.

Newly Issued Accounting Standa- Not Yet Effective

In May 2014, FASB issued Accounting Standards Up@¢stSU”) No. 2014-09Revenue from Contracts with Custom@rspic 606),
which provides guidance for revenue recognitionsEU affects any entity that either enters imdatcacts with customers to transfer goods
or services or enters into contracts for the transf non-financial assets. This ASU will superstéuerevenue recognition requirements in
Topic 605, Revenue Recognition, and most indugtcsic guidance. This ASU also supersedes somegeidance included in Subtopic 605-
35, Revenue Recognition-Construction-Type and Rriolo- Type Contracts. The standard will be effeefior Ciena beginning in the first
quarter of fiscal 2018. Ciena is currently evalogtihe impact of the adoption of this accountiremdard update on its Consolidated Financial
Statements.

In August 2014, FASB issued ASU No. 2014-T3isclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity's Algiio Continue as a Going Concern.
ASU 201445 requires management to evaluate, at each aanirderim reporting period, whether there are dtods or events that exists tt
raise substantial doubt about an entity's abititgdntinue as a going concern within one year #ftedate the financial statements are issued
and provide related disclosures. The standardbeikffective for Ciena beginning in the first gearf fiscal 2018. The adoption of this
accounting standard update is not expected to &awaterial effect on the Ciena's Consolidated FisiStatements or disclosures.

(2) RESTRUCTURING COSTS

Ciena has undertaken a number of restructuringitiet intended to reduce expense and better @Bgmorkforce and costs with market
opportunities, product development and businessesfies. The following table sets forth the redtrring activity and balance of the
restructuring liability accounts for the fiscal yedndicated (in thousands):

Consolidation

Workforce of excess

reduction facilities Total
Balance at October 31, 2011 $ 16C $ 3,29: $ 3,45:
Additional liability recorded 5,48¢ (a) 2,370 (a) 7,85¢
Cash payments (4,195 (2,067) (6,25¢)
Balance at October 31, 2012 1,44¢ 3,60( 5,04¢
Additional liability recorded 5,041 (b) 2,12¢ (b) 7,16¢
Non-cash disposal — (747) (7479)
Cash payments (6,410 (3,045 (9,45%)
Balance at October 31, 2013 8C 1,93¢ 2,01¢
Additional liability recorded 68t (c) 9 694
Adjustment to previous estimates — (34%) (34%)
Cash payments (589) (46€) (1,050
Balance at October 31, 2014 $ 181 $ 1,13¢ $ 1,31¢
Current restructuring liabilities $ 181 $ 49¢ $ 67¢
Non-current restructuring liabilities $ — $ 63€ $ 63¢€
€) During fiscal 2012, Ciena recorded a charg&50b million of severance and other employee-gelabsts associated with a workforce

reduction of approximately 135 employees. Ciena edsorded charges of $2.4 million related to @saplidation of several facilities
in the Linthicum, Maryland area.
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(b) During fiscal 2013, Ciena recorded a charg®%0 million of severance and other employee-eelabsts associated with a workforce
reduction of approximately 100 employees. Ciena sdsorded charges of $2.1 million related to @ssplidation of several facilities
primarily in the Linthicum, Maryland area.

(c) During fiscal 2014, Ciena recorded a charg®®7 million of severance and other employee-eelabsts associated with a workforce
reduction of approximately 25 employees.

(3) INTEREST AND OTHER INCOME (LOSS), NET

The components of interest and other income (lo&t),were as follow (in thousands):

October 31,
2012 2013 2014
Interest income T7¢€ 55C 407
Change in fair value of embedded derivative (6,600 2,95( (2,740
Gain (loss) on non-hedge designated foreign cuyrésrevard contracts — 29¢€ (5,757%)
Foreign currency exchange losses (7,759 (8,169 (15,667
Other (1,619 (1,372 (1,509
Interest and other income (loss), net (15,200) (5,749 (25,269

Ciena Corporation, as the U.S. parent entity, tlee4).S. dollar as its functional currency; howewame of its foreign branch offices and
subsidiaries use the local currency as their foneti currency. During fiscal 2012 , fiscal 2013 &isdal 2014 , Ciena recorded $7.8 million ,
$8.2 million and $15.7 million in foreign currenexchange losses, respectively, as a result of rapnassets and liabilities that were
transacted in a currency other than the entityistfanal currency, and the re-measurement adjusswegre recorded in interest and other
income (loss), net on the Consolidated Stateme@ipafrations. From time to time, Ciena uses foreigmency forwards to hedge these balanc
sheet exposures. These forwards are not desigaateeldges for accounting purposes and any nebgéiss associated with these derivatives
is reported in interest and other income (lossf), Dering fiscal 2014, Ciena recorded losses 08 $Billion from non-hedge designated foreign
currency forward contracts.

(4) SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

As of October 31, 2013, investments are comprigete following (in thousands):

October 31, 2013

Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized Estimated Fair
Amortized Cost Gains Losses Value
U.S. government obligations:
Included in short-term investments $ 99,97: $ 11 $ — 8 99,98t
Included in long-term investments 14,99¢ 35 — 15,03:
$ 11497( $ 46 % — 8 115,01¢
Commercial paper:
Included in short-term investments $ 2499: $ — % — 8 24,99
$ 2499: $ — — 3 24,99

As of October 31, 2014 , investments are comprigete following (in thousands):
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October 31, 2014

Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized Estimated Fair
Amortized Cost Gains Losses Value
U.S. government obligations:
Included in short-term investments $ 110,18. $ 29 % — 8 110,21:
Included in long-term investments 50,01¢ 41 — 50,05"
$ 160,19¢ $ 70 % — 3 160,26¢
Commercial paper:
Included in short-term investments $ 29,99: $ — % — 8 29,99
$ 29,99: $ — — 3 29,99

The following table summarizes the legal maturitéslebt investments at October 31, 2014 :

October 31, 2014
Estimated Fair

Amortized Cost Value
Less than one year $ 140,17¢ $ 140,20!
Due in 1-2 years 50,01¢ 50,05"
$ 190,19: $ 190,26:

(5) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

As of the date indicated, the following tables suamaes the fair value of assets and liabilitieg thare recorded at fair value on a recurring
basis (in thousands):

October 31, 2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:

Money market funds $ 254,33( $ — 8 — 3 254,33l
U.S. government obligations — 115,01¢ — 115,01¢
Commercial paper — 44,99: — 44,99:
Embedded redemption feature — — 2,74( 2,74(
Total assets measured at fair value $ 254,33( $ 160,000 $ 2,74C % 417,07
Liabilities:

Foreign currency forward contracts $ — $ 44z % — $ 44z
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ — $ 44z $ — $ 44z
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October 31, 2014

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:

Money market funds $ 440,01 $ — 3 — % 440,01
U.S. government obligations — 160,26¢ — 160,26¢
Commercial paper — 89,98¢ — 89,98¢
Foreign currency forward contracts $ — % 1561 $ — % 1,561
Total assets measured at fair value $ 440,010 $ 251,81¢ $ — 3 691,83:
Liabilities:

Foreign currency forward contracts $ — 3 20C % — 3 20c
Forward interest rate swap contract — 2,08: — 2,08:
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ — $ 2,28: § — $ 2,28:

As of the dates indicated, the assets and liaslidibove were presented on Ciena’s ConsolidatehBalSheet as follows (in thousands):

October 31, 2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:

Cash equivalents $ 252,24. % 19,997 $ — 3 272,23t
Short-term investments — 124,97¢ — 124,97¢
Prepaid expenses and other 52 — — 52
Long-term investments — 15,03: — 15,03:
Other long-term assets 2,031 — 2,74C 4,77
Total assets measured at fair value $ 254,33( $ 160,000 $ 2,740 $ 417,07
Liabilities:

Accrued liabilities $ — % 44z 3 — 442
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ — $ 44z $ — $ 442

October 31, 2014
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:

Cash equivalents $ 440,01 $ 59,99t $ — 3 500,00t
Short-term investments — 140,20! — 140,20!
Prepaid expenses and other — 1,561 — 1,561
Long-term investments — 50,057 — 50,05°
Total assets measured at fair value $ 440,01: $ 251,81¢ $ — % 691,83:
Liabilities:

Accrued liabilities $ — % 20C % — % 20C
Other long-term obligations — 2,08: — 2,08t
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ — $ 2,28: § — $ 2,28t

Ciena’s Level 3 assets that were included in dibreg-term assets reflect an embedded redemption feadmtained within the 2015 Not
The embedded redemption feature is bifurcated @015 Notes using the “with-and-without” appiteags such, the total value of the
embedded redemption feature is calculated as ffezatice between the value of the
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2015 Notes (the “Hybrid Instrument”) and the vatiden identical instrument without the embeddedtnegtion feature (the “Host
Instrument”). Both the Host Instrument and the Hiylbnstrument are valued using a modified binomialdel. The modified binomial model
utilizes a risk free interest rate, an implied ¥iitst of Ciena’s stock, the recovery rates of berahd the implied default intensity of the 2015
Notes. The value of this feature was immateri@etober 31, 201<

As of the dates indicated, the following table detth, in thousands, the reconciliation of chanigeisevel 3 assets recorded at fair value:

Level 3
Balance at October 31, 2013 $ 2,74(
Issuances —
Settlements —
Changes in unrealized loss (2,740

Transfers into Level 3 —
Transfers out of Level 3 —

Balance at October 31, 2014 $ —

(6) ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

As of October 31, 2013, two customers each aceoliarr greater than 10% of net accounts receivaiplé in the aggregate accounted for
22.5% of net accounts receivable. As of Octobe2814 , there were no customers that accountegréater than 10% of net accounts
receivable. Ciena has not historically experiereaifynificant amount of bad debt expense. Theigtig table summarizes the activity in
Ciena’s allowance for doubtful accounts for thedisyears indicated (in thousands):

Year ended Balance at beginning Net Balance at end of
October 31, of fiscal year Provisions Deductions fiscal year
2012 $ 701 % 1,647 $ 84t $ 1,50(C
2013 $ 1,50 $ 2,33¢ $ 1,88 % 1,95¢
2014 $ 1,958 $ 2,761 $ 2,63: $ 2,08:

(7) INVENTORIES

As of the dates indicated, inventories are comgrifehe following (in thousands):

October 31,
2013 2014

Raw materials $ 53,27: $ 64,85:
Work-in-process 7,77: 8,371
Finished goods 153,85! 165,79¢
Deferred cost of goods sold 75,76¢ 75,76
290,66t 314,78t

Provision for excess and obsolescence (41,567) (60,126
$ 249,10 $ 254,66(

Ciena writes down its inventory for estimated obsoknce or unmarketable inventory by an amount égtize difference between the ¢
of inventory and the estimated net realizable valaged on assumptions about future demand and teankeitions. During fiscal 2013 and
fiscal 2014 , recorded provisions for inventoryer@es were primarily related to engineering desiggnges and the discontinuance of certain
parts and components used in the manufacture ddptical Transport
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products, including our Corestreand®jility Optical Transport platform, and ConvergedcdRet Optical products. Deductions from the prawri
for excess and obsolete inventory relate to didpagavities.

The following table summarizes the activity in Giéreserve for excess and obsolete inventory fofisbal years indicated (in thousanc

Balance at
Year ended beginning of Balance at
October 31, fiscal year Provisions Disposals end of fiscal year
2012 $ 31,77 $ 23,43¢ $ 15,19¢ $ 40,01(
2013 $ 40,01C $ 19,93¢ $ 18,38 $ 41,56
2014 $ 41,56: $ 32,33 % 13,76¢ $ 60,12¢

(8) PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER

As of the dates indicated, prepaid expenses aret ate comprised of the following (in thousands):

October 31,
2013 2014
Prepaid VAT and other taxes $ 101,07 $ 86,46«
Deferred deployment expense 23,19( 27,99:
Product demonstration equipment, net 33,38: 42,38!
Prepaid expenses 16,96 23,53¢
Other non-trade receivables 12,04¢ 10,68:
Derivative assets — 1,562
$ 186,65! $ 192,62:

Depreciation of product demonstration equipment $/a8 million , $7.4 million and $9.0 million forstcal 2012 , 2013 and 2014 ,
respectively.

(9) EQUIPMENT, FURNITURE AND FIXTURES

As of the dates indicated, equipment, furniture fixtdres are comprised of the following (in thonda):

October 31,
2013 2014
Equipment, furniture and fixtures $ 364,57 $ 383,05¢
Leasehold improvements 46,24, 46,35«
410,82: 429,41
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (291,09)) (302,78)
$ 119,72¢ $ 126,63:

During fiscal 2012 , fiscal 2013 and fiscal 20Xdigna recorded depreciation of equipment, furniaure fixtures, and amortization of
leasehold improvements of $51.3 million , $48.3lionl and $46.6 million , respectively.

(10) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

As of the dates indicated, intangible assets amgpcged of the following (in thousands):
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October 31,
2013 2014
Gross Accumulated Net Gross Accumulated Net
Intangible Amortization Intangible Intangible Amortization Intangible

Developed technology $ 417830 $ (32164) $ 96,18¢ $  417,83C $ (351,929 $ 65,90¢
Patents and licenses 46,53¢ (45,749 794 46,53¢ (45,909 63C
Customer relationships, covenants no

compete, outstanding purchase order:

and contracts 323,57: (234,72)) 88,84¢ 323,57: (261,43() 62,14:
Total intangible assets $ 787,94 $ (602,116 $ 185,82¢ $ 787,94: $ (659,26) $ 128,67

The aggregate amortization expense of intangildetasvas $74.5 million , $71.3 million and $57.2iom for fiscal 2012 , fiscal 2013 and
fiscal 2014 , respectively. Expected future amation of intangible assets for the fiscal yearsdatéd is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended October 31,

2015 $ 52,87¢
2016 52,87¢
2017 22,78
2018 13€
2019 =

$ 128,67

(11) OTHER BALANCE SHEET DETAILS

As of the dates indicated, other long-term assete€@mprised of the following (in thousands):

October 31,
2013 2014
Maintenance spares inventory, net $ 61,30f $ 54,10:
Deferred debt issuance costs, net 15,67" 15,16(
Restricted cash 2,05 45
Embedded redemption feature 2,74C —
Other 4,60¢ 4,77(
$ 86,38( $ 74,07¢

Deferred debt issuance costs are amortized usestthight line method which approximates the ¢iéthe effective interest rate method
through the maturity of the related debt. Amoriizatof debt issuance costs related to our conJertibtes payable, term loan (described in
Note 14 below) and our ABL Credit Facility (describedNiote 15 below), which is included in interest expe was $5.3 million , $5.4 million
and $4.8 million for fiscal 2012 , fiscal 2013 digtal 2014 , respectively.

As of the dates indicated, accrued liabilities atiter short-term obligations are comprised of tikWing (in thousands):
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October 31,
2013 2014
Compensation, payroll related tax and benefits 98,77( 82,20°
Warranty 56,30: 55,997
Vacation 32,11¢ 35,12¢
Capital lease obligations 3,07¢ 7,78¢
Interest payable 6,18¢ 6,40¢
Other 75,20( 89,08:
$ 271,65t $ 276,60¢

The following table summarizes the activity in Gié&naccrued warranty for the fiscal years indicgtedhousands):

Year ended Beginning Ending

October 31, Balance Provisions Settlements Balance
2012 $ 47,28. $ 33,41¢ $ 25,56¢ $ 55,13
2013 $ 55,13: $ 2455¢ $ 23,387 $ 56,30:
2014 $ 56,30! $ 22,12¢ $ 2243 $ 55,99°

The increase in fiscal 2012 warranty provision wegen primarily by sales that included longer-tesapport obligations and technical
support requirements from additional geographiég decreases in both fiscal 2013 and fiscal 20Xdanty provisions were primarily due to
lower failure rates and reduced costs due to efiiges.

As of the dates indicated, deferred revenue is cizegh of the following (in thousands):

October 31,
2013 2014
Products $ 36,67. $ 50,457
Services 75,49¢ 95,16
112,17¢ 145,61¢
Less current portion (88,550) (104,689
Long-term deferred revenue $ 23.62C $ 40,93(
As of the dates indicated, other long-term obligasi are comprised of the following (in thousands):
October 31,
2013 2014
Income tax liability $ 9,08: % 14,34
Deferred tenant allowance 11,77¢ 10,83¢
Straight-line rent 4,12 5,17¢
Capital lease obligations 1,98: 4,58¢
Interest rate swap derivative — 2,08:
Other 7,78¢ 8,36:
$ 34,75: $ 45,39(

(12) DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
Foreign Currency Derivative
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As of October 31, 2014 and 2013, Ciena had forwardracts to reduce the variability in its Canadimilar and Indian Rupee
denominated expense, which principally relategsearch and development activities. The notionalusrnof these contracts was
approximately $51.5 million and $22.4 million as@étober 31, 2014 and October 31, 2013, respeygtifélese foreign exchange contracts
have maturities of 12 months or less. These devivabntracts have been designated as cash flogelsed

During fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2013, in order to edertain balance sheet exposures, Ciena entacefbiward contracts to sell Brazilian
Real and buy an equivalent U.S. Dollar amount. Bufiscal 2014, in order to hedge certain balameesexposures, Ciena entered into
forward contracts to sell U.S. Dollars and buy quigalent amount of Canadian Dollars. The notigraicipal of these contracts was
approximately $194.5 million and $29.5 million &50rtober 31, 2014 and October 31, 2013. Thesédiomxchange contracts have maturities
of 12 months or less. These derivative contracte Imat been designated as hedges.

Interest Rate Derivative

During fiscal 2014, Ciena entered into interest icp arrangements to limit interest paid undeiTéren Loan to a maximum of 0.75ptus
a spread of 300 basis points through July 2015.tdta¢ notional amount of interest rate caps culyesutstanding as of October 31, 2014 is
$249.4 million .

Also in fiscal 2014, Ciena entered into floatintgirest rate to fixed interest rate swap arrangesn@interest rate swap") that fix the inter
rate under the Term Loan at 5.004% , for the pecmdmencing on July 20, 2015 through July 19, 20h& total notional amount of these
derivatives as of October 31, 2014 is $247.5 mmillio

Ciena expects the variable rate payments to béveztender the terms of the interest rate cap bednterest rate swap to exactly offset the
forecasted variable rate payments on the equivalaiinal amounts of the Term Loan. These derieationtracts have been designated as ca
flow hedges.

Other information regarding Ciena's derivativesrimaterial for separate financial statement pregent. See Note 3 and Note 5 above.

(13) ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The following table summarizes the chanesaccumulated balances of other comprehensive ia¢tss):

Unrealized Unrealized Cumulative Foreign
Currency
Gain/(Loss) on Gain/(Loss) on Translation
Derivative
Marketable Securities Instruments Adjustment Total

Balance at October 31, 2011 21C — (279 31
Other comprehensive income(loss) before reclassidfios (16€) 81z (3,269 (2,622
Amounts reclassified from AOCI — (763) — (763)
Balance at October 31, 2012 44 49 (3,449 (3,359
Other comprehensive income(loss) before reclassidios (14 (1,43)) (4,09¢) (5,547)
Amounts reclassified from AOCI — 1,121 — 1,121
Balance at October 31, 2013 30 (261) (7,54 (7,779
Other comprehensive income(loss) before reclassidios 41 (3,349 (4,940 (8,247
Amounts reclassified from AOCI — 1,35: — 1,35
Balance at October 31, 2014 71 (2,25¢) (12,48)) (14,669

All amounts reclassified from accumulated other poghensive income were related to settlement (J&sses on foreign currency
forward contracts designated as cash flow heddessé reclassifications impacted "research and dpw&int" on the Consolidated Statements
of Operations.
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(14) SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBT
Term Loan

On July 15, 2014, Ciena entered into a Credit Agued (the “Term Loan Credit Agreementihich provides for senior secured term Ic
in an aggregate principal amount of $250 millidre(tTerm Loan”).Ciena received proceeds from the Term Loan, netiginal issue discou
and debt issuance costs, of approximately $246omill

The Term Loan bears interest at a rate equal t©REsubject to a floor of 0.75% ) plus an applieaflargin of 3.00% and matures on
July 15, 2019 . The Term Loan Credit Agreement ireguCiena to make quarterly installment paymemisggregate amounts equal to 0.2606
the original principal amount of the Term Loan,wihe balance of the Term Loan payable at matufitye. Term Loan Credit Agreement
requires mandatory prepayments on the occurrencertdin customary events and, when the total sdauet leverage ratio (as defined in the
Term Loan Credit Agreement) is in excess of 2.50.@8 , the Term Loan Credit Agreement requiresaadatory prepayment of 5086 exces:
annual cash flow (as defined in the Term Loan Gr&dreement).

The Term Loan Credit Agreement contains customavgigants that limit, absent lender approval, thiktybf Ciena to, among other
things, incur additional debt, create liens anduemarances, pay cash dividends, enter into certajnisition transactions or transactions with
affiliates, merge, dissolve, repay certain indebess, change the nature of Ciena’s business, ma&stiments or dispose of assets.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement contains customaents of default including, among other thingslufi@ to pay obligations when due,
initiation of bankruptcy or insolvency proceedindsfaults on certain other indebtedness, changerdfol, incurrence of certain material
judgments, violation of affirmative and negativerepants, and breaches of representations and wiasaet forth in the Term Loan Cre
Agreement. Upon an event of default, the admirtiseaagent may, subject to various customary cigifes, require the immediate payment of
all amounts outstanding and foreclose on collateral

In connection with Ciena entering into the Term h@&redit Agreement, Ciena and certain of its subsgiks entered into a guaranty, a
security agreement and a pledge agreement, eaciistomary terms. The Term Loan is secured by @prs@-priority security interests in the
ABL Priority Collateral (as defined in Note 15 befp and (ii) first-priority security interests imisstantially all other tangible and intangible
assets including equipment, intercompany noteslléttual property and material owned real propétig "Term Loan Priority Collateral").

The principal balance, unamortized discount anccaaying amount of the Term Loan was as followsfa®ctober 31, 2014 :

Unamortized Net Carrying
Principal Balance Discount Amount
Term Loan Payable due July 15, 2019 $ 249,37 $ 1,179 $ 248,20:.
$ 249,370 % (1,179 $ 248,20;

The following table sets forth, in thousands, theying value and the estimated fair value of tkenT Loan:

October 31, 2014

Carrying Value Fair Value®
Term Loan Payable due July 15, 2649 $ 248,20: $ 247,19:
$ 248,20. $ 247,19:
(1) Includes unamortized bond discol
(2) The term loan was categorized as Level 2énfélir value hierarchy. Ciena estimated the faiue®f its term loan using a market

approach based upon observable inputs, such antunarket transactions involving this security.

Outstanding Convertible Notes Payable
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Ciena has fouissuances of convertible notes payable outstandimg.notes are senior unsecured obligations ofeCaerd rank equally wil
all of Ciena’s other existing and future senioremged debt. The indentures governing Ciena’s rotagde for customary events of default
which include (subject in certain cases to custgngaace and cure periods), among others, the fallgwnonpayment of principal or interest;
breach of covenants or other agreements in theninde defaults in or failure to pay certain othmetebtedness; and certain events of
bankruptcy or insolvency. Generally, if an eventlefault occurs and is continuing, the trusteénerholders of at least 25% in aggregate
principal amount of the notes may declare the padof, accrued interest on, and premium, if amyall the notes immediately due and
payable. Under the indentures, if Ciena undergdésnalamental change” (as that term is definechmindenture governing the notes to
include certain change in control transactionsilés of notes will have the right, subject to agrtexemptions, to require Ciena to purchase
for cash any or all of their notes at a price eqodhe principal amount, plus accrued intereghdfholder elects to convert his or her notes in
connection with a specified fundamental change €ieifi be required, in certain circumstances, wéase the applicable conversion rate,
depending on the price paid per share for Cienammmstock and the effective date of the fundamenfitahge transaction.

4.0% Convertible Senior Notes, due March28,5

On March 15, 2010, Ciena completed a private placerof 4.0% convertible senior notes due March2D35, in aggregate principal
amount of $375.0 million . Interest is payable ba hotes on March 15 and September 15 of eachlyeginning on September 15, 2010.

On December 27, 2012, Ciena issued $187.5 milticegigregate principal amount of 4.0% Convertiblri@eNotes due 2020 (the “2020
Note") in separate private offerings in exchange fo8%5 million in aggregate principal amount of then outstanding 2015 Notes (the
“Exchange Transactions”). The Exchange Transactiesislted in the retirement of outstanding 2015eNatith a carrying value of $187.9
million , the write-off of unamortized debt issuanmosts of $2.3 million , and settlement of $0.6iom relating to the redemption feature on
the 2015 Notes accounted for as a separate embdddedtive. The 2020 Notes offered in the Exchahgesactions had a fair value of
$213.6 million , which resulted in a loss on extirment of debt of $28.6 million in the first gtearof fiscal 2013. Ciena does not expect the
Exchange Transactions to affect its taxes frominairtg operations, as Ciena continues to providalaation allowance against its deferred
assets.

At the election of the holder, the notes may beveated prior to maturity into shares of Ciena comrstock at the initial conversion rate of
49.0557 shares per $1,000 in principal amount, wli@quivalent to an initial conversion price ppeoximately $20.38 per share. The notes
may be redeemed by Ciena on or after March 15, #h8 closing sale price of Ciena’s common stfrkat least 20 trading days in any 30
consecutive trading day period ending on the dageday prior to the date of the notice of redemméirceeds 150% of the conversion price.
Ciena may redeem the notes, in whole or in pa#,rademption price in cash equal to the princmabunt to be redeemed, plus accrued and
unpaid interest, including any additional interestbut excluding, the redemption date, plus a makele premium payment. Thatake whole
premium” payment will be made in cash and equabptiesent value of the remaining interest paymeats)aturity, computed using a discount
rate equal to 2.75% . The make-whole premium id pmholders whether or not they convert the nfiitbswing Ciena'’s issuance of a
redemption notice. For accounting purposes, tldemgtion feature is an embedded derivative thadilearly and closely related to the nc
Consequently, it was initially bifurcated from timelenture and separately recorded at its fair vakian asset with subsequent changes in fair
value recorded through earnings. As of Octobe2814 , the fair value of the embedded redemptiatufe was $0.0 million . A reduction in
the fair value of the embedded redemption featutbe amount of $2.7 million is reflected as ingtrnd other income (loss), net in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations during fi26a4 .

The net proceeds from the original offering of tiotes were $364.3 million after deducting the ptaest agents’ fees and other fees and
expenses. Ciena used $243.8 million of this amtiufund its payment election to replace its contracobligation to issue convertible notes tc
Nortel as part of the aggregate purchase pricthfoacquisition of the MEN Business. The remairpnaceeds were used to reduce the cas
hand required to fund the aggregate purchase pfittee MEN Business.

0.875% Convertible Senior Notes due June @572

On June 11, 2007, Ciena completed a public offesin@ 875%convertible senior notes due June 15, 2017, ineggde principal amount
$500.0 million . Interest is payable on June 15 Bedember 15 of each year, beginning on Decemhe2(( .

At the election of the holder, the notes may beveoted prior to maturity into shares of Ciena commstock at the initial conversion rate of
26.2154 shares per $1,000 in principal amount, vli@quivalent to an initial conversion price ppeoximately $38.15 per share. The notes
are not redeemable by Ciena prior to maturity.
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Ciena used approximately $42.5 million of the netceeds of this offering to purchase a call spagattn on its common stock that is
intended to limit exposure to potential dilutionrin conversion of the notes. See Note 17 below fteszription of this call spread option.

3.75% Convertible Senior Notes, due October 158201

On October 18, 2010, Ciena completed a privatesphent of 3.75% convertible senior notes due OctttbeRP018, in aggregate principal
amount of $350.0 million . Interest is payable ba hotes on April 15 and October 15 of each yesgiriming on April 15, 2011.

At the election of the holder, the notes may beveadied prior to maturity into shares of Ciena comrstock at the initial conversion rate of
49.5872 shares per $1,000 in principal amount, wli@quivalent to an initial conversion price ppeoximately $20.17 per share.

The net proceeds from the offering were approxitg&840.4 million after deducting the placementragefees and other fees and
expenses. Ciena used $76.1 million of the net pd&#o effect the repurchase of its 0.25% conversibnior notes due 2013, which matured
during fiscal 2013.

4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due December 15, 2020

As described above, on December 27, 2012, Cienads$187.5 million in aggregate principal amourd @ Convertible Senior Notes
due December 15, 2020 (the “2020 Notes”) in sepgravate offerings in exchange for $187.5 millioreggregate principal amount of 2015
Notes above

The 2020 Notes are senior unsecured obligationsamdequally with all of Ciena's other existingldoture senior unsecured debt. The
2020 Notes pay interest from the date of issuaheaate of 4.0% per year. The interest is payaéiri-annually on June 15 and December 15
commencing on June 15, 2013. The principal amofititen2020 Notes will also accrete at a rate 05%&er year commencing December 27,
2012, compounding on a semaniual basis. The accreted portion of the pringipghble at maturity does not bear interest andtigonvertibl
into shares of Ciena's common stock. The 2020 Nmilémature on December 15, 2020. Consequentlyhéevent the 2020 Notes are
converted, the accreted liability will extinguishtmout payment.

The 2020 Notes may be converted prior to matugityhe option of the holder, into shares of Cienatamon stock at an initial conversion
rate of 49.0557 shares of common stock per $10@0iginal principal amount, which is equal to aitial conversion price of $20.39 per
share. In addition, Ciena may elect to conver2®20 Notes, in whole or in part, at any time opaor to December 15, 2020, if the daily
volume weighted average price of the common stociaks or exceeds 130% of the conversion price itneffect for at least 26ading days it
any 30 consecutive trading day period. If Cienatsléo convert the 2020 Notes on or before matuttity conversion rate will be adjusted to
include an amount of additional shares, determinerkference to a make-whole table, payable in £@mmon stock, or its cash equivalent,
at Ciena's election. An aggregate of 9,197,944eshair Ciena common stock issuable upon converditdred@020 Notes has been reserved for
issuance.

Upon certain fundamental changes, holders of ti2® 2btes have the option to require Ciena to pugelthe 2020 Notes at a price equal tc
the accreted principal amount of the notes delivéoe repurchase plus any accrued and unpaid stterethe original principal amount. Upo
holder's election to convert the 2020 Notes in eation with certain fundamental changes, the casiwprrate will be adjusted to include an
amount of additional shares, determined by refesén@ make-whole table, payable in Ciena commmeksbor its cash equivalent, at Ciena's
election.

Accounting guidance issued by the FASB requiresgfiger of convertible debt instruments with casttlement features, including partial
cash settlement, to account separately for thditiabnd equity components of the instrument. Unitiés guidance, the debt is recognized a
present value of its cash flows discounted usieggbuer's nonconvertible debt borrowing rate atithe of issuance and the equity componer
is recognized as the difference between the pracerh the issuance of the note and the fair vafube liability. The reduced carrying value
on the convertible debt results in a debt discthatis accreted back to the convertible debtiscgeal amount through the recognition of non-
cash interest expense over the expected life afiehé which results in recognizing the interestemse on these borrowings at effective rates
approximating what Ciena would have incurred hagcoavertible debt with otherwise similar terms besued.

Because the additional make-whole shares can thedsit cash or common stock at Ciena's optiondits and equity components were
accounted for separately. Ciena measured thedhiewof the debt component of the 2020 Notes uamgffective interest rate of 7.0% . As a
result, Ciena attributed $170nillion of the fair value of the 2020 Notes to tihebt component. The debt component was nettedsighanfac
value of the 2020 Notes to determine the debt distdhe debt discount will be accreted over thdogefrom the date of issuance to the
contractual maturity date, resulting in the rectigniof non-cash interest expense. In additionn€iecorded $43.1 million within additional
paid-in capital representing the equity componérihe 2020 Notes. There was no net tax expensededalue to Ciena’s full valuation
allowance against its deferred tax assets.
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The 2020 Notes were issued pursuant to an Indestieged into as of December 27, 2012 (the “Indefitwith The Bank of New York
Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee. The Indemfurovides for customary events of default whiotlude (subject in certain cases to
customary grace and cure periods), among othersptlowing: nonpayment of principal (including aeted portion) or interest; breach of
covenants or other agreements in the Indentureutisfin failure to pay certain other indebtednesst certain events of bankruptcy or
insolvency. Generally, if an event of default oscand is continuing under the Indenture, the teustethe holders of at least 25% in aggregate
original principal amount of the 2020 Notes thetstanding may declare the principal (including ated portion), premium, if any, and
accrued interest on all the 2020 Notes immediatalyand payable.

The principal balance, unamortized discount andcaglying value of the liability and equity compaitee of our 2020 notes were as follows
as of October 31, 2014

Liability Component Equity Component
Unamortized Net Carrying Net Carrying
Principal Balance Discount Amount Amount
4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due December 15, 2020 $ 193,98 $ (14,899 $ 179,08! $ 43,13:

The following table sets forth, in thousands, therying value and the estimated current fair valfi€iena’s outstanding convertible notes:

October 31, 2014

Description Carrying Value Fair Value®
4.0% Convertible Senior Notes, due March 15, 2815 187,56 193,35¢
0.875% Convertible Senior Notes due June 15, 2017 500,00( 487,50(
3.75% Convertible Senior Notes, due October 158201 350,00t 403,81:
4.0% Convertible Senior Notes, due December 150 £02 179,08 223,82¢

$ 1,216,65. $ 1,308,501

(1) Includes unamortized bond premium related to embedddemption featu

(2 The convertible notes were categorized as IL2ue the fair value hierarchy. Ciena estimatesftir value of its outstanding
convertible notes using a market approach basedservable inputs, such as current market tramsecinvolving comparable
securities.

3) Includes unamortized discount and accretion ofgipéeud.

(15) ABL CREDIT FACILITY

During fiscal 2012, Ciena and certain of its sulasids entered into a senior secured asset-bagelVirgy credit facility (the “ABL Credit
Facility”). On July 15, 2014, Ciena amended the ABiledit Facility to, among other things:

* increase the total committed amount from $15ianito $200 million;

« extend the maturity date from August 13, 201Bbézember 31, 2016 , and eliminate the maturitg dateleration to December 15,
2014 in the event that any of Ciena’s 4.00% setnowertible notes due March 15, 2015 are then aodang;

» reduce the minimum aggregate amount of unréstticash and cash equivalents that Ciena is reftormaintain at all times from
$200 million to $150 million ;

» reduce the interest rate on borrowings from LB@us an applicable margin ranging from 200 bpsists to 250 basis points, to an
applicable margin ranging from 150 basis point2a0 basis points, with the actual margin based @iena's utilization of the
ABL Credit Facility; and

« amend the borrowing base to include, among dteers, up to $50 milliomn eligible cast

Ciena also amended the terms of the existing sgamd pledge agreements to provide the lenderssgitondpriority security interests i
the Term Loan Priority Collateral, in addition te existing first-priority security interests inreent assets, consisting principally of accounts
receivable, inventory, cash, and deposit and siesiaccounts (the "ABL Priority
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Collateral"). Except as amended, the remaining $esfthe ABL Credit Facility, and related secuityd pledge agreements, remain in full
force and effect.

Ciena principally uses the ABL Credit Facility topport the issuance of letters of credit that arghe ordinary course of its business anc
thereby to reduce its use of cash required to tewlifize these instruments. As of October 31, 20&ters of credit totaling $71.4 million were
collateralized by the ABL Credit Facility. There reeno borrowings outstanding under the ABL Creditifity as of October 31, 2014 .

(16) EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE CALCULATION

The following table (in thousands except per slameunts) is a reconciliation of the numerator a@daogninator of the basic net income
(loss) per common share (“Basic EPS”) and the elilutet income (loss) per potential common shardyt& EPS”). Since the numerator
reflects net losses for the fiscal years indicalbedh Basic EPS and Diluted EPS are computed ubmweighted average number of common
shares outstanding. If the numerator reflectednmetme, Diluted EPS would also include, to the ekthe effect is not anti-dilutive, the
following: (i) shares issuable upon vesting of riestd stock units, (ii) shares issuable under €@employee stock purchase plan and upon
exercise of outstanding stock options, using teasury stock method; and (iii) shares underlyingn@is outstanding convertible notes.

Numerator
Year Ended October 31,
2012 2013 2014
Net loss $ (144,02) $ (85,43) $ (40,63

Denominator

Year Ended October 31,

2012 2013 2014
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 99,34: 102,35( 105,78:
Dilutive weighted average shares outstanding 99,34: 102,35( 105,78:
EPS
Year Ended October 31,
2012 2013 2014
Basic EPS $ (1.4%) $ (0.8 $ (0.39)
Diluted EPS $ (1.45) $ 0.8%) $ (0.3¢)

The following table summarizes the weighted averdgaes excluded from the calculation of the denator for Diluted EPS due to their
anti-dilutive effect for the fiscal years indicat@d thousands):

Year Ended October 31,

2012 2013 2014
Shares underlying stock options and restricteckstoés 5,72¢ 3,89( 3,17¢
0.25% Convertible Senior Notes due May 1, 2013 5,47( 2,682 —
4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due March 15, 2015 18,39¢ 10,54: 9,19¢
0.875% Convertible Senior Notes due June 15, 2017 13,10¢ 13,10¢ 13,10¢
3.75% Convertible Senior Notes due October 15, 2018 17,35¢ 17,35¢ 17,35¢
4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due December 15, 2020 — 7,85t 9,19¢
Total excluded due to anti-dilutive effect 60,05 55,43: 52,03

(17) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Call Spread Options
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Ciena purchased a call spread option relatingead®tB75% convertible senior notes due June 15, R31%42.5 million during the third
quarter of fiscal 2007. The call spread optiondsigned to mitigate exposure to potential dilufimm the conversion of the notes. The call
spread option was purchased at the time of thesrudfering from an affiliate of the underwriter. &lost of the call spread option was recol
as a reduction in paid-in capital.

The call spread option is exercisable, upon matofithe relevant issue of convertible note, factsnumber of shares of Ciena common
stock issuable upon conversion of that series tdam full. The call spread option has a “loweikst price” equal to the conversion price for
the notes and a “higher strike price” that sereesap the amount of dilution protection provided itd election, Ciena can exercise the call
spread option on a net cash basis or a net shai® hae value of the consideration of a net skatdement will be equal to the value upon a
net cash settlement and can range from $0 , ifidwket price per share of Ciena common stock upercese is equal to or below the lower
strike price, or approximately $76.1 million , ife market price per share of Ciena common stock egercise is at or above the higher strike
price. If the market price on the date of exertddeetween the lower strike price and the highgkesprice, in lieu of a net settlement, Ciena
may elect to receive the full number of shares dyihg the call spread option by paying the aggtegsption exercise price, which is equal to
the original principal outstanding on that seriéaates. Should there be an early unwind of thesgakad option, the amount of cash or share
to be received by Ciena will depend upon the engistiverall market conditions, and on Ciena’s stogke, the volatility of Ciena’s stock and
the remaining term of the call spread option. Tamber of shares subject to the call spread optind,the lower and higher strike prices, are
subject to customary adjustments.

(18) INCOME TAXES

For the periods indicated, the provision for inca@ees consists of the following (in thousands):

October 31,
2012 2013 2014

Provision for income taxes:
Current:
Federal $ — 3 — 3 —
State 857 90¢ 1,831
Foreign 8,46¢ 4,33¢ 12,13
Total current 9,322 5,24( 13,96¢
Deferred:
Federal — — —
State — — —
Foreign — — —
Total deferred — — —

Provision for income taxes $ 9,32: $ 524( $ 13,96

For the periods indicated, income (loss) beforevigion for income taxes consists of the following thousands):

October 31,
2012 2013 2014
United States $ (151,959 $ (59,599 $ (42,749
Foreign 17,25¢ (20,59)) 16,06¢
Total $ (134,699 $ (80,19) $ (26,679)

For the periods indicated, the tax provision redesdo the amount computed by multiplying incomdoss before income taxes by the
U.S. federal statutory rate of 35% as follows:
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October 31,
2012 2013 2014
Provision at statutory rate 35.00% 35.00 % 35.0( %
State taxes (0.69H% (1.19% (6.89)%
Foreign taxes (5.09% (12.70% (70.29%
Research and development credit 10.21% 17.3¢% 32.01%
Non-deductible loss on debt extinguishment — % (11.20)% — %
Non-deductible compensation and other (4.92% (8.78% (29.59%
Valuation allowance (41.49% (25.10% (12.70)%
Effective income tax rate (6.99% (6.59% (52.39%
The significant components of deferred tax assaddiabilities are as follows (in thousands):
October 31,
2013 2014

Deferred tax assets:

Reserves and accrued liabilities $ 4451 % 59,70"

Depreciation and amortization 274,46¢ 268,78:

NOL and credit carry forward 1,159,49. 1,155,38

Other 8,82 12,95¢

Gross deferred tax assets 1,487,29 1,496,83

Valuation allowance (1,487,29) (1,496,83)

Net deferred tax asset $ —  $ —_

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoafntinrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest penalties, is as follows (in
thousands):

Unrecognized tax benefits at October 31, 2011 $ 8,59(
Decrease related to positions taken in prior period (12
Increase related to positions taken in currentopleri 2,86¢
Reductions related to expiration of statute of fations (392
Unrecognized tax benefits at October 31, 2012 11,05:
Decrease related to positions taken in prior period (3,929
Increase related to positions taken in currentoleri 2,14¢
Reductions related to expiration of statute of fations (999
Unrecognized tax benefits at October 31, 2013 8,27¢
Increase related to positions taken in prior period 2,47¢
Increase related to positions taken in currentopleri 5,241
Reductions related to expiration of statute of fations (899
Unrecognized tax benefits at October 31, 2014 $ 15,10(

As of October 31, 2013 and 2014 , Ciena had acckaetimillion and $3.4 million of interest and péies, respectively, related to
unrecognized tax benefits within other long-terabiiities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. ésteaind penalties of $0.3 million and $2.0
million were recorded to the provision for inconagés during fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2014 respedctjvaahd no such charges or benefits were
recorded for fiscal 2013 . If recognized, the enkimlance of unrecognized tax benefits would impaeeffective tax rate. Over the next
12 months, Ciena does not estimate any materialgesain unrecognized income tax benefits.
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During fiscal 2002, Ciena established a valuatitowaance against its deferred tax assets. Ciemads to maintain a valuation allowance
until sufficient positive evidence exists to sugporeversal. Any future release of the valuatiboweance may be recorded as a tax benefit
increasing net income or as an adjustment to padpital, based on tax ordering requirements.félh@wving table summarizes the activity in
Ciena’s valuation allowance against its gross defketax assets (in thousands):

Year ended Balance at beginning Balance at end
October 31, of fiscal year Additions Deductions of fiscal year
2012 $ 1,467,41 $ 21,58: $ — 3 1,488,99.
2013 $ 1,488,99. $ —  $ 1,698 $ 1,487,29!
2014 $ 1,487,29° $ 9,53¢ $ — % 1,496,83!

As of October 31, 2014 , Ciena had a $2.8 billiehaperating loss carry forward and a $0.1 bililmcome tax credit carry forward which
begin to expire in fiscal year 2018 and 2019, regpely. Ciena’s ability to use net operating lass@d credit carry forwards is subject to
limitations pursuant to the ownership change rofabe Internal Revenue Code Section 382.

The income tax provision does not reflect the &xrggs resulting from deductions associated witn@s equity compensation and the «
spread option associated with Ciena’s convertiblet.dThe cumulative tax benefit through October24 of approximately $81.0 million
will be credited to additional paid-in capital whesalized. For deductions associated with Ciengistg compensation, credits to paid-in
capital will be recorded when those tax benefitsiesed to reduce taxes payable.

(19) SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE
Ciena grants equity awards under its 2008 Omnibosritive Plan and the Amended and Restated EmpBiges Purchase Plan (“ESBHP”

2008 Plan

The 2008 Plan authorizes the issuance of awartigding stock options, restricted stock units (RSUWsstricted stock, unrestricted stock,
stock appreciation rights (SARs) and other equity/ar cash performance incentive awards to empkyairectors and consultants of Ciena.
Subject to certain restrictions, the Compensatiom@ittee of the Board of Directors has broad diseneto establish the terms and conditions
for awards under the 2008 Plan, including the nurmsbshares, vesting conditions, and the requissdise or performance criteria. Options
SARs have a maximum term of ten years, and theiroise price may not be less than 100% of fair etarklue on the date of grant. Repricing
of stock options and SARs is prohibited withoutktwlder approval. Certain change in control tratisas may cause awards granted under
the 2008 Plan to vest, unless the awards are emuior substituted for in connection with the testi®n. Pursuant to Board and stockholder
approval, effective April 10, 2014, Ciena amendsd®D08 Plan to increase the number of sharesadaifor issuance by 6.6 millighares. A
of October 31, 2014 , the total number of shardéisaized for issuance under the 2008 Plan is 2%lllomand approximately 9.3 millioshare
remained available for issuance thereunder.

Stock Options
Outstanding stock option awards to employees amergdly subject to service-based vesting restmstiand vest incrementally over a four

year period. As oOctober 31, 2014 , all outstanding options havepletad their service-based vesting conditions aedudly vested. The
following table is a summary of Ciena's stock optéetivity for the periods indicated (shares inubands):
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Shares Underlying Weighted
Options Average
Outstanding Exercise Price

Balance as of October 31, 2011 3,69C $ 30.01
Granted — —
Exercised (56) 6.72
Canceled (427) 51.2¢
Balance as of October 31, 2012 3,207 27.5¢
Granted — —
Exercised (24¢) 13.81
Canceled (859) 31.8¢
Balance as of October 31, 2013 2,102 27.4¢
Granted — —
Exercised (162) 16.9¢
Canceled (652) 34.0¢
Balance as of October 31, 2014 128t ¢ 25.47

The total intrinsic value of options exercised dgrfiscal 2012 , fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2014 wa$$illion , $2.0 million and $1.0
million , respectively. There were no stock optigmanted by Ciena during fiscal 2012, fiscal 20L8szal 2014 .

The following table summarizes information withpest to stock options outstanding at October 3142Mased on Ciena'’s closing stock

price on the last trading day of Ciena’s fiscal 20¢hares and intrinsic value in thousands):

Vested Options at
October 31, 2014

Weighted
Average
Number Remaining Weighted
Range of of Contractual Average Aggregate
Exercise Underlying Life Exercise Intrinsic
Price Shares (Years) Price Value
$ 094 — % 16.31 154 3.28% 8.0 $ 1,34,
$ 1652 —  $ 17.2¢ 184 0.95 16.5¢ 42
$ 174: — % 24.5( 19t 1.19 18.71 =
$ 246¢ — % 28.2¢ 284 2.34 27.31 —
$ 2861 — $ 32.5¢ 10¢ 2.68 29.9¢ =
$ 330 — $ 37.1(C 24¢& 3.05 35.2¢ —
$ 3731 — % 47.3:2 114 2.78 44.3: =
$ 094 — $ 47.3: 1,28¢ 2.29% 2547 $ 1,38¢

Assumptions for Option-Based Awards

Ciena recognizes the fair value of service-baseidiap as share-based compensation expense ornghttiiae basis over the requisite
service period. Ciena did not grant any option-taseards during fiscal 2012, fiscal 2013, or fis2@14.

Restricted Stock Units

A restricted stock unit is a stock award that &githe holder to receive shares of Ciena comnmaok $ts the unit vests. Ciena's outstan
restricted stock unit awards are subject to sefased vesting conditions and/or performance-bassting conditions. Awards subject to
service-based conditions typically vest in increteever a three or four -year period. Awards wighfprmance-based vesting conditions
require the achievement of certain operationasrfaial or other performance criteria or targeta aendition of vesting, or the acceleration of
vesting, of such awards. Ciena recognizes the
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estimated fair value of performance-based awamtspiestimated forfeitures, as share-based comftienseexpense over the performance
period, using graded vesting, which considers @acformance period or tranche separately, based Ggmna's determination of whether it is
probable that the performance targets will be agldeAt each reporting period, Ciena reassessgw tiibability of achieving the performance
targets and the performance period required to these targets.

The following table is a summary of Ciena's restdcstock unit activity for the period indicated{iwthe aggregate fair value of the
balance outstanding at the end of each perioddb@s€iena's closing stock price on the last trgqdiay of the relevant period (shares and
aggregate fair value in thousands):

Weighted
Average
Restricted Grant Date
Stock Units Fair Value Aggregate Fair
Outstanding Per Share Value
Balance as of October 31, 2011 4,29¢ $ 16.2¢ 59,39¢
Granted 2,43:
Vested (1,917
Canceled or forfeited (41¢€)
Balance as of October 31, 2012 4,40z 14.1¢€ 56,26
Granted 2,50¢
Vested (1,920
Canceled or forfeited (572)
Balance as of October 31, 2013 4,41¢ 15.3: 102,74!
Granted 1,91
Vested (2,16%)
Canceled or forfeited (159
Balance as of October 31, 2014 401: g 18.0: 67,24:

The total fair value of restricted stock units thiasted and were converted into common stock ddisegl 2012 , fiscal 2013 and fiscal
2014 was $27.0 million , $37.3 million and $48.1limn , respectively. The weighted average faineabf each restricted stock unit granted by
Ciena during fiscal 2012 , fiscal 2013 and fisdal2 was $11.28 , $16.30 and $21.82 , respectively.

Assumptions for Restricted Stock Unit Awards

The fair value of each restricted stock unit awiardased on the closing price on the date of gfimare-based expense for service-based
restricted stock unit awards is recognized, netstimated forfeitures, ratably over the vestingqukon a straight-line basis.

Share-based expense for performance-based redtsictek unit awards, net of estimated forfeituresecognized ratably over the
performance period based upon Ciena's determinafiasmether it is probable that the performancgets will be achieved. At each reporting
period, Ciena reassesses the probability of aaigetie performance targets and the performancegesuired to meet those targets. The
estimation of whether the performance targetshélhachieved involves judgment, and the estimatxpénse is revised periodically based on
the probability of achieving the performance tasg&evisions are reflected in the period in whind éstimate is changed. If any performance
goals are not met, no compensation cost is ultimateognized against that goal and, to the extesxiously recognized, compensation
expense is reversed.

Because share-based compensation expense is riszob@nily for those awards that are ultimately etgubto vest, the amount of share-
based compensation expense recognized reflecthiatien for estimated forfeitures. Ciena estimétefeitures at the time of grant and revises
those estimates in subsequent periods based upoarreghanged information.

Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase P3P

Under the ESPP, eligible employees may enrolltimedve -month offer period that begins in Decemdued June of each year. Each offer
period includes two six -month purchase periodsplBgees may purchase a limited number of shar€esfa
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common stock at 85% of the fair market value ohegithe day immediately preceding the offer datthempurchase date, whichever is lower.

(P

The ESPP is considered compensatory for purpos&sané-based compensation expense. PursuantESHIR's “evergreen” provision, on
December 31 of each year, the number of sharembilainder the ESPP increases by up to 0.6 miflimres, provided that the total number
of shares available at that time shall not exce2avllion . Unless earlier terminated, the ESPPR terminate on January 24, 2023 .

During fiscal 2012 , fiscal 2013 and fiscal 20Xigna issued 1.2 million , 0.9 million and 0.9 moifl shares under the ESPP, respectively.
At October 31, 2014 , 6.8 million shares remaineailable for issuance under the ESPP.

Share-Based Compensation Expense for Periods Report

The following table summarizes share-based compiensaxpense for the periods indicated (in thousgind

Year Ended October 31,

2012 2013 2014
Product costs $ 2,15¢ $ 252, $ 2,531
Service costs 1,46z 1,771 2,21¢
Share-based compensation expense included in tgsbds sold 3,61¢ 4,29: 4,741
Research and development 8,56 8,21¢ 9,68:
Sales and marketing 11,55¢ 13,29( 14,95¢
General and administrative 8,69¢ 12,05¢ 13,56¢
Share-based compensation expense included in opeeatpense 28,82! 33,55¢ 38,20¢
Share-based compensation expense capitalizedentiony, net (47) (132) (25)
Total share-based compensation $ 3239 § 37,72 $ 42,93(

As of October 31, 2014 , total unrecognized comagmis expense was $57.2 million , which relatesrteested restricted stock units and is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-averagedoof 1.4 years.

(20) SEGMENT AND ENTITY WIDE DISCLOSURES
Segment Reporting

Ciena’s internal organizational structure and ttenagement of its business are grouped into thewaolly operating segments:

e Converged Packet Optical #acludes the 6500 Packet-Optical Platform and #@3Reconfigurable Switching System, which featur
Ciena's Wavelogic coherent optical processors. itsdlso include Ciena's family of CoreDirector@INservice Optical Switches
and the OTN configuration for the 5410 Reconfiglesdwitching System. This segment also includesssal operating system
software and enhanced software features embeddstimof these products. Revenue from this segimé@mtiuded in product
revenue on the Consolidated Statement of Operations

* Packet Networkin—includes Ciena's 3000 family of service deliverytstes and service aggregation switches and thé &00ily
of service aggregation switches. This segmentialdades Ciena’s 8700 Packetwave Platform and Gidethernet packet
configuration for the 5410 Service Aggregation $WwitThis segment also includes sales of operatistgm software and enhanced
software features embedded in each of these prmdretzenue from this segment is included in prodexgnue on the Consolidated
Statement of Operations.

» Optical Transport —includes the 4200 Advanced Services Platform, Gaasi® Agility Optical Transport System, 5100/5200
Advanced Services Platform, Common Photonic La@&l() and 6100 Multiservice Optical Platform. Thégment includes sales
from SONET/SDH, transport and data networking podsluas well as certain enterprise-oriented tramgmdutions that support
storage and LAN extension, interconnection of dataters, and virtual private networks. This segnaést includes operating system
software and enhanced software features embeddstimof these products. Revenue from this segimé@mtiuded in product
revenue on the Consolidated Statement of Operations

» Software and Services ireludes Ciena's Agility software portfolio, whigicludes a SDN multilayer WAN controller, NFV platfn,
and network level software applications for enaplim-demand, high-bandwidth WAN
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services delivered in an open network ecosystens. S¢ggment also includes the OneControl Unified &gment System, ON-
Center® Network & Service Management Suite, EtheBsvices Manager and Optical Suite Release. Sdgment includes a broad
range of services for consulting and network dediggtallation and deployment, maintenance supgdttraining activities. Except
for revenue from the software portion of this segimehich is included in product revenue, revemaenfthis segment is included in
services revenue on the Consolidated Statemenpefafions.

Ciena's long-lived assets, including equipmengifure and fixtures, finitdived intangible assets and maintenance sparescareviewe!
by the chief operating decision maker for purpa¥fesvaluating performance and allocating resourdssf October 31, 2014, equipment,
furniture and fixtures totaling $126.6 million pramly supports asset groups within Ciena's ConwRgcket Optical segment, Packet
Networking segment, Software and Services segmmehCéena’s unallocated selling and general andradiritive activities. As of October @
2014, all of Ciena's finite-lived intangible assettling $128.7 million were assigned to assetigsowithin Ciena's Converged Packet Optical
segment. As of October 31, 2014, all of the maiatee spares totaling $54.1 million were assignexbset groups within Ciena's Software ant
Services segment.

Segment Revenue

The table below (in thousands, except percentagg dats forth Ciena’s segment revenue for theets@ periods:

Fiscal Year
2012 2013 2014

Revenue:

Converged Packet Optical $ 951,24t $ 1,187,23 $ 1,455,550
Packet Networking 128,98: 222,89¢ 244,11¢
Optical Transport 353,62( 233,82: 127,21!
Software and Services 400,07¢ 438,59¢ 461,45
Consolidated revenue $ 1,83392 $ 208254 $ 2,288,228

Segment Profit

Segment profit is determined based on internaloperdnce measures used by the chief executive pfficessess the performance of each
operating segment in a given period. In conneatiith that assessment, the chief executive offigetuges the following items: selling and
marketing costs; general and administrative ca@stgrtization of intangible assets; restructuringtspinterest and other income (loss), net;
interest expense; loss on extinguishment of dethfpaovisions for income taxes.

The table below (in thousands) sets forth Ciss&gment profit and the reconciliation to consaid net loss during the respective peri
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Fiscal Year
2012 2013 2014

Segment profit:

Converged Packet Optical $ 148,24 $ 242,33! $ 353,94:

Packet Networking 1,71z 22,74( 19,467

Optical Transport 116,73t 89,75 38,97

Software and Services 93,35: 126,93t 134,78¢
Total segment profit 360,04! 481,76 547,17
Less: non-performance operating expenses

Selling and marketing 266,33 304,17( 328,32!

General and administrative 114,00: 122,43. 126,82:

Amortization of intangible assets 51,69° 49,77 45,97(

Restructuring costs 7,85¢ 7,16¢ 34¢
Add: other non-performance financial items

Interest expense and other income (loss), net (54,857 (49,786 (72,377

Loss on extinguishment of debt — (28,63() —
Less: Provision for income taxes 9,322 5,24( 13,96:
Consolidated net loss $ (144,02) $ (8543) $ (40,637)

Entity Wide Reportini

The following table reflects Ciena’s geographidrilisition of revenue based on the location of thechaser, with any country accounting
for at least 10% of total revenue in the periodcHmally identified. Revenue attributable to geaghic regions outside of the United States is
reflected as International revenue. For the perimsw, Ciena’s geographic distribution of revemaes as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year
2012 2013 2014
United States $ 972,57¢ $ 1,217,46. $ 1,317,98
International 861,34° 865,08 970,30¢
Total $ 1,83392. $ 2,082,541 $ 2,288,28

The following table reflects Ciena's geographidribsition of equipment, furniture and fixtures, neith any country
accounting for at least 10% of total equipmentiure and fixtures, net, specifically identifiggiquipment, furniture and fixtures, net,
attributable to geographic regions outside of tintédl States and Canada are reflected as “Othemimtional.” For the periods below, Ciena's
geographic distribution of equipment, furniture dixtures, net, was as follows (in thousands):

October 31,
2012 2013 2014
United States $ 64,65 $ 64,13: $ 73,42(
Canada 48,37t 43,77: 42,01¢
Other International 10,55: 11,82¢ 11,19°
Total $ 12358( $ 119,72¢ $ 126,63

For the periods below, customers accounting féeadt 10% of Ciena’s revenue were as follows (cuands):
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Fiscal Year
2012 2013 2014
AT&T $ 248,120 % 373,61 % 423,49t

The customer identified above purchased produassarvices from each of Ciena's operating segments.

(21) OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Ciena has a Defined Contribution Pension Plandbegrs a majority of its Canada-based employees.pldn covers all Canada-based
employees who are not part of an excluded groufal Tontributions (employee and employer) cannaeer the lesser of 18% of participant
earnings and an annual dollar limit (CAD $24,9302014 ). This plan includes a required employertibution of 1% for all participants and
a 50% matching of participant contributions up total annual maximum of CAD $3,000 per employeeriiy fiscal 2012 , 2013 and 2014 ,
Ciena made matching contributions of approxima@AD $4.0 million , CAD $3.9 million and CAD $4.1 ion , respectively.

Ciena has a 401(k) defined contribution profit gigplan. Participants may contribute up to 60%reftax compensation, subject to
certain limitations. The plan includes an emplayatching contribution equal to 50% of the first @bemployee contributes each pay period.
Ciena may also make discretionary annual profitrdoutions up to the IRS regulated limit. Ciena haade no profit sharing contributions to
date. During fiscal 2012 , 2013 and 2014 , Ciendemaatching contributions of approximately $4.1lioml , $4.0 million and $4.5 million,
respectively.

(22) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Ontario Grant

Ciena was awarded a conditional grant from the iRoavof Ontario in June 2011. Under this strat¢gis investment fund grant, Ciena
can receive up to an aggregate of CAD $25.0 milliofunding for eligible costs relating to certaaxt-generation, coherent optical transport
development initiatives over the period from Novemb, 2010 to October 31, 2015 . Amounts receivedbuthe grant are subject to
recoupment in the event that Ciena fails to achearéain minimum investment, employment and profeitéstones. As of October 31, 2014 ,
Ciena has recorded a CAD$ 23.1 million benefitatedas a reduction in research and developmeeheeg. As of October 31, 2014 , the
amount receivable from this grant was CAD $3.1ionill.

Foreign Tax Contingencie

As of October 31, 2013 and October 31, 2014 , Ciexthaccrued liabilities of $0.4 million and $0.8lion , respectively, related to a
preliminary assessment notice from the India takaities asserting deficiencies in payments fertéx year 2009 related to income taxes.
This contingency has been reported as a compofieti@r long-term liabilities. During February 2QXiena received a final audit assessmer
notice from the India tax authorities with resptecthis matter. Ciena has filed an appeal citinfictencies in this assessment. Although Ciena
estimates that it could be exposed to possibletesup to $1.5 million , it has not accrued &ility of such amount as of October 31, 2014 .
Ciena has not accrued the additional income tdmlitia because it does not believe that such ai®ssore likely than not. Ciena continues to
evaluate the likelihood of a probable and reasgnpbssible loss, if any, related to this assessmena result, future increases or decreases t
accrued liabilities may be necessary and will lmerded in the period when such amounts are estavaid more likely than not to occur.

Ciena is subject to various tax liabilities arisinghe ordinary course of business. Ciena doegxuéct that the ultimate settlement of
these liabilities will have a material effect os iiesults of operations, financial position or clisivs.

Litigation

On May 29, 2008, Graywire, LLC filed a complainttire United States District Court for the North&istrict of Georgia against Ciena
and four other defendants, alleging, among othag#) that certain of the parties' products infeng S. Patent 6,542,673 (the “'673 Patent”),
relating to an identifier system and componentofiiical assemblies. The complaint seeks injunatlief and damages. In July 2009, upon
request of Ciena and certain other defendantd)i8ePatent and Trademark Office (“PTQ”") granteel diefendants' inter partes application for
reexamination with respect to certain claims of' @Y Patent, and the district court granted tHerdiants' motion to stay the case pending
reexamination of all of the patents-in-suit.
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In December 2010, the PTO confirmed the validitgafe claims and rejected the validity of otheinetaof the '673 Patent, to which Ciena
and other defendants filed an appeal. On Marcl2@82, the PTO on appeal rejected multiple claimthef673 Patent, including the two
claims on which Ciena is alleged to infringe. Swjsmtly, the plaintiff requested a reopening ofgthesecution of the '673 Patent, which
request was denied by the PTO on April 29, 201 &rdafter, on May 28, 2013, the plaintiff filed anendment with the PTO in which it
canceled the claims of the '673 Patent on which&ig alleged to infringe. The case currently rer®atayed, and there can be no assurance
to whether or when the stay will be lifted.

In addition to the matter described above, Ciersaigect to various legal proceedings and clairissngr in the ordinary course of busine
including claims against third parties that mayoire contractual indemnification obligations on pheat of Ciena. Ciena does not expect that
the ultimate costs to resolve these matters wiltteamaterial effect on its results of operatidimancial position or cash flows.

Operating Lease Commitments

Ciena has certain minimum obligations under norcekable operating leases expiring on various datesigh 2032 for equipment and
facilities. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 20lthe Company entered into a lease relating foeofpace for its new research and develop
center in Ottawa, Canada, consisting of a rentaitda of approximately 170,582 square feet. Thedutuinimum rental commitments to be
paid over the 18 -year lease term are approxim&4dy1 million . Future annual minimum operatingde commitments under non-cancelable
operating leases at October 31, 2014 are as fomnhousands):

Year ended October 31,

2015 $ 33,52°
2016 31,60¢
2017 28,23:
2018 15,67t
2019 12,66¢
Thereafter 83,19:
Total $ 204,89¢

Rental expense for fiscal 2012 , fiscal 2013 asddfi 2014 was approximately $21.7 million , $26ibiom and $22.9 million, respectively
In addition, Ciena paid approximately $1.4 millio$1.6 million and $0.5 million during fiscal 201&#scal 2013 and fiscal 2014 , respectively,
related to rent costs for restructured facilitiad anfavorable lease commitments, which were ofigeinst Ciena’s restructuring liabilities and
unfavorable lease obligations. The amount for dpegdease commitments above does not include bariexpenses relating to insurance,
taxes, maintenance and other costs required bgdplicable operating lease. These costs are neceeghto have a material impact on Ciena's
financial condition, results of operations or célsiwvs.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accourtsaon Accounting and Financial Disclosur

None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedure
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this repeg,carried out an evaluation under the superviairmhwith the participation of
management, including our Chief Executive Officed £hief Financial Officer, of our disclosure ca$rand procedures (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the SecuBtiebange Act of 1934, as amended). Based upomvhisiation, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded tloatr disclosure controls and procedures were effeets of the end of the period covered by
this report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There was no change in Ciena’s internal control éimancial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15¢id 15d-15(f) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) during the neastntly completed fiscal quarter that has matgriflected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, Ciena’s internal control ovandncial reporting.

Report of Management on Internal Control Over Finarcial Reporting

The management of Ciena Corporation is responiblestablishing and maintaining adequate intecoatrol over financial reporting (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) underSeeurities Exchange Act of 1934).

The internal control over financial reporting ae@a Corporation was designed to provide reasormssigrance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantteagcounting principles generally acceptec
in the United States of America. Internal contreéofinancial reporting includes those policies @ndcedures that:

» pertain to the maintenance of records thateasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflecttthasactions and dispositions of the
assets of Ciena Corporation;

» provide reasonable assurance that transactiengeorded as necessary to permit preparatiomafidial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted m thited States of America;

e provide reasonable assurance that receipts anaeitpes of Ciena Corporation are being made ambycicordance with authorizati
of management and directors of Ciena Corporatiod; a

» provide reasonable assurance regarding preveatiimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiage or disposition of assets that
could have a material effect on the consolidatedrfcial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohaver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements.

Management of Ciena Corporation assessed theigffeets of the company’s internal control overfiitial reporting as of October 31,
2014 . Management based this assessment on cfaegéective internal control over financial rating described in “Internal Control —
Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee afrSpring Organizations of the Treadway Commissdiased on this assessment,
management determined that, as of October 31, 2CGieha Corporation maintained effective interrattcol over financial reporting.
Management reviewed the results of its assessmi#ntive Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent regisfaiblic accounting firm, who audited and reportedimsconsolidated financial
statements of Ciena Corporation included in thisuahreport, has also audited the effectivene&di@fia Corporation’s internal control over
financial reporting as of October 31, 2014 , atestén its report appearing in Item 8 of Part Il annual report.

/sl Gary B. Smith /sl James E. Moylan, Jr.

Gary B. Smith James E. Moylan, Jr.

President and Chief Executive Officer Seniazé/President and Chief Financial Officer
December 19, 2014 December 19, 2014

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and CorpoeaGovernance

Information relating to Ciena’s directors and exa@uofficers is set forth in Part | of this annueport under the caption "ltem 1.
Business—Directors and Executive Officers.”

Additional information responsive to this item cemnuing our Audit Committee and regarding compliawith Section 16(a) of the
Exchange Act is incorporated herein by referenomfCiena’s definitive proxy statement with resgeabur 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 12§ slafter the end of the fiscal year covered by faiem 10-K.

As part of our system of corporate governanceboard of directors has adopted a code of ethidgdlspecifically applicable to our chief
executive officer and senior financial officers.iFRode of Ethics for Senior Financial Officersyaal as our Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics, applicable to all directors, officers amdpdoyees, are available on the "Corporate Goverigmage of our website at
http://www.ciena.com We intend to satisfy any disclosure requirememean Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendmenbit waiver
from, a provision of the Code of Ethics for Seritamancial Officers, by posting such informationaur website at the address above.

Item 11. Executive Compensatic

Information responsive to this item is incorporatedein by reference from Ciena’s definitive pratgitement with respect to our 2015
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with tBEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscaryevered by this Form 10-K.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficiaMders and Management and Related Stockholder Mag

Information responsive to this item is incorporatedein by reference from Ciena’s definitive pratgitement with respect to our 2015
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with tBEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscaryevered by this Form 10-K.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trandaas, and Director Independenc

Information responsive to this item is incorporatedein by reference from Ciena’s definitive pretgitement with respect to our 2015
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with tBEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscaryevered by this Form 10-K.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Servic

Information responsive to this item is incorporatedein by reference from Ciena’s definitive pretgitement with respect to our 2015
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with tBEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscaryevered by this Form 10-K.
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PART IV

ltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedul
€)) 1. The information required by this item islirded in Item 8 of Part Il of this annual rep
2. The information required by this item is includedtem 8 of Part Il of this annual rept

3.  Exhibits: See Index to Exhibits, which is ingorated by reference in this ltem. The Exhibittelisin the accompanying Index to
Exhibits are filed herewith or incorporated by refece as part of this annual report.

(b) Exhibits. See Index to Exhibits, which is ingorated by reference in this Item. The Exhibisdd in the accompanying Index to
Exhibits are filed herewith or incorporated by refece as part of this annual report.

(c) Not applicable

98




Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized on the 19th day of December 2014 .

Ciena Corporation

By: /s/ Gary B. Smith
Gary B. Smith
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
the Registrant and in the capacities and on theiddtcated.



Signatures

/s/ Patrick H. Nettles, Ph.D.

Patrick H. Nettles, Ph.D.

/sl Gary B. Smith

Gary B. Smith

(Principal Executive Officer)

/sl James E. Moylan, Jr.

James E. Moylan, Jr.
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Andrew C. Petrik

Andrew C. Petrik

(Principal Accounting Officer)

/sl Harvey B. Cash

Harvey B. Cash

/s/ Bruce L. Claflin

Bruce L. Claflin

/s/ Lawton W. Fitt

Lawton W. Fitt

/sl Patrick T. Gallagher

Patrick T. Gallagher

/s/ T. Michael Nevens

T. Michael Nevens

/s/ Judith M. O'Brien

Judith M. O’'Brien

/sl Michael J. Rowny

Michael J. Rowny

Title

Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Sr. Vice President, Finance and Chief Financiald®ff

Vice President, Controller

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Date

December 19, 2014

December 19, 2014

December 19, 2014

December 19, 2014

December 19, 2014

December 19, 2014

December 19, 2014

December 19, 2014

December 19, 2014

December 19, 2014

December 19, 2014
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Incorporated by Reference

Form and Filed
Exhibit Registration or Here-
Number Exhibit Description Commission No. Exhibit Filing Date with (X)
2.1 Amended & Restated Asset Sale Agreement by and gNortel 10-K (000- 2.1 12/22/2009
Networks Corporation, Nortel Networks Limited, NalriNetworks, 21969)
Inc. and certain other entities identified theraénsellers and Ciena
Corporation, dated as of November 24, 2009 (“Nok®A")+
2.2 Amendment No. 1 to Nortel ASA dated as of Decen¥h@009+ 10-K (000- 2.2 12/22/2009
21969)
2.3 Amendment No. 2 to Nortel ASA dated as of Decen#3r2009+ 10-Q (000- 2.1 3/5/2010
21969)
2.4 Amendment No. 3 to Nortel ASA dated as of March2@®10 10-Q (000- 2.1 6/10/2010
21969)
25 Amendment No. 4 to Nortel ASA dated as of March 2050+ 10-Q (000- 2.2 6/10/2010
21969)
2.6 Amendment No. 5 to Nortel ASA dated as of March2®10+ 10-Q (000- 2.3 6/10/2010
21969)
2.7 Asset Sale Agreement (relating to the sale andhasee of certain 10-K (000- 2.3 12/22/2009
Nortel assets in Europe, the Middle East and Afrilgaand among 21969)
the Nortel affiliates, Joint Administrators andritdisraeli
Administrators named therein and Ciena Corporatiated as of
October 7, 2009 (“Nortel EMEA ASA™)+
2.8 Deed of Amendment (Amendment No. 1) dated Octobe2@09, 10-K (000- 2.4 12/22/2009
relating to the Nortel EMEA ASA+ 21969)
2.9 Amendment Agreement (Amendment No. 2) dated Nover2de 10-K (000- 25 12/22/2009
2009 relating to the Nortel EMEA ASA+ 21969)
2.10 Deed of Amendment (Amendment No. 3) dated Decerhbe2009 10-K (000- 2.6 12/22/2009
relating to the Nortel EMEA ASA+ 21969)
2.11 Amendment Agreement (Amendment No. 4) dated Janl&r2010 10-Q (000- 2.2 3/5/2010
relating to Nortel EMEA ASA+ 21969)
2.12 Deed of Amendment (Amendment No. 5) dated Marct2090 10-Q (000- 2.4 6/10/2010
relating to Nortel EMEA ASA+ 21969)
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatio@iena 8-K (000- 3.1 3/27/2008
Corporation 21969)
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Ciena Corporation 8-K (000- 31 8/28/2008
21969)
4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate 10-K (000- 4.1 12/27/2007
21969)
4.2 Indenture dated June 11, 2007 between Ciena Cdiqoend The 8-K (000- 4.7 6/12/2007
Bank of New York, as trustee, for 0.875% ConveetiBenior Notes 21969)

due 2017, including the Form of Global Note attachs Exhibit A
thereto
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Incorporated by Reference

Form and Filed
Exhibit Registration or Here-
Number Exhibit Description Commission No. Exhibit Filing Date with (X)
4.3 Indenture dated March 15, 2010 between Ciena Catiporand The 8-K (000- 4.1 3/19/2010
Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee, for 4.0% Cortiate Senior 21969)
Notes due 2015, including the Form of Global Ndtached as
Exhibit A thereto
4.4 Indenture dated October 18, 2010 between Cienadtatipn and 8-K (000- 4.1 10/21/2010
The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.,tasstee, for 21969)
3.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2018, includiegForm of
Global Note attached as Exhibit A thereto
4.5 Indenture dated December 27, 2012 between Cienao@aiion and 8-K (000- 4.1 12/31/2012
The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.,tasstee, for 21969)
4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2020, includirggFEorm of
Global Note attached as Exhibit A thereto
10.1 1999 Non-Officer Stock Option Plan and Form of &tQption 10-K (000- 10.22 12/10/1999
Agreement* 21969)
10.2 Amendment No. 1 to 1999 Non-Officer Stock OptioarPl 10-K (000- 10.25 12/13/2001
21969)
10.3 Catena Networks, Inc. 1998 Equity Incentive Planamended* 10-Q (000- 10.38 5/20/2004
21969)
10.4 Internet Photonics, Inc. Amended and Restated Zifforate Stock  10-Q (000- 10.39 5/20/2004
Option Plan* 21969)
10.5 Ciena Corporation 2000 Equity Incentive Plan (Amezhdnd 10-K (000- 10.37 12/11/2003
Restated ONI Systems Corp. 2000 Equity Incentiaa PI 21969)
10.6 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement for executiicers under 8-K (000- 10.1 11/4/2005
Ciena Corporation 2000 Equity Incentive Plan* 21969)
10.7 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for exegaitfficers unde 8-K (000- 10.2 11/4/2005
Ciena Corporation 2000 Equity Incentive Plan* 21969)
10.8 Form of Performance Stock Unit Award Agreementdrecutive 8-K (000- 10.3 11/4/2005
officers under Ciena Corporation 2000 Equity IneenPlan* 21969)
10.9 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement for directarsler Ciena 8-K (000- 104 11/4/2005
Corporation 2000 Equity Incentive Plan* 21969)
10.10 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement faredtors under 8-K (000- 10.5 11/4/2005
Ciena Corporation 2000 Equity Incentive Plan* 21969)
10.11 Amended and Restated 2003 Employee Stock Purcliase P 8-K (000- 10.2 3/23/2012
21969)
10.12 Employee Stock Purchase Plan Enrollment Agreement* 10-K (000- 10.33 12/22/2011
21969)
10.13 1996 Outside Directors Stock Option Plan* S-1(33317729) 10.4 12/12/1996
10.14 Forms of 1996 Outside Directors Stock Option Agrerth S-1(33317729) 10.5 12/12/1996
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Incorporated by Reference

Form and Filed
Exhibit Registration or Here-
Number Exhibit Description Commission No. Exhibit Filing Date with (X)
10.15 Third Amended and Restated 1994 Stock Option Plan* S-1(33317729) 10.2 12/12/1996
10.16 Amended and Restated 1994 Stock Option Plan Foffamployee  S-1(33317729) 10.3 12/12/1996
Stock Option Agreement*
10.17 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan* 8-K (000- 10.1 3/27/2008
21969)
10.18 Amendment (No. 1) to Ciena Corporation 2008 Omnibgsntive 8-K (000- 10.1 4/15/2010
Plan dated April 14, 2010* 21969)
10.19 Amendment (No. 2) to Ciena Corporation 2008 Omnibgsntive 8-K (000- 10.1 3/23/2012
Plan dated March 21, 2012* 21969)
10.20 Amendment (No. 3) to Ciena Corporation 2008 Omnilmggntive 10-Q (001- 10.1 6/11/2014
Plan dated April 10, 2014* 36250)
10.21 Form of 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan Restricted IStduit 10-K (000- 10.18 12/22/2011
Agreement (Employee)* 21969)
10.22 Form of 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan Non-QualifiedcR Option 10-Q (000- 10.2 6/4/2009
Agreement (Employee)* 21969)
10.23 Form of 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan Restricted IStdwit 10-Q (000- 10.3 6/4/2009
Agreement (Director)* 21969)
10.24 Form of Indemnification Agreement with Directorsdaaxecutive 10-Q (000- 10.1 3/3/2006
Officers* 21969)
10.25 Amended and Restated Change in Control Severanm@eimgnt 8-K (000- 10.1 11/01/2013
dated November 1, 2013, between Ciena CorporatidrGary B. 21969)
Smith*
10.26 Form of Amended and Restated Change in Controlr@ace 8-K (000- 10.2 11/01/2013
Agreement between Ciena Corporation and Executifieeds* 21969)
10.27 Ciena Corporation Directors Restricted Stock DefePtan* 10-Q (000- 10.1 8/31/2007
21969)
10.28 Ciena Corporation Amended and Restated IncentiveuB®lan, as 10-K (000- 10.26 12/22/2011
amended December 15, 2011* 21969)
10.29 Ciena Corporation 2010 Inducement Equity Award Plan 10-K (000- 10.35 12/22/2009
21969)
10.30 Form of 2010 Inducement Equity Award Plan Restdc&ock Unit 8-K (000- 10.2 3/25/2010
Agreement* 21969)
10.31 U.S. Executive Severance Benefit Plan* 10-Q (000- 10.1 6/9/2011
21969)
10.32 Lease Agreement dated as of March 19, 2010 bet®@asra Canada, 10-Q (000- 10.1 6/10/2010
Inc. and Nortel Networks Technology Corp.# 21969)
10.33 Lab 10 Lease Amending Agreement dated FebruardR betwee 8-K (000- 1.1 2/15/2012
Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, as Repted by the 21969)
Minister of Public Works and Government Serviceg] Eiena
Canada, Inc.
10.34 Second Lease Amending Agreement dated August 298 B and 8-K (000- 10.1 8/3/2013
between Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canasi®&epresented 21969)
by the Minister of Public Works and Government $&s, as
landlord, and Ciena Canada, Inc., as tenant
10.35 Third Lease Amending Agreement dated July 11, 2814dnd 8-K (001- 10.1 7/11/2014
between Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canasi®&epresented 36250)

by the Minister of Public Works and Government $&s, as
landlord, and Ciena Canada, Inc., as tenant
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Represents management contract or comperysglam or arrangement

Pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation Se&rtain schedules and exhibits referenced inabie tof contents have been
omitted. Ciena hereby agrees to furnish supplentigr@ta@opy of any omitted exhibit or schedule te 8EC upon request. In
addition, representations and warranties includatiése agreements, as amended, were made byrties pmone another in
connection with a negotiated transaction. Theseesgmtations and warranties were made as of speeifes, only for purpos
of these agreements and for the benefit of thegsatiereto. These representations and warranées subject to important
exceptions and limitations agreed upon by the @arthcluding being qualified by confidential dsslires, made for the
purposes of allocating contractual risk betweerptmties rather than establishing these mattefacés These agreements are
filed with this report only to provide investorsttvinformation regarding its terms and conditicausgl not to provide any other
factual information regarding Ciena or any othatythereto. Accordingly, investors should not retythe representations and
warranties contained in these agreements or aryyigtisn thereof as characterizations of the acstetie of facts or condition
of any party, its subsidiaries or affiliates. Thérmation in these agreements should be considegadher with Ciena’s
public reports filed with the SEC.

Representations and warranties included in theseatents, as amended, were made by the partiee tarmther in
connection with a negotiated transaction. Theseesgmtations and warranties were made as of spéaifés, only for purpos
of these agreements and for the benefit of thegsatiereto. These representations and warranées subject to important
exceptions and limitations agreed upon by the @arthcluding being qualified by confidential dsslires, made for the
purposes of allocating contractual risk betweerptirties rather than establishing these mattefacés These agreements are
filed with this report only to provide investorsttvinformation regarding its terms and conditiceusg not to provide any other
factual information regarding Ciena or any othatythereto. Accordingly, investors should not retythe representations and
warranties contained in these agreements or aryyigtisn thereof as characterizations of the acstetie of facts or condition
of any party, its subsidiaries or affiliates. Théormation in these agreements should be considegadher with Ciena’s
public reports filed with the SEC.

Certain portions of these documents have begtied based on a request for confidential treatnsubmitted to the SEC. The
non-public information that has been omitted frdvase documents has been separately filed withE@: Bach redacted
portion of these documents is indicated by a “giid is subject to the request for confidentialttreant submitted to the SEC.
The redacted information is confidential informatiof the Registrant.
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LEASE AGREEMENT BETWEEN
INNOVATION BLVD Il LIMITED
AS LANDLORD, AND
CIENA CANADA, INC.
AS TENANT
DATED OCTOBER 23, 2014

5050 INNOVATION DRIVE
OTTAWA, ONTARIO K2K 3K1

2684284v.19 SPE025/16005 5050 INNOVATION DRIVE
OTTAWA, ONTARIO K2K 3K1




Lease Date:
Landlord:
Tenant:

Initial Premises; First
Must-Take Space;
Second Must-Take
Space; Premises:

Term:

BASIC LEASE INFORMATION

October 23, 2014
INNOVATION BLVD Il LIMITED , a Nova Scotia limited company
CIENA CANADA, INC. , a federal corporation pursuant to the Canadariggsi Corporations Act

68,276 rentable square feet, in the aggregate; (thigal Premises”) on the first and second floors, and following
First MustTake Commencement Date (defined below), an additids, 102 rentable square feet on the third flbloe
“ FEirst Must-Take Space”), and following the Second Mudtake Commencement Date (defined below)
additional 68,204 rentable square feet, in the eggpe, on the fourth and fifth floors (th&&cond MustTake Space
") for a total of 170,582 rentable square feet, reprsg all of the rentable square feet in the efflauilding
commonly known as 5050 Innovation Drive and showrBailding “B” on Exhibit A (the “Building "), and whosi
street address is 5050 Innovation Drive, Ottawaafim As used herein, Premises” means, collectively, the Initi
Premises, the First Must-Take Space and the SddoistiTake Space. The Premises are outlined on the piachac
to the Lease as Exhibit BThe land on which the Project is located (thieahd ") is described on_Exhibit Cand
shown outlined in thick black on Exhibit AThe term “Project " shall collectively refer to the Building, the Laadd
the driveways, entrances and exits, sidewalks, sleaquing, utilities, services, parking facilitiesnda similar
improvements and easements associated with thgdioge or the operations thereof, which Project énagally
depicted on the site plan attached as Exhibheketo.

216 full calendar months, plus any partial montimfrthe Commencement Date to the end of the monivhioh the
Commencement Date falls, starting on the Commengebate and ending at 11:59 p.m. local time onldlseday o
the 216™ full calendar month following the Commencement eagubject to extension, adjustment and e:
termination as provided in the Lease, includingspant to Section 26.9 hereof (th&érm ”).

Commencement Date:The earlier of (a) the date on which Tenant ocaupi®y material portion (being more than 10% ofrdrgable squal

First Must-Take

footage on the applicable floor) of the Initial Piises and begins conducting business therein,)arafluary 1, 201
(the “Commencement Dat€).

The earlier of (a) the date on which Tenant ocaupi®y material portion (being more than 10% ofrdrgable squai

Commencement Datefootage on the applicable floor) of the First Miistke Space and begins conducting business theneifn) June 1

Second Must-Take

2015 (the “First Must-Take Commencement Daté).

The earlier of (a) the date on which Tenant ocaupigy material portion (being more than 10% ofrtrgable squal

Commencement Datefootage on the applicable floor) of the Second Miete Space and begins conducting business theseifh)

Basic Rent:

February 1, 2016 (theSecond MustTake Commencement Daté).

Basic Rent shall be the following antedor the following periods of time:

Lease Months Rentable Square | Annual Basic Rent Rate Pelj Monthly
(calculated from and after the Footage in the | Rentable Square Foot in the Basic
Commencement Date) Premises Premises Rent
Commencement Date to the day 68,276 $16.50 $93,879.50

immediately preceding the First Mus}
Take Commencement Date

First MustTake Commencement Date 102,378 $16.50 $140,769.75
the day immediately preceding the
Second Must-Take Commencemert

Date

Second Must-Take Commencemerit 170,582 $16.50 $234,550.25
Date to the last date of Lease Month|60
61-120 170,582 $18.00 $255,873.00
121 - 180 170,582 $19.50 $277,195.75

181 - 216 170,582 $21.00 $298,518.50




As used herein, the termLease Month” means each calendar month during the Term (arfteiCtommenceme
Date does not occur on the first day of a calemdamnth, the period from the Commencement Date tditseday of
the next calendar month shall be included in tret fiease Month for purposes of determining thetiom of the Tern
and the monthly Basic Rent rate applicable for suantial month).

Security Deposit: $0.00. There is no security deposit (whether irh@asotherwise) required to be posted by or on befid enant.

Additional Rent: The Property Management Fee agmbnt's Proportionate Share of Operating CostsTanés.

Rent: Basic Rent, Additional Rent, and all other sumg frenant may owe to Landlord or otherwise be reguito pay unde
the Lease.

Permitted Use: General office use, research and developmenttfgdiljht assembly and such other uses as may fimm to time b

related or incidental to the business of Tenarth@aPremises consistent with Class A buildingshim submarket i
which the Building is located, in each case in chamgze with Section 9 of the Lease and otherwis¢htd exten
permitted by applicable Law.

Tenant's ProportionateAs of the Commencement Date, 40.03%, which is #vegntage obtained by dividing (a) the 68,276 tdataquar
Share: feet in the Initial Premises as stated above byh®)170,582 rentable square feet in the ProjestofAhe First Must-
Take Commencement Date, 60.02%, which is the ptagerobtained by dividing (1) the 102,378 rentalnjeare fee
in the Initial Premises and First MuBake Space, in the aggregate, as stated above Hye(270,582 rentable squi
feet in the Project. As of the Second Miistkke Commencement Date, 100%, which is the pergemétained b
dividing (i) the 170,582 rentable square feet ia thitial Premises, First Must-Take Space and Seéddnst-Take
Space, in the aggregate, as stated above by &iil 70,582 rentable square feet in the Project. Atemeknowledge
that Landlord has delivered to Tenant, and TenaatrBviewed and approved, space calculations éPtemises ar
Project; accordingly, Landlord and Tenant stiputhte the number of rentable square feet in thigalrPremises, Fir:
Must-Take Space, Second Musike Space and in the Project set forth aboverislasive and shall be binding up

them.
Initial Liability $1,000,000 per occurrence in primary coverage, aitladditional $10,000,000 in umbrella coverage.
Insurance Amount:
Tenant's Address: For all Notices: With a copy to:
Ciena Canada, Inc. Ciena Canada, Inc.
c/o Ciena Corporation c/o Ciena Corporation
7035 Ridge Rd. 7035 Ridge Rd.
Hanover, Maryland 21076-1426 Hanover, Maryland 21076-1426
Attention: General Counsel Attention: Vice President of Corporate Real Estatel
Facilities
Landlord’s Address: For all Notices: With a copy to:
Innovation Blvd Il Limited Innovation Blvd Il Limited
c/o Spear Street Capital, LLC c/o Spear Street Capital, LLC
One Market Plaza, Spear Tower, Suite 4125 450 Lexington Avenue, 39 Floor
San Francisco, CA 94105 New York, NY 10017
Attention: John S. Grassi Attention: Asset Manager — 5050 Innovation

The foregoing Basic Lease Information is incorpedainto and made a part of the Lease identifieds@btd any conflict exists between ¢
Basic Lease Information and the Lease, then thed.ehall control.
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LEASE

This Lease Agreement (thisL’ease”) is entered into as of the Lease Date between Leshdiod Tenant (as each such term is de
in the Basic Lease Information).

1. Definitions and Basic Provisions. The definitions and basic provisions set forthttie Basic Lease Information (the *

Basic Lease Information”) are incorporated herein by reference for all puego@\dditionally, the following terms shall haveetfollowing
meanings when used in this Leaséiffiliate " means, in respect of a person or entity, any gibeson or entity that Controls, is Controllec
or is under common Control with such first mentidmperson or entity; Building’s Structure " means the Building roof and roof membrar
elevator shafts, footings, foundations, structprations of loadsearing walls, the exterior surface of exteriorlgzahd curtain walls (includir
exterior windows), structural floors and subflocasd structural columns and beam®BUilding’s Systems’ means the Building HVAC,
chilled water, life-safety, plumbing, electricalenhanical and elevator systemsControl ” means in respect of a person or entity: (a
ownership, directly or indirectly, of voting shamsinterests in such person or entity carrying enthian 50% of the votes attached to all vc
shares or interests of such person or entity; pith{e possession, directly or indirectly, of themgo to direct or cause the direction of
management and policies of such person or entihetier through ownership of voting shares or istsréy contract or otherwise; and °
Controlled " and “ Controlling " have corresponding meaningsiGovernmental Authority ” means any federal, provincial, municipal or I
government, regulatory authority, government agemaiistry, department, minister, director, comnagas board, tribunal or court havi
jurisdiction in respect of the Premis¢ including " means including, without limitation; Laws " means all applicable federal, provinc
municipal and local laws, statutes, regulationdjr@ances, byaws, codes and all orders, directives and dedsiendered by, and any polic
guidelines or similar guidance or requirementsf &overnmental Authority (in each case havingftiree of law) and any requirements
obligations arising under the common law and atrietive covenants affecting the Project (Landlehdll not grant, permit or consent to
restrictive covenants or any other encumbrancetaffy the Project or any part thereof which wolnddve the effect of prohibiting, limitin
restricting or impeding in any material respect afiyfenants Permitted Uses of the Premises or otherwisesiéssamd enjoyment thereof ¢
Tenant shall have no obligation to comply with saprevided, however, the foregoing shall not limitotherwise apply to Landlorslability tc
finance the Project and execute customary encurobsarelated thereto), and.aw " means any of the foregoing;Normal Building Hours ”
shall mean the hours between 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 pmweekdays and between 8:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.nSatardays (in each case other -
holidays); “Qualified Engineer” shall mean a structural, electrical, systems, ocharical engineer, as appropriate for the task,nanually
approved by Landlord and Tenant (or otherwise seieas more particularly described in Section 7,4i@nsed in the Province of Onta
with a minimum of ten (10) years of practice exprade; “Tenant-Caused Replacement’ shall mean (1) any alteration of or modificatiol
the Premises performed by any Tenant Party or ézigpequipment or systems installed by any Temarty, (2) the installation, use
operation of any property, fixtures and equipmehnamy Tenant Party, (3) the moving of any propertyany Tenant Party in or out of |
Building, (4) repairs or replacements resultingrrthe use or occupancy of the Premises in violaticthe Lease, or (5) repairs or replacem
resulting from the acts or omissions of Tenantmy ather Tenant Party other than normal wear and #nd save and except to the e»
provided in the waiver of subrogation provisionsSaction 11.3; ‘Tenant's Off-Premises Equipment” means any of Tenarst’equipment (
other property that may be located on or abouPtingect or the related complex (other than insideRremises); andTenant Party " mean
any of the following persons: Tenant; any assigr@asning by, through, or under Tenant; any subtéhalaiming by, through, or unc
Tenant; and any of their respective agents, comtracofficers, employees, licensees, guests artkées.

2. Lease Grant. Subject to the terms of this Lease, Landlorddea® Tenant, and Tenant leases from LandlordPtieenise:
Additionally, so long as Tenant leases the entioétthe Building, Tenant shall have exclusive ascesand use of the other elements o
Project which service the Premises (e.g., basKatbalts, generator areas, drive aisles, loadingpéhg/receiving areas, storage areas insid
Building, etc.), subject to the rights of Landladd Landlord Parties to access and use such arelas undertaking of Landlorsl’'obligation
under this Lease and subject to any rights of accefavor of third parties over the applicabletpaf the Project as set out in those instrun
registered on title to the Land as of the date dfeard to which the Project is subject.




3. Tender of PossessionLandlord shall tender possession of the entiogelet to Tenant on the earlier to occur of (a)dhee that i
30 days following Landlord receipt of written notice from Tenant requestimat Landlord tender possession of the entire BrégeTenant ar
(b) January 1, 2015 (such earlier date being redeto herein as the Delivery Date ”). Tenant shall be deemed to have accepted the
Project in their condition as of the Delivery Daigbject to the obligations of Landlord under thesake. After the occurrence of the Deliy
Date, the Commencement Date, the First Must-Takewr@encement Date and the Second Miete Commencement Date, and withir
business days after Landlord’s written requestefoer Tenant shall execute and deliver to Landildtter substantially in the form &ihibit
E hereto confirming (A) the Delivery Date, the Commement Date, First Must-Take Commencement Dateoaridé Second MusEake
Commencement Date, as applicable, and the expirdtite of the initial Term, (B) with respect to thdial confirmation letter confirming tt
Delivery Date, that Tenant has accepted the eBfiogect, and (C) that to the best of Tenant’s kmalgk (and without limiting Tenastright:
under this Lease), Landlord has performed all ®foivligations with respect to the entire Projecbhsuch date; however, the failure of
parties to execute such letter shall not deferDeévery Date, the Commencement Date, First Miete Commencement Date and/or
Second Musffake Commencement Date or otherwise invalidate lthsse. Entry into the Premises by any Tenant Rartyr prior to th
Delivery Date shall be subject to all of the promis of this Lease excepting only those requirimg payment of Basic Rent and Additic
Rent and Tenard’ repair and maintenance obligations. Entry int® Eremises by any Tenant Party between the Delildete and th
Commencement Date shall be subject to all of tlevipions of this Lease excepting only those reqgirihe payment of Basic Rent i
Additional Rent; provided, however, Tenantepair and maintenance obligations shall commasa# the Delivery Date. For the avoidanc
doubt, Tenans obligations with respect to the payment of Bt and Additional Rent shall not commence uti dccurrence of tl
Commencement Date. Notwithstanding any other piavisf this Lease, Landlord covenants and agreasithshall deliver or cause to
delivered the entire Project on the Delivery Dateaivacant, clean and broom swept condition. Thegsaacknowledge and agree that
undertaking of Tenarg’Work in the Premises or any part thereof doesmand of itself constitute material occupancyatbfor any portion ¢
the Premises, nor the conduct of business by Tdpathe purpose of determining the occurrencehef€Gommencement Date, the First Mus
Take Commencement Date and the Second WMakeé Commencement Date, as the case may be. Frb@fien the Lease Date and subje:
the terms and provisions of this Lease, Landlomllshaintain and operate the Project in substdpttae same manner as prior to the L«
Date pursuant to its normal course of business.

4. Rent.

4.1 Payment . Commencing from and after the occurrence of them@encement Date, the First Musike
Commencement Date and the Second Mizdte Commencement Date in respect of the subjets phthe Premises, Tenant shall timely pe
Landlord Rent, without notice, demand, deductioseiroff (except as otherwise expressly providedihk by good and sufficient check dre
on a Schedule I, 1l or lll Bank under tiBank Act (Canadafor its successor legislation), or, at either partylection, by electronic fun
transfer, at Landlord’ address provided for in this Lease or such o#itelress as may be specified in writing by Landland shall b
accompanied by all applicable provincial and legakes or use taxes. The obligations of Tenant yoREnt to Landlord and the obligation:
Landlord under this Lease are independent obligatiBasic Rent, adjusted as herein provided, sleafiayable monthly in advance. The
monthly installment of Basic Rent is due in respafcthe Initial Premises on or prior to the Commament Date and thereafter, Basic F
shall be payable on the first day of each calenaamth from and after the Commencement Date, thet MustTake Commencement Date i
the Second Mustake Commencement Date, as applicable. The moBthsjc Rent for any partial month at the beginnifighe Term sha
equal the product of 1/365 of the annual Basic Remffect during the partial month and the numbgdays in the partial month, and s
Basic Rent payment is due upon the Commencememt Palyments of Basic Rent for any fractional caendonth at the end of the Te
shall be similarly prorated. Tenant shall pay todlard monthly installments of Additional Rent idwance on the first day of each calel
month following each applicable commencement daté @herwise on the same terms and conditions ibescabove with respect to Ba
Rent. Unless a shorter time period is specifiethia Lease, all payments of miscellaneous Rentgasahereunder (that is, all Rent other
Basic Rent and Additional Rent) shall be due andpke within 30 days following Landlord’s delivety Tenant of an invoice therefor.




4.2 Additional Rent .

4.2.1 Operating Costs . From and after the Commencement Date, Tenani glagl to Landlord Tenard’
Proportionate Share of Operating Costs. Landlorg make a good faith estimate of Operating Costbetalue by Tenant for a
calendar year or part thereof during the Term. Rrtach calendar year or partial calendar yeah@fTerm, Tenant shall pay
Landlord, in advance concurrently with each month$tallment of Basic Rent, an amount equal to Tiésastimated Operating Cc
for such calendar year or part thereof divided linyy humber of months therein. From time to time,dlard may estimate and re-
estimate (but Landlord may not estimate more than twice in any calendar year{otperating Costs to be due by Tenant and deli
copy of the estimate or mstimate to Tenant. Thereafter, the monthly inst@iits of Operating Costs payable by Tenant shi
appropriately adjusted in accordance with the esions so that, by the end of the calendar yeguéestion, Tenant shall have paic
of the Operating Costs as estimated by Landlord: &mounts paid based on such an estimate shallljjecs to adjustment as her
provided when actual Operating Costs are availfsleach calendar year.

4.2.2 QOperating Costs Defined. The term “Operating Costs” means all costs, expenses and disburse!
(subject to the limitations set forth below) thatnidlord incurs (without duplication) in connectiaith the ownership, operation, &
maintenance of the Project and performing Landkabligations under this Lease, in each case,é&ted in accordance with sot
accounting principles consistently applied, inchglthe following costs: (A) Landlord’reasonable allocation of wages and salari
all employees at or below the grade of general g@nangaged to perform Landlosdiights and obligations under this Lease
supervise Tenarg’ obligations under this Lease (including accougntiersonnel), including taxes, insurance and benediating
thereto; (B) all supplies, materials and computdtware licenses used in the operation, maintenaepair, replacement, and sect
of the Project; (C) insurance expenses, includiregdost of any commercially reasonable deductit{@syrepairs, replacements, ¢
general maintenance of the Project performed bgrobehalf of Landlord pursuant to this Lease; (&)i&e and maintenance fi
(payable to Landlord, Landlord’s affiliate or arthjparty management company) for the operation, maamee, management, rep
replacement, or security of the Project performgaibon behalf of Landlord pursuant to this Ledselgding window cleaning); ai
(F) assessments and charges from any applicableepyoowners association or under any restrictive covenant/adation o
covenants, restrictions and easements or othelasiprivate agreement. Operating Costs and Taxethé&multibuilding complex ¢
which the Building is a part, consisting of the Blirig, the two buildings to be constructed by Lamdlin accordance with the N
Buildings Lease (defined below), and, to the extamhed by Landlord or one of its Affiliates, theilding located at 4000 Innovati
Drive, Ottawa, Ontario K2K 2X1 (collectively, therélated complex”) shall be prorated and allocated equitably amongPttogec
and the other buildings of the related complexremsonably determined by Landlord in compliancehwiite terms of this Leas
Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that the Land ihénprocess of being subdivided in accordance thighreference plan attacl
hereto as Exhibit A To the extent the subdivision process is notlified prior to the Lease Date, Operating Costs Baxks sha
exclude Operating Costs and Taxes attributableh& portion of the Land subject to future developtmihat is subject to su
subdivision.

Operating Costs shall not include (i) costs foregahmaintenance paid by proceeds of insurancevi@eh would have been covel
by insurance if Landlord had carried the insuraremuired under Section 11.2 of this Lease) and @hgr amounts recovered
Landlord or the owner of the Land from a third garihcluding input tax credits, expropriation awsrdefunds, guarantees
warranties; (i) interest, fees, penalties, amatian or other payments on loans to Landlord oraoy other amounts owing

Landlord on loans to Landlord; (iii) depreciatidiv) leasing commissions; (v) legal expenses fovises, other than those that ber
the Project tenants generally (e.g., tax disputelsreegotiation of vendor contracts); (vi) Taxesi) @ny income taxes, including thc
imposed on or measured by the income of Landlamh fthe operation of the Project (including, withbuotitation, capital taxes); (vii
any advertising, marketing or promotional expensesymissions, incentives, inducements, allowanogsather costs in connecti
with the leasing of any available space for proSpedenants; (ix) reserves for Operating Coststlfe cost to Landlord of any work
services performed in any instances for any te(ianluding Tenant) at the sole cost of such terfamtiuding Tenant); (xi) expens
incurred in connection with any financing, salesgndication of the




Project or any part(s) thereof; (xii) Landlosdjeneral corporate overhead and general administrexpenses not directly relatec
the operation, management or maintenance of thd®rdxiii) any fines or penalties incurred dueviolations by Landlord of ar
Laws, governmental rule or authority; (xiv) costdnvestigation, remediation or removal of Hazarslddiaterials pursuant to Laws
existence (and as interpreted) as of the Lease @adesing thereafter to the extent not causedoatributed to by any Tenant Pa
(xv) cost of repairs, alterations or replacememtssed by the exercise of rights of expropriatimndemnation or eminent dome
(xvi) any expense or costs associated with bringiregProject into compliance with any Law in effaad applicable to the Project
of the Lease Date; (xvii) compensation paid to amployee of Landlord above the grade of generalagemn (xviii) costs relating
maintaining Landlord’s corporate existence; (xixlyaase rent or other payments under any groursk|ezther than paskrougt
expenses and taxes that would be included in thimititen of Operating Costs or Taxes under this desa(xx) fees or oth
compensation paid to subsidiaries or Affiliatedahdlord for services on or to the Project to tReeet that the costs of such serv
exceed competitive costs of such services; (xxlitipal and charitable contributions; (xxii) theiginal or any future developme
costs of the Building, the Project and the relatechplex (including, for certainty, all costs incedrby or on behalf of Landlord or 1
owner of the Land in satisfying its or their initieonstructionrelated obligations under any site plan agreenstd, developmer
servicing agreement or other similar developmemé@ment registered or affecting title to the Lamdaoy other part of the relai
complex) and any other costs and expenses allotabiey lands held for future development; (x@il.costs, expenses, damages,
and penalties for which Landlord is liable by reasd the negligence or willful act or omission ddndlord or those for whom it is
law responsible or by reason of any breach or tiaaby Landlord of any covenant, term or provismmtained in the Lease or ¢
other agreements entered into by Landlord in réspéthe Project or the related complex (other tlammercially reasonat
insurance deductibles, which may be included in r@pey Costs); (xxiv) Landlord’ general corporate overhead and ge
administrative expenses associated with the operaif the business of the ownership or entity whidmstitutes “Landlord’as
distinguished from the costs of Project operatiangnagement or maintenance; (xxv) any capital edipges other than tho
permitted pursuant to Section 4.2.3 below; (xxk§ tost of any replacements to the Buildin§tructure (other than the roof or r
membrane), except only where such replacementsca@sioned by Tenant-Caused Replacements (Eheltded Structural Costs
"); and (xxvii) to the extent not caused or contributethy any Tenant Party, the costs of undertakirgliandlord Repair Obligatio
(defined below).

4.2.3 Capital Expenditures . Operating Costs shall also include the followfogllectively, the “Eligible Capital
Expenditures "), the cost of which shall be included in OperatingtSan the year in which costs were paid or inaliivg Landlor
except as otherwise provided herein:

(&) Any costs for repairs, replacements and awgments made to the Project which are reaso
expected to reduce the normal operating costsugimg all utility costs) of the Project;

(b) Any costs incurred in order to comply withya_aw promulgated by any governmental authoritgt
the Lease Date, or any amendment to or any intexza (to the extent a governmental authorityhisnt enforcing suc
interpretation) rendered after the Lease Date watdpect to any existing Law that has the effectlunging the leg
requirements applicable to the Project from thoseffect as of the Lease Date;

(c) Any costs incurred after the tenth annivergd the Commencement Date associated with replaai
of the roof and roof membrane; and

(d) Any costs for repairs, replacements and anpments made to the Project which may be conside
be a capital expenditure other than those idedtifieSections 4.2.3(a), 4.2.3(b) or 4.2.3(c) abatéch, on a per item bas
cost less than $100,000, exclusive of applicabteggwhich amount shall be increased by 10% aetiteof every fiveyeal
period) (including all reasonable associated afatad expenditures for consulting fees, permitstalment payments, et
(provided that Landlord shall not perform repaieplacements and/or improvements in stages




as a means to subvert this provision). If any BlgiCapital Expenditure identified in Section 4(2)3above is in excess of
Amortization Threshold (defined below), the cost @fch Eligible Capital Expenditure shall be amedizusing th
Amortization Rate over the time period reasonablyneated by Landlord to recover the costs therakihg into consideratic
the anticipated cost savings, as determined by Ibashdising its good faith, commercially reasonghbl#gment having rega
to the principles and practices hereinafter setiouthe following sentence. If any of the Eligib@apital Expenditure
identified in Sections 4.2.3(b), 4.2.3(c), or 4(&)3bove are in excess of the Amortization Thr&shthe cost of such Eligib
Capital Expenditures shall be amortized using theoRization Rate over the useful economic life lué ftem as determin
by Landlord using its good faith and commercialasonable judgment and such annual amortized amoaytbe include
by Landlord in Operating Costs in the applicablaryés used herein, Amortization Threshold " means the costs of 1
expenditure in question are in the aggregate, diety all associated and related expenditures fosalting fees, permil
installment payments, etc., but excluding all aggidie taxes thereon, in excess of $100,000 (whivbuat shall be increas
by 10% at the end of every five-year period). AsdiBerein, ‘Amortization Rate " means an annual interest rate equal t
greater of (1) the Prime Rate (defined below) @usand (2) 7%.

4.2.4 Taxes; Taxes Defined

(&) From and after the Commencement Date, Testail also pay Tenamst’Proportionate Share of Ta
for each year and partial year falling within ther. Tenant shall pay TenamtProportionate Share of Taxes in the ¢
manner as provided above for TenarfProportionate Share of Operating Costs. Tenahtpay to Landlord as Addition
Rent in each calendar during the Term: (1) TesaRtoportionate Share of Taxes which shall be deted in accordan
with this Section 4.2.4; and (2) any fines, peealtinterest or late payment charges incurred Igload solely as a result
Tenants failure to pay installments of Additional Rent account of Taxes when due in accordance withSbigion 4.2.4 <
as to allow Landlord to make payment of Taxes akvamen due.

(b) In the event that a separate assessmermit iaviailable for the Project and it is necessargltocatt
Taxes between the Project and the related compkexdiord shall make such allocation, acting reabbnaequitably an
consistently with prevailing assessment principées] the amount so allocated shall be deemed tncheled in the Taxe
unless such allocation is shown by Tenant and fdoynd court of competent jurisdiction to be unreedie, erroneous or r
in compliance with the requirements of this Secdoh 4. For the purposes of determining the amotifitaxes referred to
Subsection 4.2.4(a) and this Subsection 4.2.4fk)etshall be deducted from the Taxes, as othewisalated, any amoul
that are charged directly to Tenant pursuant tdi@esc4.2.4(e)(1) and (2).

(c) The provisions of Subsection 4.2.4(a) ands®ation 4.2.4(b) shall be applicable regardlesstadthe
there are separate realty tax bills or separalepreaerty assessment notices issued by any laakihg authority in respe
of the Project. Tenant and Landlord shall prompgtipvide the other with a copy of any separate téis bnd separa
assessment notices for the Project, or any parédfi¢hat it receives. Whenever reasonably reqddsyeTenant, Landlol
shall forthwith provide Tenant with a copy of araxtbills and assessment notices for the Projecangrpart thereof, th
Landlord receives and such other information ingbssession or control of Landlord in connectiothwguch Taxes as Ten
reasonably requires; copies of any such tax hiltsassessment notices shall be delivered in eashveighin 15 business de
after Tenant requests such documents.

(d) Landlord may from time to time by writtentioe to Tenant, estimate or estimate (but Landlord m
not reestimate more than twice in any calendar year)Tdpees for the current or upcoming calendar yeae aimounts ¢
estimated will be payable by Tenant in equal mgnihétallments on the same days and in the sama&enas the paymel
of Basic Rent




hereunder. Landlord’ estimate of the Taxes or the installments thegpaghble by Tenant hereunder may be such thaty
due date of the last installment of Taxes payabléné relevant taxing authority in any calendamdlard will have receive
from Tenant the full amount of the Taxes for sualendar year. Promptly following receipt of thediitill for Taxes for th
period for which the estimated payments of Taxetmeen made (and not more than 30 days theredftajilord will give
notice to Tenant of the exact amount of Taxes (twgewith copies of the relevant tax bills) andnécessary, an adjustm
will be made between the parties within 60 daysraftich notice.

(e) Tenant shall pay promptly to the relevarirtg authority as and when due, all business taiees¢
fees, permit fees and other taxes, rates, dutesgd, assessments or charges, whether municgrdibrpentary or otherwis
levied, imposed or assessed in respect of the ueecopancy of, the operations at or any businassed on in or from tt
Premises by Tenant or any other Tenant Party (dti@er Landlord or its property manager) or the popgnt, machinery
fixtures brought therein by or belonging to Tenantany other Tenant Party (other than Landlordt®mproperty manage
(collectively, “ Business Taxes). Tenant shall also pay to Landlord upon demand aditiddal Rent the following Tax
which Landlord may elect to recover from Tenantspant to this Section 4.2.4(e), in which case ampunts so paid |
Tenant shall be excluded in the determination effthxes pursuant to Section 4.2.4(a):

(1) the portion of any Taxes levied or assesspdn the Project that is attributable to
equipment, machinery, fixtures or leasehold improgets on or in the Premises; and

(2) if the Premises, or any part of them, bysogeof the act, election or religion of Tenant oy
other Tenant Party shall be assessed for the suppeeparate schools, the amount by which the §arepayab
exceed those which would have been payable if tamBes had been assessed for the support of Eadbiools.

() Tenant shall deliver to Landlord: (1) whereveasonably requested by Landlord, satisfacteigeact
that all Business Taxes have been paid on or béffieiedue date; and (2) any other informationtie¢ato Taxes or Busine
Taxes in Tenant's possession that Landlord reaspmnatpuests from time to time.

(g) “Taxes” means all taxes, rates, duties, levies, fees, ebdigcluding local improvement charges)
assessments of any kind and nature whatsoeverhvene levied, imposed, assessed or charged from tiiniime by an
lawful taxing authority, whether school, municipaggional, provincial, federal or otherwise, agtios in respect of tf
Project or any part thereof applicable to any tolneing the Term, or upon Landlord or any other persr entity on accou
of its ownership of, or interest in, the Projectaoy part thereof, but excluding: (A) developmemarges, levies, assessme
fees and other similar development related paymiotsh as, but without limitation, parkland dedigatfees); (B) taxes (
the income or profits of Landlord or any other parsr entity having an interest in the Projectlisive of capital taxes), a
Sales Taxes, except in each case to the extentattgelevied in lieu of or in addition to “Taxesind (C) fines, penaltie
interest or late payment charges unless the saengag@able as a result of Tenantfelinquency in payment of any Additio
Rent. However, if the present method of taxatioangfes so that in lieu of or in addition to the vehot any part of any Tax
there is levied on Landlord a capital tax direaily the rents or revenues received therefrom oamrchise tax, margin te
assessment, or charge based, in whole or in gaoh such rents or revenues for the Project, thesuah taxes, assessme
or charges, or the part thereof so based, shallebened to be included within the term “Taxé&s” purposes hereof. Tay
shall include the commercially reasonable costsanfsultants retained in an effort to lower taxed at costs incurred
disputing any Taxes or in seeking to lower theualuation of the Project. For property tax purpodesant waives all righ
to protest or appeal the appraised value of thenBes, as well as the Project except as providémshend all rights t
receive notices of reappraisement Landlord shalaga an independent and




reputable tax consultant each year to determinghghét is in the best interest to contest TaxegHe year in question, anc
such tax consultant determines it is in the bestrést to contest Taxes, Landlord will contest Bafoe the year in question.
Landlord, after consultation with Landloedtax consultant, elects not to contest TaxesHerperiod in question, Landlc
shall notify Tenant in writing. If Tenant, in cortion with Tenant’s tax consultant, reasonablg &m goodfaith believe
contesting Taxes will reduce Taxes for the perioduestion and Landlord has elected not to coiftesés for the applicak
year, Tenant may elect, at its sole expense, ttesbitaxes for the period in question and shahatify Landlord thereof i
writing. Nothing herein shall be deemed to limitsspend or abate Tenamtbligations to pay Taxes when due. In the ¢
that Landlord is entitled to the benefit of anduadly receives any incentives, rebates, inducementsther payments fra
any person or governmental authority on accourib gespect of Taxes pertaining to the Project amibatable to Tenar
Landlord shall reasonably and equitably allocateoalthe applicable share thereof to Tenant and sammount shall &
deducted from Tenant's obligations to pay Taxesiher‘Taxes”shall not include Taxes payable with respect to
undeveloped lands (it being acknowledged and agiestdparking and landscaped areas forming a ffaha servicing th
Project do not constitute undeveloped lands).

4.2.5 Property Management Fee Tenant shall pay to Landlord a property managerfeenequal to $50,000
year (which amount shall be increased by 10% efreeyyears), payable in advance in equal month$faiiments with each montt
installment of Basic Rent (theProperty Management Fe€').

4.2.6 Reconciliation Statement. Landlord shall use its commercially reasonabferef to furnish to Tenant |
June 30 of each calendar year a statement of GquegKabsts for the previous year (together with oeable supporting documentati
and of the Taxes for the previous year (tlRetonciliation Statement’). If Tenant’s estimated payments of Operating Costs or 1
under this Section 4.2 for the year covered by Rleeonciliation Statement exceed TenarRroportionate Share of such item
indicated in the Reconciliation Statement, thendlard shall credit or reimburse Tenant for suchesscwithin 30 days after Landlc
furnishes the Reconciliation Statement to Tenakéwise, if Tenant estimated payments of Operating Costs or Taxdsruthis
Section 4.2 for such year are less than TesdPtoportionate Share of such items as indicatdtiérReconciliation Statement, ti
Tenant shall pay Landlord such deficiency withinda®s of invoice from Landlord.

4.2.7 Tenant Inspection Right. Provided no Event of Default then exists, afeareiving an annual Reconciliat
Statement and giving Landlord 30-days’ prior writteotice thereof, Tenant may inspect or audit Laratl§ records relating
Additional Rent (including the allocation percergagof the amounts described in Section 4.2.2(Avepdor the period of tin
covered by such Reconciliation Statement in accurelavith the following provisions. If Tenant fails object to the calculation
Additional Rent on an annual Reconciliation Statetwethin 90 days after the statement or any suppl& thereto has been delive
to Tenant, or if Tenant fails to conclude its auatiinspection within 180 days after the statenteagt been delivered to Tenant, t
Tenant shall have waived its right to object to tadculation of Additional Rent for the year in gtien and the calculation
Additional Rent set forth on such statement shalffibal. Landlord shall not be entitled to suppleter readjust any amount set oL
a Reconciliation Statement twerfigur (24) months after the statement or any supeténthereto has been delivered to Ten
Tenants audit or inspection shall be conducted where loaddmaintains its books and records or at thetemitrequest of Tena
Landlord shall provide all relevant information @tenically, if available, to Tenant, shall not aasonably interfere with the cond
of Landlord’s business, and shall be conducted only duringhbasihours reasonably designated by Landlord. Tehail pay the co
of such audit or inspection, unless the total Add#l Rent for the period in question is determit@te overstated by more than 59
the aggregate, in which case Landlord shall paytht cost (not to exceed $15,000). Tenant mayantiuct an inspection or have
audit performed more than once during any calegdar. Tenant or the accounting firm conducting saedit shall, at no charge
Landlord, submit its audit report in draft formltandlord for Landlords review and comment before the final approvedtaegort i
submitted to Landlord, and Tenant shall considgrraasonable comments by Landlord. If such inspeatr audit reveals that an el
was made in the




Additional Rent previously charged to Tenant, thandlord shall refund to Tenant any overpaymerarof such costs, or Tenant s
pay to Landlord any underpayment of any such cassthe case may be, within 30 days after notiioathereof. Tenant sh
maintain the results of each such audit or inspactionfidential (save and except as required by loawdisclosed to Tenamst’
consultants, attorneys, agents or to any other rflteRarty who agrees win writing with Landlord to imtain such informatic
confidential) and shall not be permitted to use Hrgd party to perform such audit or inspectiothes than an independent firm
certified public accountants (a) reasonably acdeptto Landlord, (b) which is not compensated aroatingency fee basis or in ¢
other manner which is dependent upon the resulsuoh audit or inspection (and Tenant shall delier fee agreement or ot
similar evidence of such fee arrangement to Lawdigron request), and (c) which agrees with Landiordriting to maintain th
results of such audit or inspection confidentiahtiNng in this Section 4.2.7 shall be construedirtot, suspend or abate Tenant’
obligation to pay Rent when due, including AddiabRent.

4.3 Sales Taxes Tenant will pay to Landlord with each paymentiR&nt all Sales Taxes applicable to, calculatedran
respect of amounts payable by Tenant as Rent uhidekease. Notwithstanding that Sales Taxes atéreat, Landlord shall have all of 1
same rights and remedies for recovery of Sales sTaseit has for recovery of Rent under this Le&sBales Taxes' means any and .
harmonized sales taxes (other than harmonized &ades on the Construction Allowance, which shelplaid by Landlord), goods and serv
taxes, value added taxes, sales taxes, use orroptien taxes or any other similar taxes of whateweme or description, whether or no
existence at the Lease Date, now or hereafter iethdavied, rated, charged or assessed by anyllsaxing authority on Tenant or Landlorc
respect of Rent payable under this Lease, thelrehtspace under this Lease or the provision ompbupf any goods, services or utilit
whatsoever to Tenant under this Lease. Howevewitigtanding any other provision of this Lease, dr@nshall have no obligation to pay
Landlord any Sales Taxes in respect of which Lamldi® entitled to and actually receives an inputdiedit.

4.4 Net Lease. Except as otherwise expressly provided in thiasee this Lease shall be completely net and care€
Landlord during the Term, and Landlord shall notrbsponsible during the Term for any costs, chargggenses or outlays of any na
whatsoever arising from or relating to the Projestept as otherwise expressly provided in thisseeand save as aforesaid, Tenant sha
all charges, taxes, impositions, costs and expesfsegery nature and kind arising from or relatinghe Project, the occupation and use o
Premises by any Tenant Party and the businesedarn therein or therefrom, whether or not refetcelerein and whether or not within
contemplation of Landlord or Tenant and Tenant oaws with Landlord accordingly.

4.5 Additional Rent — Adjustment . If the Term begins on a day other than the flest of a calendar month or ends ¢
day other than the last day of a calendar month Atiditional Rent payable for such month shall bergged on a per diem basis over
number of days in the year.

5. Delinquent Payment; Handling Charges. All payments required of Tenant hereunder thatraore than five days past due <
bear interest from the date due until paid at #ssér of (a) the annual rate of interest annoufroedtime to time by Royal Bank of Canad:
such other Schedule | Canadian chartered bank gdbedesignated by Landlord, as the daily ratentfrest used by such bank as a refel
rate in setting rates of interest for commerciani® of Canadian dollars and commonly referred tosligh bank as its Canadiaprime
rate” (the “Prime Rate”) plus five percent per annum or (b) the maximum ldwdite of interest (such lesser amount is refetodukrein as tt
“ Default Rate ”); additionally, Landlord, in addition to all otheghits and remedies available to it, may charge Tiemdate fee equal to t
greater of (1) five percent of the delinquent pagmer (2) $250, to reimburse Landlord for its caestd inconvenience incurred a
consequence of Tenastelinquency. In no event, however, shall the gbspermitted under this Section 5 or elsewhethifnlLease, to tt
extent they are considered to be interest unddicapfe Laws, exceed the maximum lawful commercéé of interest. Notwithstanding -
foregoing, the late fee referenced above shalbeatharged with respect to the first occurrence fotiany subsequent occurrence) during
12-calendar month period that Tenant fails to make gayyment of Additional Rent when due, until fiveydafter Landlord delivers writt:
notice of such delinquency to Tenant.




6. Security Deposit. [Intentionally Deleted.]

7. Landlord’s Obligations.

7.1 Services. Landlord shall (subject to force majeure) furnitshTenant and the Premises during the Term an
extension thereof such exterior window washingl{oth the interior and exterior surface of all segterior windows) as may from time to ti
be reasonably required.

7.2 Repair and Maintenance by Landlord . Landlord shall (a) maintain, repair and, if neszey, replace the exter
portions of the Building’s Structure, including akulking, sealing, and water proofing and undertaky other replacement to the Building’
Structure; (b) maintain, repair and, if necessegplace all Shared Facilities (defined below), atte case in accordance with the Perform
Standard (defined below); and (c) undertake oreaode undertaken the Landlord Repair Obligatiolesined below). Tenant shall promg
notify Landlord in writing of any work required toe performed under this Section 7.2 and Section All4costs in performing the wo
described in this Section shall be included in @prg Costs except to the extent excluded by Seetid or to the extent the cost of such v
constitutes an Excluded Structural Cost. In no eshall Landlord be responsible for alterationshi® Building's Structure required by chan
to applicable Laws arising from and after the Le@age (which alterations shall be made, at Landdoetection, either by Landlord at Tenant’
sole cost and expense or by Tenant at its soleacmsexpense). This Lease is intended to be a&as¢land except as expressly provided b
Lease, inclusive of Landlors’maintenance, repair and replacements obligationisis Section 7.2 and Section 7.4, Landlord shalte n
obligation, in any manner whatsoever, to repairnmintain the Project (or any equipment associatextetvith), whether structural
nonstructural, all of which obligations are inteddas between Landlord and Tenant, to be thosewréit. Except for Landlors’'maintenanc
repair and replacements obligations in this Secfighand Section 7.4, Landlord shall have absglutel obligation to (1) repair, replace
maintain any portion of the Project (or any equiptmessociated therewith), or (2) to pay any costsxpenses, of any description, assoc
with the foregoing or the operations of the Projé¢otwithstanding anything to the contrary contdirie this Lease (except as otherv
expressly provided in Section 7.4), Landlord shalifs commerciallyreasonable and equitable discretion, determineheneand to the exte
repairs or replacements are the appropriate refinectian; provided, however, except with respedtéms that are generally considered rot
repair and maintenance, Landlord shall considerrapgrts and recommendations of independent andaiele consultants. As used herein,
Performance Standard” shall mean high quality management practices fas€IA office buildings in the former City of Kanabffice
submarket, in accordance with all Laws, Landlsrdommercially reasonable guidelines and, if applie, meeting or exceeding the applic
manufacturer’s suggested preventative maintenandeservice standards and, for clarity, the PerfoweaStandard with respect to Tenant’
obligations under this Lease shall not include rtagponsibility to perform any items that are exelddrom Operating Costs. L‘andlord
Repair Obligations " means (A) the performance of Landlosdéxpress obligations relating to Hazardous Mdse@aa provided in Secti
25.23; (B) all work necessary to address and ctd§eny open work orders or outstanding buildingnpés and any other violations
applicable Laws for which Landlord has receivedter notice from a Governmental Authority on ordrefthe Lease Date; (C) all obligati
in satisfying the initial constructiorelated obligations of the owner of the Land undey site plan agreement, site development, seg
agreement or other similar development agreemedgtezed or affecting title to the Land or any otpart of the related complex; and (D)
work necessary to properly rectify the items setiodexhibit Qhereto. “Shared Facilities” shall mean those facilities, utilities, improvens
equipment and installations which service or arettie benefit of the Project together with any otbart of the related complex (or any o
development), including, access roads, pedestiilewalks, landscaped and planted areas, bus kastkshelters, roadways and stops, s
equipment and fixtures, pipes, electrical, plumbidgainage and any other shared utilities infrastme. As of the Lease Date, there ar
Shared Facilities. Landlord shall complete thegdilons listed in clauses (B), (C) and (D) of tledimition of Landlord Repair Obligations
soon as possible and in no event later than Jariy&§15. In undertaking such obligations, Landlshdll (i) keep Tenant frequently appri
as to the status thereof and (ii) to the extent lthhadlord is undertaking any such obligations et the Delivery Date and January 1, 2
Landlord shall use all reasonable efforts to miagrany interference with or disruption to Tenantse and quiet enjoyment of the Premise:
the Project, all at Landlord’s sole cost and expens




7.3 Access. Subject to the Building rules and regulationacitd as Exhibit Dereto and the other provisions of this Le
(including Section 9 hereof), Tenant will be praxidaccess to the Premises 24 hours per day, saysmpdr week (inclusive of all holidays).

7.4 Performance of Capital Work . All work related to Eligible Capital Expendituresther than Tenarause
Replacements (which shall be performed by Tenarfeatants sole cost and expense), shall be performed bylaah If, during th
performance of Tenarg'maintenance, repair and replacement obligatiodernthis Lease, Tenant determines that any ofvtirk described i
Section 4.2.3(b), 4.2.3(c) or 4.2.3(d) is necessany will qualify as Eligible Capital Expenditurésuch work being referred to herein as
Capital Work "), Tenant shall notify Landlord thereof in writing Wit reasonably detailed description of the Capitatk that Tenant wish
to have done (Tenant's Capital Work Notice ).

7.4.1 If a Tenan$’ Capital Work Notice has been submitted, Land&brall, as soon as reasonably practicable
in no event later than 30 days following receiptsath Tenang Capital Work Notice), notify Tenant whether Lardl agrees «
disagrees that such Capital Work is necessahafidlord’s Capital Work Notice ). If Landlord agrees that such Capital Wor
necessary, Landlord shall begin inspections andgdesork for the Capital Work within 20 businessydaollowing the date «
Landlord’s Capital Work Notice, and constructiom the Capital Work shall begin within 90 days feliog the date of Landlord’
Capital Work Notice, or such other time periodlas parties may agree in writing.

7.4.2 If a Tenang Capital Work Notice has been submitted and Laddiimes not agree that such Capital Wo
necessary or does not agree on the scope of theDafork that is required, a Qualified Engineealldetermine the necessity anc
the scope, based on the Performance Standard.drdnahd Tenant shall cooperate in gdaith with each other in selecting
Qualified Engineer. However, if Landlord and Tenaatnot mutually select the Qualified Engineer witten business days followi
Landlord’s Capital Work Notice, then each of Landlord andare shall nominate an engineer satisfying the irements of
Qualified Engineer under this Lease within five iness days following the expiration of such tenibess day period. Within t
business days after the appointment of Landlord® &enant$ respective engineers, such two engineers shatlyjselect a thir
party engineer satisfying the requirements of alie@ Engineer under this Lease, and such joisdiected engineer shall serve as
Qualified Engineer hereunder. If one party failitminate its respective engineer and deliver anitiotice thereof to the other p:
within 15 business days following Landlord’s Capitéork Notice, then the other parg/selected engineer shall serve as the Que
Engineer hereunder. The determination of such Qe@lEngineer shall be binding on Landlord and TenH the Qualified Engine:
determines, in accordance with the Performanced&tdnthat the Capital Work in question is necegdaspections and desigmork
for the Capital Work shall begin within 20 businelsg/s following such determination, and the cortdion for the Capital Work shi
begin as soon as reasonably possible thereafteinmo event more than 90 days following such deieation or such other tin
periods as the parties may agree in writing.

7.4.3 Following the determination of the nedysfir and/or scope of the Capital Work, if Landlatoes not beg
construction within 90 days following such deteration (or does not pursue the Capital Work diliggersind continuously ar
thereafter complete the Capital Work within a conuisdly reasonable period of time) Landlord will beemed to have appoin
Tenant to perform such Capital Work. In either ¢cdsendlord shall reimburse Tenant for the Capitalriincurred by Tenant a
payable by Landlord under the terms of this Leaghinv30 days following receipt of Tenaatreasonably detailed invoice there
failing which the provisions of Section 26.13 skagibly.

8. Improvements; Alterations; Repairs; Maintenance; Uilities; Electricity .

8.1 Improvements; Alterations . Improvements to the Premises shall be instaltefeaants expense only in accordal
with plans and specifications which have been sty submitted to and approved in writing by Lamd| which approval shall be goveri
by the provisions set forth in this Section 8.1. &terations or physical additions in or to therfises may be made without Landl@griol
written consent, which shall not be unreasonabthhéld, conditioned or delayed; however, Landloa/withhold its consent to any alterai
or addition




that would (a) adversely affect more than tdeaminimisextent (in the reasonable discretion of Landlotd Building’s Structure or tt
Building’s Systems (including the Project’s restr®), or (b) affect more than tode minimisextent (in the sole but reasonable discretic
Landlord) the exterior appearance of the Projeenant shall not install decorations, signs, windowdoor lettering, or advertising medie
any type visible from the exterior of the Premiséthout the prior written consent of Landlord, whiconsent may be withheld in Landlcgd’
sole and absolute discretion. Notwithstanding thredoing, Tenant shall not be required to obtaindlerd’s consent for (1) repainting
recarpeting (regardless of the cost), or (2) o#itrations, tenant improvements, or physical &altitto the Premises which are cosmet
nature totaling less than $375,000 (which amountl dbe increased by 10% every five years) in amglsi instance or series of relg
alterations performed within a simenth period (provided that Tenant shall not penfany improvements, alterations or additions tc
Premises in stages as a means to subvert thissfpo)jiin each case provided that (A) Tenant dedive Landlord written notice thereof, a
of contractors and subcontractors to perform thekwand certificates of insurance for each suchypaand any plans and specificati
therefor prior to commencing any such alterati@aslitions, or improvements (for informational puspe only so long as no consent is req|
by Landlord as required by this Lease), (B) theailtation thereof does not require the issuancanyf building permit or other governmet
approval, or involve any core drilling or the canfration or location of any exterior or interior Ngeof the Building, and (C) such alteratic
additions and improvements will not affect (i) tBailding’s Structure or the Building’ Systems, or (ii) the appearance of the exteffidhe
Building. All alterations, additions, and improvemte shall be constructed, maintained, and used dmafit, at its risk and expense
accordance with all Laws; Landlosdconsent to or approval of any alterations, agigktior improvements (or the plans therefor) shal
constitute a representation or warranty by Landlordr Landlords acceptance, that the same comply with sound tacthial and/c
engineering practices or with all applicable Laasg Tenant shall be solely responsible for enswaihguch compliance.

8.2 Repair and Maintenance by Tenant

8.2.1 General Maintenance Standards Required of Tenant To the extent not a specific Landlord responiit
set forth in Section 7.2 or Section 7.4 above, Tieshall, at its own cost and expense, maintaipaireand, if necessary, repla
consistent with the Performance Standard, all postiof the Project, including the BuildimgSystems (whether located inside
Building or on the exterior of the Building, such moftop HVAC units, supplemental air conditioniagits, chillers, generators, ¢
all utility lines serving the Project), in a cleaafe, and first class condition, consistent whih Performance Standard, and repait
make all necessary repairs and replacements tertiject, whether structural or natructural, and shall not permit or allow to ren
any deferred maintenance, waste or damage to atipmpof the Project. All repairs and replacemdiafsshall be in quality and cl¢
at least equal to the work as of the Commencemaite Bnd (b) subject to Landlosdobligations pursuant to Section 7.2 and Se
7.4, include capital expenditures and repairs wibeseefit may extend beyond the Term. Termntaintenance, repair and replacer
obligations with respect to the Project shall bé-sgerative and no notice from Landlord shall leguwired as a preendition to th
performance thereof by Tenant. For further clagtycept for those items for which Landlord is exgstg responsible for under Seci
7.2 or Section 7.4, Tenant, at its sole expens#l, §lom and after the Delivery Date, maintainpa&, and replace, consistent with
Performance Standards, all portions of the Projdgw, Building’'s Systems and Tenant's ®ffemises Equipment and all ar
improvements and systems exclusively serving thgeBr, including plumbing, electrical, water, figprinkler system and fi
protection systems, exterior lighting, the sidewalkurbs, parking areas, access roads, drivewaydsdaping, irrigation, vaults ¢
signs comprising the Premises, utility lines (imtthg sewer, water, gas, electrical, telecommuracatiand all other utility line
whether above or below grade), entries, doors, f@aones, ceilings, interior walls, and the interside of demising walls, floor sle
and HVAC systems (including all duct work), and eattbuilding and mechanical systems serving the RBesnmaintenance of 1
interior flooring (including sealing and waterpro@) and any items normally associated with theedoing. Tenant shall
responsible for any increased wear and tear, aréased repair, replacement and maintenance végece to the Building System
associated with Tenant's use of the Premises #ifeieNormal Building Hours and Tenasitlensity within the Premises. If (1) Ter
fails to commence to make such repairs or replangsmeithin 15 business days after the occurrendbehecessity for such repail
replacement and thereafter diligently pursue thmpetion thereof (or, in the case of an emergeruagh shorter period of time as
reasonable given the circumstances), or (2) nostatiding such




diligence, Tenant fails to complete such repairseptacements within 45 days after the occurreridheonecessity for such repait
replacement (or, in the case of an emergency, slwtier period of time as is reasonable given tteaimstances), in each case sut
to the terms of Section 25.3, then Landlord may entile same at Tenasttost and the cost of such repair or replacemenk
performed by Landlord, plus an administrative féel@% of such cost, shall be paid by Tenant to Lamidwithin 30 days aft
Landlord has invoiced Tenant therefor. If any sugpair or replacement relates to areas outsidbePremises, or if such repail
replacements relates to areas inside the Premigeaffects the Building’'s Systems and/or Buildimddtructure or any other a
outside the Premises, then Landlord may elect tiopa such repair or replacement at TenamXpense, rather than having Te
perform such repair or replacement and the costllofaintenance, repair or replacement work perémby Landlord under tr
Section 8 (inclusive of those fees charged by dmird tparty undertaking such works on behalf of Uand] provided same ¢
consistent with prevailing market rates for suctvises without an additional administrative feepllive paid by Tenant to Landlc
within 30 days after Landlord has invoiced Tendmatréfor. To the extent that Landlord elects to utadke its obligations under tl
Lease or otherwise allow an Affiliate of Landlo@ undertake Landlord’ obligations under this Lease, the fees payabl&dnant t
Landlord or Landlord’s Affiliate shall be consistemith prevailing market rates without an additibadministrative fee.

Landlord shall assign to Tenant, on a mxtlusive basis (with Landlord), or if not assigleatenforce on behalf of Tenant, the bet
of all covenants, warranties and guarantees frard gharties applicable in respect of any mainteeamepair or replacement item
which Tenant is responsible under this Lease.

8.2.2 Service and Maintenance Contracts Tenant shall enter into ongoing service and rea@mce contrac
consistent with the Performance Standard, forfathose items which are Tenasitesponsibility under this Section 8.2, includihg
Building’s Systems, sprinkler systems, alarm service, jaaitarash removal, landscaping, parking, snow aeah exterior an
interior pest control, security and elevator maiatece. Upon Landlord’ request therefor, Tenant shall deliver to Lardllsucl
documentation certifying that all such items whignant is required to maintain hereunder are thegobd repair and condition &
have been maintained in accordance with this Se&id. In furtherance of the foregoing, Tenantjmythe entire Term and at its s
cost and expense, shall enter into regularly sdeddpreventative maintenance/service contracts witiintenance contract
approved by Landlord (it being acknowledged thhtadlified, reputable contractors with a natiope#sence, such as CBRE, Inc.,
deemed acceptable) for servicing all of the BudsnSystems and all generators and other major egumipfocated at the Proje
Such service contracts must include all servicggessted by the equipment manufacturer in its ojpgrsfinaintenance manual.
executed copy of such contracts (which may be tedao remove any confidential information unretete the scope of work covel
thereby) shall be provided to Landlord within tarsimess days following the date upon which Terakes possession of the Premi
and copies of all renewals or extensions of suafiraots (which may be redacted as provided abdval) be provided to Landlo
within ten business days following the effectiveedthereof. If Tenant fails to provide a copy otiswwontracts (or renewal) within
business days following Landlord’s written requisstrefor, Landlord may elect to enter into suchtamts at Tenang’ cost, plus &
administrative fee of 10% of such cost. Landlord/rfram time to time, at reasonable times and a&asonable prior notice to Ten:
inspect the Project to insure that Tenant is pigperaintaining the same. Further, at Landlsrdéquest, Tenant shall provide
Landlord or its agents maintenance records, bugldeports, invoices and purchase orders and, ifiegtgd by Landlord meet w
Landlord or its agents to review and inspect thénteaance of the Project, and provide to Landlordt® agents such additiol
maintenance information and/or meetings as Landioriis agents may reasonably request, and Temafit®operate in goothith
with Landlord and its agents in Landlosd’eview of same. No later than 14 days prior ®oehd of the Term, Tenant shall delive
Landlord a certificate from an engineer reasonalgyeptable to Landlord certifying that all suchmisewhich Tenant is required
maintain hereunder are then in good repair anditondcand have been maintained in accordance Withltease.

8.3 Performance of Work . All work described in this Section 8 shall be fpamed only by reputable and qualif
contractors and subcontractors and only in acceaaith plans and specifications approved by Lamfio writing, to the extent such appra
is required herein. If Tenant requests that Lamblleupervise any work described in this Section@ {ncluding day-today oversight ¢
Tenant’s third party property manager), Tenant




shall pay to Landlord a construction managemenetgel to the construction management fee chargadabdlord’s third party manageme
company to perform such work provided same is abest with prevailing market rates without an aiddial administrative fee (not to exct
5% of the cost of such work). If Tenant has noursjed that Landlord supervise any work describetis Section 8, but such work affects
Building’s Systems or Building’s Structure (othdrah to ade minimisextent as determined by Landlord) thus requiringndlerd’s
participation, Tenant shall pay to Landlord a cordton management fee equal to the constructionag@ment fee charged by Landlard’
third party management company to perform such wandvided same is consistent with prevailing mariees without an additior
administrative fee (not to exceed 5% of the costuafh work) affecting the Building’s Systems or I8irig’s Structure. Tenant shall cause
contractors and subcontractors to procure and miainbsurance coverage naming Landlord, LandloMtztgagee, Landlord’ propert
management company and Landlsrdsset management company as additional insugadtssasuch risks, in such amounts as is comm#gr
reasonable and with reputable companies with an. 8&ét rating of AVII or better. Tenant shall provide Landlord witketidentities, mailin
addresses and telephone numbers of all persornsrménfy work or supplying materials prior to begimgisuch construction and Landlord r
post on and about the Premises notices ofraepensibility pursuant to applicable Laws. All Bugork shall be performed in accordance
all Laws and in a good and workmanlike manner soasto damage the Building (including the Premighe Buildings Structure and tl
Building’s Systems) and shall use materials of a qualityishat least equal to the quality that is consisteth the standard for the Building
of the Commencement Date, and in such manner @ause a minimum of interference with other congiibaucin progress and with t
transaction of business in the Project and thee@laomplex. Landlord may designate reasonabldenritules, regulations and procedure:
the performance of all such work in the Buildingcfuding insurance requirements for contractorg) ahall have the right to design
reasonable times when such work may be performiédush work which may affect the Building’s Strup¢ or the Buildings Systems (oth
than to ade minimisextent as determined by Landlord) must be apprdsethe Project's engineer of record, at Teramkpense and,
Landlord’s election, must be performed by Landlsrdsual contractor for such work, which contracball be independent, qualified, i
reputable, and their rates, fees etc. are consistih market rates for the subject works withouat additional administrative fee. All wc
affecting the roof of the Building must be perforrgy Landlords roofing contractor (whose rates and fees shatbipsistent with market ra
for the subject works without an additional adntisigve fee) and no such work will be permittedtifvould void or reduce or otherwi
adversely affect the warranty on the roof. Upon plation of any work described in this Section 8ndiet shall furnish Landlord with accur
reproducible “as-built” CADD files of the improvemis as constructed.

8.4 Liens. Tenant shall promptly pay all charges for worlatemials, supplies and services performed or segpti respe:
of the Premises by or on behalf of any Tenant Padtywork performed, materials furnished, or olgligpns incurred by or at the request
Tenant Party shall be deemed authorized and ordsrde&nant only, and Tenant shall not permit aagdior claims for liens to be filed aga
the Premises or the Project in connection therewitlsuch a lien is filed, then Tenant shall, withien business days after Landlord
delivered notice of the filing thereof to Tenant guch earlier time period as may be necessaryeweept the forfeiture of the Premises,
Project or any interest of Landlord therein or itin@osition of a civil or criminal fine with respetttereto), either (1) pay the amount of the
into court and cause the lien to be released ajrdecor (2) diligently contest such lien and delite Landlord a bond or other secu
reasonably satisfactory to Landlord. If Tenantsfad timely take either such action, then Landimiay pay the lien claim (either to the clainr
or into court), and any amounts so paid, includixgenses and interest, shall be paid by Tenantamllbrd within ten business days &
Landlord has invoiced Tenant therefor. Landlord drmhant acknowledge and agree that their relatipnshand shall be solely that
“landlord-tenant” (thereby excluding a relationslaip“owner-contractor,” “owner-agentr other similar relationships) and that Tenarmal
authorized to act as Landlosdcommon law agent or construction agent in conmeatith any work performed in the Premises. Acdaogdy,
all materialmen, contractors, artisans, mechaédxyrers and any other persons now or hereafteramimg with Tenant, any contractor
subcontractor of Tenant or any other Tenant Partyhfe furnishing of any labor, services, materialgplies or equipment with respect to
portion of the Premises, at any time from the deiesof until the end of the Term, are hereby chdirgigh notice that they look exclusively
Tenant to obtain payment for same. Nothing herball e deemed a consent by Landlord to any liexisgoplaced upon the Premises,
Project or Landlord interest therein due to any work performed byfasr Tenant or deemed to give any contractor or satvactor o
materialman any right or interest in any funds hgydLandlord to reimburse Tenant for any portiontlé cost of such work. Tenant sl
defend, indemnify and hold harmless Landlord aadhgents and representatives from and againsiaats; demands, causes of action, s
judgments, damages a




expenses (including actual, out-of-pocket attorhégss) in any way arising from or relating to théui@ by any Tenant Party to pay for :
work performed, materials furnished, or obligatiansurred by or at the request of a Tenant Parhis Tndemnity provision shall survi
termination or expiration of this Lease.

8.5 Ultilities; Licenses and Permits.

8.5.1 Utilities . Tenant shall pay for all water, gas, electricltgat, telephone, sewer, sprinkler charges and
utilities and services used at the Project, togettith any taxes, penalties, surcharges, connedi@rges, maintenance charges,
the like pertaining to Tenast'use of the Project. Landlord shall have no resipiity whatsoever in connection with the foregmp.
Tenant, at its expense, shall obtain all utilityvgzes for the Project, including making all applions therefor, obtaining meters .
other related equipment, and paying all deposits@mnection charges. Landlord shall not be lidbieany interruption or failure
utility service to the Project, and such interraptor failure of utility service shall not be a structive eviction of Tenant, constitut
breach of any implied warranty, or entitle Tenanaty abatement of Tenant's obligations hereunder.

8.6 Electrical Use.

8.6.1 Additional Electrical Capacity . The use of electricity in the Premises shall exteed the capacity
existing feeders and risers to or wiring in thel8inig, as may be increased and supplemented irrdaeoe with the provisions of tl
Lease. Any risers or wiring required to meet Telsaakcess electrical requirements shall, upon Tegawritten request, be instal
by Landlord, at Tenarg’cost (without an additional administrative fee ahich shall be based on market rates for suchksypif, in
Landlord’s reasonable judgment, the same shall not causeapent and adverse damage to the Building or theniBes, cause
create a dangerous or hazardous condition, entedlssive or unreasonable alterations, repairsxpereses, if Tenant is not the ¢
tenant of the Building, adversely affect Landlordlslity to provide reasonable service to the begaof the Building.

8.6.2 Required Additional Supplemental HVAC . If Tenant uses machines or equipment in the Resnivhic
affect (other than to de minimisextent) the temperature otherwise maintained byatheonditioning system or otherwise overl
any utility, Landlord shall notify Tenant in wrignthereof and thereafter Tenant shall have a reddertime period under t
circumstances (not to exceed a total of 45 daysvithg Landlords written notice to Tenant, unless such situatioseg a material a
imminent threat to the Building [or any part theffear the occupants thereof, if any, as determibgd.andlord in its commercial
reasonable discretion, in which case no notice ft@andlord to Tenant shall be required) to remove dlgquipment and/or inst
supplemental air conditioning, failing which Landlomay install such supplemental air conditioningtsi or other supplemen
equipment in the Premises, and the actual cosedhfieincluding the cost of design, installationeogtion, use, and maintenance
each case plus an administrative fee of 10% of s, shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord withthdays after Landlord h
delivered to Tenant an invoice therefor.

8.6.3 Licenses and Permits Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, obiadl keep in force during the Te
and all extensions thereof, all licenses, certiisaand permits necessary for it to use the Projetcordance with applicable Laws.

9. Use. Tenant shall use the Premises only for the Paxthilse and shall comply with all Laws relatinghe use, condition, acct
to, and occupancy of the Premises and will not camvaste, overload the Building’s Structure or tBeilding’s Systems or subject 1
Premises to use that would damage the Premisegpdphdation density within the Premises as a wisblgl at no time exceed one persor
each 200 rentable square feet in the Premises;yaswsuch population density may from time to timm&eed such number on a tempao
basis for meetings, conferences and other everggarhporary nature. Tenant may use the Premitastiaé Normal Building Hours; howev
(&) no more than 10% of Tenamtdesks and workstations in the Premises may heeénafter Normal Building Hours other than or
occasional basis, and (b) such hours of operatiaii aot affect (1) the Normal Building Hours, &) (Tenants obligation with respect to
costs and expenses as a result of Tenant openatihg




Premises beyond the Normal Building Hours, inclgdiccelerated wear and tear on the Buildirgystems. The Premises shall not be use
any use which is disreputable, creates extraordifigr hazards, or results in an increased rat@safrance on the Project or its contents, ¢
the storage of any Hazardous Materials (other thaompliance with all Laws and this Lease). Tersrall not use any portion of the Prem
for a “call center,” any other telemarketing useany credit processing use other than as an ancitomponent to TenastPermitted Use
the Premises consistent with Class A buildingh&submarket in which the Building is located. Trermaay use any existing wiring or cabl
in the Premises in its currentAS-IS ” condition; however, any additional wiring or calglimstalled by Tenant or modifications made tc
existing wiring or cabling shall be at Tenant’'sesobst and expense. During the Term, Tenant skalkl any prexisting but unused wiring a
cabling undamaged and in a neat and organizedofaslabeled, and comparable to its current comlitify because of a Tenant Pagtcts c
omissions or because Tenant vacates the Premimesate of insurance on the Building or its corgentreases, then Tenant shall pa
Landlord the amount of such increase with 15 ddysritten demand with supporting evidence, and ptarece of such payment shall not wi
any of Landlord$ other rights. Tenant shall conduct its busines @ontrol each other Tenant Party so as not taterany nuisance
unreasonably interfere with Landlord in its managetrof the Project.

10. Assignment and Subletting

10.1 Transfers. Except as provided in Section 10.9 and in Sec®i0, Tenant shall not, without the prior writonser
(which consent shall not be unreasonably withhetwhditioned or delayed subject to the standardsriesl in Section 10.2 below)
Landlord, (1) assign, transfer, or encumber thiadeeor any estate or interest herein, whethertirec by operation of law, (2) permit a
other entity to become Tenant hereunder by meogesolidation, or other reorganization, (3) if Tehe a corporation or partnership permn
Change of Control to occur in respect of such c@fion or partnership, (4) sublet any portion oé tAremises, (5) grant any licer
concession, or other right of occupancy of anyiporof the Premises, (6) permit the use of the Fsesnby any parties other than Tenant, ¢
sell or otherwise transfer, in one or more trarieast a majority of Tenarg'assets (any of the events listed in Section 1pth¢ough 10.1(:
being a “Transfer ). “ Change of Control” means, in the case of any corporation or partngrshe transfer or issue by sale, assignr
subscription, transmission on death, mortgage,gehasecurity interest, operation of law (includimgalgamation) or otherwise (includi
without limitation, any change in the constitutioha partnership) of any shares, voting rightsugées or interests which would result in i
change in the effective Control of such corporaterpartnership, unless: (A) such change occuis l@sult of trading in the securities of
entity listed on a recognized stock exchange ina@anthe United States or on any other recogniexk £xchange; and (B) Landlord rece
assurances reasonably satisfactory to it that shahge will not detrimentally affect the financepacity of such entity or the ability of si
entity to conduct business, provided there shall bentinuity of the business of such entity ndtatanding such Change of Control.

10.2 Consent Standards. In determining whether or not to grant its coridera Transfer, it shall not be unreasonabli
Landlord to withhold its consent if, without limitj any other factor or circumstance which Landloiay reasonably take into account:

(&) in Landlords opinion, arrived at reasonably and in good fdtk, proposed transferee or any princ
or principal shareholder of the proposed transte(gg does not have a history of successful busirggerations in tt
business to be conducted in the Premises; (2) doebkave a satisfactory background, business kisfimancial conditior
creditworthiness and/or capability; (3) any compearor partnerships of which the proposed transferasech principal was
principal shareholder or partner, has a historgeffults under commercial leases; (4) meets Laddlaeasonable standa
for tenants of the Project and the related complea is otherwise compatible with the characterhef éccupancy of tl
Project and the related complex;

(b) Landlord does not receive such financialsibess or other information relating to the propl
Transferee and its principals or principal shardéd as Landlord reasonably requires to enable make a determinati
concerning the matters set out in Subsection 1D.&@Euding, without limitation, the information geired pursuant
Section 10.3;




(c) the use of the Premises by the proposedfeese, in Landlord opinion arrived at reasonably ani
good faith, could: (1) result in occupancy of threrRises exceeding the density limit or excessiweaithe elevators or ott
building systems; (2) be inconsistent with the imagharacter and standards of the Project; (3) ®xpire occupants of 1
related complex (for so long as the related comeowned by Landlord or an Affiliate of Landlort) risk of harm (othe
than to ade minimisextent as determined by Landlord), damage or iaterfce (other than to de minimisextent a
determined by Landlord) with their use and enjoyttlereof; (4) result in a material increase of gedan or vehiculi
traffic to the Premises or any other part of théldung; or (5) to extent the proposed transfereejvidually or collectivel
with Tenant will materially increase Operating Gostr

(d) the proposed transferee:

(1) proposes to use any portion of the Prenfiziea use other than the Permitted Use (inclu
without limitation, uses for credit processing aatémarketing other than on an ancillary basishto grincipal us
provided that the principal use is not for credibqessing or telemarketing) or will use the Premiseany manni
that would conflict with any exclusive use agreet@rother similar agreement or record as of thaseeDate;

(2) is a governmental or quagivernmental entity, or subdivision or agency tbérer any othe
entity entitled to the defense of sovereign immuttitat (A) is not typically found in Class A offidauildings or (B
could materially increase the pedestrian or vehicubffic to the Project; or

(3) is currently or has in the past been invdlirelitigation with Landlord or any of its Affiliges.

Additionally, Landlord may withhold its consent its sole discretion to any proposed Transfer if &went of Default by Tenant then exi
Any Transfer made while an Event of Default existgseunder, irrespective whether Landlsrdonsent is required hereunder with respect 1
Transfer, shall be voidable by Landlord in Landlsrdole discretion. Any consent by Landlord to an§far shall not constitute a waiver of
necessity for such consent to any subsequent Eabgfeither Tenant or any proposed Transfereedordance with this Section 10. Landl
shall not be liable for any losses or claims thatyrbe suffered or incurred by Tenant arising outafdlord unreasonably withholding
consent to any Transfer, it being intended thataf&s only recourse in such event shall be an appicatd court for a declaration tl
Landlord grant its consent to such Transfer. Thhibition against Transfer shall include a protidri against any Transfer by operatiot
law. Notwithstanding any other provisions of thiscBon 10: (A) Tenant shall not grant, or permietast, any leasehold mortgage or any ¢
charge of the Premises of any nature; and (B) énciise of a Transfer that is a sublease, the Enaesin respect thereof shall not enter
consent to or permit a swdublease of all or any part of the Premises thaulgect to such sublease without the prior writtensent ¢
Landlord, which consent may be withheld in Landlerdole discretion. Landlord may condition its coris® a Transfer on a reasong
increase in the Security Deposit or receipt of argntee from a suitable party.

10.3 Reguest for Consent If Tenant requests Landlogltonsent to a Transfer, then, at least 15 busitesss prior to th
effective date of the proposed Transfer, Tenanll pihavide Landlord with a written description ol &erms and conditions of the propo
Transfer, copies of the proposed documentationdlivhiay be redacted to remove any confidential médion unrelated to this Lease or
subletting of the Premises or assignment of thiaskeg and the following information about the pisgmbtransferee: name and address ¢
proposed transferee and any entities and persoosowh, control or direct the proposed transfereasonably satisfactory information ak
its business and business history; its proposedotisgbe Premises; banking, financial, and otheditrsaformation; and general referen
sufficient to enable Landlord to determine the jmsgYl transferee’s creditworthiness and characmc@rently with Tenan$' notice of an
request for consent to a Transfer, Tenant shalltpayandlord a fee of $500 to defray Landl@&dxpenses in reviewing such request,
Tenant shall also reimburse Landlord within 15 bass days of written request for its reasonabteratys’fees and other expenses incurre
connection with




considering any request for consent to a Transfhaich shall not exceed $2,500 for consents to siggle provided Landlorsi’'standard conse
to sublease form is used without material modifarabr negotiation).

10.4 Conditions to Consent. The following provisions shall be applicable torensfer whether or not the consen
Landlord thereto is required or given:

(&) Any Transfer to which Landlord consents drich is otherwise permitted under this Lease she
subject to Tenant and the transferee executingr poi the Transfer being made, an agreement witidload on terms ar
conditions that are customary at the applicables tior such agreements and otherwise in form andeobrsatisfactory
Landlord, Tenant and such Transferee, each act@gpnably, provided that such agreement shall gegiviter alia, that:

(1) inthe case of an assignment the Transiageses to be bound by all of the terms of this &
jointly and severally with Tenant as if it had aniglly executed this Lease as tenant;

(2) in the case of a sublease: (A) the transeferdght, title and interest in and to the Pren
shall terminate upon the surrender, release, diiseteor merger of this Lease, and the transferegesats rights t
retain possession of the subleased premises oinaleféef from forfeiture under the provisions dfetCommercie
Tenancies AdtOntario) or any other statutory provisions; (Bpomotice from Landlord, the transferee shall pié
amounts payable by it each month under the subbiiesetly to Landlord, who shall apply such paynsemt accoul
of Tenant's obligations under this Lease; and (@ transferee shall not enter into, consent toesmjg a sub-
sublease of all or any part of the Premises thstiligect to such sublease.

Such agreement and any required consent of LantboadTransfer shall, at Landlosdbption, be prepared by Landlord o
solicitors and any and all reasonable legal andiridtrative costs with respect thereto shall bel figi Tenant.

(b) If Tenant effects a Transfer, Landlord majlect Rent from the transferee and apply the nabuan
collected to the Rent payable under this Leasebutcceptance by Landlord of any payments by afieage shall be deen
to be acceptance of the transferee as a tenantwaiver of Tenang covenants or a release of Tenant from the fu
performance by Tenant of its obligations under Ligase.

(c) Tenant shall pay for the cost of any dengisiralls or other improvements necessitated by pgsex
subletting or assignment.

(d) In the event that this Lease is disclaimedeominated in the context of any bankruptcy peatiec
pertaining to any transferee of this Lease, Cieaaada, Inc. (the Original Tenant "), within 10 days after receipt o
notice from Landlord, which notice may be givenQdginal Tenant at Landlord’option, shall enter into a new lease v
and prepared by, Landlord on the same terms anditamms as contained herein for the balance ofTidmen (being the peric
commencing on the date of such disclaimer or teation, as the case may be, and expiring on thetdesté ease would ha
expired except for such disclaimer or terminatiad@jiginal Tenant obligations under this Section 10.4 shall sunitive
disclaimer or termination of this Lease in the esthibf any bankruptcy proceeding pertaining to tagpsferee of this Lease.

(e) Notwithstanding the effective date of anynpitted Transfer as between Tenant and the trassfed
Rent for the month in which such Transfer occualdbe paid in advance by Tenant so that Landloittnet be required t
accept partial payments of Rent for such month fedtimer Tenant or transferee.




(H If the Transfer in respect of which consbat been given is not completed within 180 daythefdat
of such consent or if an Event of Default has o@dithat is continuing, then such consent shallaatllord’s option, becorn
void.

10.5 No Release Notwithstanding any other provision of this Leaseany other rights that Original Tenant may hat
law or equity, no Transfer whatsoever (whether ct&fé with or without the consent of Landlord) shadlease Original Tenant from
obligations and liabilities under, pursuant tojrorespect of, this Lease. Original Tenant covehanid agrees that it shall, notwithstanding
Transfer whatsoever in all cases remain fully aiifigl and liable under this Lease. Without limitthg generality of the foregoing, followiny
Transfer, Original Tenant shall indemnify and shaedlord harmless from and against any and alirdaand losses which Landlord may in
or to which it may become subject, by reason offttieire of the Transferee to pay, observe, perfamd comply with its obligations a
liabilities under, pursuant to, or in respect bistLease for any reason whatsoever and/or fromirzatyility of Landlord to obtain or enfor
payment, performance and observance of such ololigatind liabilities from, or against, the transtefor any reason whatsoever. Witl
limiting the generality of the foregoing, OriginB&nant covenants and agrees with Landlord thdtdretent that the transferee is at any tim
from time to time, in default in payment of any Ren other amount payable under this Lease Origlmadant, Original Tenant shall pay
Landlord on demand all such amounts then in default

10.6 Attornment by Subtenants. Each sublease by Tenant hereunder shall be $w@jdcsubordinate to this Lease an
the matters to which this Lease is or shall be slibate, and each subtenant by entering into aeasblis deemed to have agreed that i
event of termination, rentry or dispossession by Landlord under this Lehaadlord may, at its option, take over all of thght, title an
interest of Tenant, as sublandlord, under suchesisel, and such subtenant shall, at Landoogtion, attorn to Landlord pursuant to the
executory provisions of such sublease, except lthatlord shall not be (1) liable for any previous ar omission of Tenant under s
sublease, (2) subject to any counterclaim, offsetiefense that such subtenant might have againsante(3) bound by any previc
modification of such sublease not approved by Lamblin writing or by any rent or additional rentadvance rent which such subtenant
have paid for more than the current month to Teramd all such rent shall remain due and owingwitbstanding such advance payment
bound by any security or advance rental depositentgdsuch subtenant which is not delivered or paier to Landlord and with respect
which such subtenant shall look solely to Tenantéfund or reimbursement, or (5) obligated to perf any work in the subleased space !
prepare it for occupancy, and in connection witbhsattornment, the subtenant shall execute andetdlh Landlord any instruments Landl
may reasonably request to evidence and confirm atiolnment. Each subtenant or licensee of Terraik Ise deemed, automatically upon
as a condition of its occupying or using the Presisr any part thereof, to have agreed to be bbyrile terms and conditions set forth in
Section 10.6. The provisions of this Section 1(théllsbe selfeperative, and no further instrument shall be nemlito give effect to th
provision.

10.7 Cancellation. Landlord may, within 30 days after submissiorTehant’s written request for Landlosdconsent to ¢
assignment or subletting (in each case to a pangrdhan a Permitted Transferee) of two (2) fidbfs or more with a sublease term exten
(or containing an option to extend) into the laémn2onths of the then current Term, cancel this &emsto the portion of the Premises prop
to be sublet or assigned as of the date the prdpbsmsfer is to be effective. If Landlord canciiis Lease as to any portion of the Prem
then this Lease shall cease for such portion ofPteenises and Tenant shall pay to Landlord all Rentued through the cancellation «
relating to the portion of the Premises coveredHey proposed Transfer. Thereafter, Landlord magdeaich portion of the Premises to
prospective transferee (or to any other personhowit liability to Tenant. Notwithstanding the foomegg, if Landlord provides writte
notification to Tenant of its election to canceisthease as to any portion of the Premises as gedvabove, Tenant may rescind its prop
assignment or subletting of the Premises by naiifyiandlord in writing within five business daydléeving Landlord’s written cancellatic
notice, and if Tenant timely elects to rescindéguest, Landlord’s the cancellation notice shaltdndered null and void.

10.8 Additional Compensation. While no Event of Default exists, Tenant shal pa Landlord, immediately upon rece
thereof, fifty percent (50%) of the excess of (lLcampensation received by Tenant for a Transfeictvis specifically allocated to the value
the leasehold interest and excluding goodwill ang ather amounts paid or payable for any othertassveyed by Tenant, less the ac
out-ofpocket costs reasonably incurred by Tenant witHfiliaged third parties (i.e., brokerage commissiptenant finish work and any ot
reasonable and




customary out-opocket costs, including test fits, marketing cofitse rent, and other tenant inducements) in caioreevith such Transfi
(such costs shall be amortized on a straliglet-basis over the term of the Transfer in quedtmver (2) the Rent allocable to the portion &
Premises covered thereby. While any Event of Defexikts, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, immediateon receipt thereof, one hund
percent (100%) of the excess of (A) all compensatégzeived by Tenant for a Transfer over (B) thatRdlocable to the portion of the Premi
covered thereby.

10.9 Permitted Transfers . Notwithstanding Section 10.1, Tenant may Tranafeor part of its interest in this Lease ol
or part of the Premises (ePermitted Transfer ") to the following types of entities (aPermitted Transferee”) without the written consent
Landlord, provided that Tenant shall not enter mferies of transactions as a means of subvehéntgrms of this Section 10.9:

10.9.1 an Affiliate of Tenant or Guarantor, lmmly so long as such transferee remains an Afiliait Tenant ¢
Guarantor,

10.9.2 any corporation, limited partnership,itéd liability partnership, limited liability compey or other busine
entity in which or with which Tenant, or its corpbe successors or assigns, is merged or consaljdataccordance with applica
statutory provisions governing merger and constiideof business entities, so long as (1) Tersanbligations hereunder are assu
by the entity surviving such merger or created bghsconsolidation; (2) the Tangible Net Worth ofaantor immediately followir
the applicable transaction (based on pro formanfiied information available immediately before thpplicable transaction a
calculated as if the subject transactions were deteqh) is equal to or greater than the average ibendlet Worth of Guarantor for t
preceding 12 fiscal quarters immediately beforedpplicable transaction; (3) the Corporate Debirfgadf Guarantor immediate
following the applicable transaction (which mayht@sed on the anticipated Corporate Debt Ratingeisby S&P or Moodys befort
the applicable transaction as if the subject tretisas were completed) is equal to or greater tthen Corporate Debt Rating
Guarantor immediately before the applicable tratisacand (4) the proposed transferee is an Aféiliaf Guarantor;

10.9.3 any corporation, limited partnership,itéd liability partnership, limited liability compey or other busine
entity acquiring all or substantially all of Tenantassets (whether directly via asset purchasedireatly via a direct or indire
Change of Control of Tenant), so long as (1) Teisaobligations hereunder are assumed by the emiiyidng such assets; (2)
Tangible Net Worth of Guarantor immediately follogithe applicable transaction (based on pro foiman€ial information availab
immediately before the applicable transaction asdutated as if the subject transactions were cetag) is equal to or greater tl
the average Tangible Net Worth of Guarantor forghereding 12 fiscal quarters immediately beforeapplicable transaction; (3)
Corporate Debt Rating of Guarantor immediately dwihg the applicable transaction (which may be Hdasa the anticipate
Corporate Debt Rating issued by S&P or Moadgefore the applicable transaction as if the stitifansactions were completed
equal to or greater than the Corporate Debt RaiinGuarantor immediately before the applicable seation; and (4) the propos
transferee is an Affiliate of Guarantor; or

10.9.4 (1) an initial or subsequent public dffgror distribution or equity or debt securities tgnant, Guarantor
any Affiliate of Tenant or Guarantor, and/or (2§ thale of equity or convertible debt securitie@hant, Guarantor or any Affiliate
Tenant or Guarantor in any transaction, so londi)athe Tangible Net Worth of Guarantor immediatéblowing the applicabl
transaction (based on pro forma financial infororatavailable immediately before the applicable gestion and calculated as if
subject transactions were completed) is equal tremter than the average Tangible Net Worth ofr@tar for the preceding 12 fis
quarters immediately before the applicable tramsacand (ii) the Corporate Debt Rating of Guararitomediately following th
applicable transaction (which may be based on miieipated Corporate Debt Rating issued by S&P ooli’s before the applicat
transaction as if the subject transactions were pteted) is equal to or greater than the CorporaghtDRating of Guarant
immediately before the applicable transaction.




Tenant shall promptly notify Landlord of any suatriitted Transfer (subject to the confidentialityatifications noted above). Ten
shall remain liable for the performance of all loé tobligations of Tenant hereunder, or if Tenantomger exists because of a mer
consolidation, or acquisition, the surviving or acing entity shall expressly assume in writing tigigations of Tenant hereunc
Additionally, the Permitted Transferee shall comypith all of the terms and conditions of this Leaseluding the Permitted Use, ¢
the use of the Premises by the Permitted Transfasgenot violate any other agreements affectingRttemises or the Project or
related complex, Landlord or oth&gnants of the related complex of record as oflibase Date. No later than ten days afte
effective date of any Permitted Transfer, Tenanteg to furnish Landlord with (A) copies of thetmsent effecting any of tl
foregoing Transfers, (B) documentation establishiiegants satisfaction of the requirements set forth abamglicable to any su
Transfer, and (C) evidence of insurance as requireter this Lease with respect to the Permittech§feaee. The occurrence c
Permitted Transfer shall not waive Landl@dights as to any subsequent Transfers, and adpsequent Transfer by a Permit
Transferee shall be subject to the terms of thigi@e10. The right to Transfer to an Affiliate guant to Subsection 10.9.1 shal
subject to the condition that such Permitted Tramresf remains an Affiliate of Tenant and Guarantat that on or before such Tran:
being effected both Tenant and such Permitted Teeges must enter into an agreement with Landlanda iform satisfactory
Landlord, Tenant and such Permitted Transfered) aating reasonably, that if such Permitted Traesfeeases to be an Affiliate
Tenant and Guarantor, it shall so notify Landlardhriting within ten days after such event and, ugiee written request of Landlo
transfer, assign, set over and/orassign this Lease and its interest in the Premasegpplicable, to Tenant or, subject to compl
with this condition, another Affiliate of TenantdGuarantor. As a condition to a Permitted Transfet andlords request, Guaran
shall ratify and confirm in writing to Landlord th&uarantee executed by Guarantor for the benefiaofilord and acknowledge it
written instrument reasonably acceptable to Lambibat the obligations of the proposed transferesl e included as part of 1
obligations guaranteed by Guarantor under suchdbtee. As used hereinTangible Net Worth ” means the excess of total as
over total liabilities, in each case as determiiredccordance with generally accepted accountimgciples consistently applied (*
GAAP "), excluding, however, from the determination of taiakets all assets which would be classified angilble assets unc
GAAP including goodwill, licenses, patents, tradeksatrade names, copyrights, and franchises, igemeed by financial stateme
audited by a certified public accounting firm reasbly acceptable to LandlordCorporate Debt Rating” shall mean either a gene
corporate debt rating or an unsecured corporaté rdéibg by either Standard & Poor’s CorporatiorS&P ") or Moody's Investo

Service (“Moody’s").

10.10 Permitted Occupants.

10.10.1 Notwithstanding anything in this Sectidhto the contrary, Tenant may permit its subsiglga Affiliates
clients, contractors, customers, auditors, stratpgitners or other entities under common owner@bi@l or partial) with Tenant
with whom Tenant has or is then establishing a Hmleabusiness relationship (each Bérmitted Occupant™) to occupy and use
to 20% of the Premises, in the aggregate, withoaititritten consent of Landlord, subject to thedaiihg conditions: (a) the Permiti
Occupant is of character, is engaged in a businses, the Premises in keeping with Tenant and ¢nmiRed Use, (b) the use of
Premises by the Permitted Occupant may not vi@ajeother agreements affecting the Premises, tlildiBy, the Project, the relat
complex, Landlord or other tenants of the relateehjglex, (c) the use and occupancy by the Permidezlipant is otherwise expres
subject to, and the Permitted Occupant must comvily, all of the terms, covenants, conditions abtigations on Tenars’ part to b
observed and performed under this Lease (other Tlerants obligation to pay Basic Rent or Additional Remidar this Lease
including the requirement to obtain insurance i@ tbquisite amounts and to indemnify, defend arld handlord harmless for a
Loss (defined below) or other liabilities resultifrgm the use and operations contemplated by tadi& 10.10, (d) any violation
any provision of this Lease by the Permitted Ocotzhall be deemed to be a default by Tenant usdehn provision, (e) the sp:
occupied by the Permitted Occupant shall not barsegly demised from the Premises, (f) the Perthi@ecupant shall have
recourse against Landlord whatsoever on accouahyffailure by Landlord to perform any of its olatgpns under this Lease or
account of any other matter, (g) all notices resgliof Landlord under this Lease shall be forwarolelgf to Tenant in accordance w
the terms of this Lease and in no event shall Lenddbe required to send any notices to any Pemn@ecupant, (h) in no event st
any use or occupancy of any




portion of the Premises by any Permitted Occupelease or relieve Tenant from any of its obligagionder this Lease, (i) each s
Permitted Occupant shall be deemed an invitee o&iie and Tenant shall be fully and primarily l@lfbr all acts and omissions
such Permitted Occupant as fully and completelif asch Permitted Occupant was an employee of Terfarin no event shall tf
occupancy of any portion of the Premises by anymiRerd Occupant be deemed to create a landlorditergationship betwer
Landlord and such Permitted Occupant or be deemedsdt in Permitted Occupant any right or intefreshe Premises or this Lea
and, in all instances, Tenant shall be considdredsble tenant under the Lease notwithstandingthapancy of any portion of t
Premises by any Permitted Occupant; and (k) Teshall receive no rent, payment or other considemaim connection with sui
occupancy and use other than nominal rent paymeshish in no event may be greater per rentable regiomt occupied and used
such Permitted Occupant than the Basic Rent andtiddal Rent amounts (per rentable square foohéRremises) payable by Ter
hereunder.

10.10.2 Tenant shall provide to Landlord promptiter request a written list of the names andadrinformatiol
of all Permitted Occupants then being allowed axteshe Premises by Tenant.

10.10.3 Any equipment or other property of aniiged Occupant in the Project shall be subjecEéstion 1
(Personal Property Taxes), Section 20 (Landktdén) and Section 21 (Surrender of Premisedhisfliease. However, nothing in t
Section 10.10 shall diminish Landlosdights elsewhere in this Lease or imply that Larthas any duties to any Permitted Occu|
Tenant acknowledges that Landlord shall have nporesibility or liability for the allocation or usg the Premises between Tenant
any Permitted Occupant. No disputes among Tenathtaay Permitted Occupant shall in any way affeet dbligations of Tena
hereunder.

10.10.4 In addition to all other indemnity olalitpns of Tenant under this Lease, Tenant sha#rdkfindemnif
and hold harmless Landlord, Landlsd¥ortgagee and their respective representativdsagants from and against all Losses ar
from all claims made by, attributable to, or othisevrelating to, any Permitted Occupant in accocdawith Tenans indemnit
obligations under Section 11.4 hereof.

11. Insurance; Waivers; Subrogation; Indemnity .

11.1 Tenant's Insurance. Effective as of the earlier of (1) the date Tanamers or occupies the Premises, or (2
Commencement Date, and continuing throughout thenT@&enant shall maintain the following insuranadiges: (A) commercial genel
liability insurance (including property damage, bpdéhjury and personal injury coverage) in amouafs$1,000,000 per occurrence in prir
coverage, with an additional $10,000,000 in umbretiverage or, following the expiration of the ialifferm, such other amounts as Land
may from time to time reasonably require so longsiash additional amounts are typical for comparaihed commercial office tenants
comparable buildings in the submarket in which Feject is located (and, if the use and occuparidh® Premises include any activity
matter that is or may be excluded from coveragesumdcommercial general liability policy [e.g., thensumption of alcoholic beverag:
Tenant shall obtain such endorsements to the coommhgeneral liability policy or otherwise obtaimsurance to insure all liability arising fre
such activity or matter [including liquor host lility, if applicable] in such amounts as Landlor@gyrreasonably require), insuring Tenant |
naming as additional insureds Landlord, Landlopdsperty management company, Landlsrdsset management company and, if reques
writing by Landlord, Landlords Mortgagee), against all liability for injury t@ death of a person or persons or damage to psopesing fron
the use and occupancy of the Premises and (witlhaplying any consent by Landlord to the installatithereof) the installation, operati
maintenance, repair or removal of Tenant's Off-Rse Equipment, (B) cause of loss-special risk fgfarmerly “all-risk”) insuranc
(including, but not limited to, sprinkler leakagedinance and law, sewer bagg-and flood) covering the replacement value otl#ration
and improvements and betterments in the Premisasing Landlord and Landlors’Mortgagee as additional loss payees as theinesteema
appeatr, (C) cause of loss-special risk form (fotynll-risk™) insurance covering the full value of all furnituteade fixtures, equipment a
personal property in the Premises or otherwiseeplaa the Project by or on behalf of a Tenant Pdéirigluding Tenant's OffPremise
Equipment), (D) contractual liability insurance {(kanly if such contractual liability insurance istralready included in Tenastcommercic
general liability insurance policy), (E) commercaalto liability insurance (if applicable) coveriagtomobiles owned, hired or used by Te
in carrying




on its business with limits not less than $1,000,60mbined single limit for each accident, insurirgnant (and naming as additional insu
Landlord, Landlord’s property management compangndlords asset management company and, if requested tingvity Landlorc
Landlord’'s Mortgagee), (F) worker's compensatiosuirance and employearliability insurance with statutory limits, and )(@&xtra expens
insurance attributable to the Premises in an amotifi2,500,000. Tenant's insurance shall be pringarg noneontributory when any polic
issued to Landlord provides duplicate or similaverage, and in such circumstance Landlord’'s politly be excess over Tenastpolicy
Tenant shall furnish to Landlord certificates o€lsunsurance at least five business days priohecetarlier of the Commencement Date o
date Tenant enters or occupies the Premises (ireanyt, within ten days of the effective date oferage), and on or prior to each renew:
said insurance without any lapse in coverage, amdaiit shall notify Landlord within four businessyslaof Tenans receipt of notice
cancellation if any such insurance policy is todamcelled before the expiration date hereof. Athsinsurance policies shall be in fc
reasonably satisfactory to Landlord and issueddigpanies with an A.M. Best rating of A1 or better. However, no review or approva
any insurance certificate or policy by Landlord Iskdarogate from or diminish Landlord’s rights oeffants obligations hereunder. If Ten
fails to comply with the foregoing insurance reguients or to deliver to Landlord the certificatesewidence of coverage required he
within five business days from written notice frdrandlord (which notice shall not be given until Buime as the required insurance he
must be maintained), Landlord, in addition to aitlyeo remedy available pursuant to this Lease agretise, may, but shall not be obligatec
obtain such insurance and Tenant shall pay to loaddin demand the premium costs thereof, plus amirastrative fee of 5% of such cc
Any insurance required to be maintained by Tenaay ime taken out under a corporate blanket insuraotiey or policies covering oth
premises, property or insureds in addition to ttenttses and Tenant, provided the commercial getiabdlity and umbrella coverages are ¢
per location aggregate basis (or contain a petimtaggregate endorsement) and such blanket potigyolicies otherwise comply with tl
Section 11.1.

11.2 Landlord’s Insurance. Throughout the Term of this Lease, Landlord shadintain, as a minimum, the followi
insurance policies: (1) cause of loss-special fosin (formerly “all-risk”) insurance (including, but not limited to, sprinkleakage, ordinan
and law, sewer back-up and flood) for the Buildingeplacement value (excluding property requiredbéoinsured by Tenant), les:
commerciallyreasonable deductible if Landlord so chooses, &dc¢gmmercial general liability insurance in an amoof not less the
$5,000,000 and such other insurance maintainedrigept corporate or institutional landlords for Idirigs and developments of equiva
quality, size, utility and location within the foenCity of Kanata submarket to the Building and feject. Landlord may, but is not obligs
to, maintain such other insurance and additionaéages as it may deem necessary. The cost ofsaitance carried by Landlord with res)
to the Project shall be included in Operating CoBte foregoing insurance policies and any othsuriance carried by Landlord shall be for
sole benefit of Landlord and under Landladole control, and Tenant shall have no rightlaincto any proceeds thereof or any other ri
thereunder. Any insurance required to be maintametandlord may be taken out under a blanket Brsce policy or policies covering ot
buildings, property or insureds in addition to Bglding and Landlord. In such event, the costamf such blanket insurance policy or poli
shall be reasonably allocated to the Project aadther properties covered by such policy or peticds reasonably determined by Landlorc
included as part of Operating Costs.

11.3 No Subrogation; Waiver of Property Claims. Landlord and Tenant each waives and releaseslaimy it might hav
against the other for any damage to or theft, deitm, loss, or loss of use of any property, te &xtent the same is insured agains
permitted to be selfasured against) under any insurance policy oftyipes described in this Section 11 that coversPttigect, the Premise
Landlord’s or Tenan$ fixtures, personal property, leasehold improvesieor business, or is required to be insured againder the tern
hereof,regardless of whether the negligence of the otheapty caused such Loss (defined belovgnd such waiver shall also apply to ar
deductible payable under Tenant's property insurane policies and self-insurance and self-retention amints maintained by Tenant.
Additionally, Landlord and Tenant each waives afainc it may have against the other for any Lossh® extent such Loss is caused |
terrorist act. Each party shall promptly notify itheespective insurance carriers of this waiversobrogation to the extent required by ¢
respective party’s insurance policies and cause#isrance carrier to endorse all applicable pedicvaiving the carries’ rights of recovel
under subrogation or otherwise against the othdy pa

11.4 Indemnity . Subject to Section 11.3, Tenant shall defendenmuify, and hold harmless Landlord, Landlord Ps
and its or their representatives, employees andtadgem and against all claims, demands,




liabilities, causes of action, suits, judgmentsndges, and expenses (including reasonable attorfees arising from any injury to or deatt
any person or the damage to or theft, destructass, or loss of use of, any property or inconvecée(a “Loss”) (1) occurring in or on tt
Project (including within the Premises) other thiarthe extent caused by the negligence or willfisaonduct of any Landlord Party, or
arising out of the installation, operation, mairgeece, repair or removal of any property of any TérRarty located in or about the Proj
including Tenant's OffPremises Equipment other than to the extent cabgettie negligence or willful misconduct of any Léord Party
Subject to Section 11.3, Landlord shall defendeindify, and hold harmless Tenant, Tenant Partidsitaror their agents and employees f
and against all claims, demands, liabilities, caudfeaction, suits, judgments, damages, and expdirsguding reasonable attorneyses) fo
any Loss arising from any occurrence in or on thgdet (including within the Premises) to the exteaused by the negligence or wil
misconduct of Landlord or any Landlord Party. Théemnities set forth in this Lease shall survivenieation or expiration of this Lease ¢
shall not terminate or be waived, diminished oeetféd in any manner by any abatement or apportinhofeRent under any provision of t
Lease. If any proceeding is filed for which indetyrs required hereunder, the indemnifying partyeag, upon request therefor, to defenc
indemnified party in such proceeding at its solstedilizing counsel satisfactory to the indemrdfjgarty and shall not settle or compromise
such proceeding without the prior written consdrthe indemnified party.

12. Subordination; Attornment; Notice to Landlord 's Mortgagee.

12.1 Subordination . This Lease shall be subordinate to any deedusf,tmortgage, or other security instrument (each,
Mortgage "), or any ground lease, master lease, or primaagé (each, a Primary Lease "), that now or, subject to Section 12.5 bel
hereafter covers all or any part of the Premides iftortgagee under any such Mortgage, beneficiadgrany such deed of trust, or the le
under any such Primary Lease is referred to hemsira “Landlord’s Mortgagee™). Any Landlord’s Mortgagee may elect, at any tii
unilaterally, to make this Lease superior to itsrigage, Primary Lease, or other interest in theries by so notifying Tenant in writir
Subject to Section 12.5, the provisions of thisti®acshall be selbperative and no further instrument of subordimatshall be require
however, in confirmation of such subordination, denshall execute and return to Landlord (or subleroparty designated by Landlord) wit
ten days after written request therefor such docuati®n, in recordable form if required, as a Landls Mortgagee may reasonably reque
evidence the subordination of this Lease to suchdlaad’'s Mortgagee’s Mortgage or Primary Lease I(idmg a subordination, non-
disturbance and attornment agreement) or, if thredlcad’s Mortgagee so elects, the subordinatiosuzh Landlord’s Mortgageg Mortgage ¢
Primary Lease to this Lease.

12.2 Attornment . Tenant shall attorn to any party succeeding todl@rd’s interest in the Premises, whether by purc|
foreclosure, deed in lieu of foreclosure, powersale, termination of lease, or otherwise, upon sumfty’s request, and shall execute ¢
agreements confirming such attornment as such paatyreasonably request.

12.3 Notice to Landlord’s Mortgagee. Tenant shall not seek to enforce any remedy it have for any default on the
of Landlord without first giving written notice by nationally recognized overnight courier servgggcifying the default in reasonable detal
any Landlord’s Mortgagee whose address has beem ¢ivTenant contemporaneously with the deliversuah notice to Landlord.

12.4 Landlord’s Mortgageés Protection Provisions. If Landlord’s Mortgagee shall succeed to the interest of Lad
under this Lease, LandlosiMortgagee shall not be: (1) liable for any acomission of any prior lessor (including Landlor(®) bound by ar
rent or additional rent or advance rent which Teémaight have paid for more than the current mootlarny prior lessor (including Landlor
and all such rent shall remain due and owing, rtbsténding such advance payment; (3) bound by eoyriy or advance rental deposit m
by Tenant which is not delivered or paid over tmdllard’s Mortgagee and with respect to which Tenant $bak solely to Landlord for refur
or reimbursement; (4) bound by any termination émtcTenans cancellation right expressly provided in SectRHh6), amendment
modification of this Lease made without LandloriMsrtgagees consent and written approval, except for thosritations, amendments ¢
modifications permitted to be made by Landlord withLandlord’s Mortgagee’consent pursuant to the terms of the loan docteneiwee
Landlord and Landlord’s Mortgagee; (5) subjectite tlefenses which Tenant might have against any lessor (including Landlord); and (6)




subject to the offsets which Tenant might have ragjaany prior lessor (including Landlord) except those offset rights which (A) &
expressly provided in this Lease, (B) relate taquey of time following the acquisition of the Buihd) by Landlords Mortgagee, and (C) Ten
has provided written notice to Landlord’s Mortgage®l provided Landlord’Mortgagee a reasonable opportunity to cure tleatayiving ris
to such offset event. LandlosiMortgagee shall have no liability or respondipilinder or pursuant to the terms of this Leasetloerwise afte
it ceases to own fee simple title to the Projeaithihg in this Lease shall be construed to requénedlord’s Mortgagee to see to the applica
of the proceeds of any loan, and Tenaragreements set forth herein shall not be impairedccount of any modification of the docum
evidencing and securing any loan. If any conflidsts or arise between the terms of this Sectiad 28d the terms of the mortgagee prote:
provisions contained in any executed subordinatiomdisturbance and attornment agreement, the tertteahortgagee protection provisii
in the executed subordination, non-disturbanceadtutnment agreement shall prevail. As used inSeistion 12.4, Landlord’Mortgagee sh:
include any party succeeding to Landlarifiterest in the Premises, whether by purchaseclfisure, deed in lieu of foreclosure, power ¢,
termination of lease, or otherwise.

12.5 Subordination, Non-Disturbance and Attornment Adreement . Landlord shall obtain a subordination, non
disturbance and attornment agreement from the mubi@ndlord’s Mortgagee, if any, and any future dimnd’s Mortgagee, in such Landlosd’
Mortgagee’s standard form therefor with such charibereto as may be agreed upon by Tenant andLsunchiord’s Mortgagee; however, a
commercially reasonable fees charged by such LaidldViortgagee associated with obtaining such siibation, nondisturbance ar
attornment agreement (except for the administrafidee of obtaining such subordination, ndisturbance and attornment agreement an
initial $2,500 in Landlord’s Mortgagee’s legal fe@ayable to such LandlosiMortgagee, which shall be paid by Landlord) shallpaid b
Tenant within 15 days after Landlosdwritten request therefor and, if previously reediby Landlord, accompanied by a reasonably ée
itemization of such fees and costs. Additionallyl @ no cost or expense to Tenant, Landlord she#io and deliver to Tenant on the Le
Date a lease recognition and non-disturbance agmeefom Landlords Affiliate, Innovation Blvd. I, LLC, a Delawarentited liability
company, in the form attached hereto as Exhibjtadd upon written request by Tenant, from any Haadlord under any Primary Lease
hereinafter may be entered into.

13. Rules and Requlations Tenant shall comply with the rules and regulatiof the Project which are attached heret@&dsibit
D, provided that if there is any conflict or incosteincy between this Lease and the rules and rémndathis Lease shall govern. Landl
may, from time to time, change such rules and adgris for the safety, care, or cleanliness ofRhgect and related facilities, provided 1
such changes are provided to Tenant in writing gereerally applicable to all tenants of the Projelsbse leases require such compliance,
not unreasonably interfere with Tenant’s use ofRnemises and are enforced by Landlord in a disoriminatory manner among all ten¢
whose leases require such compliance. Tenantlsha#isponsible for the compliance or noncompliamitie such rules and regulations by e
Tenant Party.

14. Condemnation.

14.1 Total Taking . If the entire Building or Premises are taken Ilmy dawful power or authority by the right
expropriation (a ‘Taking "), this Lease shall terminate as of the date effthking.

14.2 Partial Taking - Tenant's Rights. If any material portion (greater than 25% of thatable premises in the Buildi
or 50% of the land area of the Project) of the &ntj or Project becomes subject to a Taking andh Slaking will prevent Tenant fro
conducting on a permanent basis its business ifPthmises in a manner reasonably comparable toctmatucted immediately before si
Taking, then Tenant may terminate this Lease dsenflate of such Taking by giving written noticd_amdlord within 30 days after the Taki
and Basic Rent and Additional Rent shall be appoeiil as of the date of such Taking. If Tenant da¢derminate this Lease, then Basic |
and Additional Rent shall be abated on a reasor@dis as to that portion of the Premises or tbgPrrendered untenantable by the Taking.

14.3 Partial Taking - Landlord’s Rights. If (a) any material portion (greater than 25%ttoé rentable premises in
Building or 50% of the land area of the Project)t kess than all, of the Building or Project becamsabject to a Taking, or (b) if Landlorc
required to pay $1,500,000 or more of the procegding from a




Taking to a Landlord’s Mortgagee (however, Tenaaymullify Landlords termination notice given under this clause (B)ahant delivers
Landlord, within five business days after Landlsrdancellation notice, funds equal to the amougro€eeds that Landlord is required to
to a Landlords Mortgagee in excess of $1,500,000), then Landboag terminate this Lease by delivering writtenie®thereof to Tena
within 30 days after such Taking, and Basic Rewult Additional Rent shall be apportioned as of thiedd such Taking. If Landlord does no
terminate this Lease, then this Lease will contjriug if any portion of the Premises has been takasic Rent and Additional Rent shall al
as provided in the last sentence of Section 14.2.

14.4 Award . If any Taking occurs, then Landlord shall receifve entire award or other compensation for thget@nc
other improvements taken; however, Tenant may agggrpursue a claim (to the extent it will not wed Landlord$ award) against t
condemnor for the value of Tenant’s personal prtypghich Tenant is entitled to remove under thisdes moving costs and loss of business.

14.5 Restoration. In the event of any Taking of less than the wudléhe Premises which does not result in a tertign
of this Lease, (1)Landlord, at its expense but dolyhe extent of the award actually received bydlard pursuant to such Taking (a
deducting any reasonable expenses incurred in ctionewith such Taking), shall proceed with readsealiligence to repair, alter and res
the remaining parts of the affected Building anel Bremises therein to the extent practicable, and (equested by either party, Landlord
Tenant shall promptly execute an amendment toLthése confirming the deletion from the Premisethefspace subject to the Taking.

15. Fire or Other Casualty .

15.1 Repair Estimate. If the Premises or the Project are damaged kydiirother casualty (aCasualty "), Tenant sha
immediately notify Landlord thereof. Thereafter,nidéord shall promptly take all commercially reasoleasteps to secure the safety
integrity of the Premises/Project, as the case beyand remove all debris etc. and thereafterpas as reasonably possible (and in no ¢
later than 60 days after the date on which Tenatifies Landlord of such Casualty), deliver to Teha good faith estimate (theDamage
Notice ") of the time needed to repair the damage causedidiy Gasualty (which estimate shall be based orofiirgion of an independe
reputable and qualified consultant, such as anitaatior engineer) and Landlord shall use comm#yciaasonable efforts to commence re
of the Premises or the Project, as applicablepas as reasonably possible and in any event notlzde 30 days after delivery of the Dam
Notice.

15.2 Tenant's Rights. If the Premises are damaged by Casualty suchT#rant is prevented from conducting its busi
in the Premises in a manner reasonably comparaltteat conducted immediately before such Casualtylaandlord estimates (which estirr
shall be based on the opinion of an independeptitadle and qualified consultant, such as an achir engineer) that the damage ca
thereby for which Landlord is responsible to repaider this Lease pursuant to Section 15.4 belowatabe repaired within (1) one year &
the commencement of repairs, (2) 90 days afterddie of the Casualty if the Casualty occurs betw@®h days and 180 days before
expiration of the Term, or (3) 60 days after theedzf the Casualty if the Casualty occurs durirg st six months of the Term (as applice
the “Repair Period "), then Tenant may terminate this Lease by delivenirigen notice to Landlord of its election to temate within 30 day
after the Damage Notice has been delivered to Tenan

15.3 Landlord’s Rights. If a Casualty occurs and (1) Landlord estimatesi¢h estimate shall be based on the opinic
an independent, reputable and qualified consulsarth as an architect or engineer) that the damegeot be repaired within the Repair Pel
(2) the damage exceeds 50% of the replacementloargtof (excluding foundations and footings), ainesed by Landlord as aforesaid,
such damage occurs during the last two years ofT#ren (provided that if Landlord elects to exerciterights herein and Tenant hs
remaining right to extend the Term, Tenant shakkbttled within 15 days of Landlorsl’election herein to elect to exercise such extensiht
in which case Landlord’ rights under this Section 15.3(2) shall not app($)regardless of the extent of damage, the dansgot fully
covered (e.g., the damage falls under a policyuskeh) by Landlords insurance policies (or which would have been mx/dy insurance
Landlord had carried the insurance required una@eti@ 11.2 of this Lease and diligently pursuecbvery under same), or (4) Landlor
required to pay $1,500,000 or more of the insurgmoeeeds arising out of the Casualty to a LandtoMortgagee (however, Tenant r
nullify Landlord’s termination notice given undéiig clause (4) if Tenant delivers to Landlord, witfive business days after Landlord’s




cancellation notice, funds equal to the amountrotgeds that Landlord is required to pay to a Lamtk Mortgagee in excess of $1,500,0
then Landlord may terminate this Lease by givingtem notice of its election to terminate within 88@ys after the Damage Notice has |
delivered to Tenant.

15.4 Repair Obligation . If neither party elects to terminate this Leas#ofving a Casualty, within the time peric
specified for so doing, then Landlord shall, witldrreasonable time after such Casualty, beginfairehe Premises and shall proceed
reasonable diligence to restore the Premises tstaniinlly the same condition as they existed imatety before such Casualty; howe
Landlord shall not be required to repair or replaog improvements, alterations or betterments withe Premises (which shall be prom
and with due diligence repaired and restored byaiieat Tenan$ sole cost and expense) or any furniture, equipnramle fixtures or persor
property of Tenant or others in the Premises oPtfigect. If this Lease is terminated under thevigions of this Section 15, Landlord shall
entitled to the full proceeds of the insurance qedi providing coverage for all alterations, impments and betterments in the Prem
provided, that in such event, after Landlord hagireed proceeds sufficient to restore the Projedtall improvements funded by Landlord v
respect to the Premises (including the Construdiibtmwance), Tenant shall be entitled to proceegdauthe unamortized portion of the out-of
pocket amounts initially expended by Tenant todttparties (over and above the amount permittedetoebained by Landlord as descri
above) to perform the Work in the Premises, and saysequent work in the Premises paid for exclisilbg Tenant, as calculated usin
straightline amortization over the initial Term (or, foryaimprovements installed during any renewal Ternodired over such renewal Ter
and, if Tenant has failed to maintain insurancesooh items as required by this Lease, Tenant slagllLandlord an amount equal to
proceeds Landlord would have received had Tenamttaiaed insurance on such items as required Isyltbase.

15.5 Abatement of Rent. If the Premises are damaged by Casualty, Bagit &el Additional Rent for the portion of -
Premises rendered untenantable by the damagebghabated on a reasonable basis from the datencdgfauntil the earlier of (a) complet
of Landlord’s repairs, (b) the date upon which ctetipn of Landlords repairs would have occurred but for delays cabgebenant Parties,
(c) the date of termination of this Lease by Landllor Tenant as provided above, as the case mayribess a Tenant Party caused :
damage, in which case, Basic Rent and Additionalt Reall be abated only to the extent Landlordimpensated for such Rent by loss of
insurance proceeds (and, if Landlord has faileth&intain insurance on such items as required lsyltbase, an amount equal to the proc
Landlord would have received had Landlord maintéisech insurance, if any. If it shall be neces$arylenant to reconstruct alterations in
Premises, then the abatement provided above sidlhae until the earlier of (1) the date on whigmant occupies any portion of the Pren
and begins conducting business therein or (2) 98 dtier the date of substantial completion ofréir or reconstruction by Landlord.

16. Personal Property Taxes. Tenant shall be liable for, and shall pay primrdelinquency, all taxes levied or assessed af
personal property, furniture, fixtures, bettermemmsprovements, and alterations placed by any TeRanty in the Premises or in or on
Building or Project. If any taxes for which Tenastiable are levied or assessed against LandIbtdindlord’s property and Landlord elects
pay the same, or if the assessed value of Landlgnadiperty is increased by inclusion of such peakproperty, furniture, fixtures, betterme:
improvements, and alterations and Landlord elexfgaly the taxes based on such increase, then Tehalhipay to Landlord, within 30 de
following written request therefor, the part of Buexes for which Tenant is primarily liable herdan however, Landlord shall not pay s
amount if Tenant notifies Landlord that it will dest the validity or amount of such taxes beforadlard makes such payment, and there
diligently proceeds with such contest in accordanitd Law and if the nompayment thereof does not pose a threat of losgiaur® of th
Project or interest of Landlord therein or imposg &ee or penalty against Landlord.

17. Events of Default. Each of the following occurrences shall be &vént of Default™:

17.1 Payment Default. Tenants failure to pay Rent within five business daysiaftandlord has delivered written notice
Tenant that the same is due; however, an Evenedult shall occur hereunder without any obligatidi.andlord to give any notice if Ten:
fails to pay Rent when due and, during the 12 manttrval preceding such failure, Landlord has gii@nant written notice of failure to f
Rent on two or more occasions;




17.2 Vacating . Tenant vacates the Premises or a substantiabpditereof without providing written notice to Ldlord a
least ten business days prior to the date on whéctant vacates the Premises or any substantigpdhiereof;

17.3 Estoppel; Subordination; Financial Reports . Tenant fails to provide any estoppel certificad®cumentatio
regarding the subordination of this Lease or finaneports after Landlord’written request therefor pursuant to Section,25estion 12.1, at
Section 25.18 respectively, and such failure stwitinue for five business days after Landlord'sosel written notice thereof to Tenant;

17.4 Insurance. Tenant fails to maintain any insurance whiclsibbligated to maintain under this Lease or anjcpaif
insurance covering any part of the Premises isatfattby the insurer by reason of any particula& asoccupancy of the Premises by Tena
anyone permitted by Tenant to be upon the Prengiedssuch insurance is not replaced within two essindays following such failure
cancellation;

17.5 Liens . Tenant fails to pay and release of record, dgelitly contest and bond around, any lien filediasgtathe
Premises or the Project for any work performed emals furnished, or obligation incurred by orla request of a Tenant Party, within the
and in the manner required by Section 8.4;

17.6 Transfer . Tenant makes a Transfer or grants a leaseholtgage or any other charge of the Premises otheriti
accordance with the provisions of this Lease;

17.7 Other Defaults . Tenants failure to perform, comply with, or observe armyreement or obligation of Tenant un
this Lease other than provided in this Section ad #he continuance of such failure for a periodvafre than 30 days after Landlord
delivered to Tenant written notice thereof; howevesuch failure cannot be cured within such @&+ period (thus excluding, for exam|
Tenant’s obligation to provide Landlord evidenceTehant's insurance coverage) and Tenant commeaaasge such failure within such 30-
day period and thereafter diligently pursues sugie to completion, then such failure shall not béegent of Default unless it is not fully cu
within an additional 30 days after the expiratidrithe initial 30-day period; and

17.8 Insolvency . Any of the following occur: (a)Tenant (the termT&nant ” shall include, for the purpose of t
Section 17.8, any guarantor of Tenant’s obligatioaseunder) takes any steps or commences any plingsdor the dissolution, windingp ol
other termination of its existence or the liquidatdf its assets, other than in connection withran3$fer made in compliance with this Lease; (!
ant becomes bankrupt or insolvent, gives noticésointention to make or makes any voluntary preoassignment or arrangement for
benefit of its creditors under any statute for brapk or insolvent debtors or files any applicatmmcommences any proceedings seekinc
stay, reorganization, arrangement, compositioreadjustment under any statute for bankrupt or iresdldebtors, or consents to or acquie
in any such application or proceedings made by @hgr person or entity; (c) an application is filedany steps are taken or proceec
commenced by any person or entity against Tenatidtare it bankrupt or insolvent, or for the digion, windingup or other termination
Tenants existence or the liquidation of its assets (othan in connection with a Transfer made in cormgi@with this Lease), or seeking
appointment of a trustee, receiver, receiver andager, monitor, interim receiver, custodian, sefyats, liquidator or other person or en
with similar powers in respect of Tenant or seekimy stay, reorganization, arrangement, compositioreadjustment under any statute
bankrupt or insolvent debtors, to which Tenanthascase may be, has not consented or acquiesdedssuch application or proceedings
stayed and being actively and diligently contestedood faith; (d) a trustee in bankruptcy, receiveceiver and manager, interim recei
monitor, custodian, sequestrator, liquidator or athyer person or entity with similar powers is aipped with respect to Tenant or a mate
portion of its business or assets or of the Presniseany portion thereof or interest therein, uslsach appointment is being actively
diligently contested in good faith and is set asttischarged, cancelled or annulled within 30 defyer it is made; (e) this Lease or any mat
portion of Tenans assets on the Premises are taken or seized amdérof execution, assignment, pledge, chargbedtire, or other secur
instrument and such writ is not stayed or vacatitinvl5 days after the date of such taking; off@hant makes a sale in bulk of substant
all of its assets out of the ordinary course ofifiess other than in conjunction with a Transfenpted under this Lease;




18. Remedies. Upon the occurrence and during the continuatibany Event of Default, Landlord may, in additiam all othe
rights and remedies afforded Landlord hereundéydaw or equity, take any one or more of the feiloy actions:

18.1 Termination of Lease. Terminate this Lease by written notice to Tenanto reenter the Premises and repos
them and, in either case enjoy them as of its foraséate, and Landlord may remove all personstientnd property from the Premises
store such property at the expense and risk of fitesrasell or dispose of such property in such nearas Landlord sees fit without notice
Tenant;

18.2 Termination of Possession Terminate Tenard’ right to possess the Premises without terminatiig Lease k
giving written notice thereof to Tenant, in whickeat Tenant shall pay to Landlord (a) all Rent atiter amounts accrued hereunder to the
of termination of possession, (b) amounts due ftione to time under Section 19.1, and (c) Rent ath@ronet sums required hereunder t
paid by Tenant during the remainder of the Termmidished by any net sums thereafter received bydlomd through reletting the Premi:
during such period, after deducting all costs inedrby Landlord in reletting the Premises. If Ladl elects to terminate Tenastight tc
possession without terminating this Lease, andetake possession of the Premises (and Landlordl Isdnad no duty to make such electic
Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to reletRhemises as further described in Section 19.4 bdlawdlord shall not be liable for, nor st
Tenant’s obligations hereunder be diminished bexafisLandlords failure to relet the Premises or to collect et for such reletting desg
such efforts. Tenant shall not be entitled to tkeess of any consideration obtained by relettingratie Rent due hereunder. Reentr
Landlord in the Premises shall not affect Termnbligations hereunder for the unexpired TermhagtLandlord may, from time to time, br
an action against Tenant to collect amounts du&emant, without the necessity of Landlardiaiting until the expiration of the Term. Unl
Landlord delivers written notice to Tenant expressating that it has elected to terminate thissegall actions taken by Landlord to dispos
or exclude Tenant from the Premises shall be de¢mkd taken under this Section 18.2. If Landldettts to proceed under this Section 18
may at any time elect to terminate this Lease uSeetion 18.1;

18.3 Perform Acts on Behalf of Tenant. Perform any act Tenant is obligated to performeasrthe terms of this Lease (;
enter upon the Premises in connection therewittedessary) in Tenant's name and on Tesaonthalf, without being liable for any claim
damages therefor, and Tenant shall reimburse Latha@io demand for any expenses which Landlord mayriin thus effecting complian
with Tenants obligations under this Lease (including, butlimoited to, collection costs and legal expensekis nterest thereon at the Def:
Rate;

18.4 Suspension of Services Suspend any above Buildisgndard services required to be provided by Lad
hereunder without being liable for any claim forrdayes therefor;

18.5 Alteration of Locks . Additionally, with or without notice, and to thextent permitted by Law, Landlord may
accordance with the exercise of its rights undetiGes 18.1 and 18.2 alter locks or other secul@yices at the Premises to deprive Tena
access thereto, and Landlord shall not be requir@dovide a new key or right of access to Tenant;

18.6 Recovery of Rent. Recover from Tenant all arrears of Rent and ammgromonies payable by Tenant hereu
together with the current month’s Rent and the nles¢e monthsinstalments of Rent, which shall accrue on a dagap basis and sh
immediately become due and payable as acceleratéd r

19. Payment by Tenant; NorWaiver; Cumulative Remedies; Mitigation of Damage

19.1 Payment by Tenant. Upon any Event of Default, Tenant shall pay todlard all amounts, costs, losses an
expenses incurred, abated or foregone by Landlm@lu@iing court costs and reasonable attorndgs's and expenses) in (1) obtair
possession of the Premise, (2) removing, storirjaardisposing of Tenant's or any other occupaptoperty, (3) repairing, restoring, alter
remodeling, or otherwise putting the Premises @undition acceptable to a new tenant, (4) if Tensmtispossessed of the Premises anc
Lease is not terminated, reletting all or any @drthe Premises (including brokerage commissioast of tenant finish work, and other cc
incidental to such reletting), (5) performing Tetiaiwbligations under this Lease which Tenant thile perform, (6) e




nforcing, or advising Landlord of, its rights, redies, and recourses arising out of the default, @dsecuring this Lease, including
commissions, allowances, reasonable attorniees, and if this Lease or any amendment herettacenany abated Rent granted by Lanc
as an inducement or concession to secure this larammendment hereto, the full amount of all Renalsated, provided that in each case
amounts payable under this clause (7) shall bedonio the unamortized portion of such amounts neimz as of the date of the Event
Default, amortized on a straight line basis over Term (as the same may have been extended), @ghdabated amounts shall be pay
immediately by Tenant to Landlord, without any ghlion by Landlord to provide written notice therém Tenant, and Tenamstright to an
abated rent accruing following such Event of Ddfahhll immediately terminate).

19.2 No Waiver . Landlord’s acceptance of Rent following an EveihDefault shall not waive Landlorsl'rights regardir
such Event of Default. No waiver by Landlord of ariglation or breach of any of the terms contaitedein shall waive Landlord’rights
regarding any future violation of such term. Lamdls acceptance of any partial payment of Rentl stealwaive Landlords rights with regar
to the remaining portion of the Rent that is dugardless of any endorsement or other statemeahpnnstrument delivered in paymen
Rent or any writing delivered in connection therywaccordingly, Landlord’s acceptance opartial payment of Rent shall not constitute
accord and satisfaction of the full amount of treRhat is due.

19.3 Cumulative Remedies. Any and all remedies set forth in this Lease: ghall be in addition to any and all ot
remedies Landlord may have at law or in equity,s2all be cumulative, and (3)may be pursued sun@dgr concurrently as Landlord m
elect. The exercise of any remedy by Landlord shailbe deemed an election of remedies or predluasellord from exercising any ott
remedies in the future. Additionally, Tenant shagfend, indemnify and hold harmless Landlord, Lardis Mortgagee and their respec
representatives and agents from and against ahglalemands, liabilities, causes of action, siltdgments, damages and expenses (inch
reasonable attorneys’ fees) arising from Tenardikife to perform its obligations under this Leaseaccordance with Tenastindemnit
obligations under Section 11.4 hereof.

19.4 Mitigation of Damage . The parties agree any duty imposed by Law on loaiddo mitigate damages after a def
by Tenant under this Lease shall be satisfied linifflLandlord uses reasonable efforts to leaseRhemises to another tenant or tenants (g
Substitute Tenant”) in accordance with the following criteria: (1) Ldod shall have no obligation to solicit or entértaegotiations with ar
Substitute Tenant for the Premises until 45 dajieviing the date upon which Landlord obtains fulidacomplete possession of the Prem
free of any claims to possession of the PremisearlyyTenant Party; (2) Landlord shall not be oligato lease or show the Premises
priority basis or offer the Premises to any prosigedenant when other space in the Project orelsted complex is or soon will be availal
(3) Landlord shall not be obligated to lease thenitses to a Substitute Tenant for less than theerufair market value of the Premises
determined by Landlord in its sole but reasonalderdtion, nor will Landlord be obligated to enteto a new lease for the Premises ul
other terms and conditions that are unacceptablanallord under Landlord’s thezurrent leasing policies based on similar sizedngses i
the submarket in which the Building is located; l(@ndlord shall not be obligated to enter into askewith a Substitute Tenant: (A) whose
would violate any restriction, covenant or requiegincontained in the lease of another tenant irPtiogect or the related complex; (B) wh
use would adversely affect the reputation of thejdet or the related complex; (C) whose use woatfliire any addition to or modification
the Premises or Project or the related complexridemoto comply with applicable Law, including biild codes; (D) who does not have
Landlord’s sole but commercially reasonable opinion, reddgredequate creditworthiness based on similadsézdities leasing similar si
premises in the submarket in which the Buildindoisated; (E) that is a governmental entity, or dguggsvernmental entity, or subdivision
agency thereof, or any other entity entitled to dietense of sovereign immunity that (i) is not tgly found in Class A office buildings, (
could materially increase the pedestrian or vehictraffic to the Project or (iii) otherwise doestmeet Landlord reasonable standards
tenants of the Project and the related complextEpthat does not meet Landlosd’easonable standards for tenants of the Projebeaelate
complex or is otherwise incompatible with the clotea of the occupancy of the Project, as reasondelgrmined by Landlord; a
(5) Landlord shall not be required to expend anyam of money to alter, remodel or otherwise maie Premises suitable for use k
Substitute Tenant unless Landlord, in Landlsrdble but reasonable discretion, determines anl sMpenditure is financially prudent
connection with entering into a lease with the $itude Tenant. For purposes of this Section 19ldregéerences to the related complex s
refer to the related complex for so long as thateel complex is owned by Landlord or an AffiliafeLandlord.




20. Asset Based Lending Financing Tenant shall be permitted without requiring tbesent of Landlord to grant a security inte
or chattel mortgage over Tenanttrade fixtures, furniture, equipment and otherspeal property located in or about the Premises
recognized financial institution (including a baakd a trustee for bondholders) that from time tiwetihas provided ABL Financing (defir
below) to Tenant and/or one or more of its Affifiat(an “ABL Lender ") to secure a bona fide corporate borrowing by Teaanfor one ¢
more of its Affiliates that is secured, in wholeinmart, by the trade fixtures, furniture, equiprher other personal property of Tenant loc
in or about the Premises (amABL Financing ”). Upon written request of any ABL Lender and &n&nts sole cost, Landlord shall enter i
an agreement (in this Section 20, adiver of distress agreement) with such ABL Lender in a form that is satisfactdoyLandlord, Tena
and such ABL Lender, each acting reasonably. Swaitiew of distress agreement shall contain: (a)aevaif distress or other liens by Landl
in favour of such ABL Lender; (b) a right for sudiBL Lender to enter into the Premises to enforeerights with respect to Tenasttrad
fixtures, furniture, equipment and other persomalpprty located in or about the Premises over wikisth ABL Lender has security, wh
right shall be upon such commercially reasonaliedeand conditions as the parties agree, actingpnadbly, provided that the ABL Lent
shall promptly repair any and all damage to theri®es and/or the Building, if any, caused by thdARnder or its agents or representat
resulting from the removal of such trade fixturksniture, equipment and other personal propertynfithe Premises and other parts of
Building; and (c) such other commercially reasorabfms and conditions agreed upon by the pad#d) acting reasonably.

21. Surrender of Premises. No act by Landlord shall be deemed an acceptahaesurrender of the Premises, and no agreem
accept a surrender of the Premises shall be valess it is in writing and signed by Landlord. Aetexpiration or termination of this Least
Tenant's right to possess the Premises, Tenarnit(shdldeliver to Landlord the Premises brool@an with all improvements located therei
good repair and condition, normal wear and teaepterl (except for condemnation and Casualty damageaused by Tenant, as to wt
Sections 14 and 15 shall control), free of anydienencumbrances and free of Hazardous Matefiateg on the Premises during the Terr
any Tenant Party; (b) deliver to Landlord all kegsthe Premises and all access cards to the Prépyatemove all unattached trade fixtu
furniture (including demountable walls), and pekoproperty placed in the Premises or elsewherthénProject by a Tenant Party |
unattached equipment located in the Premises; @ndgupject to the provisions below, remove sucérations, additions, improvements,
Tenant’s OffPremises Equipment as Landlord may require; howé&warant shall not be required to remove any amidibr improvement to tl
Premises or the Project if (1)Landlord has spedglificagreed in writing that the improvement or ditdi in question need not be removec
(2) same do not exceed or differ in any materiapeet from customary, standard type of installationimprovements for general, execu
and administrative offices in comparable buildingsthe submarket in which the Building is locatdde(* Standard Improvements”);
however, Tenant may be required by Landlord to neramy nonstandard alterations, additions or improvementduiting laboratories, sen
rooms, data centers, computer rooms, specialtingsil or any items that would have ab@werage demolition costs. Tenant shall repa
damage caused by the removal of the items descabede. In connection with Landlord’s review angrgval of any of Tenant’ propose
alterations, additions or improvements to the Pses)i Landlord may notify Tenant in writing, contemrgmeously with Landlord’ notice ¢
approval to Tenant with respect to the improvemémtquestion, that Landlord will require Tenantremove such alterations, addition:
improvements prior to the expiration of the Terrowever, if Tenant submits plans and specificatitm&andlord for proposed alteratio
additions or improvements to the Premises (inclgdas part of the Work) and delivers a Removal MNofidefined below) to Landlo
contemporaneously with such submission by Tenauat,Landlord fails to notify Tenant that Tenant vii# required to remove such alterati
additions or improvements to the Premises at tipgration of the Term, Landlord may not request sterhoval at the expiration of the Term
“ Removal Notice” means a written notice from Tenant to Landlord tmtspicuously states in bold, uppercase typefaaeTenant will nc
be required to remove the alterations, additionsnprovements in question at the end of the Terfeas) contemporaneously with Landled’
notice of approval to Tenant with respect to thprimvements in question, Landlord notifies Tenanwriting that Landlord will require Tene
to remove such alterations prior to the expiratbthe Term. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Tahdoes not obtain Landlomslprior writter
consent for any alterations, additions or improvets¢o the Premises (whether such approval is redjtiereunder or otherwise), Tenant ¢
remove all such alterations, additions, improvemeitade fixtures, personal property, equipmentjngj conduits, cabling, and furnitt
(including Tenant's OffPremises Equipment) as Landlord may request inngriisave and except for Standard Improvementd)jetfant fail
to remove any property required to be removed hyaheunder the terms of this Lease within five dafyer termination or expiry of this Lea
Landlord may, at Landlord’s option, (A) deem sutemis to have been abandoned by Tenant, the title




thereof shall immediately pass to Landlord at nstd¢o Landlord, and such items may be appropriagelt], stored, destroyed, or otherv
disposed of by Landlord without notice to Tenantl avithout any obligation to account for such iterasy such disposition shall not
considered a strict foreclosure or other exerciskamdlord’s rights in respect of the security interest grdrtiereunder or otherwise, |
remove such items, perform any work required tgp&dormed by Tenant hereunder, and repair all dencagised by such work, and Ter
shall reimburse Landlord on demand for any expemdgsh Landlord may incur in effecting complianc&hwTenants obligations hereunc
(including reasonable collection costs and attashaes), plus interest thereon at the Default RatéCd elect any of the actions describe
clauses (A) and (B) above as Landlord may eledsigole discretion. Further, and notwithstandingthing in this Lease to the contrary, in
cases Tenant shall be required to remove, andstoreethe Premises or Project, as applicable, ¢ grevious condition, any wiring a
cabling installed in the Premises or elsewherén@Rroject by or on behalf of any Tenant Party, algrations or improvements to first fl
lobby or elevator lobby areas, any alterationsedmaations of base-Building’s Systems, any improgeta or signage incorporating Tenant’
name or logo, internal stairwells, vaults, raiskiing, any alteration, improvement or equipmeot complying with Laws and in each ¢
installed by or on behalf of any Tenant Party, amless Landlord has expressly stated otherwiseriting, all of Tenant's OffPremise
Equipment, including any supplemental HVAC equiptmenoftop equipment, etc. The provisions of théxt®n 21 shall survive the end of
Term.

22. Holding Over . If Tenant fails to vacate the Premises at theadrittie Term, then Tenant shall be a tenant aesarfice and,
addition to all other damages and remedies to whéasidlord may be entitled for such holding ove}, {anant shall pay, in addition to the of
Rent, Basic Rent equal to 150% of the Rent payéibling the last month of the Term for the firstdiys, 200% thereafter, and (b) Tenant
otherwise continue to be subject to all of Tergubligations under this Lease. The provisionshisf Section 22 shall not be deemed to lim
constitute a waiver of any other rights or remedié&andlord provided herein or at law. If Tenaatl to surrender the Premises upor
termination or expiration of this Lease, in additito any other liabilities to Landlord accruing reieom, Tenant shall protect, defe
indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from all losssts (including reasonable attorneyeés) and liability resulting from such failu
including any claims made by any succeeding teftamtded upon such failure to surrender, and anyplasfits or other consequential dame
to Landlord resulting therefrom.

23. Certain Rights Reserved by Landlord. Landlord shall have the following rights:

23.1 Building Operations . To make inspections, repairs, alterations, amlubti changes, or improvements, whe
structural or otherwise, in and about the Projecny part thereof to the extent within Landlardbligations or entitlements under this Le
to enter upon the Premises (after giving Tenareast two business days prior written notice thiregcept in cases of real or appa
emergency, in which case no notice shall be reduiaed, during the continuance of any such workietaporarily close doors, entrywa
public space, and corridors in the Building; toemuipt or temporarily suspend Building services &amilities and to change the name of
Building.

23.2 Security . To take such reasonable measures as Landlordsdedvisable for the security of the Building; evatic
the Building for cause, suspected cause, or fdirplriiposes; temporarily denying access to the g, subject, however, to Tenantight tc
enter when the Building is closed after Normal Bing Hours under such reasonable regulations adldhmay prescribe from time to tin
which may include, by way of example but not lirtitta, that persons entering or leaving the Buildivgg during Normal Building Hout
present a valid access badge or otherwise idethtéfynselves to a security officer by registratiorotiterwise and that such persons esta
their right to enter or leave the Building;

23.3 Prospective Purchasers and LendersUpon at least one business day prior notice (whitice may be email noti
to Tenants representative at the Premises) to Tenant, &®r ¢ Premises at all reasonable hours to showPtbmises to investors, jo
venture or other partners, lenders, purchasetsedBtilding and/or Landlord’s Mortgagees (in eaake; whether existing or prospective); and

23.4 Prospective Tenants. At any time during the last 21 months of the Terpon at least one business day prior n
(which notice may be email notice to Tenanpresentative at the Premises) to Tenant, amatime following the occurrence of an Ever
Default, to enter the Premises at all reasonahlesio show the Premises to prospective tenants.




In exercising the foregoing rights in this Secti®) Landlord shall use all commercially reasonadfferts to avoid and if not avoidak
minimize and mitigate any interference with or digion to Tenang use and enjoyment of the Project and the undedgaif its busines
therefrom (including vehicular and pedestrian as¢esand from the Project and use of the ParkirepprTo the extent that Landlord wishe
name the Building or the Project, Tenant shall hifreefirst right and option to have the Buildingdéor Project named after its trade name
failing the exercise of such option the name of Budlding and Project shall be subject to Tensumifior written approval. In the event t
Landlord changes the name of the Building and/ojeRt, it shall reimburse Tenant for Tenant's remdxde, actual, out-gbocket costs incurrt
to reflect such change in name, including repladisgtationary and business cards on hand airtteedf such name change. Notwithstan
Sections 23.3 and 23.4, (a) the persons visitiegRttemises for these purposes shall be prohibited faking any pictures or video capt
within the Premises (Landlord and Tenant agreeomperate to provide video and/or pictures of theni¥ses for marketing purposes);
Tenant shall be provided the opportunity to haserépresentatives accompany Landlord and any steteparty in any site visit or show
and restrict or limit access to certain portiondhe Premises (such as the laboratory/researcldevelopment space) as required by Te
acting reasonably, in order to protect proprietargonfidential information (Landlord acknowledgitttat the configuration and method of
of certain space in the Premises may in and of ibgeproprietary and confidential); (c) Tenantlshe entitled to require that all such visit
be subjected to reasonable security measures aifidat@n and to require each party to executeasonable confidentiality acknowledgen
prior to accessing the Premises; and (d) any erepkoyr representatives that are Primary Compefitiefined below) shall not be permittec
visit and tour the Premises during Tenant’s occapdhnereof without Tenant’s prior written consent.

24. Substitution Space. [Intentionally Deleted].

25. Miscellaneous.

25.1 Landlord Transfer . Landlord may transfer any portion of the Projaotl any of its rights under this Lease
Landlord assigns its rights under this Lease, thamdlord shall thereby be released from any furtdidigations hereunder arising after the
of transfer, provided that the assignee assumesitimg Landlord’s obligations hereunder arisingrfr and after the transfer date.

25.2 Landlord’s Liability .

25.2.1 If Landlord fails to perform any covenatdrm or condition of this Lease upon Landlsrgiart to b
performed, and if as a consequence of LandlordfaulieTenant obtains a final nappealable judgment of an Ontario court ag
Landlord for a liqguidated sum of monetary damagesh judgment shall be satisfied only: (a)out ef pinoceeds of sale received u
execution of the judgment against the right, tiled interest of Landlord in the Building; (b) outthe consideration received
Landlord from the sale or other disposition ofallany part of Landlord right, title and interest in the Building, or @)t of insuranc
or expropriation proceeds receivable or received_égdlord in respect of the Building and not apglie the restoration there
Tenants rights under this Section 25.2 shall be in additio, and not in lieu of, any right or remedy adnint to seek speci
performance and other injunctive relief at law oreiquity and Tenarg’rights to offset Basic Rent as provided in Sec26.13..
below.

25.2.2 Notwithstanding any other provision déthease and any rights that Tenant would otherivésee at law ¢
equity, Tenant hereby irrevocably and unconditignegleases Landlord, each other Landlord Party eaxch Landlords Mortgage
from all claims and losses in respect of any ahéxatluded Damages, howsoever arising, whetheased or incurred by Tenant
any other Tenant Party or any other person onentit

25.2.3 *“Excluded Damages’ means, in respect of a person or entity, all claim$osses that are: (a) indire
special or consequential damages of any naturesabatr (including but not limited to loss of busiséncome and expense incui
to minimize or avoid a loss of business income trsa of service to customers); and (b) punitiveneplary, aggravated and sim
damages, in each case of the foregoing clausean¢h)b), whether incurred or sustain by such pewoantity, or whether claim
against such person or entity by another persamtity. “ Landlord Party " means Landlord, and each of its




employees, officers, trustees, directors, agent@erty managers, contractors, and others for wit@srin law responsible.
25.2.4 The provisions of this Section 25.2 skailvive any expiration or termination of this Leas

25.3 Force Majeure . Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Lesag and to the extent that either Landlord or dr@
is unable to fulfill or is delayed or restrictedthe fulfilment of any obligation hereunder by sea of Unavoidable Delay, then either Land
or Tenant, as the case may be, will, so long als sapediment exists, be deemed not to be in defadlie performance of such obligation
any period for the performance of such obligatiballsbe extended accordingly and the other parthitoLease will not be entitled to exerc
any rights or remedies as a result thereof or ¢teive compensation for any loss, inconveniencesamge or discomfort thereby occasio
provided that in no event will Tenant be relievddts obligation to pay Rent as it becomes duélriavoidable Delay” means any cau
beyond the control of the party affected therebyctvlielays or prevents the performance by sucly pdirany obligation under this Lease .
is not caused by its default or negligence andtsanoidable by the exercise of reasonable cacdyding, without limitation, a strike, lockc
or other labour dispute; inability to procure labomaterials or services; power failure; the enaetthamendment or repeal of any applic
Laws; riot; insurrection; sabotage; rebellion; wahealth or other emergency or act of God, buiuelkeg lack of funds or financial inability.

25.4 Brokerage . Neither Landlord nor Tenant has dealt with angker or agent in connection with the negotiatio
execution of this Lease, other than CBRE, Ltd. &udliers Macaulay Nicolls (Ontario) Inc., whose cwmissions shall be paid by Landl
pursuant to separate written agreements. TenanLandlord shall each indemnify the other againstasts, expenses, reasonable attorney
fees, liens and other liability for commissionsadner compensation claimed by any other brokergemaclaiming the same by, through
under the indemnifying party.

25.5 Estoppel Certificates. From time to time (but no more than twice in @ajendar year unless some event has occ
that necessitates Landlosd’equest of such estoppel certificate, includiqgpssible sale or financing of the Project), Tersdratll furnish to ar
party designated by Landlord, within ten businemgsdafter Landlord has made a request therefartdicate signed by Tenant substantiall
the form of estoppel certificate attached heret&xsbit G (together with any additional reasonable estopiaéments requested by a cur
or prospective Landlord’Mortgagee or prospective purchaser); providedigver, such form may be amended or modified teettient any ¢
the certifications or representations containedeiheare not true as of the date Tenant executesdime. If Tenant does not deliver to Lanc
the certificate signed by Tenant within such reggiiime period, an Event of Default shall have ocml

25.6 Natices. All notices and other communications given pundéua this Lease shall be in writing and shall lediveébrec
at the address specified in the Basic Lease Infliomas follows: (1) handelivered to the intended addressee, or (2) serd hgtionall
recognized overnight courier service. All noticesalsbe effective upon delivery to the addresshef addressee (even if such addressee rt
delivery thereof). The parties hereto may changée tiddresses by giving notice thereof to the oitheonformity with this provision.

25.7 Separability . If any clause or provision of this Lease is ilégnvalid, or unenforceable under present orriitaws
then the remainder of this Lease shall not be #ftethereby and in lieu of such clause or provisibare shall be added as a part of this Le
clause or provision as similar in terms to suckgll, invalid, or unenforceable clause or provisssnmay be possible and be legal, valid,
enforceable.

25.8 Amendments; Binding Effect; No Electronic Records. This Lease may not be amended except by instruim
writing signed by Landlord and Tenant. No provisafrthis Lease shall be deemed to have been wdiyddindlord unless such waiver is
writing signed by Landlord, and no custom or prativhich may evolve between the parties in the atnation of the terms hereof st
waive or diminish the right of Landlord to insispan the performance by Tenant in strict accordamite the terms hereof. Landlord ¢
Tenant hereby agree not to conduct the transaotiooeemmunications contemplated by this Lease bgtainic means, except by electronic




signatures as specifically set forth in Sectior®2Bor shall the use of the phrase “in writing”tbe word “written”be construed to inclu
electronic communications except by electronic aigres as specifically set forth in Section 25.8e Terms and conditions contained in
Lease shall inure to the benefit of and be bindimgpn the parties hereto, and upon their respediwecessors in interest and le
representatives, except as otherwise herein exprpssvided. This Lease is for the sole benefitLaindlord and Tenant, and, other t
Landlord’s Mortgagee, no third party shall be dedraehird party beneficiary hereof.

25.9 Counterparts . This Lease (and amendments to this Lease) maxéeuted in any number of counterparts, ea
which shall be deemed to be an original, and allwafh counterparts shall constitute one documemfagilitate execution of this Lease,
parties may execute and exchange, by telephonamige®r electronic mail PDF, counterparts of thgnature pages. Signature pages me
detached from the counterparts and attached togéesiopy of this Lease to physically form one duoeut.

25.10 Quiet Enjoyment . Provided no Event of Default exists, Tenant sipaidceably and quietly hold and enjoy
Premises for the Term, without hindrance, inteiinmpor interference from Landlord or any party oiaig by, through, or under Landlord,
not otherwise, subject to the terms and conditmfrihis Lease and all matters of record as of thie of this Lease which are applicable tc
Premises.

25.11 No Merger . There shall be no merger of the leasehold ebteby created with the fee estate in the Prenisasy
part thereof if the same person acquires or halidsctly or indirectly, this Lease or any interesthis Lease and the fee estate in the leas
Premises or any interest in such fee estate.

25.12 No Offer . The submission of this Lease to Tenant shallbeotonstrued as an offer, and Tenant shall not bay
rights under this Lease unless Landlord executespg of this Lease and delivers it to Tenant.

25.13 Entire Agreement; No Reliance. This Lease constitutes the entire agreement lestweandlord and Tene
regarding the subject matter hereof and supersaitiegrbal statements and prior writings relatihgreto. Except for those set forth in
Lease, no representations, warranties, or agresnienvte been made by Landlord or Tenant to the oflitr respect to this Lease or
obligations of Landlord or Tenant in connectionrtveith. Except as otherwise provided herein, nsegbent alteration, amendment, chany
addition to this Lease shall be binding unlessiiting and signed by Landlord and Tenant. The ndmula of construction that any ambiguit
be resolved against the drafting party shall ngthapo the interpretation of this Lease or any éitsior amendments hereto. Further, Te
disclaims any reliance upon any and all represiemstwarranties or agreements not expressly st ifo this Lease.

25.14 Governing Law . This Lease shall be governed by and construeat@ordance with the laws of the Provinc
Ontario and the federal laws of Canada applicdideein. Each of Landlord and Tenant attorns toettwdusive jurisdiction of the courts of 1
Province of Ontario.

25.15 Recording. No Tenant Party or anyone on behalf of a TenantyRhall register this Lease against the Landsah
may prepare and, following Landlord’s written appabthereof, register on title to the Lands, at di@fs cost, a notice or caveat in respet
this Lease (a Notice of Leasé’) which shall set forth only a description of theriges, the Term, (including options to extend) smch othe
minimum information required under applicable Lasvgeasonably requested by Tenant and which isrim satisfactory to Landlord, acti
reasonably. Tenant shall provide a copy of suckstegd Notice of Lease to Landlord for its recoatisl agrees that within ten business
after the expiration or earlier termination of thisase, Tenant shall arrange for the discharge fitbento the Lands of such Notice of Leas
any assignment or sublease or other document eniitp@an interest of Tenant or anyone claiming tgfoor under Tenant in respect of
Lease or the Premises. Tenant shall defend, indgnamd hold harmless Landlord and its represerdgatand agents from and against any
all claims, demands, liabilities, causes of actmnits, judgments, damages and expenses (includaspnable attorneyfes) arising from ar
Tenant Partys failure to comply with the provisions of this $en 25.15. The provisions of this Section shallvéte any expiration ¢
termination of this Lease.




25.16 Water or Mold Notification . To the extent Tenant or its agents or employéssoder any water leakage, wz
damage or mold in or about the Premises or Projectant shall promptly notify Landlord thereof imiting.

25.17 Joint and Several Liability . If Tenant consists of more than one party (oféhant permits any other party
occupy the Premises), each such party shall b&éyj@nd severally liable for Tenastobligations under this Lease. All unperformedgailon:
of Tenant hereunder not fully performed at the ehthe Term shall survive the end of the Term,udahg payment obligations with respec
Rent and all obligations concerning the conditiod eepair of the Premises.

25.18 Financial Reports. If Tenant or Guarantor is an entity that is ddhattin the United States of America or Can
and whose securities are funded through a pubtiorgies exchange subject to regulation by the éthibtates of America or Canada pub
traded over exchanges based in the United Stat€awada and whose financial statements are readiijable at no cost to Landlord,
terms of this Section 25.18 shall not apply. Othsewwithin 15 days after Landlord’s request, Tenaill furnish Guarantols most rece!
audited financial statements (including any notetheém) to Landlord, or, if no such audited statetaéave been prepared, such other fina
statements (and notes to them) as may have beearpteby an independent certified public accountdahant will discuss its financ
statements with Landlord. Landlord will not dis@oany aspect of Tenant's (or Guarargpifinancial statements that Tenant (or Guara
designates to Landlord as confidential except ¢1) @andlords Mortgagee or prospective mortgagees or purchadetfse Building, (2) i
litigation between Landlord and Tenant, and/or if3equired by Law or court order. Tenant shall et required to deliver the financ
statements required under this Section 25.18 niane dnce in any 12-month period unless requestddibgllord's Mortgagee or a prospect
buyer or lender of the Building or an Event of Défaccurs.

25.19 Landlord’s Fees Whenever Tenant requests Landlord to take arigraobt required of Landlord hereunder or ¢
any consent required or permitted under this Le@isaant will reimburse Landlord for Landlord’s reaable, out-opocket costs payable
third parties and incurred by Landlord in reviewsngd taking the proposed action or consent, inolpdéasonable engineers’ or architetag’
and reasonable attorneys’ fees (including amoulusaded by Landlord to Landlord’s ineuse counsel as well as fees and expenses chay
outside counsel engaged by Landlord), within 30sd&fyer Landlords delivery to Tenant of a statement of such cdsaant will be obligate
to make such reimbursement without regard to whidthadlord consents to any such proposed action.

25.20 Telecommunications. Tenant and its telecommunications companiesudiet local exchange telecommunicati
companies and alternative access vendor serviaqaparies, shall have a right of access to and witénBuilding, for the installation a
operation of telecommunications systems, includioice, video, data, Internet, and any other sesvipeovided over wire, fiber opt
microwave, wireless, and any other transmissionesys (“ Telecommunications Services), for part or all of Tenang telecommunicatiol
within the Building and from the Building to anyhet location, provided Landlord has previously eswéd and approved all pla
specifications and contracts pertaining to telecamigation service entry points, and any documemtsitich Landlord is a party or which nr
encumber the Project, which consent will not beeasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Allyiders of Telecommunications Servi
shall be required to comply with the rules and tations of the Project, applicable Laws and Landil®ipolicies and practices for the Proj
and shall be required, at Landloscklection, to enter into a license agreement wéhdlord to confirm and approve items such as, o
limitation, the proposed location (and labeling uegments) of wiring, cabling, fiber lines, poiné$ demarcation, entry into the Projt
insurance requirements and the like. Tenant ackedyds that Landlord shall not be required to pmwidarrange for any Telecommunicati
Services and that Landlord shall have no liabitity any Tenant Party in connection with the instadla operation or maintenance
Telecommunications Services or any equipment oilittas relating thereto. Tenant, at its cost amd fts own account, shall be sol
responsible for obtaining all Telecommunicationsvi®es.

25.21 Confidentiality . Tenant and Landlord each acknowledge that thestemd conditions of this Lease are to rel
confidential for both partiedienefit, and may not be disclosed by either partytyone, by any manner or means, directly or @éatly, withou
the other partys prior written consent; however, each party magcldse the terms and conditions of this Leasestadspective attorne
accountants, employees and existing or




prospective financial partners (including lendeRgrmitted Transferees or other transferees andlp asndlord, any potential purchas
brokers or any other party assisting Landlord ia #ale or valuation of the Project, or if requideg Law or court order or reporti
requirements applicable to Tenant or Guarantowigea all parties to whom Landlord or Tenant arerptted hereunder to disclose such te
and conditions are advised by such party of thdidential nature of such terms and conditions agié@ to maintain the confidentiality ther
(in each case, prior to disclosure). The disclogiagy shall be liable for any disclosures madeiatation of this Section by Tenant or by
entity or individual to whom the terms of and cdiutis of this Lease were disclosed or made avalbplthe disclosing party. The consent
party to any disclosures shall not be deemed ta Waiver on the part of such party of any prohilitagainst any future disclosure. Land
acknowledges that any information clearly markedrifidential” (save and except what is in public domain) delivenetkeceived by Landlo
from Tenant shall remain confidential and propmgt® Tenant, and Landlord agrees to hold and leemh information confidential as anc
the full extent provided herein. Landlord shall itssccommercially reasonable efforts to exercisaedlard’s rights to access the Premises u
this Lease in a manner which respects and adhefesniant’s security and confidentiality requirensent

25.22 Authority . Tenant (if a corporation, partnership or othesibess entity) hereby represents and warrantsndlae
that as of the date hereof Tenant is a duly foraredi existing entity qualified to do business in pinevince in which the Premises are loce
that Tenant has full right and authority to execte deliver this Lease, and that each personrgjgm behalf of Tenant is authorized to dc
Landlord hereby represents and warrants to Tehant fandlord is a duly formed and existing entitiakified to do business in the provinct
which the Premises are located, that Landlord bgifht and authority to execute and deliver thase, and that each person signin
behalf of Landlord is authorized to do so.

25.23 Hazardous Materials. The term “Hazardous Materials” means any substance, material, or waste whichvisan
hereafter classified or considered to be hazardug;, or dangerous under any Law relating to yt@h or the protection or regulation
human health, natural resources or the environnoemioses or threatens to pose a hazard to thehtwradafety of persons on the Premises
the Project. No Tenant Party shall use, genertiee sr Release (defined below), or permit the geaeration, storage or Release of Hazal
Materials on or about the Premises or the Projeo¢@ in a manner and quantity necessary for thmary performance of Tenastbusines
and then in compliance with all Laws and in a reabde and prudent manner. As used hereRelease’ means depositing, spilling, leakii
pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, dischargiimgecting, escaping, leaching, dumping or disposifgnant shall notify Landlord prompt
and in reasonable detail, if and when Tenant bescameare of any Release of Hazardous Materialangdtirth in writing the action whic
Tenant intends to take with respect to such matitethe extent Tenant is responsible for such matteler this Lease. If any Tenant P
breaches its obligations under this Section 25up®&n five business daysbotice to Tenant (provided, however, if Tenant basimenced 1
cure such breach and is diligently pursuing the= dorcompletion, Landlord may not take such actiatil ten business days after notict
Tenant) (except in the case of emergency in whichatice is required) Landlord may take any andietion reasonably appropriate to ren
the same (including encapsulation of such materahoval of such material, or other remedial actiibat may be required by Law) ¢
thereafter diligently pursue such action to conipietincluding taking all appropriate action to abeup or remediate any contamina
resulting from such Tenant Paidyuse, generation, storage or disposal of Hazardtaterials as required by Law. Tenant shall dei
indemnify, and hold harmless Landlord and its repngatives and agents from and against any anda@ihs, demands, liabilities, cause:
action, suits, judgments, damages and expensdsding reasonable attorneyiges and cost of clean up and remediation) ariiom any
Tenant Party’s failure to comply with the provissoof this Section 25.23 in accordance with Tersaimtlemnity obligations under Section 1
hereof. Subject to Section 11.3, Landlord shalkindify and hold Tenant harmless from any and aint$, demands, liabilities, cause:
action, suits, judgments, damages and expensdsding reasonable attorneyfges and cost of clean up and remediation) actiradiyrred b
Tenant as a result of a claim brought against Tebgrany third party (not including any Tenant Fadue to (a) any default by Landlo
beyond any applicable notice and cure and curegetinder this Section 25.23, (b)the breach of lats representations and warrantie
Section 26.15.8 below, or (c)the presence of Hamawdaterials located in or on the Project as eflthase Date, at concentrations excee
those allowed by applicable environmental Laws aoidintroduced by any Tenant Party. Tenant shdllundertake any invasive investigal
of the soil or groundwater at the Project unlessessary to use the Premises as intended, andhariywith Landlords prior written conser
which consent may be withheld in Landlord’s sold absolute discretion. Notwithstanding the foregoih Tenant




discovers that Hazardous Materials (other than soaterials placed in the Premises by a Tenant Rardyother than those in nogportabli
guantities that are customarily used in connectioth the operation and maintenance of the Premises)located in the Premises
concentrations exceeding those allowed by appkcahiiironmental Laws, Tenant shall immediatelyfgdtandlord in writing. Landlord she
take such action in connection therewith as isirequby applicable Laws, taking into account thenowercial use of the Premises. If any ac
or proceeding is brought against Tenant with respeevhich indemnity may be sought by Tenant urttéés Section 25.23, Landlord, ug
written notice from Tenant, will assume the invgation and defense thereof, including the employroérounsel (selected by Landlord in
sole discretion) and payment of all related expgn§enant will have the right to employ separatensel in any such action or proceeding
to participate in the defense thereof, but Landleiltinot be required to pay the fees and expew$asich separate counsel unless such se
counsel is employed with the written approval andsent of Landlord, which approval or consent shalin Landlord$ sole discretion, or
there is a conflict of interest between the parteggarding the proceeding. These indemnity prousiare intended to allocate responsit
between Landlord and Tenant under environmentalsLamd shall survive termination or expiration déthease. If any Hazardous Mater
are located in the Building or in, on, under or athine Project (other than such materials placettiénBuilding or Project by a Tenant Pat
Landlord shall promptly take such action in conimcttherewith as may be (and within the time frameguired by Law (includir
encapsulation of such material, removal of suchenwdt or other remedial action that may be requlyg Law) and thereafter diligently pur:
such action to completion. Tenant acknowledgespeoéthe Phase | Environmental Site Assessmeteiddapril 2014 prepared by Conestoga
Rovers & Associates as Report No. 23. Notwithstagdhe foregoing and any other provision of thisaées Tenant has no obligatior
undertake the cleaning up, remediating, contairangl/or restoring of any Hazardous Materials inpat above, below or around the Projet
any part(s) thereof that were not caused or caneibto by any Tenant Party.

25.24 List of Exhibits . All exhibits and attachments attached heretdra@rporated herein by this reference.

Exhibit A -  Site Plan

Exhibit B - Outline of Premises

Exhibit C - Description of the Land

Exhibit D - Building Rules and Regulations

Exhibit E - Tenant Finish-Work: Allowance (Tenderforms the Work)
Exhibit F - Form of Confirmation of Commencem®&dte Letter

Exhibit G - Form of Tenant Estoppel Certificate

Exhibit H - Parking

Exhibit | - Extension Option

Exhibit J - Right of First Offer (4000 Innovatip

Exhibit K - Guarantee

Exhibit L - Depiction of Tenant’s Logo

Exhibit M -  Building Sign

Exhibit N - Form of Lease Recognition and NorstDibance Agreement
Exhibit O - Primary Competitors

Exhibit P - Right of First Refusal (5050 Innoie)

Exhibit Q - Landlord Repair Obligations

Exhibit R - Disclosure Documents

25.25 Time of the Essence Time is of the essence of this Lease and evatyhpaeof.

25.26 Planning Act . This Lease is expressly conditional upon comgkawith the provisions of Section 50 of fAknning
Act (Ontario) and any amendments thereto, if applicabéndlord shall use its commercially reasonablertsf to obtain any consents
approvals necessary for compliance with any applécprovisions of Section 50 of tfdanning Act(Ontario) and any amendments thereto
until such time the Term of this Lease shall batkohto the maximum term less one (1) day permitteder said Act.




25.27 Currency . All Rent and other amounts of money in this Lease expressed in and refer to Canadian dollar
shall be paid in the lawful currency of Canada.

25.28 Cross Default. An event of default (beyond any applicable ngtgmce and cure periods) under the New Builc
Lease between Landlord or Landlasdiffiliate and Tenant shall constitute an EvenDefault under this Lease, and any Event of Defandte
this Lease shall constitute an event of defaulenide New Buildings Lease between Landlord or lenuis Affiliate and Tenant (without a
obligation to give Tenant any notice or opportundycure period thereunder).

26. Other Provisions.

26.1 Building Directory Lobby Signage. Landlord shall include Tenastinformation in any Building directory locatec
the lobby of the Building, if any.

26.2 Monument Signage. Subject to Landlord’s and all applicable authesitprior approval of the location, design, s
color, material composition and plans and spedifios therefor, and provided that the lettering sists of Tenans name and/or logo
depicted on Exhibit Ihereto, Tenant may, at its sole risk and expersestaict a monument sign (thévlonument Sign”) displaying Tenang
name and/or logo on the Building grounds. If Lamdlgrants its approval, Tenant shall erect the Mognt Sign in accordance with
approved plans and specifications, in a good andmanlike manner, in accordance with all Laws, tagjons, restrictions (governmental
otherwise), and architectural guidelines in effemt the area in which the Building is located, smd as Tenant has received all requ
approvals thereunder (theSlgn Requirements’), and in a manner so as not to unreasonably intenwfiéhethe use of the Project grounds w
such construction is taking place; thereafter, Tieishdall maintain the Monument Sign in a good, rtlaad safe condition in accordance \
the Sign Requirements, all at Tenardble cost and expense. If Tenant fails to mairiteée Monument Sign in accordance with the ternthig
Lease within five days after Landlord’s written vegt therefor, then Landlord may elect to repadf xaintain the Monument Sign at Tenant’
expense. If at any time any portion of the illuniioa feature of the Monument Sign fails such thHa Monument Sign is not prope
illuminated for a period of 30 consecutive daysrmre, such illumination feature may be disabled_Bgdlord at Tenans' expense, and st
feature shall not be used until the same has bepaired. Tenant shall install the Monument Signhinit36 months following tf
Commencement Date, or Tenantights under this Section 26.2 shall expire, theeg of the essence with respect thereto. THesigrante
to Tenant under this Secti@8.2 are personal to Ciena Canada, Inc., may neisbigned to any party other than a Permitted Tessws an
may be revoked by Landlord if Tenant or its Peradtiransferee ceases to occupy at least 50% aktitable square feet in the Prem
required to be leased by Tenant. So long as Téadmé only tenant of the Project, no other persay display its name on the Monument £
Any changes or additions to Tenant's lettering Isbal subject to Landlord’ prior written approval, which approval may behhigld ir
Landlord’s reasonable discretion, and shall be nsdenant’s (or its Permitted Transfemdesole cost and expense. For all purposes unid
Lease, the Monument Sign shall be deemed to bedadlwithin the definition of Tenant's Off-Premideguipment.

26.3 Building Fascia Signage. Subject to Landlord prior approval of the location, design, size,ocolmaterie
composition and plans and specifications therdfenant may construct and install, at Tensuetst and expense, building fascia sighage ¢
Building (hereinafter, collectively the Building Sign ") which Tenant shall be entitled to maintain on thdldng for the Term and ai
extension subject to the terms of this Section .28.8onceptual mock-up of the Building Sign is attad hereto as Exhibit MLandlord wil
not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay isent to Tenant's Building Sign provided the Bimigd Sign consists of Tenast'standar
name and/or logo depicted on Exhibihkreto. If Landlord grants its approval, Tenantistr@ct the Building Sign in accordance with thign
Requirements, and in a manner so as not to unreblsomterfere with the use of the Project whilelseonstruction is taking place; therea
Tenant shall maintain the Building Sign in a godéan and safe condition in accordance with tha Sgquirements, all at Tenantsole cot
and expense. If Tenant fails to maintain the BagdBign in accordance with the terms of this Leaskin five days after Landlord’ writter
request therefor, then Landlord may elect to repanl maintain the Building Sign at Tenangxpense. If at any time any portion of
illumination feature of the Building Sign fails dut¢hat the Building Sign is not properly illumindtéor a period of 30 consecutive day:
more, such illumination feature may be disabled_bpdlord at Tenan$’ expense, and such feature shall not be usedtatdame has be
repaired. After the end of the Term or after Tersanght to possess




the Premises has been terminated, Tenant shallveeithe Building Sign, repair all damage causedetwerand restore the Building to
condition before the installation of the Buildin@®. If Tenant fails to do so prior to such datantlord may, without compensation to Ten
at Tenant$ expense, remove the Building Sign, perform theted restoration and repair work and dispose @Bhilding Sign in any mann
Landlord deems appropriate. The rights grantedetoaiit under this Section 26.3 are personal to Giamada, Inc., may not be assigned tc
party other than Permitted Transferee and may\ekesl by Landlord if Tenant or its Permitted Tramek ceases to occupy at least 50% ¢
rentable square feet in the Premises required tiedmsed by Tenant. Any changes or additions to f&n&8uilding Sign shall be subject
Landlord’s prior written approval, which approvahynbe withheld in Landlord’s reasonable discretimd shall be made at Tenangole co:
and expense. For all purposes under this Leas@&ulh@ing Sign shall be deemed to be included witthie definition of Tenant's Oftremise
Equipment. So long as Tenant is the only tenati@Project, no other person may display its nam#he fascia of the Building.

26.4 Flag Signage. Subject to Landlord’s and all applicable authesitprior approval of the location, design, size, cy
material composition and plans and specificatitvesetfor, and provided that the lettering consi$t§emants name and/or logo as depictec
Exhibit L hereto, Tenant may, at its sole risk and expersestaict up to two flag poles on the Project grautabllectively, the ‘Elag Signaq:
"). If Landlord grants its approval, Tenant shall ettbet Flag Signage in accordance with the Sign Reménts, and in a manner so as n
unreasonably interfere with the use of the Proggounds while such construction is taking placerehfter, Tenant shall maintain the F
Signage in a good, clean and safe condition inrdecwe with the Sign Requirements, all at Tersastle cost and expense. If Tenant fai
maintain the Flag Signage in accordance with th@geof this Lease within five days after Landlardiritten request therefor, then Landl
may elect to repair and maintain the Flag Signagenants expense. The rights granted to Tenant unde#ttion 26.4 are personal to Ci
Canada, Inc., may not be assigned to any party dtfa® a Permitted Transferee and may be revokeldabglord if Tenant or its Permitt
Transferee ceases to occupy at least 50% of ttielhlensquare feet in the Premises required to et by Tenant. So long as Tenant i
only tenant of the Project, no other person mapldisits name on the Flag Signage. Any changediditians to Tenans lettering shall k
subject to Landlord’s prior written approval, whiapproval may be withheld in Landlord’s reasonalideretion, and shall be made at Tenant
(or its Permitted Transfere®)’sole cost and expense. For all purposes uniek ¢ase, the Flag Signage shall be deemed tocheded withir
the definition of Tenant’s Off-Premises Equipment.

26.5 Attorneys’ Fees. If there is any legal or arbitration action oopeeding between Landlord and Tenant to enforc
provision of this Lease or to protect or estabbsly right or remedy of either Landlord or Tenantehwder, the unsuccessful party to ¢
action or proceeding will pay to the prevailing tyaall reasonable, actual out-pécket costs and expenses paid or payable to plairties
including reasonable attorneyfges incurred by such prevailing party in suchaactr proceeding and in any appeal in connectienethith
and if such prevailing party recovers a judgmenaiy such action, proceeding or appeal, such cegfenses and attorneyges will be
determined by the court or arbitration panel hargdthe proceeding and will be included in and pard of such judgment.

26.6 Tenant's Cancellation Right. Tenant may cancel this Lease effective as ofabsieday of the 158 Lease Month b
delivering to Landlord at least 18 full calendarntits before the cancellation date written notiegebf. No penalty or termination cost, fe:
expense, nor any reimbursement of any unamortizednt improvement allowance shall be payable byafiein connection with su
cancellation. As a condition to the effectivenes3@nants cancellation right, Tenant shall pay to Landlordor prior to the cancellation d
any past-due amounts then outstanding under theeL&a&nant’s rights under this Section 26.6 skathinate, at Landlord’ option, if (a) a
Event of Default exists when Tenant delivers thecedlation notice or on the cancellation date, @ndnt assigns its interest in this Lease t
than to a Permitted Transferee, or (c) Tenant failely to deliver the cancellation notice or ihi@twise unable to exercise this cancelle
right, time being of the essence with respect theté Tenant delivers the cancellation notice tmtlord, Tenant shall have no further right
extend or renew the Term under this Lease, and Isaa¢ no option to lease additional space in thuget or related complex or any rights
first offer, rights of first opportunity or rightsf first refusal with respect to space in the Reb@ related complex; accordingly any provisio
this Lease granting Tenant an extension or reneptbn or any option to lease additional spacénePRroject or related complex or any ri
of first offer, rights of first opportunity or rigs of first




refusal with respect to space in the Project ateel complex shall be automatically deleted inrthatirety as of the date of Tenanteliven
of the cancellation notice to Landlord, without theed for any additional documentation.

26.7 Security System. Tenant may, at its sole cost and expense, iretadllectronic card key system within the Prem
To the extent that Landlord installs an electrardiod key system serving the Building, Tenant salfesponsible for ensuring that its card
system is compatible with the card key system sgrthe Building. Tenant shall furnish Landlord wéatcopy of all key codes or access ¢
and Tenant shall ensure that Landlord shall haceszcto the Premises at all times. Additionallyndre shall ensure that such system
comply with all Laws, including all fire safety layand in no event shall Landlord be liable ford dnant shall defend, indemnify, and ¥
harmless Landlord and its representatives and ademn any claims, demands, liabilities, causesaifon, suits, judgments, damages
expenses arising from, such system or the malfomicty thereof in accordance with Tenanihdemnity contained in Section 11.4 her
Sections 8 and 21 of this Lease shall govern tbglilation, maintenance and Landlord’s removaltsghith respect to such security system.

26.8 Guarantee. As additional consideration for Landlord to eriteo this Lease, Tenant shall cause Guarantadégfinec
in Exhibit K ) to execute the guarantee, attached hereto adiExhiand Tenant shall deliver same to Landlord conteapewously wit
Tenant's execution hereof. Tenanfailure to deliver such guarantee as requirethé preceding sentence shall be an automatic Ef
Default under this Lease, with no notice being seagy to Tenant, and Landlord shall be entitledXercise any and all rights and reme
available to it hereunder, as well as at law oedquity. Additionally, if Tenant fails to deliver sl guarantee, Landlord, notwithstanc
anything to the contrary contained in this Leaagshall not be required to perform any tenant owpment work in the Premises, (b) shall
be required to make any reimbursements or allowsaiceonnection with any tenant improvement wodj, ghall not be required to pay
brokerage commissions to the broker or brokersestting Tenant in connection with this Lease (Berdnt shall indemnify Landlord agai
all costs, expenses, attornefes, and other liability for commissions or othempensation claimed by any broker or agent clajntire sam
by, through, or under Tenant), (d) may terminaie tiease by providing Tenant five days advanceteninotice thereof, and (e) shall no
required to honor any extension rights, renewditsgexpansion rights, rights of first offer, prefietial rights to lease, or rights of first reft
set forth in this Lease, if any.

26.9 New Buildings Lease. Landlord, or its Affiliate(s), intends to entertd one or more leases with Tenant for
buildings to be constructed by Landlord within tieéated complex (whether one or more, thiéew Buildings Leas€’). To the extent that tl
Term of this Lease is not coterminous with the éeesm of the New Buildings Lease, Landlord andargrshall execute an amendment to
Lease (if the Term of this Lease expires priohi® lease term of the New Buildings Lease) extenttiaglerm to be coterminous with the le
term of the New Buildings Lease and otherwise @nstime terms and conditions provided in this Lease.

26.10 Arbitration Regarding Additional Rent . All disputes, controversies or claims regardiatrulations of Addition:
Rent may be determined and finally resolved infttlewing manner:

26.10.1 The dispute shall be submitted to alsiagbitrator to be agreed upon by the partiesyigea that if
single arbitrator cannot be agreed upon by thegsawtithin ten (10) days after the appointment efrgle arbitrator has been reque
by one of the parties in writing, then the dispsitall be referred to a board of three (3) arbitsgtone to be appointed by eacl
Landlord and Tenant and a third arbitrator to beo@ted by the first two appointed arbitratorsthié first two arbitrators do not ag
within a period of ten (10) days upon the appointha# the third arbitrator, then upon the applioatdf either Landlord or Tenant,
third arbitrator shall be appointed by a Judgehef $uperior Court of Ontario. Each arbitrator shallan independent, profession
accredited chartered accountant qualified to perfibre functions required of him or her pursuarthie Section 26.10.

26.10.2 If either Landlord or Tenant shall refum neglect to appoint an arbitrator within te@)(@lays after tt
other party shall have appointed an arbitrator, stradl have served a written notice upon the psotyefusing or neglecting to appc¢
an arbitrator requiring such party to make suchoapgment, then the arbitrator first appointed shatl the request of the ps
appointing him, proceed to hear and determine thgute as if he were a single arbitrator appoifttgdboth Landlord and Tenant
that purpose.




thereof,

26.10.3 The determination which shall be madetHay said arbitrators or a majority of them, or thg singl
arbitrator, as the case may be, shall be finalkanding upon the parties hereto and the costseohtbitration and remuneration of
third arbitrator, if any, shall be borne equallyveeen the parties hereto, each of the partiesgedine remuneration of the arbitre
appointed by it.

26.10.4 The provisions of this paragraph shaltdbemed to be submission to arbitration, to bd methe City o
Ottawa, within the provisions of the Arbitration Ad991 (Ontario) and any statutory modificationreeenactment thereof; provid
that any limitation on the remuneration of arbitratimposed by such legislation shall not have iegpbn to any arbitratic
proceeding commenced pursuant to this paragraph.

26.11 No Operating Covenant. Tenant shall not be obligated to continuously as¢o occupy the Premises or p
but shall continue to be obligated to migk@ayments of Rent and comply with its otheligdiions under this Lease.

26.12 Exercise of Approval Rights.

26.12.1 Time Limits . Whenever in this Lease the consent or approvaitbér Landlord or Tenant is requir
such consent or approval shall be given or withhatdthe case may be, within the time limit sethfdherein for such consent
approval or, if no time limit is specified, withimot more than ten (10) business days followingipte® written notice of the matter
be approved or disapproved (such time limit beimghis Section 26.12 referred to as th&ithe Limit "). Unless the contrary
expressly provided for in this Lease:

(a) the party requesting the approval shallhat time of its request, in writing, notify the pamvhos¢
approval is required of the section or sectionthis Lease which pertain to the matter to be apguiceand references the Ti
Limit;

(b) the party whose approval is required wilthin the Time Limit notify the requesting party writing
either that it approves, or that it withholds ippeoval, setting forth in reasonable detail itssares for withholding; and

(c) the party requesting the approval shall atinthe party whose approval is required and prevat
information concerning the same requested by thy pdose approval is required.

26.12.2 Approval Standard . Except as otherwise provided in this Lease, aunse approval shall not
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed &medright to consent or approve and the exercigedgfiment and discretion shall
exercised responsibly, and any refusal to congethtaay disapproval shall be in writing and shaéia@fy with particularity the reaso
therefor. However, wherever in this Lease, Landlordlenant are given the right to consent or refwseonsent or to approve
disapprove unreasonably, arbitrarily or in its sdigcretion, it may consent, refuse to consenty@mpor disapprove unreasona
arbitrarily, in its sole discretion and without amgason and need not specify in writing any redkerefore.

26.13 Landlord’s Default.

26.13.1 General Provisions. Landlord shall be in default under this Leaskahdlord fails to perform any of
obligations hereunder following the Commencementeland such failure continues for 30 days afterafemelivers to Landlo
written notice specifying such failure; howeversiich failure cannot reasonably be cured withirhsg@day period, but Landlo
commences to cure such failure within suchda@-period and thereafter diligently pursues thenguthereof to completion, th
Landlord shall not be in default hereunder or kafilr damages therefor. Except as provided belothignSection 26.13, and exc
where the provisions of this Lease grant Tenarebqness, exclusive remedy, or expressly deny Tenant




a remedy, Tenant’'s exclusive remedy for Landlerdilure to perform its obligations under this keashall be limited to damag
injunctive relief, or specific performance; in eachse, Landlord liability or obligations with respect to any suamedy shall k
limited as provided in Section 25.2.

26.13.2 Tenant's Right of SelfHelp . If Landlord is in default of this Lease as pradin Section 26.13.1 abc
after the notice and cure period described thearthLandlord does not dispute in good faith thatdlard is obligated pursuant to
terms of this Lease to perform the obligation irsfion, Tenant shall have the right to cure sudaulieas more particularly descrit
below after giving an additional written noticegth Second Notic€’) to Landlord. If such default remains uncured foraalditiona
ten business days after Landlord’s receipt of theo8d Notice, and such failure by Landlord mathriahd adversely affects Tenant’
use or occupancy of the Premises, then, provideBwemt of Default by Tenant then exists, Tenant mpasform such obligation
good and workmanlike manner and compliance witiLaWs and this Lease. Thereafter Landlord shall fgayenant the reasona
out-ofpocket costs actually incurred by Tenant to cughgiefault within 30 days following receipt by Laodi of the paid invoice
therefor. Notwithstanding anything to the contragntained herein, if the obligation to be performmd Tenant will affect th
Building’s Systems or the Building’Structure, Tenant shall use only those contraaised by Landlord in the Project for work
such systems or structure, as applicable. All otloetractors that have not been previously apprdoyetlandlord shall be subject
Landlord’s reasonable approval and Landlord agrees to appmokeject any contractor proposed to be useddmaifit within 48 hou
of receipt of the Second Notice; provided that {fraposed contractor is duly licensed, bondedple to satisfy Landlord’ vendo
insurance requirements, perform similar work in panable buildings and Landlord does not have soredde objection to the use
such contractor, Landlord agrees not to withhoddaipproval of the proposed contractor. Tenant stefibnd, indemnify, and hc
harmless Landlord and its representatives and sgeeom and against all claims, demands, liabilitieauses of action, su
judgments, damages, and expenses (including relalsontiorneys’ fees) arising from Tenant's exerai$esuch selfaelp rights il
accordance with Tenant's indemnity contained inti8acl1.4 hereof.

26.13.3 Tenant's Offset Right. If Landlord fails to pay the amounts owed by Liand to Tenant as provided
Section 26.13.2 above within such 88y period, Tenant may offset such costs that arénngood faith disputed by Landlord aga
Tenants next accruing installments of Basic Rent untihd has been reimbursed for such costs; proviuadever, that the amot
offset against Basic Rent in any single month shatllexceed 50% of the Basic Rent payable for sughth.

26.14 Roof Rights. Provided that Tenant complies with terms of Bétion 26.14, during the Term and any exten:
thereof, Landlord agrees to allow Tenant to placeé maintain, at Tenant's risk and expense, anterarae nonpenetrating satellite dish
voice, fiber optic, video, data, and internet artieo telecommunications communications equipmemtluding all required equipme
infrastructure, conduits, chase ways and connégtiguired to operate them (th@&lecom Equipment”), on the rooftop of the Building a
location approved by Landlord. That portion of teftop of the Building made available by Landldod equipment of tenants of the Pro
shall be for the exclusive use of Tenant save awdm in the event Tenant ceases to occupy 100#teoBuilding, in which event: (a) Teni
shall retain the exclusive right and entitlementhe use of that portion of the rooftop area ovwer laboratory areas on the first floor of
Premises; (b) Tenant shall also retain the exckusight and entittement of the areas where it naémst its equipment together witt
proportionate share of that portion of the remajranea of the roof of the Building made availabjellandlord for equipment of tenants of
Project (e.g. if Tenant occupies 50% of the remtalsba of the Building, then it shall be entitledtie exclusive use of that portion of 509
the available area made available by Landlord fmigment of tenants of the Project of the roof);L(@ndlord shall only permit installations
the roof by third parties if they do not damagematerially interfere with Tenarg’business, security or equipment at the Premidgsandlorc
covenants and agrees not to permit the use of ageson the roof by any Primary Competitor withbahants prior written consent; and
Tenant shall be entitled to screen/fence off ited@m Equipment, at its expense, subject to LadtBoapproval which cannot be unreason
withheld, conditioned or delayed. Tenant acknowésdg@nd agrees that Landlord may take into accoesthetics to ensure that s
screen/fence does not visibly or physically detfemin the facade of the Building and surroundingibass park. The installation of Tenant’
Telecom Equipment shall be subject to Tenant pingidlandlord with detailed designs and specifigadioall necessary consents, appro
permits or registrations, including architecturaidglines in effect




for the area in which the Building is located asytmay be amended from time to time, required fer installation, maintenance, use
operation of the Telecom Equipment and Landlordl, it consultants and engineers, approving aneéweng said designs and specificatic
which approval shall not be unreasonably withh&ldtwithstanding anything to the contrary contairfextein, Landlord may withhold

consent to the installation of the Telecom EquiphiEsuch installation would require any penetratiaf the Buildings roof. If the Telecol
Equipment uses any electricity, Tenant shall payttie cost to purchase and install electrical submequipment and wiring, and theree
Tenant shall pay to Landlord the monthly electrisabmeter charges throughout the Term. Landéoapproval of any such plans |
specifications shall not constitute a representatiowarranty by Landlord that such plans and gations comply with sound architectt
guidelines and/or engineering practices or will phmwith all applicable Laws; such compliance shmlthe sole responsibility of Tenant.
third-party costs of Landlord relating to such approvad aeview are to be borne by Tenant. Tenant shathil the Telecom Equipment
accordance with the detailed designs and spedditatsubmitted and approved by Landlord per thevatand shall take such neces:
measures to ensure that it does not interfere aithequipment, installation, dish and/or antenma®a other communication system or
near the Building then in existence at the timénefallation. Upon expiry or termination of thisdse, Tenant shall be responsible for all ¢
for the removal of the Telecom Equipment, repairdmy damage incurred to the roof of the Buildingaa®sult of its access, installation

removal of the Telecom Equipment, and restoringrtied to the condition in which it were prior toetlinstallation of the Telecom Equipme
subject to reasonable wear and tear. Tenant stalis own expense, maintain and insure the TeleEgoipment during the Term and
extensions thereof. Tenant shall operate and maitiee Telecom Equipment and the screening therefagood repair and condition,
accordance with all Laws, all manufactusesuggested maintenance programs, and the appplaed and specifications therefor, al
Tenant's sole cost and expense. In addition to fi#mather obligations hereunder, Tenant, at its oast @nd expense, shall enter in
regularly scheduled preventive maintenance/sereiggract with a maintenance contractor approved. drydlord for servicing the Telecc
Equipment and associated equipment within or sgrthe Premises. The service contract must incliideeevices suggested by the equipn
manufacturer in its operations/maintenance mano@lsa executed copy of such contract (which mayedacted to remove any confider
information unrelated to the scope of work covdresteby) must be provided to Landlord. All workatihg to the Telecom Equipment shal
Tenant’s expense, be coordinated with Landlordtfing contractor so as not to affect any warramtythe Buildings roof. Tenant may n
relocate any of the Telecom Equipment without therpwritten consent of Landlord. Tenant agreeg,tbhpon at least 30 dayptior writter
notice to Tenant from Landlord that Landlord regaiiTenant to relocate any Telecom Equipment (whatfte may be given at any time i
from time to time during the Term), Tenant shalbcate such Telecom Equipment (as requested bylbat)drom the then existing location
any substitute location reasonably designated mdload on the Building. Tenant shall complete stalbcation prior to the expiration of st
30-day period and upon the expiration of suchd89-period Tenant shall have no further right te as occupy the prior location until 1
completion of such roof repair or replacement, hici time Landlord may notify Tenant to relocatelb#o the original location and Ten
will perform such relocation as soon as reasongbdgticable after such notice. In the event Lardllexercises its right to cause Tenar
relocate all or a portion of the Telecom Equipmpuatsuant this Section 26.14, Landlord shall usecimmercially reasonable efforts
minimize any disruption to Tenastoperations as a result thereof. Tenant shallir@fladamage to the Building caused by the inataih
maintenance or removal of the Telecom Equipmergngt such prior rooftop locations. Any and all costsl expenses associated with
relocation of any such Telecom Equipment and rdla¢storation work in order to accommodate theirepgplacement or maintenance of
roof or other area of the Building, or equipmensaasated with any of the foregoing, shall be paydTenant within 30 days followir
Landlord’s request therefor. Otherwise, any sudbcegion and related restoration shall be at Lami$ocost and expense. Tenant and Te
Parties shall have access to the rooftop of thédBgi at all times during the Term, at Tenangole risk. For all purposes under this Leas¢
Telecom Equipment shall be deemed to be includedimihe definition of Tenant's Off-Premises Equiggmh LANDLORD SHALL HAVE

NO RESPONSIBILITY OR LIABILITY TO TENANT, ITS AGENT S, EMPLOYEES, CONTRACTORS, VISITORS OR INVITEES
FOR, LOSSES, DAMAGES OR INJURY TO PERSONS OR PROPERY CAUSED BY, RELATED TO, OR ARISING OUT OF OR
IN CONNECTION WITH, ANY SUCH CONNECTION TO, USE OF, OR FAILURE, NON-PERFORMANCE OR INADEQUATE
PERFORMANCE OF, THE TELECOM EQUIPMENT, AND TENANT H EREBY RELEASES LANDLORD FROM ANY AND ALL

LIABILITY FOR SUCH LOSSES, DAMAGES OR INJURY, EVEN IF CAUSED BY THE NEGLIGENCE OF LANDLORD OR ITS

EMPLOYEES AND/OR AGENTS (BUT NOT TO THE EXTENT CAUS ED BY THE GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL

MISCONDUCT OF LANDLORD OR ITS EMPLOYEES AND/OR AGEN TS). Tenant may only use the Telecom




Equipment in connection with Tenasitbusiness. Tenant shall not allow any third psotuse such equipment, whether by sublease, lig
occupancy agreement or otherwise, except in commeutith Permitted Transfers and any other Trarsségproved by Landlord. So long
Tenant is the sole occupant of the Building, Lardlloovenants and agrees that it shall not underiakgall or consent to or permit to
installed on the roof the Building any solar, wiadother similar apparatus, billboard, signage thiepinstallation save and except with
consent of Tenant.

26.15 Landlord’s Representations and Warranties. Landlord warrants and represents to Tenant, todload’s
knowledge, as of the Lease Date, and except aswitieeprovided in the diligence materials delivebyd_andlord to Tenant listed Exhibit R
hereto (including the Phase | Environmental Sitsessment referenced in Section 25.23 above), imntion that is publicly available (a)
the registered title to the Project, (b) relatiogtite zoning of the Project or (c) relating to fexes payable with respect to the Projec
follows:

26.15.1 Title and Characteristics of Lands. As of the Lease Date, pursuant to a head leasel diday 28, 201
by and between Landlord and Innovation Blvd. |, L l&CDelaware limited liability company (theHead Lease”) Landlord is th
registered and beneficial owner of the leasehdieré@st in the Project and has good and marketéldetiereto free and clear of
mortgages, liens, charges, security interestsrictee covenants, conditions, restrictions, easelerights-ofway, license:
encroachments, judgments and other encumbrancesdaedse rights of third parties, other than théside and as otherwise disclc
by the parcel registers as of the date hereof. Hémd Lease is in good standing and in full forcd affect without any default |
either party thereto.

26.15.2 Conflicts . The execution and entry into this Lease and #rdopmance by Landlord of its duties
obligations under this Lease are consistent with r@ot in violation of, and will not create any adse condition under, any contr:
agreement or other instrument to which Landlora igarty, or any judicial order or judgment of argture by which Landlord
bound.

26.15.3 Expropriation . No part of the Project has been taken or expatguliby any Governmental Authority
Landlord has received no notice of, nor is Landlaveare of, any pending, threatened or contemplat#idn by any Governmen
Authority having the power to expropriate, whichgimi result in any part of the Project being takgrekpropriation or conveyed
lieu thereof.

26.15.4 Litigation . There is no action, suit or proceeding pendinthogatened by or against or affecting Land
or the Project which does or will involve or affélse Project or title thereto.

26.15.5 Boundaries. (a) There is no dispute involving or concernihg tocation of the boundaries of the Pro
(b) there are no encroachments on the Project argbrtion of the Project is located within any fibplain area established by
local conservation authority or any other GoverntakAuthority having jurisdiction; and (c) no pani of the Project is located witt
a watershed or flood-plain area imposing restngtiopon use of the Project or any part thereof;

26.15.6 No Violations . There are no violations of any applicable Lawsany other legal requirements w
respect to the Project (inclusive of environmeidals) which have not been cured. Landlord has vedeno written notice that a
Governmental Authority or quagevernmental Authority has determined that theee @arch violations which have not been ct
There are no open building permits with respet¢héoProject.

26.15.7 Prior Options . Except for Tenant under this Lease, no personamysagreement, understanding
commitment, option or right of first refusal, oryaright or privilege capable of becoming such tog purchase or lease of any inte
in the Project, or any part thereof.

26.15.8 Hazardous Materials . Landlord is not aware of any Hazardous Materaisthe Land or within tt
Premises in violation of any applicable environna¢hiaw. Landlord has not given, nor does it have alligation to give, nor has
received, any notice or claim or communication rdigey any present, planned or threatened treatnsémtage, disposal, preser
release or spill of any Hazardous Materials




at, on, under or from the Project, including anyitten notice pursuant to any Laws. Landlord hasldsed the most rece
environmental report in its possession in respétii@Project or any part(s) thereof to Tenant.

26.15.9 Disclosure. The documents listed in Exhibit fiereto constitute all reports, studies, tests, dtigations
warranties and guarantees and related documentatidasive of warranty claims) in respect of th®ject, the related project and :
part(s) thereof in the possession of Landlord.

Landlord and Tenant each specifically acknowledu agree that all references in this Lease to tinage “to Landlord’s knowledgeb( othe
similar phrase) (a) shall mean the actual (not too8ve) personal knowledge of Peter Kahn and/daw Ballew (“Landlord’s Personnel’);
(b) shall in no case mean or refer to the actuaomstructive knowledge of any other employee, éeispartner, agent or partner of a par
officer, director or other representative of Landlor any investment advisor, att orney, contraotorepresentative of Landlord (together \
Landlord’s Personnel, Eandlord’s Representatives); and (c) shall in no event or circumstance imgpopon Landlord or any of Landlosd’
Representatives any duty or obligation to verifyguire or make any independent inquiry or invesiigaof any such representation, warr:
or statement, or to otherwise investigate the factsircumstances relating or otherwise pertinderdto. Tenant further acknowledges
agrees that none of LandlosdRepresentatives shall be personally liable, bermtise have any personal liability, under or immection witl
this Lease, including without limitation, in conien with any of the representations, warrantiestatements made in connection with
pursuant to, this Lease.

26.16 Competing Tenants. If Landlord exercises its right to cancel thisake as to the portion of the Premises propos
be sublet or assigned in accordance with Section dBove, and provided no Event of Default therstsxiLandlord will not execute any le
for space within the Building with any of the comes listed on Exhibit @ttached hereto Primary Competitors ). Unless Landlord is the
negotiating to lease space with an entity propdsedienant, Tenant may update the list of Primaryn@etitors by written notice to Landlc
up to one time per calendar year but may not irserd¢he original total number of companies on the Notwithstanding the foregoing,
violation of this provision shall occur with respéc a Primary Competitor if Landlord first noti§i€Tenant in writing of its intention to allc
such Primary Competitor and Tenant notifies Lardilan writing, that it does not object to such Paimn Competitor. If Landlord incurs a
liability, claim or damage because of this Secijahether under a claim of antitrust, restraintrafde [or other similar claim] or otherwis
Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold Landlordhiiass for all such liabilities, claims or damagesjuding reasonable attorneyfges an
expenses. If Tenant assigns this Lease or sullets a portion of the Premises to a Primary Coritpetsuch Primary Competitor shall
longer be a Primary Competitor under this Leasdlferbalance of the Term and any renewals. Thesrigfanted to Tenant under this Sec
26.16 are personal to Ciena Canada, Inc. and midyenassigned to any party other than PermittedsFeaees.




LANDLORD AND TENANT EXPRESSLY DISCLAIM ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY THAT THE PREMISES ARE SUITABLE FO
TENANT'S INTENDED COMMERCIAL PURPOSE, AND TENANT OBLIGATION TO PAY RENT HEREUNDER IS NC
DEPENDENT UPON THE CONDITION OF THE PREMISES OR THEERFORMANCE BY LANDLORD OF ITS OBLIGATION
HEREUNDER, AND, EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY PR@MAD HEREIN, TENANT SHALL CONTINUE TO PAY THE REN’
WITHOUT ABATEMENT, DEMAND, SETOFF OR DEDUCTION, NOWITHSTANDING ANY BREACH BY LANDLORD OF ITS
DUTIES OR OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER, WHETHER EXPRESS CORIPLIED. NOTHING IN THIS PARAGRAPH SHALL Bl
CONSTRUED TO DIMINISH THE OBLIGATIONS OF LANDLORD HAT ARE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH ELSEWHERE IN TF
LEASE.

This Lease is executed as of the Lease Date (awddh the Basic Lease Information).

LANDLORD : INNOVATION BLVD II LIMITED , a Nova Scotia limited compa

By: /s/ John S. Grassi
John S. Grassi, President

TENANT : CIENA CANADA, INC. , a federal corporation pursuant to the Canadari@gsi
Corporations Act

By: /s/ James E. Moylan, Jr.

Name: James E. Moylan, Jr.

Title: Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT E

TENANT FINISH -WORK: ALLOWANCE
(Tenant Performs the Work)

1. Acceptance of Premises Except as set forth in this Exhibit and subject&ndlords express representations and warrantie
repair, replacement and maintenance obligationsuamt to this Lease, Tenant accepts the Premisis present “AS-1S, WHERE-IS ”
condition with any faults that may exist as of thease Date. Except for the express representatibhandlord set forth in this Lease ¢
Landlord’s repair, replacement and maintenance obligationsupnt to this Lease, Tenant (a). acknowledgdstthas had full opportunity
examine the Premises and is fully informed, indejeetly of Landlord or any of its representatives,ta the character, construction
structure of the Premises, (b) acknowledges thiherelandlord nor any of its representatives haglenany warranties with respect to
Premises, including any warranty as to the fitnbgseof for any purpose, (c) accepts the Premisdtsipresent “AS-IS, WHERE IS ”
condition, and (d) acknowledges and agrees thaPtheises are subject to the limitations, encundasnand other matters described ir
Lease.

2. Space Plans

2.1 Preparation and Delivery . On or before April 1, 2015, Tenant shall deliverLandlord a space plan preparec
BHDP Architecture or another architect reasonalplgraved by Landlord (the Architect ") depicting improvements to be installed in
Premises (the Space Plans).

2.2 Approval Process. Landlord shall notify Tenant whether it approwéshe submitted Space Plans within ten bus
days after Tenarg’ submission thereof. If Landlord disapproves afhs8pace Plans, then Landlord shall notify Tenhatgof specifying i
reasonable detail the reasons for such disappriomahich case Tenant shall, within ten businessadter such notice, revise such Space |
in accordance with Landlorsl'objections and submit to Landlord for its reviamd approval. Landlord shall notify Tenant in wrifiwhether
approves of the resubmitted Space Plans withinlfiveiness days after its receipt thereof. This ggeshall be repeated until the Space |
have been finally approved by Landlord and TenHrtandlord fails to notify Tenant that it disapmes of the initial Space Plans within
business days (or, in the case of resubmitted Spkares, within five business days) after the subioisthereof, then Landlord shall be dee
to have approved the Space Plans in question. idwspns of Section 3.3.3 hereinafter shall equafiply in respect of Landlorsl'review an
approval of the Space Plans.

3. Working Drawings .

3.1 Preparation and Delivery . On or before the 60th day following the date dmick the Space Plans are approvel
deemed approved) by Landlord and Tenant, Tenafitpgloide to Landlord for its approval final worlg drawings, prepared by the Archit
of all improvements that Tenant proposes to installhe Premises; such working drawings shall idelthe partition layout, ceiling ple
electrical outlets and switches, telephone outltawings for any modifications to the mechaniedéctrical, life safety and plumbing and .
other systems of the Building, submetering andildetgplans and specifications for the constructiéthe improvements called for under -
Exhibit in accordance with all applicable Laws auitable for permitting and construction.

3.2 Approval Process. Landlord shall notify Tenant whether it approwdsthe submitted working drawings within -
business days after Tenansubmission thereof. If Landlord disapproves afhsworking drawings, then Landlord shall notify &ah therec
specifying in reasonable detail its reasonable mgleufor such disapproval, in which case Tenantl shéthin ten business days after s
notice, revise such working drawings to addressdlard’s objections and submit the revised working drawittgLandlord for its review ai
approval, or otherwise respond to Landlgrdbjections with proposed resolutions thereof@sicable. Landlord shall notify Tenant in writ
whether it approves of the resubmitted working dngs or Tenans proposed resolution within five business daysrafs receipt thereof. Tt
process shall be repeated until the working drasvimave been finally approved by Tenant and Landldidandlord fails to notify Tenant th
it disapproves of the initial working drawings withten business days (or, in the case of resubdnwtterking drawings, within five busine
days) after the submission




thereof, then Landlord shall be deemed to haveamepr the working drawings in question. To the ektest inconsistent with this Exhibit £
Sections 8.1, 21, 25.6 and 26.12 of this Leasd gbakrn the approval of the working drawings, pegformance of the Work and Landlogd’
and Tenant’s respective rights and obligationsndigg the improvements installed pursuant thereto.

3.3 Landlord’s Approval; Performance of Work .

3.3.1 As used hereinWorking Drawings " means the final working drawings approved by Lardlend Tenan
as amended from time to time by approved changaetth and ‘Work " means all improvements to be constructed in acooe
with and as indicated on the Working Drawings, thgewith any work required by governmental auttiesito be made to other ar
of the Project as a result of the improvementscagid by the Working Drawings. Landloscapproval of the Working Drawings st
not be a representation or warranty of Landlord ugh drawings are adequate for any use or comifyany Law, but shall mere
be the consent of Landlord thereto.

3.3.2 After the Working Drawings have been apptband subject to payment by Landlord of the Gotbr
Allowance as and when due by the terms of this lkhTenant shall cause the Work to be performeacitordance with the Worki
Drawings.

3.3.3 Landlord approval of any working drawings shall not beeasonably withheld, provided that (1) t
comply with all Laws, and (2) the improvements dé&pil thereon do not (A) adversely affect more tttaade minimisextent (in th
reasonable discretion of Landlord) the BuildingtsuSture or the Building’s Systems (including th®jEct’s restrooms), or (B) affe
more than to a@e minimisextent (in the sole but reasonable discretion ofdlard) the exterior appearance of the Project.

3.3.4 LANDLORD MAKES NO WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, W ITH RESPECT TO THE
SPACE PLANS, THE WORKING DRAWINGS OR THE WORK (OR A NY OTHER SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE
ARCHITECT, TENANT' S CONTRACTOR OR ANY OF THEIR SUBCONTRACTORS). ALL | MPLIED WARRANTIES
BY LANDLORD WITH RESPECT THERETO, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THOSE OF HABITABILITY,
MERCHANTABILITY, MARKETABILITY, QUALITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, ARE
EXPRESSLY NEGATED AND WAIVED. WITHOUT LIMITING THE FOREGOING, LANDLORD SHALL NOT BE
RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY FAILURE OF THE WORK. LANDLORD W ILL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE FOR, OR HAVE
CONTROL OR CHARGE OVER, THE ACTS OR OMISSIONS OF THE ARCHITECT OR ITS AGENTS OR
EMPLOYEES. TENANT SHALL HAVE NO RECOURSE AGAINST TH E LANDLORD WITH RESPECT THERETO.

3.3.5 In connection with Landlositeview of the Spaces Plans and any working digayihandlord may enga
third parties to review those portions of the Sgdelans and workings drawings that may affect thiéddBg’s Structure or Building
Systems. Any reasonable third party fees whictcarsistent with prevailing market rates incurredlaydlord in conjunction with i
review of the Space Plans and any working drawingghe extent such third party fees relate to Boéding’s Structure or tt
Building’s Systems, shall be paid from the Constructionwdloce (subject to supporting invoices and relatdéarination being fire
provided to Tenant for its review and confirmation)

3.4 Phases of Work. Tenant may construct the Work in phases in acourd with this Exhibit E As used herein, a “
Phase” means a portion of the Premises in which initigdraltions or improvements are to be made by Teaadlt,may include, in addition
such portion of the Premises, other improvementsiastallations to other portions of the Project.sfich time as Tenant begins to make
improvements for a Phase, such improvements shatidde in accordance with the terms, conditionspandedures set forth in this Exhibit, E
and for purposes of applying such terms, conditar procedures to the improvements for such Phase:

3.4.1 all references in this Exhibitte the “Premises’shall mean the portion of the Premises containethd
applicable Phase; and




3.4.2 all references in this Exhibit & the “Working Drawings” and “Work”shall mean the final Workir
Drawings and Work pertaining to the applicable Rhasd Landlord acknowledges and agrees that nataitding Section 3.1 here
should Tenant elect to complete the Work in Pha3esiant may prepare and submit to Landlord the WMgrkDrawings il
corresponding Phases.

4. Contractors; Performance of Work . The Work shall be performed only by reputabletaxiors and subcontractors license
the extent required by Law, and the constructionamar engaged by Tenant shall be approved in gritinLandlord, which approval shall |
be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayeu (& Landlord fails to notify Tenant that it digaqoves of the construction manager wi
five business days after written request for suppraval is delivered to Landlord, then Landlord IElee deemed to have approved
construction manager). Landlord and Tenant ackndgdeand agree that the following construction maredave been pi@pprovec
Brocolini, Ellis Don and PCL (hereinafter anApproved Contractor ”). The Approved Contractor shall be required to precamd maintai
insurance satisfying the requirements_of Schedudétdched heretdCertificates of such insurance must be received.dnydlord before tr
Work is commenced. The Work shall be performed goad and workmanlike manner free of defects, stwiform strictly with the Workin
Drawings, and shall be performed in such a manaetminterfere with the operation of the Project.

5. Construction Contracts .

5.1 Tenant's Construction Manager. Tenant shall enter into a construction contraiti &n Approved Contractor selec
by Tenant in a form acceptable to Tenamépresentative for the Work, which shall compithwhe provisions of this Section 5 and providg
among other things, the following terms, or suctiateons thereof, which are acceptable to Landlaading reasonably: (a) a ogear warrant
for all defective Work; (b) a requirement that Teti& contractor maintain insurance in accordanct Wichedule Jattached hereto anc
requirement that any subcontractor engaged by Temaaontractor maintains insurance in such amountweerage as would be typical
reputable subcontractors in the market in which Blidding is located to maintain for the works whithey are undertaking therein; (c
requirement that the contractor perform the Workubstantial accordance with the Space Plans ad/trking Drawings (and such plans
drawings are specifically referenced and/or itewmhizethe contract), subject to change orders edtir® in compliance with the terms of t
Exhibit, and in a good and workmanlike manner;ddequirement that the contractor is responsibia&ly cleanup work and final clean
(including removal of debris); and (e) provide fmyment and performance bonds (collectively, thepproval Criteria ”). Tenant sha
submit to Landlord, for Landlord’review, a copy of the construction contract wiith Approved Contractor (which may be redactecetoave
any confidential information unrelated to the ApgabCriteria). Landlords review of the construction contract shall be ti@gdito confirmin
that the Approval Criteria is satisfied. Landlordal have three business days to notify Tenant iiting if Landlord determines that t
Approval Criteria in the proposed construction cact has been satisfied, and, if not, LandlordIsdmdcify in reasonable detail its reason
grounds for such determination, in which case Teshall use reasonable efforts to revise the preghasnstruction agreement with respe:
the Approval Criteria. If Landlord fails to respomdthin three business days after the constructiontract is delivered to Landlord, tt
Landlord shall be deemed to have acknowledgedhieahpproval Criteria has been satisfied.

6. Change Orders. Tenant may initiate changes in the Work. Tenhatl siotify Landlord in writing of any requestedastges in th
Work. Landlord shall give its response to the restiee change order within two business days (dheifproposed change order could affec
Building’s Structure or Building Systems, within five business days) after suldonissy Tenant of its written request for such creongdet
which submission by Tenant shall include revisedking drawings to the extent the proposed chanderarequires any such revised work
drawings. If Landlord fails to notify Tenant withisuch two business day period (or five business piiod, as applicable) of Landlosd’
objection to the requested change order, Landloadl be deemed to have approved the change ordgreistion. Tenant shall, upon comple
of the Work, furnish Landlord with accurate architeal, mechanical, electrical and plumbing “asltbyplans of the Work as constructec
electronic CADD format, which plans shall be inamgted into this Exhibit By this reference for all purposes. If Tenant retmi@any chang
to the Work described in the Space Plans or thekifgrDrawings, then such increased costs and aditiadal design costs incurred
connection therewith as the result of any such ghaall be added to the Total Construction Costs.




7. Definitions . As used herein Substantial Completion,” “ Substantially Completed,” and any derivations thereof mean
Work in the Premises is substantially performedti(as term is defined in th@onstruction Lien AcfOntario)) as reasonably determined by
Architect, in accordance with the Working Drawin@ibstantial Completion shall have occurred evexigh minor details of constructic
decoration, landscaping and mechanical adjustrmentain to be completed.

8. Walk-Through; Deficiency List . When Tenant considers the Work in the Premisdset8ubstantially Completed, Tenant
notify Landlord and within ten business days th&eealandlord’s representative and Tenant's regméstive shall conduct a watkrough o
the Premises and identify any necessary tayrhvork, repairs and minor completion items that mecessary for final completion of the Wi
Neither Landlor’s representative nor Tenasittepresentative shall unreasonably withhold hisesragreement on deficiency list items. Te
shall use reasonable efforts to cause the contraetdorming the Work to complete all deficiencgtlitems within 60 days after agreen
thereon.

9. [Excess Costs Tenant shall pay the entire amount by which tl¢all Construction Costs (hereinafter defined) eslcte
Construction Allowance (hereinafter defined) as arten due following Tenard’receipt and application of the Construction Akbmwe it
accordance with this Exhibit (such excess amouimgbeeferred to herein as theEkcess Amount’). Upon approval of the Working Drawir
and selection of a construction manager, Tenandt gteanptly execute a work order agreement whiamiifies such drawings and itemizes
estimated Total Construction Costs and sets ftwthQonstruction Allowance. As used hereif,dtal Construction Costs” means the enti
cost of performing the Work (including design ofiaspace planning for the Work) and preparatiorhefWorking Drawings and the final “as-
built” plan of the Work, costs of construction latend materials, Tenastproject management fees, additional janitoriatises, related tax
and insurance costs, licenses, permits, certiinati surveys and other approvals required by Lawtfe undertaking of the Work, and
applicable, the third party fees referenced iniac.3.5 of this Exhibit.

10. Construction Allowance.

10.1.1 Landlord shall provide to Tenant a cardion allowance of $25.00 per rentable square ifottie Premise
(the “ Construction Allowance ") to be applied toward the Total Construction Coatsadjusted for any changes to the Wol
hereinafter provided. Applicable Sales Taxes onayment or calculation of the Construction Allowarshall be paid by Landlord
Tenant at the same time as and in addition to thesttuction Allowance. No less than $18.00 per akelet square foot of tl
Construction Allowance, plus applicable Sales Tatkes “ Minimum Construction Allowance ") shall be applied toward the h.
and soft construction costs with respect to eachrfbf the Premises; in no event, however, shal gbrtion of the Constructi
Allowance applied to so-called “softonstruction costs (e.g., architectural design yestceed in the aggregate $3.00 per ren
square foot in the Premises, plus applicable Sedees.

10.1.2 Landlord shall pay to Tenant, or, as lamdmay direct, the Approved Contractor, the mortiof the
Construction Allowance equal to $22.50 per rentalgleare foot in the Premises plus applicable Skdass (the remaining balance
the Construction Allowance being hereinafter refdro as the Retainage”) in the manner hereinafter provided, to be appldly
toward the Total Construction Costs, in multiplskdirsements on a progressw basis (but not more than once in any cale
month) following the receipt by Landlord from Teman the following items: (a) a request for paymeil copies of all invoices
respect of such payment amount, (c) evidence readprsatisfactory to Landlord that the requiremerggarding the Minimui
Construction Allowance in Section 10.1.1 above hbeen satisfied, and (d) the Architactertification that the Work for whi
reimbursement has been requested has been perf¢buedot a proof of payment of such costs), on ¢hstomary form, (the
deliverables hereinafter collectively referred toam “Application For Payment ). Landlord shall pay the requested portion of
Construction Allowance set out in each Application Payment to Tenant or as it may direct within @fys following Tenans
submission thereof.

10.1.3 The Retainage shall be paid by Landlord@énant on the later to occur of (a) delivery @ndlord of
confirmation from the Architect that the Work haseh completed; (b) the expiry




of the periods pursuant to tonstruction Lien AcfOntario) within which a person who supplied seegi©r materials in connecti
with the performance of the Work may file a claiar fien for work or service performed or materiapplied, provided no claim f
lien for work or service performed or material sliggh has been filed, or if such liens have beedfithen only upon such liens be
discharged or vacated; (c) the issuance of théficaté of occupancy for the Premises; (d) Terawiccupancy of the Premises;
delivery of the “as-built” plans for the Work asnstructed (and as set forth above) to Landeatinstruction representative (set f
below); and (f) execution and delivery of an estlpgertificate substantially in the form attachedexhibit Gto this Lease confirmir
such factual matters as Landlord or Landlord’s Ijagee may reasonably request.

10.1.4 Tenant and Landlord, as the case maghzd, withhold and retain from any payment of then€tructiol
Allowance made by either of them to a contractwe, dpplicable holdback amount on such paymentlatguai by theConstruction Lie
Act (Ontario), which amount shall be retained and sddao the entitled party in accordance with thengeof said Act.

10.1.5 Notwithstanding anything to the contragytained in this Exhibit, Landlord shall not bdigated to mak
any disbursement of the Construction Allowancermythe pendency of any of the following: (A) Landldas received written noti
of any valid unpaid claims relating to any portiohthe Work or materials supplied or provided imiection therewith, other th
claims which will be paid in full from such disbersent or which Tenant is disputing in good faitB) there is an unbond
construction lien that is registered and outstama@igainst title to the Project or the Premises emants interest therein by reasor
work done, or claimed to have been done, or mésesigoplied or specifically fabricated, claimedhtave been supplied or specifici
fabricated, to or for Tenant or the Premises oraliefi Tenant, or (C) an Event of Default by Tenanrists.

10.1.6 The Construction Allowance must be udédt(is, the Work must be Substantially Completed #he
Construction Allowance disbursed, subject to hobi#tlsaunder theConstruction Lien AcfOntario)), within 18 months following ti
Second Musffake Commencement Date (save and except wheredsla is due to a delay of the type described icti®e 25.3 o
the Lease or any act or omission of Landlord, LardiParties and its or their representatives, eyggle and agents, in each cas
extended to the extent Tenant has notified Landloedeof in writing within ten business days foliogy the occurrence of such alley
delay) or shall be deemed to be forfeited with adher obligation by Landlord with respect therdime being of the essence w
respect thereto.

10.1.7 If Landlord wrongfully fails to make amayment, as and when due, of any portion of thes€octior
Allowance, which payment is required to be madé @éydlord in accordance with the terms of this EiHiband which is not disput
by Landlord in good faith, which Construction Allance remains unpaid after delivery of written retic Landlord of such failu
(the “ Failure Notice ") and after the expiration of 10 days followingridiord’s receipt of such Failure Notice from Tenant, dg
which 10day period Landlord fails to pay such Construc#diowance to Tenant or its designee in accordanitk the terms of th
Lease, provided no Event of Default by Tenant tests, Tenant shall have the right to set off mgfaBasic Rent due under this Le
such amount not paid by Landlord; provided, howetleat the amount offset against Basic Rent in gingle month shall not exce
50% of the Basic Rent payable for such month. Taikife Notice shall include a statement that Tematends to exercise this right
set off and shall identify in reasonable detail Hasis for the offset and the date on which sucbuats should have been paic
Tenant. Following the complete payment of the Caresibn Allowance (including the release of all diwhck amounts), Tenant v
confirm in writing (if requested in writing by Lataid) that Tenant’s right under this Section hamiaated.

11. Right of Inspection. Landlord or its Affiliate or agent may inspeceti/ork from time to time upon no less than 24 hquist
notice to Tenans representative noted below (which may be emait@p(except in the case of emergency in whichnatice is required) a1
Tenant shall be provided the opportunity to haveant's representatives and/or its designees acaongay such inspection.




12. Project Management. Tenant shall engage CBRE Limited, or anothedtpiarty construction or project manager reasot

acceptable to Landlord, to serve as project manfogehe Work. Except for the third party fees palgaas provided in Section 3.3.5 ab
Landlord shall not charge any construction managgnagministrative, supervisory, overhead or o#ierilar fee for inspecting, overseeing

supervising the Work.

13. Construction Representatives Landlord’s and Tenard’representatives for coordination of construcéind approval of chan

orders will be as follows, provided that eithertpanay change its representative upon written edticthe other:

Landlord’s Representative:

Tenant's Representative:

Greg Ashley

c/o MHPM Project Managers Inc.
1900 City Park Drive, Suite 402
Ottawa, Ontario K1J 1A3
Telephone: 613.216.4345
Facsimile: 613.216.4348

E-mail: greg.ashley@mhpm.com

Michael Renaud, Director, Special Projects

CBRE Limited | Project Management

333 Preston Street, 7th Floor, Preston Square Tawer
Ottawa, ON K1S 5N4

Telephone: 613.691.2129

Cell: 613.324.1864

Facsimile: 613.782.2296

E-mail: michael.renaud@cbre.com




EXHIBIT H
PARKING

Tenant and Tenant Parties shall throughout the Terohuding any extensions or renewals thereofgbtitled to the use of all of t
parking spaces in the parking facilities associat@t the Building as shown on Schedulatiached hereto (theParking Area "), subject t
the terms of this Exhibit K the Lease and such terms, conditions and regofats are from time to time applicable to patminthe Parkin
Area, at no additional charge to Tenant duringittigal Term. As many spaces as may be requiredterentirety of the Parking Area
comply with Laws (e.g., handicapped spaces andooargpaces) shall be deducted from Tersmmtlocation of parking spaces (it be
acknowledged and agreed that no such deductioalogations of any parking spaces within the Pagldmeas shall be made for the purpc
of the compliance with Laws of any other buildingdevelopment). Tenant shall not permit any Tefarty to park in any of the parking ar
serving the related complex other than the Parkinea. Subject to the terms and conditions of thémde, Tenant shall have access t
Parking Area 24 hours per day, seven days per \ieelksive of holidays).

For so long as Tenant leases all of the Buildind for no additional charge, fee or expense beytedRent set out in the Les
parking in the Parking Area will be exclusive tonéat and Tenant Parties (other than occasiondbyis@ndlords Project employees, vend
and contractors employed by Landlord during theopkeof providing their services to the Premiseq &enant may designate reserved pal
spaces in the Parking Area in Tenant's sole diggret

Tenant shall at all times comply with all Laws resfing the use of the Parking Area. Landlord resethe right to adopt, modify, &
enforce reasonable rules and regulations goverttiagise of the Parking Area from time to time idahg designation of assigned park
spaces, requiring use of any key-card, stickeotloer identification systems and charging a feeépiacement of any such kewsd sticker ¢
other item used in connection with any such systeandlord may refuse to permit any person who ¥@&sauch rules and regulations to pa
the Parking Area, and any violation of the ruled egulations shall subject the car to removal ftbemParking Area.

Unless specified to the contrary above, the parkipaces provided hereunder shall be provided onnasserved, “firstome, firs
served” basis. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord has sethrmg may arrange for the Parking Area to be opdrdty an independe
contractor, not affiliated with Landlord.

All motor vehicles (including all contents theresfall be parked in the Parking Area at the sale of Tenant and each other Ter
Party, it being expressly agreed and understoodilbash has no duty to insure any of said motor eki¢including the contents thereof),
Landlord is not responsible for the protection aedurity of such vehicles. Landlord shall not bgponsible for enforcing Tenastparking
rights against any third partieSNOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY CONTAINED IN THIS LEASE,
LANDLORD SHALL HAVE NO LIABILITY WHATSOEVER FOR ANY PROPERTY DAMAGE OR LOSS WHICH MIGHT
OCCUR ON THE PARKING AREA OR AS A RESULT OF OR IN C ONNECTION WITH THE PARKING OF MOTOR VEHICLES
IN ANY OF THE PARKING SPACES, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT SUCH LOSS IS DETERMINED BY A COURT OF
COMPETENT JURISDICTION TO HAVE BEEN CAUSED BY LANDL ORD’S SOLE OR GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL
MISCONDUCT.

Landlord will not voluntarily reduce the Parkingefr without the prior written consent of Tenant.




EXHIBIT |

EXTENSION OPTION

Tenant may extend the Term as to the entire Biglfiim one additional period of 10 years, by delingrwritten notice of the exerci
thereof, including an acknowledgment by the Guanatttat the obligations of Tenant during the extghd@erm shall be included as part of
obligations guaranteed by Guarantor under the Giteeato Landlord not earlier than 24 months ntarlthan 21 months before the expira
of the Term. The Basic Rent payable for each mdnting such extended Term shall be the then cupetailing net effective rental rate
the commencement date of the extended Term, fensikins of space in buildings (including the Buitgiand related complex) of equival
quality, size, utility and location within the foen City of Kanata submarket, with the length of éxtended Term and the credit standin
Tenant and the guarantee of the Guarantor to e tialto account, together with any tenant inducempayable or contributed by landlord:
such premises/tenancies (such as cash allowarreesrent, landloréd works) so as to achieve current net effectiveketarental rates wi
periodic increases in Basic Rent (thBrevailing Rental Rate”) multiplied by 95%. In no event, however, shall Besic Rent in the extend
Term be less than the Basic Rent rate per rensaplare foot in effect during the last calendar hantthe immediately preceding Term (the
Minimum Renewal Rate ). Within 30 days after receipt of Tenamthotice to extend, Landlord shall deliver to Tenaritten notice of th
Prevailing Rental Rate and all other applicablenteand shall advise Tenant of the required adjustieBasic Rent, if any, and the ot
terms and conditions offered. Tenant shall, withé business days after receipt of Landlsrdbtice and all supporting documentation
information relating thereto, notify Landlord in ting whether Tenant accepts or rejects Landemétermination of the Prevailing Rel
Rate. If Tenant timely notifies Landlord (within business days of receipt of Landlagrdiritten notice of the Prevailing Rental Rate togt
with all supporting information relating theretoafsresaid) that Tenant accepts Landlsmtermination of the Prevailing Rental Rate, tloe
or before the commencement date of the extendad,Tleandlord and Tenant shall execute an amendmethig Lease extending the Term
the same terms and conditions provided in this &eascept as follows:

(a) Basic Rent shall be adjusted to the greaté) the Minimum Renewal Rate and (ii) 95% of tAeevailing Rental Ral
in each case with periodic increases in Basic Bsrire customary in the former City of Kanata suketa

(b) Tenant shall have no further option to edtdre Term unless expressly granted by Landlorgriting; and

(c) Landlord shall lease to Tenant the Premiiséleir theneurrent condition, and Landlord shall not provideTenant an
allowances (e.g., moving allowance, constructiolovednce, and the like) or other tenant inducemeptsyided, if any suc
allowances or other tenant inducements have bdem tato account in determining the Prevailing RéMRate, then Landlord sh
provide such allowances to Tenant.

If Tenant rejects Landlord’determination of the Prevailing Rental Rate amely notifies Landlord thereof within 15 businetksy/s o
Landlord’s written notice of the Prevailing Rental Rate tbge with all supporting information relating theyeas aforesaid, Tenant may, ir
notice to Landlord, require that the determinatdithe Prevailing Rental Rate be made by brokend (BTenant makes such election, Tel
shall be deemed to have irrevocably extended ther Bad Landlord shall be bound by same, subjegt tanthe determination of the Prevail
Rental Rate as provided below). In such event,iwiten business days thereafter, each party shltisa qualified commercial real es
broker with at least ten yeargxperience in leasing property and buildings ofieajant quality, size, utility and location in thety or
submarket in which the Premises are located. The lwokers shall give their opinion of prevailinghtal rates within 20 days after tt
retention. In the event the opinions of the twadklers differ and, after good faith efforts over tueceeding 2@ay period, they cannot mutue
agree, the brokers shall immediately and jointlgapt a third broker with the qualifications spésif above. This third broker shall within
business days of his or her appointment choosereiitle determination of Landlord’s broker or Tenafitroker as the Prevailing Rental F
and such choice of this third broker shall be fiantl binding on Landlord and Tenant. Each partyl iz its own costs for its real est
broker. Following the determination of the PrevajliRental Rate by the brokers, the parties shalhlygshare the costs of any third bro
The parties shall immediately execute an amendamnt




set forth in clauses (a), (b) and (c) above. Ifdarrfails to notify Landlord in writing that Tenaatcepts or rejects Landlosddetermination «
the Prevailing Rental Rate within the aforesaidetiperiod, time being of the essence with respesreth, Tenans rights under this Exhil
shall terminate and Tenant shall have no righitered the Term.

Tenant's rights under this Exhibit shall terminad,Landlord’s option, if (i) an Event of Defaulkists as of the date of Tenant’
exercise of its rights under this Exhibit or agltd commencement date of the extended Term, {@)ltbase or Tenarg'right to possession
any of the Premises is lawfully terminated, (iigriant assigns its interest in this Lease or sublg¥s or more of the Premises other than
Permitted Transferee, (iv) Landlord determinedtdrsole but commercially reasonable discretibat fTenant or its Permitted Transferee
Guarantor collectively do not have reasonably adexjereditworthiness based on similar sized estigasing similar size premises in
submarket in which the Building is located as @& tlate of Tenarg’ exercise of its rights under this Exhibit or &she commencement date

the applicable extended Term, or (v) Tenant failgitnely exercise its option under this Exhibitné being of the essence with respe:
Tenant's exercise thereof.

As a condition to the effectiveness of Tenargxercise of its rights under this Exhibit, thea@Guntee executed by Guarantor for
benefit of Landlord shall be amended simultaneoust the execution of the lease extension amendneeconfirm that all of the obligatio
of Tenant during the extended Term will be guaradhitey Guarantor.




EXHIBIT J

RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER (4000 INNOVATION)

Tenants rights under this Exhibit shall only apply if affiliate of Landlord owns or has a 100% leasehmitkrest in the buildin
located at 4000 Innovation Drive, Ottawa, Ontar@kKk2X1.

Subject to existing renewal or expansion optionstber preferential rights of BlackBerry Limitedahdlord shall, prior to offering a
of the space in the building located at 4000 IntiovaDrive, Ottawa, Ontario K2K 2X1 (theOffer Space”) to any party (other than the then-
current tenant or occupant therein), first offetedase to Tenant the Offer Space in aAS'IS " condition in full floor increments; such of
shall 13.1.1 be in writing, 13.1.2 specify the pafrthe Offer Space being offered to Tenant hereufithe “Designated Offer Spacé), 13.1.:
specify the rent to be paid for the Designated IC8fgace, which basic rent shall be 100% of the &liag Rental Rate (as defined lxhibit |
hereto) and 13.1.4 contain the basic terms andittonsl of the Third Party Offer (theOffer Notice ”). The Offer Notice shall be substantit
similar to the Offer Notice attached to this Exhifienant shall notify Landlord in writing wheth&enant elects to lease the entire Desigr
Offer Space on the terms set forth in the Offeriddgtwithin ten (10) business days after Landlcgtivérs to Tenant the Offer Notice. If Ten
elects to lease the Designated Offer Space withioth 50 business day period, then Tenant and Lashdloall endeavor to negotiate, settle
execute a new lease in respect of the Designatit Space within 30 days following Landlosddelivery thereof, substantially in the forn
this Lease, effective as of the date the Design@féer Space is to be leased by Tenant, on thestaen forth in the Offer Notice and, to
extent not inconsistent with the Offer Notice tertie terms of this Lease; however, Tenant shakpicthe Designated Offer Space in ahS'
IS ” condition and Landlord shall not provide to Tenany allowances (e.g., moving allowance, constracéitowance, and the like) or otl
tenant inducements except as specifically providetie Offer Notice. Notwithstanding the foregoirifgprior to Landlords delivery to Tena
of the Offer Notice, Landlord has received a bdda bffer from a third party (a Third Party Offer ") to lease all or part of the Designe
Offer Space, and Landlord is willing to accept teems of such Third Party Offer, and such Thirdty@&ffer includes space in excess of
Designated Offer Space, Tenant must exercisedgtigsihereunder, if at all, as to all of the spagetained in the Third Party Offer (whi
option must be exercised by Tenant within 10 bussindays after Landlord delivers the Third Partye®Dfind all other information relal
thereto).

If Tenant fails or is unable to exercise its rijereunder with respect to the Designated Offer &pdthin the aforesaid 10 busin
day period pursuant to an Offer Notice or Third tPaDffer, as the case may be, then such right daple in this instance (it bei
acknowledged that Tenant's rights under this Exhllasire, subject to the terms and provisions of thiaiohg sentence, continuing rights
the duration of the Term as may be extended omredg time being of the essence with respect t@Ksecise thereof, and Landlord may l¢
all or a portion of the Designated Offer Spacehiodt parties pursuant to a Third Party Offer othiére is no Third Party Offer, then on s
terms as Landlord may elect. Landlord shall nobbkgated to resffer the Designated Offer Space to Tenant unlesgt actually rejects |
opposed to Tenant being deemed to have rejectedjidr@’s Offer Notice or a Third Party Offer and 1. thétealandlord fails to enter intc
Lease Agreement with respect to the Designatedr Gffece within 180 days after the date of the Qffetice or Third Party Offer as the c
may be or 2. Landlord is willing to lease the Desitgd Offer Space to a third party on substantialtyre favorable terms than the te
contained in the Offer Notice or Third Party Offejected by Tenant (taking into account all of teens of the Offer Notice, the Third Pe
Offer and the terms of the other lease offered)clviior purposes hereof shall be defined as a tamuin the overall net effective rent |
rentable square foot, taking into account all & tbrms of the Offer Notice or the Third Party @ffas the case may be, and the terms ¢
other lease offered, of ten percent (10%) or mérinat set forth in the original Offer Notice th&enants rights under this Exhibit regard
such space shall be subordinate to any expansgin,af first refusal, or other preferential rigiot lease granted to the party making the 1
Party Offer or Third Party Offer, as the case mayUWnless otherwise agreed in writing by Landland &enant real estate broker, in no ev
shall Landlord be obligated to pay a commissiorhwéspect to any space leased by Tenant undeExhibit, and Tenant and Landlord sl
each indemnify the other against all costs, expensmasonable attorneyies, and other liability for commissions or otlv@mpensatic
claimed by any broker or agent claiming the samehrpugh or under the indemnifying party.




Tenant’s rights under this Exhibit shall terminad¢,Landlord’s option, if (i) an Event of Defaulkists as of the date of Tenant’
exercise of its rights under this Exhibit or adtwd effective date of the addition of the Desigda®dfer Space to the Premises, (ii) this Leas
Tenants right to possession of any of the Premises miteted, (iii) Tenant assigns its interest in thésase or sublets 20% or more of
Premises other than to a Permitted Transferee,Témant or its Permitted Transferee ceases to gcaufeast 80% of the rentable square
then existing in the Premises, (v) Landlord detessj in its sole but commercially reasonable digmmethat Tenant, its Permitted Transfe
or Guarantor does not have reasonably adequativeoeithiness based on similar sized entities leasimilar size premises in the submark
which the Building is located as of the date of dmt’s exercise of its rights under this Exhibit or 4she effective date that the Design:
Offer Space is to be leased by Tenant, (vi) Tefeilst to timely exercise its option under this Bxihitime being of the essence with respe
Tenant’s exercise thereof, (vii) Tenant fails teexte the new lease within 30 days following Lamdile delivery thereof, time being of 1
essence with respect thereto, (viii) Guarantosftil execute the new guarantee contemporaneoutiiyTenants execution of the new le:
referenced in clause (g) above, time being of #serce with respect thereto, or (ix) less thanfolhealendar year remains in the initial Te
of this Lease and Tenant has not previously exedldis extension or renewal rights, if any.

As a condition to the effectiveness of TenartXercise of its rights under this Exhibit, Guaoarshall execute a new guarar
contemporaneously with Tenasittxecution of the new lease, substantially inftinen of the Guarantee, guaranteeing the obligatafrBenan
under the new lease.

As used in this Exhibit, “LandlordsShall refer to Landlord and any Affiliate of Landibthat owns the building in the related com,
in which the Offer Space is located. Landlord shalise Landlord applicable Affiliate to execute and deliver tan@iat an agreement agree
to be bound by the terms of this Exhibiadd Landlord shall deliver same to Tenant conteampaously with Tenarg’ execution hereof
otherwise in the future should any other Landlo@fgliate have an ownership or leasehold inteiast000 Innovation Drive, Ottawa, Ontario.




EXHIBIT K
GUARANTEE

As a material inducement to Landlord to enter itie Lease Agreement, dated October 23, 2014 (tbease”), betweenCIENA
CANADA, INC. , a federal corporation pursuant to the Canadan®sgsi Corporations Act, as original tenantQtiginal Tenant "), anc
INNOVATION BLVD Il LIMITED , a Nova Scotia limited company, as Landld@dENA CORPORATION , a Delaware corporation (*
Guarantor "), hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantédesdomplete and timely performance of each oblbgatif Tenant (and al
successor or assignee) under the Lease, any exiensi renewals of the Lease and amendments tbethge, and Tenant, its Affiliates,
their respective successors or assignees (cokdgtiv Tenant ”) relating to space in the Project. This Guarantemnisibsolute, primary, a
continuing, guarantee of payment and performanceqoilection) and is independent of Tenardbligations under the Lease. Guarantor (g
this Guarantee is sighed by more than one persaniity, each Guarantor hereunder) shall be prigndieble, jointly and severally, wi
Tenant and any other guarantor of Termobligations. Guarantor waives any right to regiandlord to (a) join Tenant with Guarantor in
suit arising under this Guarantee, (b) proceedrsgair exhaust any security given to secure Tesarfigations under the Lease, or (c) pu
or exhaust any other remedy in Landlord’s power.

Until all of Tenants obligations to Landlord have been dischargedlin Guarantor shall have no right of subrogatigaiast Tenan
Landlord may, without notice or demand and withaffécting Guarantos liability hereunder, from time to time, compromigxtend, renew
otherwise modify any or all of the terms of the &edy amendment, novation or otherwise (includintew lease, to the extent a cour
competent jurisdiction determines any of the foregaconstitutes a new lease), or fail to perfectfail to continue the perfection of, ¢
security interests granted under the Lease. Witlimiting the generality of the foregoing, if Tertaglects to increase the size of the le
premises, extend or renew the lease term, or otberexpand Tenant's obligations under the Leas@aafts execution of such lee
documentation shall constitute Guarargoconsent thereto (and such increased obligatibnEenant under the Lease shall constitu
guaranteed obligation hereunder); Guarantor henebiyes any and all rights to consent thereto. Quaravaives any right to participate in
security now or hereafter held by Landlord. Guasattereby waives all presentments, demands foopagnce, notices of nonperformar
protests, notices of protest, dishonor and notifescceptance of this Guarantee, and waives aitemf existence, creation or incurring
new or additional obligations from Tenant to LamdloGuarantor further waives all defenses afforgadrantors or based on suretyshi
impairment of collateral under applicable Law, ottfan payment and performance in full of Tenaabgations under the Lease.

The liability of Guarantor under this Guaranteel wibt be affected by (x) the release or discharg@emant from, or impairmet
limitation or modification of, Tenarg’ obligations under the Lease in any bankruptageivership, or other debtor relief proceeding, Vb«
state or federal and whether voluntary or involantéxi) the rejection or disaffirmance of the Leda any such proceeding; (xii) the cesse
from any cause whatsoever of the liability of Tenamder the Lease; (xiii) any extensions of tinmelulgences or modifications which Landl
may extend to or make with Tenant in respect ofLtbase; (xiv) Landlord taking any security for pamhor performance of any of Tenant’
obligations pursuant to the Lease or Landlord stepany security or partial security; (xv) any amhement, supplement, restatement, exten
amendment or replacement whatsoever to or of tlasd.and any other dealings of any nature whatsdmtereen Landlord and Tenant (v
or without notice to Guarantor and whether or naefantor is a party thereto or has approved sarhejalby the respective obligations
rights of either or both of Landlord and Tenant areended; (xvi) any waiver by, consent of, extemdiy, indulgence by, or failure
Landlord to enforce any of the terms, covenantsditions and provisions of the Lease; (xvii) anylageor forbearance by Landlord
enforcing Tenans$ obligations pursuant to the Lease, or any of thewmiii) any sale, assignment or other transferlaydlord of the Premise
the Lease, and/or this Guarantee, or any intelesein, whether before or after any default undher ltease or this Guarantee; (xix)
incapacity, disability, or lack of (or limitatiomahe) power of Tenant or of or on the directorgfficers of Tenant; (xx) any assignment of
Lease or any sublease of the Premises, or by ameobwhich Landlord may give (or any other actiamdlord may take) with respect to :
assignments or subleases Tenant may effect; (ryi)dafault by Tenant under the Lease, any invglidit unenforceability of the Lease,
limitation on the liability of Tenant, or on the thed or terms of payment, under the Lease, or emegularity or other defect in the Lez
(xxii) any failure by Landlord to give notice to @w@antor at any time or times of any




default of any kind under the Lease (including amiii of Default); (xxiii) any exercise or naxercise of any right, remedy, power or privil
in respect of the Lease; (xxiv) any change in then@, objects, constitution, capacity, capital stoclconstating documents or byws o
Tenant; (xxv) Tenant being amalgamated or merget amother entity (in which case this Guarantedl stpply to the obligations of tl
resulting entity or entities and the term “Tenasitiall include such resulting entity or entitiedx\(i) any sale, transfer or other dispositio!
any shares of Tenant; (xvii) the recovery of anggjment against Tenant, any voluntary or involuntagyidation, dissolution, winding u
merger or amalgamation of Tenant, any sale or attsposition of all or substantially all of the assof Tenant, or any judicial or extra judi
receivership, insolvency, bankruptcy, assignment tfte benefit of creditors, proposal made to coedjt reorganization, moratoriu
arrangement, composition with creditors or othescpedings affecting Tenant or Guarantor; (xxviily aepudiation or termination of t
Lease, or of the interests and liabilities thereuraf Tenant, by any trustee in bankruptcy or otlver person or entity acting in the insolve
or bankruptcy of Tenant; (xxix) any act or omissiom the part of Landlord or any other person oiterthat would prevent subrogati
operating in favour of Guarantor; (xxx) any presenfuture agreement by Landlord to limit its recsriagainst Tenant or others; (xxxi)
Lease becoming void, voidable, ultra vires, invaliteffective or otherwise unenforceable by Landlam accordance with their terms,
released or discharged by operation of law; (xxaiiy default by Landlord under the Lease or anya@uission, default or neglect of Landl
or any other person or entity whereby or pursuamthiich Tenant has its obligations under the Lelseharged, mitigated, impaired or affec
in any way whatsoever (other than any terminatibmanants occupancy of all or any part(s) of the Premisserthined to be unlawful by
court of competent jurisdiction in a final, nappealable judgment); (xxxiii) the expiration oétfierm or termination of the Lease; and (xx
any other act, or failure to act, in accordancehwiaw by Landlord or any Landlord Party which wouklease, discharge or affect
obligations of Guarantor if it were a mere surdtyyeing agreed that the liability of Guarantorltandlord under this Guarantee shall no
discharged except by performance of all of Guarshtubligations hereunder. To the extent that Téhas properly exercised a remedy of sel
help or sewff in accordance with the terms and provisionshef Lease, Landlord shall be prohibited from malkangjaim under this Guarai
for such properly offset amount.

Subject to Guaranta’right to effectuate a Permitted Guarantor Chaagyerovided below, Guarantor shall not, without (it
written consent of Landlord, (a) assign or trandfés Guarantee or any estate or interest herefrgtiver directly or by operation of le
(b) permit any other entity to become Guarantoebheder by merger, consolidation, amalgamation beroteorganization of Guarantor,
(c) if Guarantor is an entity other than a corporaivhose stock is publicly traded, permit the sfan of an ownership interest in Guarantc
as to result in a change in the current direchdiréct control of Guarantor (each, &tiarantor Change”). If Guarantor violates the foregoi
restrictions or otherwise defaults under this Gotaa, Landlord shall have all available remedielatand in equity against Guarantor
Tenant. Without limiting the generality of the fgming, Landlord may (1) declare an immediate EwdriDefault under the Lease, (2) req!
Guarantor and/or Tenant (at Landlard@lection) to deliver to Landlord additional segufor the obligations of Tenant and Guarantor emithe
Lease and the Guarantee, respectively, which additisecurity may be in the form of an irrevocaleliter of credit in form and substai
satisfactory to Landlord, and in an amount to bereined by Landlord, acting reasonably (it beingrmwledged that it shall be reasonable
Landlord to request additional security in the antoof the remaining gross Rent payable by Tenart) (3) in the event of a Guarar
Change which is not a Permitted Guarantor Chamgeease the amount of Basic Rent payable by Tematdr the Lease by 150% of the B.
Rent otherwise payable under the Lease as damagdst as a penalty) until the default is cureddmpensate Landlord, for among o
things, the reasonable estimate in the diminutiothe fair market value of the Project. Landlordi d&renant agree that Landlosddamage
resulting from a prohibited Guarantor Change uridier Guarantee are difficult, if not impossible,determine and the Basic Rent increas
provided above is a fair estimate of those damadresh has been agreed to in an effort to causanh@unt of such damages to be certain.
and all remedies set forth in this Guarantee: (#glisbe in addition to any and all other remediesdlord may have at law or in equ
(B) shall be cumulative, and (C) may be pursueaesgively or concurrently as Landlord may elece €kercise of any remedy by Landl
shall not be deemed an election of remedies odyed_andlord from exercising any other remediethi future. However, and for certair
Guarantor may permit any other entity to becomer@uar hereunder and/or permit the transfer ofwanesship interest in Guarantor (each a
Permitted Guarantor Change”) without the written consent of Landlord, provitlthe new Guarantor is:




(1) any corporation, limited partnership, linditéability partnership, limited liability compangr other business entity in which
with which Guarantor, or its corporate successarassigns, is merged, amalgamated, reorganizedomsotidated, in accordance w
applicable statutory provisions governing mergaralamation, reorganization and consolidation cfitess entities, as applicable, so lon
(A) Guarantors obligations hereunder are assumed by the newaGioay (B) the surviving or created entity has ls time immediate
following completion of the subject transaction ged on pro forma financial information availablemediately before the applica
transaction and calculated as if the subject tictitses were completed) a Tangible Net Worth eqoartgreater than the average Tangible
Worth of Guarantor for the preceding 12 fiscal dele immediately prior to the Permitted Guarantba@e; and (C) the surviving or cre¢
entity has a Corporate Debt Rating (which may kee ahticipated Corporate Debt Rating issued by S&Roody’s before the applical
transaction as if the subject transactions wereptetad) equal to or greater than the Corporate Bealting of Guarantor immediately priot
the Permitted Guarantor Change ; or

(2) any corporation, limited partnership, linditéability partnership, limited liability companyr other business entity acquiring al
substantially all of Guarantor's assets, so longMAsGuarantors obligations hereunder are assumed by the acquéinity or the entil
surviving such merger or created by such consatidaias applicable; and (B) after such acquisisoch entity has a Tangible Net Wt
(based on pro forma financial information availainlenediately before the applicable transaction ealdulated as if the subject transact
were completed) equal to or greater than the aeefamgible Net Worth of Guarantor for the precedi@discal quarters immediately priot
the Permitted Guarantor Change; and (C) after aaghisition such entity has a Corporate Debt Rgiiviich may be the anticipated Corpo
Debt Rating issued by S&P or Moodybefore the applicable transaction as if the siltjansactions were completed) equal to or grebte
the Corporate Debt Rating of Guarantor immedigpeigr to the Permitted Guarantor Change.

Guarantor shall promptly notify Landlord of any Bu@ermitted Guarantor Change. Guarantor shall retiable for the performan
of all of the obligations of Guarantor hereunderif Guarantor no longer exists because of a megersolidation, or acquisition, the surviv
or acquiring entity shall expressly assume in wgtihe obligations of Guarantor hereunder. No lttan 90 days after the effective date of
Permitted Guarantor Change, Guarantor agrees tisfut.andlord with (i) copies of the instrumentesffing any of the foregoing Permit
Guarantor Change, and (ii) documentation estabigsliGuarantos satisfaction of the requirements set forth abapplicable to any su
Permitted Guarantor Change. If requested by Laddlmtowing a Permitted Guarantor Change, Guarasiail ratify and confirm in writing -
Landlord the Guarantee executed by Guarantor tobénefit of Landlord.

Guarantor represents and warrants, as a matedatément to Landlord to enter into the Lease, (apthis Guarantee and ei
instrument securing this Guarantee have been dguted and delivered and constitute legally emfalote obligations of Guarantor; (ere
iS no action, suit or proceeding pending or, to 1@otr's knowledge, threatened against or affecting Guaraat law or in equity, or before
by any governmental authority, which might resnlany materially adverse change in Guarastbtisiness or financial condition; (c) execu
of this Guarantee will not render Guarantor insotyand (d) Guarantor expects to receive substdgizefits from Tenant's financial success.

Guarantor shall pay to Landlord all costs incurbgdLandlord in enforcing this Guarantee (includimgthout limitation, reasonak
attorneys’fees and expenses). The obligations of Tenant uthdet ease to execute and deliver estoppel anddiabstatements, as ther
provided, shall be deemed to also require the Gardereunder to do so and provide the same veladi Guarantor following written requ
by Landlord in accordance with the terms of thedeedf Guarantor is an entity that is domiciledhie United States of America or Canada,
whose securities are funded through a public séesiexchange subject to regulation by the UnitiadeS of America or Canada publicly tra
over exchanges based in the United States or Camabiehose financial statements are readily availabno cost to Landlord, Guarantor s
not be obligated to provide financial statementsaodlord. All notices and other communicationsegiypursuant to, or in connection with,
Guarantee shall be delivered in the same manneireeljin the Lease. All notices or other communaret addressed to Guarantor sha
delivered at the address set forth below. This @&uae shall be binding upon the heirs, legal remtasives, successors and assigr
Guarantor and shall inure to the benefit of Landilosuccessors and assigns.




This Guarantee will be governed by and construeataordance with the laws of the Province of Ontarhe proper place of venue
enforce this Guarantee will be the county or disin which the Premises is located. In any legatpeding regarding this Guarantee, inclu
enforcement of any judgments, Guarantor irrevocalnlg unconditionally (a) submits to the jurisdiatiof the courts of law in the county
district in which the Premises is located; (b) @tsehe venue of such courts and waives and agraeto plead any objection thereto;
(c) agrees that (1) service of process may be tefleat the address specified herein, or at sucér @tidress of which Landlord has b
properly notified in writing, and (2) nothing hemewill affect Landlords right to effect service of process in any othanner permitted
applicable law.

Guarantor acknowledges that it and its counsel neviewed and revised this Guarantee and thatulleeof construction to the effe
that any ambiguities are to be resolved againstith#ing party will not be employed in the intezation of this Guarantee or any docur
executed and delivered by Guarantor in connectiitim thve transactions contemplated by this Guarantee

The representations, covenants and agreemengrfehérein will continue and survive the termioatof the Lease or this Guaran
The masculine and neuter genders each include #seutine, feminine and neuter genders. This ingtninmay not be changed, modifi
discharged or terminated orally or in any manndreptthan by an agreement in writing signed by Gutaraand Landlord. The wor
“Guarantee” and “guarantees” will not be interpdete limit Guarantor’s primary obligations and liitly hereunder.

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BANK.]




Executed as of the Lease Date.

CIENA CORPORATION , a Delaware corporation

By:
Name:
Title:
Address: 7035 Ridge Rd.
Hanover, Maryland 21076-1426
Attention: General Counsel

with a copy to:

7035 Ridge Rd.
Hanover, Maryland 21076-1426
Attention: Vice President of Corporate Real Estatd Facilities




EXHIBIT P

RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL (5050 INNOVATION)

Tenants rights under this Exhibit shall apply only if Ldiard exercises its right to cancel this Leaseoathé portion of the Premis
proposed to be sublet or assigned in accordan¢eSeittion 10.7, and Tenasitights shall only become effective following Léord enterin
into a lease for the space subject to such catioslldf Landlord has exercised its right to canttes Lease for the entirety of the Premise
accordance with Section 10.7, the rights underERisibit shall not apply.

Subject to therexisting renewal or expansion options or other greitial rights of other tenants, if Landlord reesi a Third Par
Office to lease any of the space recaptured by loaddn accordance with Section 10.7 (th&é&fusal Space’) and Landlord is willing t
accept the terms of such Third Party Offer, Lardllsinall offer to lease to Tenant the Refusal Sparcehe same terms and conditions a:
Third Party Offer; such offer shall 13.1.5 be initimg, 13.1.6 specify the part of the Refusal Spheing offered to Tenant hereunder (the
Designated Refusal Spac#), 13.1.7 specify the rent to be paid for the DesigdaRefusal Space, and 13.1.8 contain the basicstam
conditions of the Third Party Offer (theRefusal Notice”). The Refusal Notice shall be substantially simitathte Refusal Notice attachec
this Exhibit. Tenant shall notify Landlord in writ§ whether Tenant elects to lease the entire DatgdrRefusal Space on the terms set fol
the Refusal Notice, within ten (10) business ddier d andlord delivers to Tenant the Refusal Natiéerenant elects to lease the Design
Refusal Space within said 10 business day periaddlord and Tenant shall execute an amendmenigd ¢ase, effective as of the date
Designated Refusal Space is to be included in tieenBes, on the same terms as this Lease excépe Basic Rent shall be the amc
specified in the Refusal Notice, 2. the term far Besignated Refusal Space shall be that spedifidte Refusal Notice, 3. Tenant shall ac
the Designated Refusal Space in aAS IS ” condition, 4. Landlord shall not be required tofpen any work therein, 5. Landlord shall
provide to Tenant any allowances (e.g., movingvediace, construction allowance, and the like) orepttenant inducements excepi
specifically provided in the Refusal Notice, andher terms set forth in the Lease which are istent with the terms of the Refusal No
shall be modified accordingly. Notwithstanding fbeegoing, if the Refusal Notice includes spacexoess of the Refusal Space, Tenant
exercise its right hereunder, if at all, as toddlthe space contained in the Refusal Notice (wiljotion must be exercised by Tenant withit
business days after Landlord delivers the Refusgicl and all other information related thereto).

If Tenant fails or is unable to exercise its rigteunder with respect to the Designated Refusate&Swithin the aforesaid 10 busin
day period pursuant to a Refusal Notice, then gigitt shall lapse, time being of the essence wépect to the exercise thereof (it be
understood Tenant'’s right hereunder is a time- right only as to each Designated Refusal Sgiaeéirst time it is offered to Tenant hereunc
and Landlord may lease all or a portion of the Breaied Refusal Space to third parties on such tesrsandlord may elect. For purpc
hereof, if a Refusal Notice is delivered for lelsart all of the Refusal Space but such notice pes/fdr an expansion, right of first refusal
other preferential right to lease some of the raingi portion of the Refusal Space, such remainimgign of the Refusal Space shall there:
be excluded from the provisions of this Exhibit.less otherwise agreed in writing by Landlord anddre’s real estate broker, in no event <
Landlord be obligated to pay a commission with eespo any space leased by Tenant under this Exhifdl Tenant and Landlord shall e
indemnify the other against all costs, expensesamrable attorneyges, and other liability for commissions or othempensation claimed
any broker or agent claiming the same by, througlmader the indemnifying party.

Tenant's rights under this Exhibit shall terminad¢,Landlord’s option, if (i) an Event of Defaulkists as of the date of Tenant’
exercise of its rights under this Exhibit or aghef effective date of the addition of the Desigdagefusal Space to the Premises, (ii) this L
or Tenants right to possession of any of the Premises miteted, (iii) Tenant assigns its interest in thesase other than to a Permil
Transferee, (iv) Landlord determines, in its salé tbommercially reasonable discretion, that Tenigsm®ermitted Transferee, or Guarantor
not have reasonably adequate creditworthiness bassesimilar sized entities leasing similar sizenpises in the submarket in which
Building is located as of the date of Tenargkercise of its rights under this Exhibit or &the effective date that the Designated Refusakt
is to be leased by Tenant, (v) Tenant fails to lynexercise its option under this Exhibit,




time being of the essence with respect to TesaeKercise thereof, (vi) Guarantor fails to execate amendment to the Guaral
contemporaneously with Tenastéxecution of the lease amendment adding the bBefgid Refusal Space to the Premises, time beirtlge
essence with respect thereto, or (vii) less tham fafi calendar year remains in the initial Termtois Lease and Tenant has not previc
exercised its extension or renewal rights, if any.

As a condition to the effectiveness of Tenargkercise of its rights under this Exhibit, thea@Guntee executed by Guarantor sha
amended simultaneously with the execution of tlkedeamendment adding the Designated Refusal Spdice Premises to confirm that al
the obligations of Tenant with respect to the Deaigd Refusal Space will be guaranteed by Guarantor



EXHIBIT 12.1

Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Bied Charges

Year Ended October 31,

2012 2013 2014

Pre-tax loss from continuing operations $ (134,69) $ (80,19) $ (26,679
Fixed charges:

Interest expense 39,65 44,04 47,11¢

Portion of rental expense representative of@stefactor 7,14¢ 7,66¢ 7,55(

Total fixed charges 46,80: 51,70¢ 54,66¢
Pre-tax income (loss) from continuing operationssgfixed charges $ (87.89) $ (28,48YH ¢ 27,99:
Ratio of losses to fixed charges (1) $ — % —  $ —

(1) Pre-tax losses from continuing operations fiked charges were inadequate to cover total fotearges.



EXHIBIT 21.1

Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Incomation or Organization
Ciena Communications, Inc. Delesv
Ciena Canada, Inc. Canada

Ciena Limited United Igighom



CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Na3-33131, 333-30900, 333-72474, 333-
91294, 333-102462, 333-103328, 333-113872, 333-87,5233-121110, 333-123509, 333-123510, 333-149528,149929, 333-163927, 333
166125, 333-180332, 333-180333, and 333-195498parkbrm S-3 (No. 333-108476 and 333-149519) oh&i€orporation of our report

dated December 19, 2014 relating to the finant&iements and the effectiveness of internal coltret financial reporting, which appears in
this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
December 19, 2014



EXHIBIT 31.1
CIENA CORPORATION
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Gary B. Smith, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report of Ciena Goapion;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anar¢ responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defin
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financgdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratislosure controls and procedures and presentihisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation;
and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesegnt's internal control over financial reportth@t occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasir's internal control over financial reportinggan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer anlalve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiiotiernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant's auditors and the audit commitifethe registrant's board of directors (or pesgeerforming the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize and rtefreaincial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 19, 2014

/sl Gary B. Smith
Gary B. Smith
President and Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2
CIENA CORPORATION
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

[, James E. Moylan Jr., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report of Ciena Goapion;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anar¢ responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defin
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financgdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratislosure controls and procedures and presentihisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation;
and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesegnt's internal control over financial reportth@t occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasir's internal control over financial reportinggan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer anlalve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiiotiernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant's auditors and the audit commitifethe registrant's board of directors (or pesgeerforming the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize and rtefreaincial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 19, 2014

/sl James E. Moylan Jr.
James E. Moylan Jr.
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1

CIENA CORPORATION

Written Statement of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002

The undersigned, the Chief Executive Office€®na Corporation (the “Company”), hereby ceetifthat, to his knowledge, on the date

hereof:
(a) the Report on Form 10-K of the Company forythar ended October 31, 2014 filed on the date heritlo the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Report”) fully complies with thequirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S¢iesrExchange Act of 1934; and

(b) information contained in the Report fairly peass, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of the

Company.

/sl Gary B. Smith

Gary B. Smith
President and Chief Executive Officer

December 19, 2014

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906, or other document authenticatiegnowledging, or otherwise adopting the
signature that appears in typed form within thetetamic version of this written statement requibsdSection 906, has been provided to Ciena
Corporation and will be retained by Ciena Corporatind furnished to the Securities and Exchangendission or its staff upon request.



EXHIBIT 32.2
CIENA CORPORATION

Written Statement of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002

The undersigned, the Chief Financial Office€@&na Corporation (the “Company”), hereby ceesfihat, to his knowledge, on the date
hereof:

(a) the Report on Form 10-K of the Company forythar ended October 31, 2014 filed on the date heritlo the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Report”) fully complies with thequirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S¢iegrExchange Act of 1934; and

(b) information contained in the Report fairly peass, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of the
Company.

/sl James E. Moylan Jr.
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
December 19, 2014

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906, or other document authenticategnowledging, or otherwise adopting the
signature that appears in typed form within thetetamic version of this written statement requibydSection 906, has been provided to Ciena
Corporation and will be retained by Ciena Corpamtind furnished to the Securities and Exchangenission or its staff upon request.



